
STATE OF NEBRASKA SERVICE CONTRACT AMENDMENT State Purchasing Bureau
1526 K Street, Suite 130
Lincoln, Nebraska 68508

Telephone: (402) 471-6500
Fax: (402) 471-2089

PAGE ORDER DATE
1 of 8 6/11/25

BUSINESS UNIT BUYER
    25400113 CRAIG PALIK (AS)     CONTRACT NUMBER

VENDOR NUMBER:           1881165 88772  O4

VENDOR ADDRESS:

KVC BEHAVIORAL HEALTHCARE NEBRASKA INC
21350 W 153RD ST
OLATHE KS 66061-5413

THE CONTRACT PERIOD IS:

OCTOBER 30, 2023 THROUGH JUNE 30, 2025

THIS SERVICE CONTRACT HAS BEEN AMENDED PER THE FOLLOWING INFORMATION:

THIS CONTRACT IS NOT AN EXCLUSIVE CONTRACT TO FURNISH THE SERVICES SHOWN BELOW, AND DOES NOT PRECLUDE
THE PURCHASE OF SIMILAR SERVICES FROM OTHER SOURCES.

THE STATE RESERVES THE RIGHT TO EXTEND THE PERIOD OF THIS CONTRACT BEYOND THE TERMINATION DATE WHEN
MUTUALLY AGREEABLE TO THE VENDOR/CONTRACTOR AND THE STATE OF NEBRASKA.

Original/Bid Document 6126 Z1

________________________________
BUYER

________________________________
MATERIEL ADMINISTRATOR

R43500|NISH0003|NISH0003 20210628

Contract to supply and deliver Foster and Adoptive Parent Home Study Services to the State of Nebraska. The contract may 
be renewed for one (1) additional one (1) year periods when mutually agreeable to the vendor and the State of Nebraska.

Vendor Contact: Ashley Brown, President
Phone (Office): 402-498-4714
Phone (Cellular): 402-312-0280
Fax: 402-493-3340
E-Mail: adbrown@kvc.org

AMENDMENT THREE (3) AS ATTACHED.  (6/11/25 CMP)

Line
Estimated
Quantity

Unit of
Measure

Unit
Price

Extended
Price

1 134.0000 EA 594.0000 79,596.00

2 10.0000 EA 478.5000 4,785.00

3 50.0000 EA 902.0000 45,100.00

Description
EASTERN SVC AREA HOME 
STUDIES
INITIAL AWARD YEAR ONE 
10/30/19 - 10/29/20

OPT ESA REN LICENSE HOME 
STUDY
INITIAL AWARD YEAR ONE 
10/30/19 - 10/29/20

NORTHERN SVC AREA HOME 
STUDY
INITIAL AWARD YEAR ONE 
10/30/19 - 10/29/20

Docusign Envelope ID: DBA7186B-E7CF-4770-87E2-BE50255C8EF1

6/16/2025 6/16/2025



STATE OF NEBRASKA SERVICE CONTRACT AMENDMENT State Purchasing Bureau
1526 K Street, Suite 130
Lincoln, Nebraska 68508

Telephone: (402) 471-6500
Fax: (402) 471-2089

PAGE ORDER DATE
2 of 8 6/11/25

BUSINESS UNIT BUYER
    25400113 CRAIG PALIK (AS)     CONTRACT NUMBER

VENDOR NUMBER: 1881165 88772  O4

______________
BUYER INITIALS

R43500|NISH0003|NISH0003  20210628

Line Description
Estimated
Quantity

Unit of
Measure

Unit
Price

Extended
Price

4 OPT NSA REN LICENSE HOME 
STUDY

111.0000 EA 764.5000 84,859.50

INITIAL AWARD YEAR ONE
10/30/19 - 10/29/20

5 SOUTHEAST SVC AREA HOME 
STUDY

115.0000 EA 717.7500 82,541.25

INITIAL AWARD YEAR ONE
10/30/19 - 10/29/20

6 MGT CONSULTANT SERVICES EA 0.0000 0.00
10/30/19 - 10/29/20

7 CENTRAL SVC AREA HOME 
STUDY

102.0000 EA 1,039.5000 106,029.00

INITIAL AWARD YEAR ONE
10/30/19 - 10/29/20

8 OPT CSA REN LICENSE HOME 
STUDY

10.0000 EA 902.0000 9,020.00

INITIAL AWARD YEAR ONE
10/30/19 - 10/29/20

9 WESTERN SVC AREA HOME 
STUDY

480.0000 EA 1,468.5000 704,880.00

INITIAL AWARD YEAR ONE
10/30/19 - 10/29/20

10 OPT WSA REN LICENSE HOME 
STUDY

10.0000 EA 1,331.0000 13,310.00

INITIAL AWARD YEAR ONE
10/30/19 - 10/29/20

11 EASTERN SVC AREA HOME 
STUDIES

134.0000 EA 594.0000 79,596.00

INITIAL AWARD YEAR TWO
10/30/20 - 10/29/21

12 OPT ESA REN LICENSE HOME 
STUDY

10.0000 EA 478.5000 4,785.00

INITIAL AWARD YEAR TWO
10/30/20 - 10/29/21

13 NORTHERN SVC AREA HOME 
STUDY

50.0000 EA 902.0000 45,100.00

INITIAL AWARD YEAR TWO

Docusign Envelope ID: DBA7186B-E7CF-4770-87E2-BE50255C8EF1



STATE OF NEBRASKA SERVICE CONTRACT AMENDMENT State Purchasing Bureau
1526 K Street, Suite 130
Lincoln, Nebraska 68508

Telephone: (402) 471-6500
Fax: (402) 471-2089

PAGE ORDER DATE
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BUSINESS UNIT BUYER
    25400113 CRAIG PALIK (AS)     CONTRACT NUMBER

VENDOR NUMBER: 1881165 88772  O4

______________
BUYER INITIALS

R43500|NISH0003|NISH0003  20210628

Line Description
Estimated
Quantity

Unit of
Measure

Unit
Price

Extended
Price

10/30/20 - 10/29/21

14 OPT NSA REN LICENSE HOME 
STUDY

10.0000 EA 764.5000 7,645.00

INITIAL AWARD YEAR TWO
10/30/20 - 10/29/21

15 SOUTHEAST SVC AREA HOME 
STUDY

105.0000 EA 717.7500 75,363.75

INITIAL AWARD YEAR TWO
10/30/20 - 10/29/21

16 OPT SESA REN LICENSE HOME 
STUD

10.0000 EA 580.2500 5,802.50

INITIAL AWARD YEAR TWO
10/30/20 - 10/29/21

17 CENTRAL SVC AREA HOME 
STUDY

102.0000 EA 1,039.5000 106,029.00

INITIAL AWARD YEAR TWO
10/30/20 - 10/29/21

18 OPT CSA REN LICENSE HOME 
STUDY

10.0000 EA 902.0000 9,020.00

INITIAL AWARD YEAR TWO
10/30/20 - 10/29/21

19 WESTERN SVC AREA HOME 
STUDY

240.0000 EA 1,468.5000 352,440.00

INITIAL AWARD YEAR TWO
10/30/20 - 10/29/21

20 OPT WSA REN LICENSE HOME 
STUDY

10.0000 EA 1,331.0000 13,310.00

INITIAL AWARD YEAR TWO
10/30/20 - 10/29/21

21 EASTERN SVC AREA HOME 
STUDIES

134.0000 EA 478.5000 64,119.00

OPT RENEWAL ONE YEAR THREE
10/30/21 - 10/29/22

22 OPT ESA REN LICENSE HOME 
STUDY

10.0000 EA 478.5000 4,785.00

OPT RENEWAL ONE YEAR THREE
10/30/21 - 10/29/22

Docusign Envelope ID: DBA7186B-E7CF-4770-87E2-BE50255C8EF1



STATE OF NEBRASKA SERVICE CONTRACT AMENDMENT State Purchasing Bureau
1526 K Street, Suite 130
Lincoln, Nebraska 68508

Telephone: (402) 471-6500
Fax: (402) 471-2089

PAGE ORDER DATE
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BUSINESS UNIT BUYER
    25400113 CRAIG PALIK (AS)     CONTRACT NUMBER

VENDOR NUMBER: 1881165 88772  O4

______________
BUYER INITIALS

R43500|NISH0003|NISH0003  20210628

Line Description
Estimated
Quantity

Unit of
Measure

Unit
Price

Extended
Price

23 NORTHERN SVC AREA HOME 
STUDY

50.0000 EA 764.5000 38,225.00

OPT RENEWAL ONE YEAR THREE
10/30/21 - 10/29/22

24 OPT NSA REN LICENSE HOME 
STUDY

10.0000 EA 764.5000 7,645.00

OPT RENEWAL ONE YEAR THREE
10/30/21 - 10/29/22

25 SOUTHEAST SVC AREA HOME 
STUDY

105.0000 EA 580.2500 60,926.25

OPT RENEWAL ONE YEAR THREE
10/30/21 - 10/29/22

26 OPT SESA REN LICENSE HOME 
STUD

10.0000 EA 580.2500 5,802.50

OPT RENEWAL ONE YEAR THREE
10/30/21 - 10/29/22

27 CENTRAL SVC AREA HOME 
STUDY

102.0000 EA 902.0000 92,004.00

OPT RENEWAL ONE YEAR THREE
10/30/21 - 10/29/22

28 OPT CSA REN LICENSE HOME 
STUDY

10.0000 EA 902.0000 9,020.00

OPT RENEWAL ONE YEAR THREE
10/30/21 - 10/29/22

29 WESTERN SVC AREA HOME 
STUDY

240.0000 EA 1,331.0000 319,440.00

OPT RENEWAL ONE YEAR THREE
10/30/21 - 10/29/22

30 OPT WSA REN LICENSE HOME 
STUDY

10.0000 EA 1,331.0000 13,310.00

OPT RENEWAL ONE YEAR THREE
10/30/21 - 10/29/22

31 EASTERN SVC AREA HOME 
STUDIES

134.0000 EA 478.5000 64,119.00

OPT RENEWAL TWO YEAR FOUR
10/30/22 - 10/29/23

Docusign Envelope ID: DBA7186B-E7CF-4770-87E2-BE50255C8EF1



STATE OF NEBRASKA SERVICE CONTRACT AMENDMENT State Purchasing Bureau
1526 K Street, Suite 130
Lincoln, Nebraska 68508

Telephone: (402) 471-6500
Fax: (402) 471-2089

PAGE ORDER DATE
5 of 8 6/11/25

BUSINESS UNIT BUYER
    25400113 CRAIG PALIK (AS)     CONTRACT NUMBER

VENDOR NUMBER: 1881165 88772  O4

______________
BUYER INITIALS

R43500|NISH0003|NISH0003  20210628

Line Description
Estimated
Quantity

Unit of
Measure

Unit
Price

Extended
Price

32 OPT ESA REN LICENSE HOME 
STUDY

10.0000 EA 478.5000 4,785.00

OPT RENEWAL TWO YEAR FOUR
10/30/22 - 10/29/23

33 NORTHERN SVC AREA HOME 
STUDY

50.0000 EA 764.5000 38,225.00

OPT RENEWAL TWO YEAR FOUR
10/30/22 - 10/29/23

34 OPT NSA REN LICENSE HOME 
STUDY

10.0000 EA 764.5000 7,645.00

OPT RENEWAL TWO YEAR FOUR
10/30/22 - 10/29/23

35 SOUTHEAST SVC AREA HOME 
STUDY

105.0000 EA 580.2500 60,926.25

OPT RENEWAL TWO YEAR FOUR
10/30/22 - 10/29/23

36 OPT SESA REN LICENSE HOME 
STUD

10.0000 EA 580.2500 5,802.50

OPT RENEWAL TWO YEAR FOUR
10/30/22 - 10/29/23

37 CENTRAL SVC AREA HOME 
STUDY

102.0000 EA 902.0000 92,004.00

OPT RENEWAL TWO YEAR FOUR
10/30/22 - 10/29/23

38 OPT CSA REN LICENSE HOME 
STUDY

10.0000 EA 902.0000 9,020.00

OPT RENEWAL TWO YEAR FOUR
10/30/22 - 10/29/23

39 WESTERN SVC AREA HOME 
STUDY

240.0000 EA 1,331.0000 319,440.00

OPT RENEWAL TWO YEAR FOUR
10/30/22 - 10/29/23

40 OPT WSA REN LICENSE HOME 
STUDY

10.0000 EA 1,331.0000 13,310.00

OPT RENEWAL TWO YEAR FOUR
10/30/22 - 10/29/23

41 EASTERN SVC AREA HOME 134.0000 EA 478.5000 64,119.00

Docusign Envelope ID: DBA7186B-E7CF-4770-87E2-BE50255C8EF1



STATE OF NEBRASKA SERVICE CONTRACT AMENDMENT State Purchasing Bureau
1526 K Street, Suite 130
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BUSINESS UNIT BUYER
    25400113 CRAIG PALIK (AS)     CONTRACT NUMBER

VENDOR NUMBER: 1881165 88772  O4

______________
BUYER INITIALS

R43500|NISH0003|NISH0003  20210628

Line Description
Estimated
Quantity

Unit of
Measure

Unit
Price

Extended
Price

STUDIES
OPT RENEWAL THREE YEAR FIVE
10/30/23 - 10/29/24

42 OPT ESA REN LICENSE HOME 
STUDY

10.0000 EA 478.5000 4,785.00

OPT RENEWAL THREE YEAR FIVE
10/30/23 - 10/29/24

43 NORTHERN SVC AREA HOME 
STUDY

50.0000 EA 764.5000 38,225.00

OPT RENEWAL THREE YEAR FIVE
10/30/23 - 10/29/24

44 OPT NSA REN LICENSE HOME 
STUDY

10.0000 EA 764.5000 7,645.00

OPT RENEWAL THREE YEAR FIVE
10/30/23 - 10/29/24

45 SOUTHEAST SVC AREA HOME 
STUDY

105.0000 EA 580.2500 60,926.25

OPT RENEWAL THREE YEAR FIVE
10/30/23 - 10/29/24

46 OPT SESA REN LICENSE HOME 
STUD

10.0000 EA 580.2500 5,802.50

OPT RENEWAL THREE YEAR FIVE
10/30/23 - 10/29/24

47 CENTRAL SVC AREA HOME 
STUDY

102.0000 EA 902.0000 92,004.00

OPT RENEWAL THREE YEAR FIVE
10/30/23 - 10/29/24

48 OPT CSA REN LICENSE HOME 
STUDY

10.0000 EA 902.0000 9,020.00

OPT RENEWAL THREE YEAR FIVE
10/30/23 - 10/29/24

49 WESTERN SVC AREA HOME 
STUDY

240.0000 EA 1,331.0000 319,440.00

OPT RENEWAL THREE YEAR FIVE
10/30/23 - 10/29/24

50 OPT WSA REN LICENSE HOME 
STUDY

10.0000 EA 1,331.0000 13,310.00

Docusign Envelope ID: DBA7186B-E7CF-4770-87E2-BE50255C8EF1



STATE OF NEBRASKA SERVICE CONTRACT AMENDMENT State Purchasing Bureau
1526 K Street, Suite 130
Lincoln, Nebraska 68508

Telephone: (402) 471-6500
Fax: (402) 471-2089
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BUSINESS UNIT BUYER
    25400113 CRAIG PALIK (AS)     CONTRACT NUMBER

VENDOR NUMBER: 1881165 88772  O4

______________
BUYER INITIALS

R43500|NISH0003|NISH0003  20210628

Line Description
Estimated
Quantity

Unit of
Measure

Unit
Price

Extended
Price

OPT RENEWAL THREE YEAR FIVE
10/30/23 - 10/29/24

51 EASTERN SVC AREA HOME 
STUDIES

134.0000 EA 492.8600 66,043.24

OPT RENEWAL FOUR YEAR SIX
10/30/24 - 10/29/25

52 OPT ESA REN LICENSE HOME 
STUDY

10.0000 EA 492.8600 4,928.60

OPT RENEWAL FOUR YEAR SIX
10/30/24 - 10/29/25

53 NORTHERN SVC AREA HOME 
STUDY

50.0000 EA 787.4400 39,372.00

OPT RENEWAL FOUR YEAR SIX
10/30/24 - 10/29/25

54 OPT NSA REN LICENSE HOME 
STUDY

10.0000 EA 787.4400 7,874.40

OPT RENEWAL FOUR YEAR SIX
10/30/24 - 10/29/25

55 SOUTHEAST SVC AREA HOME 
STUDY

105.0000 EA 597.6600 62,754.30

OPT RENEWAL FOUR YEAR SIX
10/30/24 - 10/29/25

56 OPT SESA REN LICENSE HOME 
STUD

10.0000 EA 597.6600 5,976.60

OPT RENEWAL FOUR YEAR SIX
10/30/24 - 10/29/25

57 CENTRAL SVC AREA HOME 
STUDY

102.0000 EA 929.0600 94,764.12

OPT RENEWAL FOUR YEAR SIX
10/30/24 - 10/29/25

58 OPT CSA REN LICENSE HOME 
STUDY

10.0000 EA 929.0600 9,290.60

OPT RENEWAL FOUR YEAR SIX
10/30/24 - 10/29/25

59 WESTERN SVC AREA HOME 
STUDY

240.0000 EA 1,370.9300 329,023.20

OPT RENEWAL FOUR YEAR SIX

Docusign Envelope ID: DBA7186B-E7CF-4770-87E2-BE50255C8EF1
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BUSINESS UNIT BUYER
    25400113 CRAIG PALIK (AS)     CONTRACT NUMBER

VENDOR NUMBER: 1881165 88772  O4

______________
BUYER INITIALS

R43500|NISH0003|NISH0003  20210628

Line Description
Estimated
Quantity

Unit of
Measure

Unit
Price

Extended
Price

10/30/24 - 10/29/25

60 OPT WSA REN LICENSE HOME 
STUDY

10.0000 EA 1,370.9300 13,709.30

OPT RENEWAL FOUR YEAR SIX
10/30/24 - 10/29/25

Total Order 4,308,778.61

Docusign Envelope ID: DBA7186B-E7CF-4770-87E2-BE50255C8EF1
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AMENDMENT THREE 
Contract Number 88772 O4 

 
Foster and Adoptive Parent Home Study 

 
Between 

The State of Nebraska 
And 

KVC Behavioral Healthcare Nebraska Inc. 
 
THIS AMENDMENT is entered into by and between the State of Nebraska (“State/Entity”) and KVC Behavioral Healthcare 
Nebraska Inc. (“Vendor”).  
 
WHEREAS, the State of Nebraska has a contract with Vendor identified as 88772 O4 for use by state agencies and other 
entities.  
 
WHEREAS, the terms of the contract specifically state that the contract may be amended when mutually agreeable to the 
Vendor and the State of Nebraska.  
 
WHEREAS, this Amendment and any attachments hereto will become part of the Contract.  Except as set forth in this 
Amendment, the Contract is unaffected and shall continue in full force and effect in accordance with its terms. If there is 
conflict between this Amendment and the Contract or any earlier amendment, the terms of this Amendment will prevail. 
 
NOW, THEREFORE, it is agreed by the parties to amend the contract as follows: 
  

1. The fourth renewal of the above-named contract to the State of Nebraska is set to expire on October 29, 2025. 
 

2. The State of Nebraska and KVC Behavioral Healthcare Nebraska Inc. have mutually agreed to terminate the 
contract early. 

 
 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, this amendment is entered into as of June 30, 2025 (the “Effective Date”). 
 

        
State of Nebraska     KVC Behavioral Healthcare Nebraska Inc. 
 
By:        By:       
 
Name:                               Name:       
 
Title:        Title:       
 
Date:        Date:       

Docusign Envelope ID: 07BCC179-9CB3-4E58-BA89-913AC5687F61

President

6/16/2025

Ashley Brown

Docusign Envelope ID: DBA7186B-E7CF-4770-87E2-BE50255C8EF1

Materiel Administrator

6/16/2025

Michelle Potts



STATE OF NEBRASKA SERVICE CONTRACT AMENDMENT State Purchasing Bureau
1526 K Street, Suite 130
Lincoln, Nebraska 68508

Telephone: (402) 471-6500
Fax: (402) 471-2089

PAGE ORDER DATE
1 of 8 10/11/24

BUSINESS UNIT BUYER
    25400113 CRAIG PALIK (AS)     CONTRACT NUMBER

VENDOR NUMBER:           1881165 88772  O4

VENDOR ADDRESS:

KVC BEHAVIORAL HEALTHCARE NEBRASKA INC
21350 W 153RD ST
OLATHE KS 66061-5413

THE CONTRACT PERIOD IS:

OCTOBER 30, 2023 THROUGH OCTOBER 29, 2025
THIS SERVICE CONTRACT HAS BEEN AMENDED PER THE FOLLOWING INFORMATION:

THIS CONTRACT IS NOT AN EXCLUSIVE CONTRACT TO FURNISH THE SERVICES SHOWN BELOW, AND DOES NOT PRECLUDE
THE PURCHASE OF SIMILAR SERVICES FROM OTHER SOURCES.

THE STATE RESERVES THE RIGHT TO EXTEND THE PERIOD OF THIS CONTRACT BEYOND THE TERMINATION DATE WHEN
MUTUALLY AGREEABLE TO THE VENDOR/CONTRACTOR AND THE STATE OF NEBRASKA.

Original/Bid Document 6126 Z1

________________________________
BUYER

________________________________
MATERIEL ADMINISTRATOR

R43500|NISH0003|NISH0003 20210628

Contract to supply and deliver Foster and Adoptive Parent Home Study Services to the State of Nebraska.

This is the fourth renewal of the contract as amended. 

Vendor Contact: Ashley Brown, President
Phone (Office): 402-498-4714
Phone (Cellular): 402-312-0280
Fax: 402-493-3340
E-Mail: adbrown@kvc.org

AMENDMENT TWO (2) AS ATTACHED. (10/11/24 CMP)

Line Description
Estimated
Quantity

Unit of
Measure

Unit
Price

Extended
Price

1 EASTERN SVC AREA HOME 
STUDIES

134.0000 EA 594.0000 79,596.00

INITIAL AWARD YEAR ONE
10/30/19 - 10/29/20

2 OPT ESA REN LICENSE HOME 
STUDY

10.0000 EA 478.5000 4,785.00

INITIAL AWARD YEAR ONE
10/30/19 - 10/29/20

3 NORTHERN SVC AREA HOME 
STUDY

50.0000 EA 902.0000 45,100.00

INITIAL AWARD YEAR ONE
10/30/19 - 10/29/20

Docusign Envelope ID: 01E7B967-B3AF-455A-9717-2664C466BC86

1/29/2025 1/31/2025



STATE OF NEBRASKA SERVICE CONTRACT AMENDMENT State Purchasing Bureau
1526 K Street, Suite 130
Lincoln, Nebraska 68508
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Fax: (402) 471-2089
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BUSINESS UNIT BUYER
    25400113 CRAIG PALIK (AS)     CONTRACT NUMBER

VENDOR NUMBER: 1881165 88772  O4

______________
BUYER INITIALS

R43500|NISH0003|NISH0003  20210628

Line Description
Estimated
Quantity

Unit of
Measure

Unit
Price

Extended
Price

4 OPT NSA REN LICENSE HOME 
STUDY

111.0000 EA 764.5000 84,859.50

INITIAL AWARD YEAR ONE
10/30/19 - 10/29/20

5 SOUTHEAST SVC AREA HOME 
STUDY

115.0000 EA 717.7500 82,541.25

INITIAL AWARD YEAR ONE
10/30/19 - 10/29/20

6 MGT CONSULTANT SERVICES EA 0.0000 0.00
10/30/19 - 10/29/20

7 CENTRAL SVC AREA HOME 
STUDY

102.0000 EA 1,039.5000 106,029.00

INITIAL AWARD YEAR ONE
10/30/19 - 10/29/20

8 OPT CSA REN LICENSE HOME 
STUDY

10.0000 EA 902.0000 9,020.00

INITIAL AWARD YEAR ONE
10/30/19 - 10/29/20

9 WESTERN SVC AREA HOME 
STUDY

480.0000 EA 1,468.5000 704,880.00

INITIAL AWARD YEAR ONE
10/30/19 - 10/29/20

10 OPT WSA REN LICENSE HOME 
STUDY

10.0000 EA 1,331.0000 13,310.00

INITIAL AWARD YEAR ONE
10/30/19 - 10/29/20

11 EASTERN SVC AREA HOME 
STUDIES

134.0000 EA 594.0000 79,596.00

INITIAL AWARD YEAR TWO
10/30/20 - 10/29/21

12 OPT ESA REN LICENSE HOME 
STUDY

10.0000 EA 478.5000 4,785.00

INITIAL AWARD YEAR TWO
10/30/20 - 10/29/21

13 NORTHERN SVC AREA HOME 
STUDY

50.0000 EA 902.0000 45,100.00

INITIAL AWARD YEAR TWO

Docusign Envelope ID: 01E7B967-B3AF-455A-9717-2664C466BC86
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BUSINESS UNIT BUYER
    25400113 CRAIG PALIK (AS)     CONTRACT NUMBER

VENDOR NUMBER: 1881165 88772  O4

______________
BUYER INITIALS

R43500|NISH0003|NISH0003  20210628

Line Description
Estimated
Quantity

Unit of
Measure

Unit
Price

Extended
Price

10/30/20 - 10/29/21

14 OPT NSA REN LICENSE HOME 
STUDY

10.0000 EA 764.5000 7,645.00

INITIAL AWARD YEAR TWO
10/30/20 - 10/29/21

15 SOUTHEAST SVC AREA HOME 
STUDY

105.0000 EA 717.7500 75,363.75

INITIAL AWARD YEAR TWO
10/30/20 - 10/29/21

16 OPT SESA REN LICENSE HOME 
STUD

10.0000 EA 580.2500 5,802.50

INITIAL AWARD YEAR TWO
10/30/20 - 10/29/21

17 CENTRAL SVC AREA HOME 
STUDY

102.0000 EA 1,039.5000 106,029.00

INITIAL AWARD YEAR TWO
10/30/20 - 10/29/21

18 OPT CSA REN LICENSE HOME 
STUDY

10.0000 EA 902.0000 9,020.00

INITIAL AWARD YEAR TWO
10/30/20 - 10/29/21

19 WESTERN SVC AREA HOME 
STUDY

240.0000 EA 1,468.5000 352,440.00

INITIAL AWARD YEAR TWO
10/30/20 - 10/29/21

20 OPT WSA REN LICENSE HOME 
STUDY

10.0000 EA 1,331.0000 13,310.00

INITIAL AWARD YEAR TWO
10/30/20 - 10/29/21

21 EASTERN SVC AREA HOME 
STUDIES

134.0000 EA 478.5000 64,119.00

OPT RENEWAL ONE YEAR THREE
10/30/21 - 10/29/22

22 OPT ESA REN LICENSE HOME 
STUDY

10.0000 EA 478.5000 4,785.00

OPT RENEWAL ONE YEAR THREE
10/30/21 - 10/29/22

Docusign Envelope ID: 01E7B967-B3AF-455A-9717-2664C466BC86
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BUSINESS UNIT BUYER
    25400113 CRAIG PALIK (AS)     CONTRACT NUMBER

VENDOR NUMBER: 1881165 88772  O4

______________
BUYER INITIALS

R43500|NISH0003|NISH0003  20210628

Line Description
Estimated
Quantity

Unit of
Measure

Unit
Price

Extended
Price

23 NORTHERN SVC AREA HOME 
STUDY

50.0000 EA 764.5000 38,225.00

OPT RENEWAL ONE YEAR THREE
10/30/21 - 10/29/22

24 OPT NSA REN LICENSE HOME 
STUDY

10.0000 EA 764.5000 7,645.00

OPT RENEWAL ONE YEAR THREE
10/30/21 - 10/29/22

25 SOUTHEAST SVC AREA HOME 
STUDY

105.0000 EA 580.2500 60,926.25

OPT RENEWAL ONE YEAR THREE
10/30/21 - 10/29/22

26 OPT SESA REN LICENSE HOME 
STUD

10.0000 EA 580.2500 5,802.50

OPT RENEWAL ONE YEAR THREE
10/30/21 - 10/29/22

27 CENTRAL SVC AREA HOME 
STUDY

102.0000 EA 902.0000 92,004.00

OPT RENEWAL ONE YEAR THREE
10/30/21 - 10/29/22

28 OPT CSA REN LICENSE HOME 
STUDY

10.0000 EA 902.0000 9,020.00

OPT RENEWAL ONE YEAR THREE
10/30/21 - 10/29/22

29 WESTERN SVC AREA HOME 
STUDY

240.0000 EA 1,331.0000 319,440.00

OPT RENEWAL ONE YEAR THREE
10/30/21 - 10/29/22

30 OPT WSA REN LICENSE HOME 
STUDY

10.0000 EA 1,331.0000 13,310.00

OPT RENEWAL ONE YEAR THREE
10/30/21 - 10/29/22

31 EASTERN SVC AREA HOME 
STUDIES

134.0000 EA 478.5000 64,119.00

OPT RENEWAL TWO YEAR FOUR
10/30/22 - 10/29/23

Docusign Envelope ID: 01E7B967-B3AF-455A-9717-2664C466BC86



STATE OF NEBRASKA SERVICE CONTRACT AMENDMENT State Purchasing Bureau
1526 K Street, Suite 130
Lincoln, Nebraska 68508

Telephone: (402) 471-6500
Fax: (402) 471-2089

PAGE ORDER DATE
5 of 8 10/11/24

BUSINESS UNIT BUYER
    25400113 CRAIG PALIK (AS)     CONTRACT NUMBER

VENDOR NUMBER: 1881165 88772  O4

______________
BUYER INITIALS

R43500|NISH0003|NISH0003  20210628

Line Description
Estimated
Quantity

Unit of
Measure

Unit
Price

Extended
Price

32 OPT ESA REN LICENSE HOME 
STUDY

10.0000 EA 478.5000 4,785.00

OPT RENEWAL TWO YEAR FOUR
10/30/22 - 10/29/23

33 NORTHERN SVC AREA HOME 
STUDY

50.0000 EA 764.5000 38,225.00

OPT RENEWAL TWO YEAR FOUR
10/30/22 - 10/29/23

34 OPT NSA REN LICENSE HOME 
STUDY

10.0000 EA 764.5000 7,645.00

OPT RENEWAL TWO YEAR FOUR
10/30/22 - 10/29/23

35 SOUTHEAST SVC AREA HOME 
STUDY

105.0000 EA 580.2500 60,926.25

OPT RENEWAL TWO YEAR FOUR
10/30/22 - 10/29/23

36 OPT SESA REN LICENSE HOME 
STUD

10.0000 EA 580.2500 5,802.50

OPT RENEWAL TWO YEAR FOUR
10/30/22 - 10/29/23

37 CENTRAL SVC AREA HOME 
STUDY

102.0000 EA 902.0000 92,004.00

OPT RENEWAL TWO YEAR FOUR
10/30/22 - 10/29/23

38 OPT CSA REN LICENSE HOME 
STUDY

10.0000 EA 902.0000 9,020.00

OPT RENEWAL TWO YEAR FOUR
10/30/22 - 10/29/23

39 WESTERN SVC AREA HOME 
STUDY

240.0000 EA 1,331.0000 319,440.00

OPT RENEWAL TWO YEAR FOUR
10/30/22 - 10/29/23

40 OPT WSA REN LICENSE HOME 
STUDY

10.0000 EA 1,331.0000 13,310.00

OPT RENEWAL TWO YEAR FOUR
10/30/22 - 10/29/23

41 EASTERN SVC AREA HOME 134.0000 EA 478.5000 64,119.00
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STATE OF NEBRASKA SERVICE CONTRACT AMENDMENT State Purchasing Bureau
1526 K Street, Suite 130
Lincoln, Nebraska 68508

Telephone: (402) 471-6500
Fax: (402) 471-2089

PAGE ORDER DATE
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BUSINESS UNIT BUYER
    25400113 CRAIG PALIK (AS)     CONTRACT NUMBER

VENDOR NUMBER: 1881165 88772  O4

______________
BUYER INITIALS

R43500|NISH0003|NISH0003  20210628

Line Description
Estimated
Quantity

Unit of
Measure

Unit
Price

Extended
Price

STUDIES
OPT RENEWAL THREE YEAR FIVE
10/30/23 - 10/29/24

42 OPT ESA REN LICENSE HOME 
STUDY

10.0000 EA 478.5000 4,785.00

OPT RENEWAL THREE YEAR FIVE
10/30/23 - 10/29/24

43 NORTHERN SVC AREA HOME 
STUDY

50.0000 EA 764.5000 38,225.00

OPT RENEWAL THREE YEAR FIVE
10/30/23 - 10/29/24

44 OPT NSA REN LICENSE HOME 
STUDY

10.0000 EA 764.5000 7,645.00

OPT RENEWAL THREE YEAR FIVE
10/30/23 - 10/29/24

45 SOUTHEAST SVC AREA HOME 
STUDY

105.0000 EA 580.2500 60,926.25

OPT RENEWAL THREE YEAR FIVE
10/30/23 - 10/29/24

46 OPT SESA REN LICENSE HOME 
STUD

10.0000 EA 580.2500 5,802.50

OPT RENEWAL THREE YEAR FIVE
10/30/23 - 10/29/24

47 CENTRAL SVC AREA HOME 
STUDY

102.0000 EA 902.0000 92,004.00

OPT RENEWAL THREE YEAR FIVE
10/30/23 - 10/29/24

48 OPT CSA REN LICENSE HOME 
STUDY

10.0000 EA 902.0000 9,020.00

OPT RENEWAL THREE YEAR FIVE
10/30/23 - 10/29/24

49 WESTERN SVC AREA HOME 
STUDY

240.0000 EA 1,331.0000 319,440.00

OPT RENEWAL THREE YEAR FIVE
10/30/23 - 10/29/24

50 OPT WSA REN LICENSE HOME 
STUDY

10.0000 EA 1,331.0000 13,310.00
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STATE OF NEBRASKA SERVICE CONTRACT AMENDMENT State Purchasing Bureau
1526 K Street, Suite 130
Lincoln, Nebraska 68508

Telephone: (402) 471-6500
Fax: (402) 471-2089
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BUSINESS UNIT BUYER
    25400113 CRAIG PALIK (AS)     CONTRACT NUMBER

VENDOR NUMBER: 1881165 88772  O4

______________
BUYER INITIALS

R43500|NISH0003|NISH0003  20210628

Line Description
Estimated
Quantity

Unit of
Measure

Unit
Price

Extended
Price

OPT RENEWAL THREE YEAR FIVE
10/30/23 - 10/29/24

51 EASTERN SVC AREA HOME 
STUDIES

134.0000 EA 492.8600 66,043.24

OPT RENEWAL FOUR YEAR SIX
10/30/24 - 10/29/25

52 OPT ESA REN LICENSE HOME 
STUDY

10.0000 EA 492.8600 4,928.60

OPT RENEWAL FOUR YEAR SIX
10/30/24 - 10/29/25

53 NORTHERN SVC AREA HOME 
STUDY

50.0000 EA 787.4400 39,372.00

OPT RENEWAL FOUR YEAR SIX
10/30/24 - 10/29/25

54 OPT NSA REN LICENSE HOME 
STUDY

10.0000 EA 787.4400 7,874.40

OPT RENEWAL FOUR YEAR SIX
10/30/24 - 10/29/25

55 SOUTHEAST SVC AREA HOME 
STUDY

105.0000 EA 597.6600 62,754.30

OPT RENEWAL FOUR YEAR SIX
10/30/24 - 10/29/25

56 OPT SESA REN LICENSE HOME 
STUD

10.0000 EA 597.6600 5,976.60

OPT RENEWAL FOUR YEAR SIX
10/30/24 - 10/29/25

57 CENTRAL SVC AREA HOME 
STUDY

102.0000 EA 929.0600 94,764.12

OPT RENEWAL FOUR YEAR SIX
10/30/24 - 10/29/25

58 OPT CSA REN LICENSE HOME 
STUDY

10.0000 EA 929.0600 9,290.60

OPT RENEWAL FOUR YEAR SIX
10/30/24 - 10/29/25

59 WESTERN SVC AREA HOME 
STUDY

240.0000 EA 1,370.9300 329,023.20

OPT RENEWAL FOUR YEAR SIX
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BUSINESS UNIT BUYER
    25400113 CRAIG PALIK (AS)     CONTRACT NUMBER

VENDOR NUMBER: 1881165 88772  O4

______________
BUYER INITIALS

R43500|NISH0003|NISH0003  20210628

Line Description
Estimated
Quantity

Unit of
Measure

Unit
Price

Extended
Price

10/30/24 - 10/29/25

60 OPT WSA REN LICENSE HOME 
STUDY

10.0000 EA 1,370.9300 13,709.30

OPT RENEWAL FOUR YEAR SIX
10/30/24 - 10/29/25

Total Order 4,308,778.61

Docusign Envelope ID: 01E7B967-B3AF-455A-9717-2664C466BC86
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Amendment Two 
Contract Number 88772 O4 

 
Foster and Adoptive Parent Home Study 

Between 
The State of Nebraska 

And  
KVC Behavioral Healthcare Nebraska, Inc. 

 
 
THIS AMENDMENT is entered into by and between the State of Nebraska (“State/Entity”) and KVC Behavioral 
Healthcare Nebraska, Inc. (“Vendor”).  
 
WHEREAS, the State of Nebraska has a contract with Vendor identified as 88772 O4 for use by state agencies and other 
entities.  
 
WHEREAS, the terms of the contract specifically state that the contract may be amended when mutually agreeable to the 
Vendor and the State of Nebraska.  
 
WHEREAS, This Amendment and any attachments hereto will become part of the Contract.  Except as set forth in this 
Amendment, the Contract is unaffected and shall continue in full force and effect in accordance with its terms. If there is 
conflict between this Amendment and the Contract or any earlier amendment, the terms of this Amendment will prevail. 
 
NOW, THEREFORE, it is agreed by the parties to amend the contract as follows: 
 
  

1. The third renewal of the above-named contract to the State of Nebraska expires October 29, 2024. 
 

2. The State of Nebraska wishes to execute the fourth renewal to the contract for an additional one (1) year period. 
 

3. The contract end date, wherever such reference appears in the contract, shall be changed from October 29, 2024 
to October 29, 2025. 
 

4. Lines 51-60 will be deleted and replaced with the following:  
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Line 
No. 

Description Estimated Quantity UOM Unit Price 

51 EASTERN SVC AREA 
HOME STUDIES - OPT 
RENEWAL FOUR YEAR 
SIX - 10/30/24 - 10/29/25 

134.0000 EA 492.8600 

52 OPT ESA REN LICENSE 
HOME STUDY - OPT 
RENEWAL FOUR YEAR 
SIX - 10/30/24 - 10/29/25 

10.0000 EA 492.8600 

53 NORTHERN SVC AREA 
HOME STUDY - OPT 
RENEWAL FOUR YEAR 
SIX - 10/30/24 - 10/29/25 

50.0000 EA 787.4400 

54 OPT NSA REN LICENSE 
HOME STUDY - OPT 
RENEWAL FOUR YEAR 
SIX - 10/30/24 - 10/29/25 

10.0000 EA 787.4400 

55 SOUTHEAST SVC AREA 
HOME STUDY – OPT 
RENEWAL FOUR YEAR 
SIX – 10/30/24 – 
10/29/25 

105.0000 EA 597.6600 

56 OPT SESA REN 
LICENSE HOME STUD - 
OPT RENEWAL FOUR 
YEAR SIX - 10/30/24 - 
10/29/25 

10.0000 EA 597.6600 

57 CENTRAL SVC AREA 
HOME STUDY - OPT 
RENEWAL FOUR YEAR 
SIX - 10/30/24 - 10/29/25 

102.0000 EA 929.0600 

58 OPT CSA REN LICENSE 
HOME STUDY - OPT 
RENEWAL FOUR YEAR 
SIX - 10/30/24 - 10/29/25 

10.0000 EA 929.0600 

59 WESTERN SVC AREA 
HOME STUDY - OPT 
RENEWAL FOUR YEAR 
SIX - 10/30/24 - 10/29/25 

240.0000 EA 1370.9300 

60 OPT WSA REN 
LICENSE HOME STUDY 
- OPT RENEWAL FOUR 
YEAR SIX - 10/30/24 - 
10/29/25 

10.0000 EA 1370.9300 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Docusign Envelope ID: FBE242F0-15D1-4E7C-A2A8-35103ED99C2CDocusign Envelope ID: 01E7B967-B3AF-455A-9717-2664C466BC86



   
 

Page 3 of 7 
 

5. The descriptions of contract lines 7 – 50 are hereby amended as follows to reflect the correct contract period 
dates: 
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Line 
No. 

Description  

7 CENTRAL SVC AREA HOME STUDY 
INITIAL AWARD YEAR ONE  
10/30/19 - 10/29/20 

8 OPT CSA REN LICENSE HOME STUDY 
INITIAL AWARD YEAR ONE  
10/30/19 - 10/29/20 

9 WESTERN SVC AREA HOME STUDY 
INITIAL AWARD YEAR ONE 
10/30/19 - 10/29/20 

10 OPT WSA REN LICENSE HOME STUDY 
INITIAL AWARD YEAR ONE 
10/30/19 - 10/29/20 

11 EASTERN SVC AREA HOME STUDIES 
INITIAL AWARD YEAR TWO 
10/30/20 - 10/29/21 

12 OPT ESA REN LICENSE HOME STUDY 
INITIAL AWARD YEAR TWO 
10/30/20 - 10/29/21 

13 NORTHERN SVC AREA HOME STUDY 
INITIAL AWARD YEAR TWO 
10/30/20 – 10/29/21 

14 OPT NSA REN LICENSE HOME STUDY 
INITIAL AWARD YEAR TWO 
10/30/20 - 10/29/21 

15 SOUTHEAST SVC AREA HOME STUDY 
INITIAL AWARD YEAR TWO 
10/30/20 - 10/29/21 

16 OPT SESA REN LICENSE HOME STUD 
INITIAL AWARD YEAR TWO 
10/30/20 - 10/29/21 

17 CENTRAL SVC AREA HOME STUDY 
INITIAL AWARD YEAR TWO 
10/30/20 - 10/29/21 

18 OPT CSA REN LICENSE HOME STUDY 
INITIAL AWARD YEAR TWO 
10/30/20 - 10/29/21 

19 WESTERN SVC AREA HOME STUDY 
INITIAL AWARD YEAR TWO 
10/30/20 - 10/29/21 

20 OPT WSA REN LICENSE HOME STUDY 
INITIAL AWARD YEAR TWO 
10/30/20 - 10/29/21 

21 EASTERN SVC AREA HOME STUDIES 
OPT RENEWAL ONE YEAR THREE 
10/30/21 - 10/29/22 

22 OPT ESA REN LICENSE HOME STUDY 
OPT RENEWAL ONE YEAR THREE 
10/30/21 - 10/29/22 

23 NORTHERN SVC AREA HOME STUDY 
OPT RENEWAL ONE YEAR THREE 
10/30/21 - 10/29/22 

24 OPT NSA REN LICENSE HOME STUDY 
OPT RENEWAL ONE YEAR THREE 
10/30/21 - 10/29/22 

Docusign Envelope ID: FBE242F0-15D1-4E7C-A2A8-35103ED99C2CDocusign Envelope ID: 01E7B967-B3AF-455A-9717-2664C466BC86
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25 SOUTHEAST SVC AREA HOME STUDY 
OPT RENEWAL ONE YEAR THREE 
10/30/21 - 10/29/22 

26 OPT SESA REN LICENSE HOME STUD 
OPT RENEWAL ONE YEAR THREE 
10/30/21 - 10/29/22 

27 CENTRAL SVC AREA HOME STUDY 
OPT RENEWAL ONE YEAR THREE 
10/30/21 - 10/29/22 

28 OPT CSA REN LICENSE HOME STUDY 
OPT RENEWAL ONE YEAR THREE 
10/30/21 - 10/29/22 

29 WESTERN SVC AREA HOME STUDY 
OPT RENEWAL ONE YEAR THREE 
10/30/21 - 10/29/22 

30 OPT WSA REN LICENSE HOME STUDY 
OPT RENEWAL ONE YEAR THREE 
10/30/21 - 10/29/22 

31 EASTERN SVC AREA HOME STUDIES 
OPT RENEWAL TWO YEAR FOUR 
10/30/22 - 10/29/23 

32 OPT ESA REN LICENSE HOME STUDY 
OPT RENEWAL TWO YEAR FOUR 
10/30/22 - 10/29/23 

33 NORTHERN SVC AREA HOME STUDY 
OPT RENEWAL TWO YEAR FOUR 
10/30/22 - 10/29/23 

34 OPT NSA REN LICENSE HOME STUDY 
OPT RENEWAL TWO YEAR FOUR 
10/30/22 - 10/29/23 

35 SOUTHEAST SVC AREA HOME STUDY 
OPT RENEWAL TWO YEAR FOUR 
10/30/22 - 10/29/23 

36 OPT SESA REN LICENSE HOME STUD 
OPT RENEWAL TWO YEAR FOUR 
10/30/22 - 10/29/23 

37 CENTRAL SVC AREA HOME STUDY 
OPT RENEWAL TWO YEAR FOUR 
10/30/22 - 10/29/23 

38 OPT CSA REN LICENSE HOME STUDY 
OPT RENEWAL TWO YEAR FOUR 
10/30/22 - 10/29/23 

39 WESTERN SVC AREA HOME STUDY 
OPT RENEWAL TWO YEAR FOUR 
10/30/22 - 10/29/23 

40 OPT WSA REN LICENSE HOME STUDY 
OPT RENEWAL TWO YEAR FOUR 
10/30/22 - 10/29/23 

41 EASTERN SVC AREA HOME STUDIES 
OPT RENEWAL THREE YEAR FIVE 
10/30/23 - 10/29/24 

42 OPT ESA REN LICENSE HOME STUDY 
OPT RENEWAL THREE YEAR FIVE 
10/30/23 - 10/29/24 
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43 NORTHERN SVC AREA HOME STUDY 
OPT RENEWAL THREE YEAR FIVE 
10/30/23 - 10/29/24 

44 OPT NSA REN LICENSE HOME STUDY 
OPT RENEWAL THREE YEAR FIVE 
10/30/23 - 10/29/24 

45 SOUTHEAST SVC AREA HOME STUDY 
OPT RENEWAL THREE YEAR FIVE 
10/30/23 - 10/29/24 

46 OPT SESA REN LICENSE HOME STUD 
OPT RENEWAL THREE YEAR FIVE 
10/30/23 - 10/29/24 

47 CENTRAL SVC AREA HOME STUDY 
OPT RENEWAL THREE YEAR FIVE 
10/30/23 - 10/29/24 

48 OPT CSA REN LICENSE HOME STUDY 
OPT RENEWAL THREE YEAR FIVE 
10/30/23 - 10/29/24 

49 WESTERN SVC AREA HOME STUDY 
OPT RENEWAL THREE YEAR FIVE 
10/30/23 - 10/29/24 

50 OPT WSA REN LICENSE HOME STUDY 
OPT RENEWAL THREE YEAR FIVE 
10/30/23 - 10/29/24 
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties have executed this amendment as of the date of execution by both parties below. 
 

State of Nebraska     Vendor:   KVC Behavioral Healthcare Nebraska, Inc. 

By:          By:       

Name:                                Name:        

Title:         Title:       

Date:         Date:       

 

 

 
 

 

Docusign Envelope ID: FBE242F0-15D1-4E7C-A2A8-35103ED99C2C

10/16/2024

President

Ashley Brown

Docusign Envelope ID: 01E7B967-B3AF-455A-9717-2664C466BC86

Michelle Potts

Materiel Administrator

1/31/2025



STATE OF NEBRASKA SERVICE CONTRACT AWARD State Purchasing Bureau
1526 K Street, Suite 130
Lincoln, Nebraska 68508

Telephone: (402) 471-6500
Fax: (402) 471-2089

PAGE ORDER DATE
1 of 7 10/05/23

BUSINESS UNIT BUYER
CONTRACT NUMBER
      88772  O4

25400113 MATTHEW CADDY (AS)
VENDOR NUMBER:           1881165

VENDOR ADDRESS:

KVC BEHAVIORAL HEALTHCARE NEBRASKA INC
21350 W 153RD ST
OLATHE KS 66061-5413

AN AWARD HAS BEEN MADE TO THE VENDOR/CONTRACTOR NAMED ABOVE FOR THE SERVICES AS LISTED BELOW FOR THE 
PERIOD:

OCTOBER 30, 2023 THROUGH OCTOBER 29, 2024

THIS CONTRACT IS NOT AN EXCLUSIVE CONTRACT TO FURNISH THE SERVICES SHOWN BELOW, AND DOES NOT PRECLUDE
THE PURCHASE OF SIMILAR SERVICES FROM OTHER SOURCES.

THE STATE RESERVES THE RIGHT TO EXTEND THE PERIOD OF THIS CONTRACT BEYOND THE TERMINATION DATE WHEN
MUTUALLY AGREEABLE TO THE VENDOR/CONTRACTOR AND THE STATE OF NEBRASKA.

Original/Bid Document 6126 Z1

________________________________
BUYER

________________________________
   MATERIEL ADMINISTRATOR

R43500|NISK0002|NISK0002 20210628

Contract to supply and deliver Foster and Adoptive Parent Home Study Services to the State of Nebraska as per the attached
specifications for the period October 30, 2023, through October 29, 2024. The contract may be renewed for one (1) additional 
one (1) year periods when mutually agreeable to the vendor and the State of Nebraska.

Vendor Contact: Ashley Brown, President
Phone (Office): 402-498-4714
Phone (Cellular): 402-312-0280
Fax: 402-493-3340
E-Mail: adbrown@kvc.org

THIS IS THE THIRD RENEWAL OF THE CONTRACT AS AMENDED.  (10/05/23 AM)

Line Description
Estimated
Quantity

Unit of
Measure

Unit
Price

Extended 
Price

1 EASTERN SVC AREA HOME 
STUDIES 

134.0000 EA 594.0000 79,596.00

INITIAL AWARD YEAR ONE
10/30/19 - 10/29/20

2 OPT ESA REN LICENSE HOME 
STUDY 

10.0000 EA 478.5000 4,785.00

INITIAL AWARD YEAR ONE
10/30/19 - 10/29/20

3 NORTHERN SVC AREA HOME 
STUDY 

50.0000 EA 902.0000 45,100.00

INITIAL AWARD YEAR ONE
10/30/19 - 10/29/20

4 OPT NSA REN LICENSE HOME 
STUDY 

111.0000 EA 764.5000 84,859.50

INITIAL AWARD YEAR ONE
10/30/19 - 10/29/20

DHHS DIVISION DIRECTOR

DocuSign Envelope ID: 69300D51-10AB-45BE-A27C-72A94FD40774
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STATE OF NEBRASKA SERVICE CONTRACT AWARD State Purchasing Bureau
1526 K Street, Suite 130
Lincoln, Nebraska 68508

Telephone: (402) 471-6500
Fax: (402) 471-2089

PAGE ORDER DATE
2 of 7 10/05/23

BUSINESS UNIT BUYER
CONTRACT NUMBER
      88772  O4

25400113 MATTHEW CADDY (AS)

VENDOR NUMBER:           1881165

_____________
BUYER INITIALS

R43500|NISK0002|NISK0002 20210628

Line Description Estimated
Quantity

Unit of
Measure

Unit
Price

Extended 
Price

5 SOUTHEAST SVC AREA HOME 
STUDY 

115.0000 EA 717.7500 82,541.25

INITIAL AWARD YEAR ONE
10/30/19 - 10/29/20

6 MGT CONSULTANT SERVICES EA 580.2500 11,605.00
10/30/19 - 10/29/20

7 CENTRAL SVC AREA HOME STUDY 102.0000 EA 1,039.5000 106,029.00
INITIAL AWARD YEAR ONE
10/29/19 - 10/30/20

8 OPT CSA REN LICENSE HOME 
STUDY 

10.0000 EA 902.0000 9,020.00

INITIAL AWARD YEAR ONE
10/29/19 - 10/30/20

9 WESTERN SVC AREA HOME STUDY 480.0000 EA 1,468.5000 704,880.00
INITIAL AWARD YEAR ONE
10/29/19 - 10/30/20

10 OPT WSA REN LICENSE HOME 
STUDY 

10.0000 EA 1,331.0000 13,310.00

INITIAL AWARD YEAR ONE
10/29/19 - 10/30/20

11 EASTERN SVC AREA HOME 
STUDIES 

134.0000 EA 594.0000 79,596.00

INITIAL AWARD YEAR TWO
10/29/20 - 10/30/21

12 OPT ESA REN LICENSE HOME 
STUDY 

10.0000 EA 478.5000 4,785.00

INITIAL AWARD YEAR TWO
10/29/20 - 10/30/21

13 NORTHERN SVC AREA HOME 
STUDY 

50.0000 EA 902.0000 45,100.00

INITIAL AWARD YEAR TWO
10/29/20 - 10/30/21

14 OPT NSA REN LICENSE HOME 
STUDY 

10.0000 EA 764.5000 7,645.00

INITIAL AWARD YEAR TWO
10/29/20 - 10/30/21

15 SOUTHEAST SVC AREA HOME 105.0000 EA 717.7500 75,363.75

20.0000

DocuSign Envelope ID: 69300D51-10AB-45BE-A27C-72A94FD40774



STATE OF NEBRASKA SERVICE CONTRACT AWARD State Purchasing Bureau
1526 K Street, Suite 130
Lincoln, Nebraska 68508

Telephone: (402) 471-6500
Fax: (402) 471-2089

PAGE ORDER DATE
3 of 7 10/05/23

BUSINESS UNIT BUYER
CONTRACT NUMBER
      88772  O4

25400113 MATTHEW CADDY (AS)

VENDOR NUMBER:           1881165

_____________
BUYER INITIALS

R43500|NISK0002|NISK0002 20210628

Line Description Estimated
Quantity

Unit of
Measure

Unit
Price

Extended 
Price

STUDY 
INITIAL AWARD YEAR TWO
10/29/20 - 10/30/21

16 OPT SESA REN LICENSE HOME 
STUD 

10.0000 EA 580.2500 5,802.50

INITIAL AWARD YEAR TWO
10/29/20 - 10/30/21

17 CENTRAL SVC AREA HOME STUDY 102.0000 EA 1,039.5000 106,029.00
INITIAL AWARD YEAR TWO
10/29/20 - 10/30/21

18 OPT CSA REN LICENSE HOME 
STUDY 

10.0000 EA 902.0000 9,020.00

INITIAL AWARD YEAR TWO
10/29/20 - 10/30/21

19 WESTERN SVC AREA HOME STUDY 240.0000 EA 1,468.5000 352,440.00
INITIAL AWARD YEAR TWO
10/29/20 - 10/30/21

20 OPT WSA REN LICENSE HOME 
STUDY 

10.0000 EA 1,331.0000 13,310.00

INITIAL AWARD YEAR TWO
10/29/20 - 10/30/21

21 EASTERN SVC AREA HOME 
STUDIES 

134.0000 EA 478.5000 64,119.00

OPT RENEWAL ONE YEAR THREE
10/29/21 - 10/30/22

22 OPT ESA REN LICENSE HOME 
STUDY 

10.0000 EA 478.5000 4,785.00

OPT RENEWAL ONE YEAR THREE
10/29/21 - 10/30/22

23 NORTHERN SVC AREA HOME 
STUDY 

50.0000 EA 764.5000 38,225.00

OPT RENEWAL ONE YEAR THREE
10/29/21 - 10/30/22

24 OPT NSA REN LICENSE HOME 
STUDY 

10.0000 EA 764.5000 7,645.00

OPT RENEWAL ONE YEAR THREE
10/29/21 - 10/30/22

25 SOUTHEAST SVC AREA HOME 105.0000 EA 580.2500 60,926.25

DocuSign Envelope ID: 69300D51-10AB-45BE-A27C-72A94FD40774



STATE OF NEBRASKA SERVICE CONTRACT AWARD State Purchasing Bureau
1526 K Street, Suite 130
Lincoln, Nebraska 68508

Telephone: (402) 471-6500
Fax: (402) 471-2089

PAGE ORDER DATE
4 of 7 10/05/23

BUSINESS UNIT BUYER
CONTRACT NUMBER
      88772  O4

25400113 MATTHEW CADDY (AS)

VENDOR NUMBER:           1881165

_____________
BUYER INITIALS

R43500|NISK0002|NISK0002 20210628

Line Description
Estimated
Quantity

Unit of
Measure

Unit
Price

Extended 
Price

STUDY 
OPT RENEWAL ONE YEAR THREE
10/29/21 - 10/30/22

26 OPT SESA REN LICENSE HOME 
STUD 

10.0000 EA 580.2500 5,802.50

OPT RENEWAL ONE YEAR THREE
10/29/21 - 10/30/22

27 CENTRAL SVC AREA HOME STUDY 102.0000 EA 902.0000 92,004.00
OPT RENEWAL ONE YEAR THREE
10/29/21 - 10/30/22

28 OPT CSA REN LICENSE HOME 
STUDY 

10.0000 EA 902.0000 9,020.00

OPT RENEWAL ONE YEAR THREE
10/29/21 - 10/30/22

29 WESTERN SVC AREA HOME STUDY 240.0000 EA 1,331.0000 319,440.00
OPT RENEWAL ONE YEAR THREE
10/29/21 - 10/30/22

30 OPT WSA REN LICENSE HOME 
STUDY 

10.0000 EA 1,331.0000 13,310.00

OPT RENEWAL ONE YEAR THREE
10/29/21 - 10/30/22

31 EASTERN SVC AREA HOME 
STUDIES 

134.0000 EA 478.5000 64,119.00

OPT RENEWAL TWO YEAR FOUR
10/29/22 - 10/30/23

32 OPT ESA REN LICENSE HOME 
STUDY 

10.0000 EA 478.5000 4,785.00

OPT RENEWAL TWO YEAR FOUR
10/29/22 - 10/30/23

33 NORTHERN SVC AREA HOME 
STUDY 

50.0000 EA 764.5000 38,225.00

OPT RENEWAL TWO YEAR FOUR
10/29/22 - 10/30/23

34 OPT NSA REN LICENSE HOME 
STUDY 

10.0000 EA 764.5000 7,645.00

OPT RENEWAL TWO YEAR FOUR
10/29/22 - 10/30/23

35 SOUTHEAST SVC AREA HOME 105.0000 EA 580.2500 60,926.25

DocuSign Envelope ID: 69300D51-10AB-45BE-A27C-72A94FD40774



STATE OF NEBRASKA SERVICE CONTRACT AWARD State Purchasing Bureau
1526 K Street, Suite 130
Lincoln, Nebraska 68508

Telephone: (402) 471-6500
Fax: (402) 471-2089

PAGE ORDER DATE
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BUSINESS UNIT BUYER
CONTRACT NUMBER
      88772  O4

25400113 MATTHEW CADDY (AS)

VENDOR NUMBER:           1881165

_____________
BUYER INITIALS

R43500|NISK0002|NISK0002 20210628

Line Description Estimated
Quantity

Unit of
Measure

Unit
Price

Extended 
Price

STUDY 
OPT RENEWAL TWO YEAR FOUR
10/29/22 - 10/30/23

36 OPT SESA REN LICENSE HOME 
STUD 

10.0000 EA 580.2500 5,802.50

OPT RENEWAL TWO YEAR FOUR
10/29/22 - 10/30/23

37 CENTRAL SVC AREA HOME STUDY 102.0000 EA 902.0000 92,004.00
OPT RENEWAL TWO YEAR FOUR
10/29/22 - 10/30/23

38 OPT CSA REN LICENSE HOME 
STUDY 

10.0000 EA 902.0000 9,020.00

OPT RENEWAL TWO YEAR FOUR
10/29/22 - 10/30/23

39 WESTERN SVC AREA HOME STUDY 240.0000 EA 1,331.0000 319,440.00
OPT RENEWAL TWO YEAR FOUR
10/29/22 - 10/30/23

40 OPT WSA REN LICENSE HOME 
STUDY 

10.0000 EA 1,331.0000 13,310.00

OPT RENEWAL TWO YEAR FOUR
10/29/22 - 10/30/23

41 EASTERN SVC AREA HOME 
STUDIES 

134.0000 EA 478.5000 64,119.00

OPT RENEWAL THREE YEAR FIVE
10/29/23 - 10/30/24

42 OPT ESA REN LICENSE HOME 
STUDY 

10.0000 EA 478.5000 4,785.00

OPT RENEWAL THREE YEAR FIVE
10/29/23 - 10/30/24

43 NORTHERN SVC AREA HOME 
STUDY 

50.0000 EA 764.5000 38,225.00

OPT RENEWAL THREE YEAR FIVE
10/29/23 - 10/30/24

44 OPT NSA REN LICENSE HOME 
STUDY 

10.0000 EA 764.5000 7,645.00

OPT RENEWAL THREE YEAR FIVE
10/29/23 - 10/30/24

45 SOUTHEAST SVC AREA HOME 105.0000 EA 580.2500 60,926.25
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STATE OF NEBRASKA SERVICE CONTRACT AWARD State Purchasing Bureau
1526 K Street, Suite 130
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Fax: (402) 471-2089
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BUSINESS UNIT BUYER
CONTRACT NUMBER
      88772  O4

25400113 MATTHEW CADDY (AS)

VENDOR NUMBER:           1881165

_____________
BUYER INITIALS

R43500|NISK0002|NISK0002 20210628

Line Description
Estimated
Quantity

Unit of
Measure

Unit
Price

Extended 
Price

STUDY 
OPT RENEWAL THREE YEAR FIVE
10/29/23 - 10/30/24

46 OPT SESA REN LICENSE HOME 
STUD 

10.0000 EA 580.2500 5,802.50

OPT RENEWAL THREE YEAR FIVE
10/29/23 - 10/30/24

47 CENTRAL SVC AREA HOME STUDY 102.0000 EA 902.0000 92,004.00
OPT RENEWAL THREE YEAR FIVE
10/29/23 - 10/30/24

48 OPT CSA REN LICENSE HOME 
STUDY 

10.0000 EA 902.0000 9,020.00

OPT RENEWAL THREE YEAR FIVE
10/29/23 - 10/30/24

49 WESTERN SVC AREA HOME STUDY 240.0000 EA 1,331.0000 319,440.00
OPT RENEWAL THREE YEAR FIVE
10/29/23 - 10/30/24

50 OPT WSA REN LICENSE HOME 
STUDY 

10.0000 EA 1,331.0000 13,310.00

OPT RENEWAL THREE YEAR FIVE
10/29/23 - 10/30/24

51 EASTERN SVC AREA HOME 
STUDIES 

134.0000 EA 478.5000 64,119.00

OPT RENEWAL FOUR YEAR SIX
10/29/24 - 10/30/25

52 OPT ESA REN LICENSE HOME 
STUDY 

10.0000 EA 478.5000 4,785.00

OPT RENEWAL FOUR YEAR SIX
10/29/24 - 10/30/25

53 NORTHERN SVC AREA HOME 
STUDY 

50.0000 EA 764.5000 38,225.00

OPT RENEWAL FOUR YEAR SIX
10/29/24 - 10/30/25

54 OPT NSA REN LICENSE HOME 
STUDY 

10.0000 EA 764.5000 7,645.00

OPT RENEWAL FOUR YEAR SIX
10/29/24 - 10/30/25

55 SOUTHEAST SVC AREA HOME 105.0000 EA 580.2500 60,926.25
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STATE OF NEBRASKA SERVICE CONTRACT AWARD State Purchasing Bureau
1526 K Street, Suite 130
Lincoln, Nebraska 68508

Telephone: (402) 471-6500
Fax: (402) 471-2089
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BUSINESS UNIT BUYER
CONTRACT NUMBER
      88772  O4

25400113 MATTHEW CADDY (AS)

VENDOR NUMBER:           1881165

_____________
BUYER INITIALS

R43500|NISK0002|NISK0002 20210628

Line Description
Estimated
Quantity

Unit of
Measure

Unit
Price

Extended 
Price

STUDY 
OPT RENEWAL FOUR YEAR SIX
10/29/24 - 10/30/25

56 OPT SESA REN LICENSE HOME 
STUD 

10.0000 EA 580.2500 5,802.50

OPT RENEWAL FOUR YEAR SIX
10/29/24 - 10/30/25

57 CENTRAL SVC AREA HOME STUDY 102.0000 EA 902.0000 92,004.00
OPT RENEWAL FOUR YEAR SIX
10/29/24 - 10/30/25

58 OPT CSA REN LICENSE HOME 
STUDY 

10.0000 EA 902.0000 9,020.00

OPT RENEWAL FOUR YEAR SIX
10/29/24 - 10/30/25

59 WESTERN SVC AREA HOME STUDY 240.0000 EA 1,331.0000 319,440.00
OPT RENEWAL FOUR YEAR SIX
10/29/24 - 10/30/25

60 OPT WSA REN LICENSE HOME 
STUDY 

10.0000 EA 1,331.0000 13,310.00

OPT RENEWAL FOUR YEAR SIX
10/29/24 - 10/30/25

Total Order 4,301,924.00

DocuSign Envelope ID: 69300D51-10AB-45BE-A27C-72A94FD40774



Amara Block, Materiel Administrator  

Department of Administrative Services  |   MATERIEL DIVISION 

1526 K Street, Ste. 130  OFFICE  402-471-6500 

Lincoln, Nebraska 68508  FAX  402-471-2089      

das.nebraska.gov 

   

 

CONTRACT RENEWAL 
September 7, 2023 
 
Ms. Ashley Brown, 
KVC Behavioral Healthcare Nebraska Inc. 
21350 W 153rd Street 
Olathe, KS 66061-5413 
 

RE: Contract Number 88772 O4, Foster and Adoptive Parent Home Study Services 

Dear Ms. Brown: 

The above-named contract for providing Foster and Adoptive Parent Home Study Services to the State of 
Nebraska, Department of Health and Human Services (DHHS) expires October 29, 2023. 
 
The State of Nebraska is currently interested in renewing the Contract for an additional one (1) year period, i.e. 
October 30, 2023 through October 29, 2024.  If KVC Behavioral Healthcare Nebraska Inc. wishes to renew the 
Contract as stated, please e-sign this letter as soon as possible.   
 
The State will consider your signature as an agreement to be bound to the renewal, but the renewal will not be 
agreed to and accepted by the State until award signature page is executed by the Materiel Administrator.  
 
If no response is received within 30 calendar days, the State of Nebraska will assume that the contractor does not 
intend to renew the contract and thus may begin the formal solicitation process. 
 
Sincerely, 

 
 
Matthew Caddy, Procurement Contracts Officer 
Nebraska State Purchasing Bureau 
 

KVC Behavioral Healthcare Nebraska Inc. is agreeable to the renewal of 88772 O4 for Foster and Adoptive Parent 
Home Study Services to the State of Nebraska from October 30, 2023 through October 29, 2024.  
 
 
Signature                          
 
 
Title           
 
 

Date                       

 

DocuSign Envelope ID: D8DD4FA7-4630-4FEA-83A1-458EAB4AC155

President

9/7/2023
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STATE OF NEBRASKA SERVICE CONTRACT AWARD State Purchasing Bureau
1526 K Street, Suite 130
Lincoln, Nebraska 68508

Telephone: (402) 471-6500
Fax: (402) 471-2089

PAGE ORDER DATE
1 of 7 10/19/22

BUSINESS UNIT BUYER
CONTRACT NUMBER
      88772  O4

25400113 MIKE HENDRICKSON (AS)
VENDOR NUMBER:           1881165

VENDOR ADDRESS:

KVC BEHAVIORAL HEALTHCARE NEBRASKA INC
21350 W 153RD ST
OLATHE KS 66061-5413

AN AWARD HAS BEEN MADE TO THE VENDOR/CONTRACTOR NAMED ABOVE FOR THE SERVICES AS LISTED BELOW FOR THE
PERIOD:

OCTOBER 30, 2022 THROUGH OCTOBER 29, 2023

THIS CONTRACT IS NOT AN EXCLUSIVE CONTRACT TO FURNISH THE SERVICES SHOWN BELOW, AND DOES NOT PRECLUDE
THE PURCHASE OF SIMILAR SERVICES FROM OTHER SOURCES.

THE STATE RESERVES THE RIGHT TO EXTEND THE PERIOD OF THIS CONTRACT BEYOND THE TERMINATION DATE WHEN
MUTUALLY AGREEABLE TO THE VENDOR/CONTRACTOR AND THE STATE OF NEBRASKA.

Original/Bid Document 6126 Z1

________________________________
BUYER

________________________________
   MATERIEL ADMINISTRATOR

R43500|NISK0002|NISK0002 20210628

Contract to supply and deliver Foster and Adoptive Parent Home Study Services to the State of Nebraska as per the attached
specifications for the period October 30, 2022, through October 29, 2023. The contract may be renewed for two (2) additional 
one (1) year periods when mutually agreeable to the vendor and the State of Nebraska. 

Vendor Contact: Ashley Brown, President
Phone (Office): 402-498-4714
Phone (Cellular): 402-312-0280
Fax: 402-493-3340
E-Mail: adbrown@kvc.org

THIS IS THE SECOND RENEWAL OF THE CONTRACT AS AMENDED.  (10/19/22 sc)

Line Description Quantity
Unit of

Measure
Unit
Price

Extended 
Price

1 EASTERN SVC AREA HOME 
STUDIES 

134.0000 EA 594.0000 79,596.00

INITIAL AWARD YEAR ONE
10/30/19 - 10/29/20

2 OPT ESA REN LICENSE HOME 
STUDY 

10.0000 EA 478.5000 4,785.00

INITIAL AWARD YEAR ONE
10/30/19 - 10/29/20

3 NORTHERN SVC AREA HOME 
STUDY 

50.0000 EA 902.0000 45,100.00

INITIAL AWARD YEAR ONE
10/30/19 - 10/29/20

4 OPT NSA REN LICENSE HOME 
STUDY 

111.0000 EA 764.5000 84,859.50

INITIAL AWARD YEAR ONE
10/30/19 - 10/29/20

Estimated

________________________________ 

              DHHS Division Director 

DocuSign Envelope ID: 1810E119-B846-4CB4-A642-FA57B0CD9D46
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STATE OF NEBRASKA SERVICE CONTRACT AWARD State Purchasing Bureau
1526 K Street, Suite 130
Lincoln, Nebraska 68508

Telephone: (402) 471-6500
Fax: (402) 471-2089

PAGE ORDER DATE
2 of 7 10/19/22

BUSINESS UNIT BUYER
CONTRACT NUMBER
      88772  O4

25400113 MIKE HENDRICKSON (AS)

VENDOR NUMBER:           1881165

_____________
BUYER INITIALS

R43500|NISK0002|NISK0002 20210628

Line Description Quantity
Unit of

Measure
Unit
Price

Extended 
Price

5 SOUTHEAST SVC AREA HOME 
STUDY 

115.0000 EA 717.7500 82,541.25

INITIAL AWARD YEAR ONE
10/30/19 - 10/29/20

6 OPT SESA REN LICENSE HOME 
STUD 

20.0000 EA 580.2500 11,605.00

INITIAL AWARD YEAR ONE
10/30/19 - 10/29/20

7 CENTRAL SVC AREA HOME STUDY 102.0000 EA 1,039.5000 106,029.00
INITIAL AWARD YEAR ONE
10/29/19 - 10/30/20

8 OPT CSA REN LICENSE HOME 
STUDY 

10.0000 EA 902.0000 9,020.00

INITIAL AWARD YEAR ONE
10/29/19 - 10/30/20

9 WESTERN SVC AREA HOME STUDY 480.0000 EA 1,468.5000 704,880.00
INITIAL AWARD YEAR ONE
10/29/19 - 10/30/20

10 OPT WSA REN LICENSE HOME 
STUDY 

10.0000 EA 1,331.0000 13,310.00

INITIAL AWARD YEAR ONE
10/29/19 - 10/30/20

11 EASTERN SVC AREA HOME 
STUDIES 

134.0000 EA 594.0000 79,596.00

INITIAL AWARD YEAR TWO
10/29/20 - 10/30/21

12 OPT ESA REN LICENSE HOME 
STUDY 

10.0000 EA 478.5000 4,785.00

INITIAL AWARD YEAR TWO
10/29/20 - 10/30/21

13 NORTHERN SVC AREA HOME 
STUDY 

50.0000 EA 902.0000 45,100.00

INITIAL AWARD YEAR TWO
10/29/20 - 10/30/21

14 OPT NSA REN LICENSE HOME 
STUDY 

10.0000 EA 764.5000 7,645.00

INITIAL AWARD YEAR TWO
10/29/20 - 10/30/21

Estimated

DocuSign Envelope ID: 1810E119-B846-4CB4-A642-FA57B0CD9D46



STATE OF NEBRASKA SERVICE CONTRACT AWARD State Purchasing Bureau
1526 K Street, Suite 130
Lincoln, Nebraska 68508

Telephone: (402) 471-6500
Fax: (402) 471-2089

PAGE ORDER DATE
3 of 7 10/19/22

BUSINESS UNIT BUYER
CONTRACT NUMBER
      88772  O4

25400113 MIKE HENDRICKSON (AS)

VENDOR NUMBER:           1881165

_____________
BUYER INITIALS

R43500|NISK0002|NISK0002 20210628

Line Description Quantity
Unit of

Measure
Unit
Price

Extended 
Price

15 SOUTHEAST SVC AREA HOME 
STUDY 

105.0000 EA 717.7500 75,363.75

INITIAL AWARD YEAR TWO
10/29/20 - 10/30/21

16 OPT SESA REN LICENSE HOME 
STUD 

10.0000 EA 580.2500 5,802.50

INITIAL AWARD YEAR TWO
10/29/20 - 10/30/21

17 CENTRAL SVC AREA HOME STUDY 102.0000 EA 1,039.5000 106,029.00
INITIAL AWARD YEAR TWO
10/29/20 - 10/30/21

18 OPT CSA REN LICENSE HOME 
STUDY 

10.0000 EA 902.0000 9,020.00

INITIAL AWARD YEAR TWO
10/29/20 - 10/30/21

19 WESTERN SVC AREA HOME STUDY 240.0000 EA 1,468.5000 352,440.00
INITIAL AWARD YEAR TWO
10/29/20 - 10/30/21

20 OPT WSA REN LICENSE HOME 
STUDY 

10.0000 EA 1,331.0000 13,310.00

INITIAL AWARD YEAR TWO
10/29/20 - 10/30/21

21 EASTERN SVC AREA HOME 
STUDIES 

134.0000 EA 478.5000 64,119.00

OPT RENEWAL ONE YEAR THREE
10/29/21 - 10/30/22

22 OPT ESA REN LICENSE HOME 
STUDY 

10.0000 EA 478.5000 4,785.00

OPT RENEWAL ONE YEAR THREE
10/29/21 - 10/30/22

23 NORTHERN SVC AREA HOME 
STUDY 

50.0000 EA 764.5000 38,225.00

OPT RENEWAL ONE YEAR THREE
10/29/21 - 10/30/22

24 OPT NSA REN LICENSE HOME 
STUDY 

10.0000 EA 764.5000 7,645.00

OPT RENEWAL ONE YEAR THREE
10/29/21 - 10/30/22

Estimated
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STATE OF NEBRASKA SERVICE CONTRACT AWARD State Purchasing Bureau
1526 K Street, Suite 130
Lincoln, Nebraska 68508

Telephone: (402) 471-6500
Fax: (402) 471-2089

PAGE ORDER DATE
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BUSINESS UNIT BUYER
CONTRACT NUMBER
      88772  O4

25400113 MIKE HENDRICKSON (AS)

VENDOR NUMBER:           1881165

_____________
BUYER INITIALS

R43500|NISK0002|NISK0002 20210628

Line Description Quantity
Unit of

Measure
Unit
Price

Extended 
Price

25 SOUTHEAST SVC AREA HOME 
STUDY 

105.0000 EA 580.2500 60,926.25

OPT RENEWAL ONE YEAR THREE
10/29/21 - 10/30/22

26 OPT SESA REN LICENSE HOME 
STUD 

10.0000 EA 580.2500 5,802.50

OPT RENEWAL ONE YEAR THREE
10/29/21 - 10/30/22

27 CENTRAL SVC AREA HOME STUDY 102.0000 EA 902.0000 92,004.00
OPT RENEWAL ONE YEAR THREE
10/29/21 - 10/30/22

28 OPT CSA REN LICENSE HOME 
STUDY 

10.0000 EA 902.0000 9,020.00

OPT RENEWAL ONE YEAR THREE
10/29/21 - 10/30/22

29 WESTERN SVC AREA HOME STUDY 240.0000 EA 1,331.0000 319,440.00
OPT RENEWAL ONE YEAR THREE
10/29/21 - 10/30/22

30 OPT WSA REN LICENSE HOME 
STUDY 

10.0000 EA 1,331.0000 13,310.00

OPT RENEWAL ONE YEAR THREE
10/29/21 - 10/30/22

31 EASTERN SVC AREA HOME 
STUDIES 

134.0000 EA 478.5000 64,119.00

OPT RENEWAL TWO YEAR FOUR
10/29/22 - 10/30/23

32 OPT ESA REN LICENSE HOME 
STUDY 

10.0000 EA 478.5000 4,785.00

OPT RENEWAL TWO YEAR FOUR
10/29/22 - 10/30/23

33 NORTHERN SVC AREA HOME 
STUDY 

50.0000 EA 764.5000 38,225.00

OPT RENEWAL TWO YEAR FOUR
10/29/22 - 10/30/23

34 OPT NSA REN LICENSE HOME 
STUDY 

10.0000 EA 764.5000 7,645.00

OPT RENEWAL TWO YEAR FOUR
10/29/22 - 10/30/23

Estimated
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STATE OF NEBRASKA SERVICE CONTRACT AWARD State Purchasing Bureau
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Lincoln, Nebraska 68508
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Fax: (402) 471-2089

PAGE ORDER DATE
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BUSINESS UNIT BUYER
CONTRACT NUMBER
      88772  O4

25400113 MIKE HENDRICKSON (AS)

VENDOR NUMBER:           1881165

_____________
BUYER INITIALS

R43500|NISK0002|NISK0002 20210628

Line Description Quantity
Unit of

Measure
Unit
Price

Extended 
Price

35 SOUTHEAST SVC AREA HOME 
STUDY 

105.0000 EA 580.2500 60,926.25

OPT RENEWAL TWO YEAR FOUR
10/29/22 - 10/30/23

36 OPT SESA REN LICENSE HOME 
STUD 

10.0000 EA 580.2500 5,802.50

OPT RENEWAL TWO YEAR FOUR
10/29/22 - 10/30/23

37 CENTRAL SVC AREA HOME STUDY 102.0000 EA 902.0000 92,004.00
OPT RENEWAL TWO YEAR FOUR
10/29/22 - 10/30/23

38 OPT CSA REN LICENSE HOME 
STUDY 

10.0000 EA 902.0000 9,020.00

OPT RENEWAL TWO YEAR FOUR
10/29/22 - 10/30/23

39 WESTERN SVC AREA HOME STUDY 240.0000 EA 1,331.0000 319,440.00
OPT RENEWAL TWO YEAR FOUR
10/29/22 - 10/30/23

40 OPT WSA REN LICENSE HOME 
STUDY 

10.0000 EA 1,331.0000 13,310.00

OPT RENEWAL TWO YEAR FOUR
10/29/22 - 10/30/23

41 EASTERN SVC AREA HOME 
STUDIES 

134.0000 EA 478.5000 64,119.00

OPT RENEWAL THREE YEAR FIVE
10/29/23 - 10/30/24

42 OPT ESA REN LICENSE HOME 
STUDY 

10.0000 EA 478.5000 4,785.00

OPT RENEWAL THREE YEAR FIVE
10/29/23 - 10/30/24

43 NORTHERN SVC AREA HOME 
STUDY 

50.0000 EA 764.5000 38,225.00

OPT RENEWAL THREE YEAR FIVE
10/29/23 - 10/30/24

44 OPT NSA REN LICENSE HOME 
STUDY 

10.0000 EA 764.5000 7,645.00

OPT RENEWAL THREE YEAR FIVE
10/29/23 - 10/30/24

Estimated
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CONTRACT NUMBER
      88772  O4
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_____________
BUYER INITIALS

R43500|NISK0002|NISK0002 20210628

Line Description Quantity
Unit of

Measure
Unit
Price

Extended 
Price

45 SOUTHEAST SVC AREA HOME 
STUDY 

105.0000 EA 580.2500 60,926.25

OPT RENEWAL THREE YEAR FIVE
10/29/23 - 10/30/24

46 OPT SESA REN LICENSE HOME 
STUD 

10.0000 EA 580.2500 5,802.50

OPT RENEWAL THREE YEAR FIVE
10/29/23 - 10/30/24

47 CENTRAL SVC AREA HOME STUDY 102.0000 EA 902.0000 92,004.00
OPT RENEWAL THREE YEAR FIVE
10/29/23 - 10/30/24

48 OPT CSA REN LICENSE HOME 
STUDY 

10.0000 EA 902.0000 9,020.00

OPT RENEWAL THREE YEAR FIVE
10/29/23 - 10/30/24

49 WESTERN SVC AREA HOME STUDY 240.0000 EA 1,331.0000 319,440.00
OPT RENEWAL THREE YEAR FIVE
10/29/23 - 10/30/24

50 OPT WSA REN LICENSE HOME 
STUDY 

10.0000 EA 1,331.0000 13,310.00

OPT RENEWAL THREE YEAR FIVE
10/29/23 - 10/30/24

51 EASTERN SVC AREA HOME 
STUDIES 

134.0000 EA 478.5000 64,119.00

OPT RENEWAL FOUR YEAR SIX
10/29/24 - 10/30/25

52 OPT ESA REN LICENSE HOME 
STUDY 

10.0000 EA 478.5000 4,785.00

OPT RENEWAL FOUR YEAR SIX
10/29/24 - 10/30/25

53 NORTHERN SVC AREA HOME 
STUDY 

50.0000 EA 764.5000 38,225.00

OPT RENEWAL FOUR YEAR SIX
10/29/24 - 10/30/25

54 OPT NSA REN LICENSE HOME 
STUDY 

10.0000 EA 764.5000 7,645.00

OPT RENEWAL FOUR YEAR SIX
10/29/24 - 10/30/25

Estimated

DocuSign Envelope ID: 1810E119-B846-4CB4-A642-FA57B0CD9D46



STATE OF NEBRASKA SERVICE CONTRACT AWARD State Purchasing Bureau
1526 K Street, Suite 130
Lincoln, Nebraska 68508

Telephone: (402) 471-6500
Fax: (402) 471-2089

PAGE ORDER DATE
7 of 7 10/19/22

BUSINESS UNIT BUYER
CONTRACT NUMBER
      88772  O4

25400113 MIKE HENDRICKSON (AS)

VENDOR NUMBER:           1881165

_____________
BUYER INITIALS

R43500|NISK0002|NISK0002 20210628

Line Description Quantity
Unit of

Measure
Unit
Price

Extended 
Price

55 SOUTHEAST SVC AREA HOME 
STUDY 

105.0000 EA 580.2500 60,926.25

OPT RENEWAL FOUR YEAR SIX
10/29/24 - 10/30/25

56 OPT SESA REN LICENSE HOME 
STUD 

10.0000 EA 580.2500 5,802.50

OPT RENEWAL FOUR YEAR SIX
10/29/24 - 10/30/25

57 CENTRAL SVC AREA HOME STUDY 102.0000 EA 902.0000 92,004.00
OPT RENEWAL FOUR YEAR SIX
10/29/24 - 10/30/25

58 OPT CSA REN LICENSE HOME 
STUDY 

10.0000 EA 902.0000 9,020.00

OPT RENEWAL FOUR YEAR SIX
10/29/24 - 10/30/25

59 WESTERN SVC AREA HOME STUDY 240.0000 EA 1,331.0000 319,440.00
OPT RENEWAL FOUR YEAR SIX
10/29/24 - 10/30/25

60 OPT WSA REN LICENSE HOME 
STUDY 

10.0000 EA 1,331.0000 13,310.00

OPT RENEWAL FOUR YEAR SIX
10/29/24 - 10/30/25

Total Order 4,301,924.00

Estimated

DocuSign Envelope ID: 1810E119-B846-4CB4-A642-FA57B0CD9D46



Amara Block,  Interim Materiel Administrator 

Department of Administrative Services  |   MATERIEL DIVISION 

1526 K Street, Ste. 130  OFFICE  402-471-6500 

Lincoln, Nebraska 68508  FAX  402-471-2089      

das.nebraska.org 

 

 

CONTRACT RENEWAL 
April 20, 2022 

Ms. Ashley Brown 

KVC Behavioral Healthcare Nebraska Inc 

21350 W 153rd St. 

Olathe, KS 66061-5413 
 

RE: Contract Number 88772 O4 – Foster and Adoptive Parent Home Study Services 

Dear Ms. Magnuson: 

The above-named contract for providing Foster and Adoptive Parent Home Study Services to the State of Nebraska, 
Department of Health and Human Services (DHHS) expires October 29, 2022. 
 

The State of Nebraska is currently interested in renewing the Contract for an additional one (1) year period, i.e., 
October 30, 2022 through October 29, 2023.  If KVC Behavioral Healthcare Nebraska Inc. wishes to renew the 
Contract as stated, please sign and return this as soon as possible, keeping one copy for your files.   
 
The State will consider your signature as an agreement to be bound to the renewal, but the renewal will not be 
agreed to and accepted by the State until the award signature page is executed by the Materiel Administrator.  
 
If no response is received within 30 calendar days, the State of Nebraska will assume that the contractor does not 
intend to renew the contract and thus may begin the formal solicitation process. 
 
Sincerely, 

 
 
 
Annette Walton, Procurement Contracts Officer 
State Purchasing Bureau 
 
KVC Behavioral Healthcare Nebraska Inc. is agreeable to the renewal of 88772 O4 for Foster and Adoptive Parent 
Home Study Services to the State of Nebraska, October 30, 2022, through October 29, 2023.  
 
 
Signature       ____     
 
 
Title           
 
 
Date          

DocuSign Envelope ID: B4F9CC96-1976-4E4B-9A3E-4D611853BFDA

President

4/20/2022

DocuSign Envelope ID: 1810E119-B846-4CB4-A642-FA57B0CD9D46



STATE OF NEBRASKA SERVICE CONTRACT AWARD State Purchasing Bureau
1526 K Street, Suite 130
Lincoln, Nebraska 68508

Telephone: (402) 471-6500
Fax: (402) 471-2089

PAGE ORDER DATE
1 of 7 09/27/21

BUSINESS UNIT BUYER
CONTRACT NUMBER
      88772  O4

25400113 ANNETTE WALTON (AS)
VENDOR NUMBER:           1881165

VENDOR ADDRESS:

KVC BEHAVIORAL HEALTHCARE NEBRASKA INC
21350 W 153RD ST
OLATHE KS 66061-5413

AN AWARD HAS BEEN MADE TO THE VENDOR/CONTRACTOR NAMED ABOVE FOR THE SERVICES AS LISTED BELOW FOR THE 
PERIOD:

OCTOBER 30, 2021 THROUGH OCTOBER 29, 2022

THIS CONTRACT IS NOT AN EXCLUSIVE CONTRACT TO FURNISH THE SERVICES SHOWN BELOW, AND DOES NOT PRECLUDE
THE PURCHASE OF SIMILAR SERVICES FROM OTHER SOURCES.

THE STATE RESERVES THE RIGHT TO EXTEND THE PERIOD OF THIS CONTRACT BEYOND THE TERMINATION DATE WHEN
MUTUALLY AGREEABLE TO THE VENDOR/CONTRACTOR AND THE STATE OF NEBRASKA.

Original/Bid Document 6126 Z1

________________________________
BUYER

________________________________
   MATERIEL ADMINISTRATOR

R43500|NISK0002|NISK0002 20210628

Contract to supply and deliver Foster and Adoptive Parent Home Study Services to the State of Nebraska as per the attached
specifications for the period October 30, 2021 through October 29, 2022. The contract may be renewed for three (3) additional
one (1) year periods when mutually agreeable to the vendor and the State of Nebraska. 

Vendor Contact:  Ashley Brown, President
Phone (Office):  402-498-4714
Phone (Cellular):  402-312-0280
Fax:  402-493-3340
E-Mail:  adbrown@kvc.org

THIS IS THE FIRST RENEWAL OF THE CONTRACT AS AMENDED.  (9/27/21 sc)

Line Description Quantity
Unit of

Measure
Unit
Price

Extended 
Price

1 134.0000 EA 594.0000 79,596.00

2 10.0000 EA 478.5000 4,785.00

3 50.0000 EA 902.0000 45,100.00

4 111.0000 EA 764.5000 84,859.50

EASTERN SVC AREA       
HOME STUDIES 
INITIAL AWARD YEAR ONE 
10/30/19 - 10/29/20

OPT ESA REN LICENSE   
HOME STUDY 
INITIAL AWARD YEAR ONE 
10/30/19 - 10/29/20

NORTHERN SVC AREA    
HOME STUDY 
INITIAL AWARD YEAR ONE 
10/30/19 - 10/29/20

OPT NSA REN LICENSE   
HOME STUDY 
INITIAL AWARD YEAR ONE 
10/30/19 - 10/29/20

Estimated

________________________________ 

              DHHS Division Director 

DocuSign Envelope ID: 602D63DF-E5BA-448D-BA7A-4850A9C8D060

10/29/2021 11/1/2021 11/2/2021



STATE OF NEBRASKA SERVICE CONTRACT AWARD State Purchasing Bureau
1526 K Street, Suite 130
Lincoln, Nebraska 68508

Telephone: (402) 471-6500
Fax: (402) 471-2089

PAGE ORDER DATE
2 of 7 09/27/21

BUSINESS UNIT BUYER
CONTRACT NUMBER
      88772  O4

25400113 ANNETTE WALTON (AS)

VENDOR NUMBER:           1881165

_____________
BUYER INITIALS

R43500|NISK0002|NISK0002 20210628

Line Description Quantity
Unit of

Measure
Unit
Price

Extended 
Price

5 115.0000 EA 717.7500 82,541.25

6 10.0000 EA 580.2500   5,802.50

7 102.0000 EA 1,039.5000 106,029.00

8 10.0000 EA 902.0000 9,020.00

9 480.0000 EA 1,468.5000 704,880.00

SOUTHEAST SVC AREA           
HOME STUDY 
INITIAL AWARD YEAR ONE
10/30/19 - 10/29/20

OPT SESA REN LICENSE         
HOME STUDY
INITIAL AWARD YEAR ONE
10/30/19 - 10/29/20

CENTRAL SVC AREA HOME STUDY 
INITIAL AWARD YEAR ONE
10/29/19 - 10/30/20

OPT CSA REN LICENSE           
HOME STUDY 
INITIAL AWARD YEAR ONE
10/29/19 - 10/30/20

WESTERN SVC AREA HOME STUDY 
INITIAL AWARD YEAR ONE
10/29/19 - 10/30/20

10 10.0000 EA 1,331.0000 13,310.00OPT WSA REN LICENSE   
HOME STUDY 
INITIAL AWARD YEAR ONE 
10/29/19 - 10/30/20

11 134.0000 EA 594.0000 79,596.00EASTERN SVC AREA   
HOME STUDIES 
INITIAL AWARD YEAR TWO 
10/29/20 - 10/30/21

12 10.0000 EA 478.5000 4,785.00OPT ESA REN LICENSE   
HOME STUDY 
INITIAL AWARD YEAR TWO 
10/29/20 - 10/30/21

13 50.0000 EA 902.0000 45,100.00NORTHERN SVC AREA  
HOME STUDY 
INITIAL AWARD YEAR TWO 
10/29/20 - 10/30/21

14 10.0000 EA 764.5000 7,645.00OPT NSA REN LICENSE   
HOME STUDY 
INITIAL AWARD YEAR TWO 
10/29/20 - 10/30/21

Estimated

DocuSign Envelope ID: 602D63DF-E5BA-448D-BA7A-4850A9C8D060



STATE OF NEBRASKA SERVICE CONTRACT AWARD State Purchasing Bureau
1526 K Street, Suite 130
Lincoln, Nebraska 68508

Telephone: (402) 471-6500
Fax: (402) 471-2089

PAGE ORDER DATE
3 of 7 09/27/21

BUSINESS UNIT BUYER
CONTRACT NUMBER
      88772  O4

25400113 ANNETTE WALTON (AS)

VENDOR NUMBER:           1881165

_____________
BUYER INITIALS

R43500|NISK0002|NISK0002 20210628

Line Description Quantity
Unit of

Measure
Unit
Price

Extended 
Price

15 105.0000 EA 717.7500 75,363.75SOUTHEAST SVC AREA   
HOME STUDY 
INITIAL AWARD YEAR TWO 
10/29/20 - 10/30/21

16 10.0000 EA 580.2500 5,802.50OPT SESA REN LICENSE   
HOME STUDY
INITIAL AWARD YEAR TWO 
10/29/20 - 10/30/21

17 CENTRAL SVC AREA HOME STUDY 102.0000 EA 1,039.5000 106,029.00
INITIAL AWARD YEAR TWO
10/29/20 - 10/30/21

18 10.0000 EA 902.0000 9,020.00OPT CSA REN LICENSE   
HOME STUDY 
INITIAL AWARD YEAR TWO 
10/29/20 - 10/30/21

19 WESTERN SVC AREA HOME STUDY 240.0000 EA 1,468.5000 352,440.00
INITIAL AWARD YEAR TWO
10/29/20 - 10/30/21

20 10.0000 EA 1,331.0000 13,310.00OPT WSA REN LICENSE   
HOME STUDY 
INITIAL AWARD YEAR TWO 
10/29/20 - 10/30/21

21 134.0000 EA 478.5000 64,119.00EASTERN SVC AREA             
HOME STUDIES 
OPT RENEWAL ONE YEAR THREE 
10/29/21 - 10/30/22

22 10.0000 EA 478.5000 4,785.00OPT ESA REN LICENSE         
HOME STUDY 
OPT RENEWAL ONE YEAR THREE 
10/29/21 - 10/30/22

23 50.0000 EA 764.5000 38,225.00NORTHERN SVC AREA          
HOME STUDY 
OPT RENEWAL ONE YEAR THREE 
10/29/21 - 10/30/22

24 10.0000 EA 764.5000 7,645.00OPT NSA REN LICENSE         
HOME STUDY 
OPT RENEWAL ONE YEAR THREE 
10/29/21 - 10/30/22

Estimated

DocuSign Envelope ID: 602D63DF-E5BA-448D-BA7A-4850A9C8D060



STATE OF NEBRASKA SERVICE CONTRACT AWARD State Purchasing Bureau
1526 K Street, Suite 130
Lincoln, Nebraska 68508

Telephone: (402) 471-6500
Fax: (402) 471-2089

PAGE ORDER DATE
4 of 7 09/27/21

BUSINESS UNIT BUYER
CONTRACT NUMBER
      88772  O4

25400113 ANNETTE WALTON (AS)

VENDOR NUMBER:           1881165

_____________
BUYER INITIALS

R43500|NISK0002|NISK0002 20210628

Line Description Quantity
Unit of

Measure
Unit
Price

Extended 
Price

25 105.0000 EA 580.2500 60,926.25SOUTHEAST SVC AREA         
HOME STUDY 
OPT RENEWAL ONE YEAR THREE 
10/29/21 - 10/30/22

26 10.0000 EA 580.2500 5,802.50OPT SESA REN LICENSE       
HOME STUDY 
OPT RENEWAL ONE YEAR THREE 
10/29/21 - 10/30/22

27 CENTRAL SVC AREA HOME STUDY 102.0000 EA 902.0000 92,004.00
OPT RENEWAL ONE YEAR THREE
10/29/21 - 10/30/22

28 10.0000 EA 902.0000 9,020.00OPT CSA REN LICENSE         
HOME STUDY 
OPT RENEWAL ONE YEAR THREE 
10/29/21 - 10/30/22

29 WESTERN SVC AREA HOME STUDY 240.0000 EA 1,331.0000 319,440.00
OPT RENEWAL ONE YEAR THREE
10/29/21 - 10/30/22

30 10.0000 EA 1,331.0000 13,310.00OPT WSA REN LICENSE        
HOME STUDY 
OPT RENEWAL ONE YEAR THREE 
10/29/21 - 10/30/22

31 134.0000 EA 478.5000 64,119.00EASTERN SVC AREA            
HOME STUDIES 
OPT RENEWAL TWO YEAR FOUR 
10/29/22 - 10/30/23

32 10.0000 EA 478.5000 4,785.00OPT ESA REN LICENSE        
HOME STUDY 
OPT RENEWAL TWO YEAR FOUR 
10/29/22 - 10/30/23

33 50.0000 EA 764.5000 38,225.00NORTHERN SVC AREA         
HOME STUDY 
OPT RENEWAL TWO YEAR FOUR 
10/29/22 - 10/30/23

34 10.0000 EA 764.5000 7,645.00OPT NSA REN LICENSE       
HOME STUDY 
OPT RENEWAL TWO YEAR FOUR 
10/29/22 - 10/30/23

Estimated

DocuSign Envelope ID: 602D63DF-E5BA-448D-BA7A-4850A9C8D060



STATE OF NEBRASKA SERVICE CONTRACT AWARD State Purchasing Bureau
1526 K Street, Suite 130
Lincoln, Nebraska 68508

Telephone: (402) 471-6500
Fax: (402) 471-2089

PAGE ORDER DATE
5 of 7 09/27/21

BUSINESS UNIT BUYER
CONTRACT NUMBER
      88772  O4

25400113 ANNETTE WALTON (AS)

VENDOR NUMBER:           1881165

_____________
BUYER INITIALS

R43500|NISK0002|NISK0002 20210628

Line Description Quantity
Unit of

Measure
Unit
Price

Extended 
Price

35 105.0000 EA 580.2500 60,926.25SOUTHEAST SVC AREA       
HOME STUDY 
OPT RENEWAL TWO YEAR FOUR 
10/29/22 - 10/30/23

36 10.0000 EA 580.2500 5,802.50OPT SESA REN LICENSE     
HOME STUDY 
OPT RENEWAL TWO YEAR FOUR 
10/29/22 - 10/30/23

37 CENTRAL SVC AREA HOME STUDY 102.0000 EA 902.0000 92,004.00
OPT RENEWAL TWO YEAR FOUR
10/29/22 - 10/30/23

38 10.0000 EA 902.0000 9,020.00OPT CSA REN LICENSE       
HOME STUDY 
OPT RENEWAL TWO YEAR FOUR 
10/29/22 - 10/30/23

39 WESTERN SVC AREA HOME STUDY 240.0000 EA 1,331.0000 319,440.00
OPT RENEWAL TWO YEAR FOUR
10/29/22 - 10/30/23

40 10.0000 EA 1,331.0000 13,310.00OPT WSA REN LICENSE       
HOME STUDY 
OPT RENEWAL TWO YEAR FOUR 
10/29/22 - 10/30/23

41 134.0000 EA 478.5000 64,119.00EASTERN SVC AREA              
HOME STUDIES 
OPT RENEWAL THREE YEAR FIVE 
10/29/23 - 10/30/24

42 10.0000 EA 478.5000 4,785.00OPT ESA REN LICENSE         
HOME STUDY 
OPT RENEWAL THREE YEAR FIVE 
10/29/23 - 10/30/24

43 50.0000 EA 764.5000 38,225.00NORTHERN SVC AREA          
HOME STUDY 
OPT RENEWAL THREE YEAR FIVE 
10/29/23 - 10/30/24

44 10.0000 EA 764.5000 7,645.00OPT NSA REN LICENSE         
HOME STUDY 
OPT RENEWAL THREE YEAR FIVE 
10/29/23 - 10/30/24

Estimated

DocuSign Envelope ID: 602D63DF-E5BA-448D-BA7A-4850A9C8D060



STATE OF NEBRASKA SERVICE CONTRACT AWARD State Purchasing Bureau
1526 K Street, Suite 130
Lincoln, Nebraska 68508

Telephone: (402) 471-6500
Fax: (402) 471-2089

PAGE ORDER DATE
6 of 7 09/27/21

BUSINESS UNIT BUYER
CONTRACT NUMBER
      88772  O4

25400113 ANNETTE WALTON (AS)

VENDOR NUMBER:           1881165

_____________
BUYER INITIALS

R43500|NISK0002|NISK0002 20210628

Line Description Quantity
Unit of

Measure
Unit
Price

Extended 
Price

45 105.0000 EA 580.2500 60,926.25SOUTHEAST SVC AREA         
HOME STUDY 
OPT RENEWAL THREE YEAR FIVE 
10/29/23 - 10/30/24

46 10.0000 EA 580.2500 5,802.50OPT SESA REN LICENSE       
HOME STUDY 
OPT RENEWAL THREE YEAR FIVE 
10/29/23 - 10/30/24

47 CENTRAL SVC AREA HOME STUDY 102.0000 EA 902.0000 92,004.00
OPT RENEWAL THREE YEAR FIVE
10/29/23 - 10/30/24

48 10.0000 EA 902.0000 9,020.00OPT CSA REN LICENSE         
HOME STUDY 
OPT RENEWAL THREE YEAR FIVE 
10/29/23 - 10/30/24

49 WESTERN SVC AREA HOME STUDY 240.0000 EA 1,331.0000 319,440.00
OPT RENEWAL THREE YEAR FIVE
10/29/23 - 10/30/24

50 10.0000 EA 1,331.0000 13,310.00OPT WSA REN LICENSE        
HOME STUDY 
OPT RENEWAL THREE YEAR FIVE 
10/29/23 - 10/30/24

51 134.0000 EA 478.5000 64,119.00EASTERN SVC AREA          
HOME STUDIES 
OPT RENEWAL FOUR YEAR SIX 
10/29/24 - 10/30/25

52 10.0000 EA 478.5000 4,785.00OPT ESA REN LICENSE     
HOME STUDY 
OPT RENEWAL FOUR YEAR SIX 
10/29/24 - 10/30/25

53 50.0000 EA 764.5000 38,225.00NORTHERN SVC AREA      
HOME STUDY 
OPT RENEWAL FOUR YEAR SIX 
10/29/24 - 10/30/25

54 10.0000 EA 764.5000 7,645.00OPT NSA REN LICENSE     
HOME STUDY 
OPT RENEWAL FOUR YEAR SIX 
10/29/24 - 10/30/25

Estimated

DocuSign Envelope ID: 602D63DF-E5BA-448D-BA7A-4850A9C8D060



STATE OF NEBRASKA SERVICE CONTRACT AWARD State Purchasing Bureau
1526 K Street, Suite 130
Lincoln, Nebraska 68508

Telephone: (402) 471-6500
Fax: (402) 471-2089

PAGE ORDER DATE
7 of 7 09/27/21

BUSINESS UNIT BUYER
CONTRACT NUMBER
      88772  O4

25400113 ANNETTE WALTON (AS)

VENDOR NUMBER:           1881165

_____________
BUYER INITIALS

R43500|NISK0002|NISK0002 20210628

Line Description Quantity
Unit of

Measure
Unit
Price

Extended 
Price

55 105.0000 EA 580.2500 60,926.25SOUTHEAST SVC AREA     
HOME STUDY 
OPT RENEWAL FOUR YEAR SIX 
10/29/24 - 10/30/25

56 10.0000 EA 580.2500 5,802.50OPT SESA REN LICENSE   
HOME STUD 
OPT RENEWAL FOUR YEAR SIX 
10/29/24 - 10/30/25

57 CENTRAL SVC AREA HOME STUDY 102.0000 EA 902.0000 92,004.00
OPT RENEWAL FOUR YEAR SIX
10/29/24 - 10/30/25

58 10.0000 EA 902.0000 9,020.00OPT CSA REN LICENSE     
HOME STUDY 
OPT RENEWAL FOUR YEAR SIX 
10/29/24 - 10/30/25

59 WESTERN SVC AREA HOME STUDY 240.0000 EA 1,331.0000 319,440.00
OPT RENEWAL FOUR YEAR SIX
10/29/24 - 10/30/25

60 10.0000 EA 1,331.0000 13,310.00OPT WSA REN LICENSE    
HOME STUDY 
OPT RENEWAL FOUR YEAR SIX 
10/29/24 - 10/30/25

Total Order 4,296,121.50

Estimated

DocuSign Envelope ID: 602D63DF-E5BA-448D-BA7A-4850A9C8D060



Doug Carlson, Materiel Administrator 

Department of Administrative Services  |   MATERIEL DIVISION 

1526 K Street, Ste. 130  OFFICE  402-471-6500 

Lincoln, Nebraska 68508  FAX  402-471-2089      

das.nebraska.org 

 

 

CONTRACT RENEWAL 
April 14, 2021 

Ms. Ashley Brown 

KVC Behavioral Healthcare Nebraska Inc 

21350 W 153rd St. 

Olathe, KS 66061-5413 
 

RE: Contract Number 88772 O4 – Foster and Adoptive Parent Home Study Services 

Dear Ms. Magnuson: 

The above named contract for providing Foster and Adoptive Parent Home Study Services to the State of Nebraska, 
Department of Health and Human Services (DHHS) expires October 29, 2021. 
 

The State of Nebraska is currently interested in renewing the Contract for an additional one (1) year period, i.e. 
October 30, 2021 through October 29, 2022.  If KVC Behavioral Healthcare Nebraska Inc. wishes to renew the 
Contract as stated, please sign and return this as soon as possible, keeping one copy for your files.   
 
The State will consider your signature as an agreement to be bound to the renewal, but the renewal will not be 
agreed to and accepted by the State until award signature page is executed by the Materiel Administrator.  
 
If no response is received within 30 calendar days, the State of Nebraska will assume that the contractor does not 
intend to renew the contract and thus may begin the formal solicitation process. 
 
Sincerely, 

 
 
 
Annette Walton, Buyer  
State Purchasing Bureau 
 
KVC Behavioral Healthcare Nebraska Inc. is agreeable to the renewal of 88772 O4 for Foster and Adoptive Parent 
Home Study Services to the State of Nebraska, October 30, 2021 through October 29, 2022.  
 
 
Signature       ____     
 
 
Title           
 
 
Date          

DocuSign Envelope ID: 60325164-D089-437D-8554-3EDB90BEAAC6

President

4/14/2021





















STATE OF NEBRASKA SERVICE CONTRACT AWARD State Purchasing Bureau 
1526 K Street, Suite 130 
Lincoln, Nebraska 68508 

PAGE 
1 of 7 

BUSINESS UNIT 
25400113 

VENDOR NUMBER: 1881165 

VENDOR ADDRESS: 

KVC BEHAVIORAL HEALTHCARE NEBRASKA INC 
21350 W 153RD ST 
OLATHE KS 66061-5413 

ORDER DATE 
10/30/19 

BUYER 
ANNETTE WAL TON AS 

Telephone: (402) 471-6500 
Fax: (402) 471-2089 

CONTRACT NUMBER 
88772 04 

AN AWARD HAS BEEN MADE TO THE VENDOR/CONTRACTOR NAMED ABOVE FOR THE SERVICES AS LISTED BELOW FOR THE 
PERIOD: 

OCTOBER 30, 2019 THROUGH OCTOBER 29, 2021 

THIS CONTRACT IS NOT AN EXCLUSIVE CONTRACT TO FURNISH THE SERVICES SHOWN BELOW, AND DOES NOT PRECLUDE 
THE PURCHASE OF SIMILAR SERVICES FROM OTHER SOURCES. 

THE STATE RESERVES THE RIGHT TO EXTEND THE PERIOD OF THIS CONTRACT BEYOND THE TERMINATION DATE WHEN 
MUTUALLY AGREEABLE TO THE VENDOR/CONTRACTOR AND THE STATE OF NEBRASKA. 

Original/Bid Document 6126 Z1 

Contract to supply and deliver Foster and Adoptive Parent Home Study Services to the State of Nebraska as per the attached 
specifications for the period October 30, 2019 through October 29i 2021. The contract may be renewed for four (4) additional 
one (1) year periods when mutually agreeable to the vendor and th.e State of Nebraska. 

Vendor Contact: Ashley Brown, President 
Phone (Office): 402-498-4714 
Phone (Cellular): 402-312-0280 
Fax: 402-493-3340 
E-Mail: adbrown@kvc.org 

(10/31/19 SC) 

Line Description 

1 EASTERN SVC AREA 
HOME STUDl~S : . 
INITIAL AWARD YEAR ONE 
10/30/19 - 10/29/20 

2 OPT ESA REN LICENSE 
HOME STUDY 
INITIAL AWARD YEAR ONE 
10/30/19 - 10/29/20 

3 NORTHERN SVC AREA 
HOME STUDY 
INITIAL AWARD YEAR ONE 
10/30/19 - 10/29/20 

4 OPT NSA REN LICENSE 
HOME STUDY 
INITIAL AWARD YEAR ONE 
10/30/19 - 10/29/20 

DHHS Division Director 

Estimated 
Quantity 

134.0000 

10.0000 

50.0000 

10.0000 

Unit of 
Measure 

EA 

EA 

EA 

EA 

Unit 
Price 

594.0000 

478.5000 

902.0000 

764.5000 

Extended 
Price 

79,596.00 

4,785.00 

45,100.00 

7,645.00 

R'3S001N1St<00021NISK0002 2015090 I 



STATE OF NEBRASKA SERVICE CONTRACT AWARD State Purchasing Bureau 
1526 K Street, Suite 130 
Lincoln. Nebraska 68508 

PAGE ORDER DATE Telephone: (402) 471-6500 

2 of 7 10/30/19 Fax: (402) 471-2089 

BUSINESS UNIT BUYER 
25400113 ANNETTE WAL TON AS CONTRACT NUMBER 

VENDOR NUMBER: 1881165 88772 04 

Line Description 
Estimated Unit of Unit Extended 
Quantity Measure Price Price 

5 SOUTHEAST SVC AREA 105.0000 EA 717.7500 75,363.75 
HOME STUDY 
INITIAL AWARD YEAR ONE 
10/30/19 - 10/29/20 

7 OPT SESA REN LICENSE 10.0000 EA 580.2500 5,802.50 
HOME STUDY 
INITIAL AWARD YEAR ONE 
10/30/19 - 10/29/20 

7 CENTRAL SVC AREA HOME STUDY 102.0000 EA 1,039.5000 106,029.00 
INITIAL AWARD YEAR ONE 
10/29/19 - 10/30/20 

8 OPT CSA REN LICENSE 10.0000 EA 902.0000 9,020.00 
HOME STUDY 
INITIAL AWARD YEAR ONE 
10/2 9/ 19 - 1 0/30/20 

9 WESTERN SVC AREA HOME STUDY 240.0000 EA 1,468.5000 352,440.00 
INITIAL AWARD YEAR ONE 
10/29/19 - 10/30/20 

10 OPT WSA REN LICENSE 10.0000 EA 1,331.0000 13,310.00 
HOME STUDY 
INITIAL AWARD YEAR ONE 
1 0/29/ 19 - 10/30/20 

11 EASTERN SVC AREA 134.0000 EA 594.0000 79,596.00 
HOME STUDIES 
INITIAL AWARD YEAR TWO 
10/29/20 - 10/30/21 

12 OPT ESA REN LICENSE 10.0000 EA 478.5000 4,785.00 
HOME STUDY 
INITIAL AWARD YEAR TWO 
10/29/20 - 1 0/30/21 

13 NORTHERN SVC AREA 50.0000 EA 902.0000 45,100.00 
HOME STUDY 
INITIAL AWARD YEAR TWO 
10/29/20 - 10/30/21 

14 OPT NSA REN LICENSE 10.0000 EA 764.5000 7,645.00 
HOME STUDY 
INITIAL AWARD YEAR TWO 
10/29/20 - 10/30/21 

c:/JJJl_ 
BUYER INITIALS 
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STATE OF NEBRASKA SERVICE CONTRACT AWARD State Purchasing Bureau 
1526 K Street, Suite 130 
Lincoln, Nebraska 66506 

PAGE 
3 of 7 

BUSINESS UNIT 
25400113 

VENDOR NUMBER: 1881165 

Line Description 

15 SOUTHEAST SVC AREA 
HOME STUDY 
INITIAL AWARD YEAR TWO 
10/29/20 - 1 0/30/21 

16 OPT SESA REN LICENSE 
HOME STUDY 
INITIAL AWARD YEAR TWO 
1 0/2 9/20 - 10/30/21 

17 CENTRAL SVC AREA HOME STUDY 
INITIAL AWARD YEAR TWO 
10/29/20 · 1 0/30/21 

18 OPT CSA REN LICENSE 
HOME STUDY 
INITIAL AWARD YEAR TWO 
1 0/29/20 - 1 0/30/21 

19 WESTERN SVC AREA HOME STUDY 
INITIAL AWARD YEAR TWO 
1 0/2 9/20 - 10/30/21 

20 OPT WSA REN LICENSE 
HOME STUDY 
INITIAL AWARD YEAR TWO 
10/29/20 - 1 0/30/21 

21 EASTERN SVC AREA 
HOME STUDIES 
OPT RENEWAL ONE YEAR THREE 
1 0/29/21 - 10/30/2 2 

22 OPT ESA REN LICENSE 
HOME STUDY 
OPT RENEWAL ONE YEAR THREE 
10/29/21 · 10/30/22 

23 NORTHERN SVC AREA 
HOME STUDY 
OPT RENEWAL ONE YEAR THREE 
10/29/21 - 10/30/22 

24 OPT NSA REN LICENSE 
HOME STUDY 
OPT RENEWAL ONE YEAR THREE 
10/29/21 - 10/30/22 

ORDER DATE 
10/30/19 

BUYER 
ANNETTE WAL TON AS 

Estimated 
Quantity 

105.0000 

10.0000 

102.0000 

10.0000 

240.0000 

10.0000 

134.0000 

10.0000 

50.0000 

10.0000 

Unit of 
Measure 

EA 

EA 

EA 

EA 

EA 

EA 

EA 

EA 

EA 

EA 

Telephone: (402) 471-6500 
Fax: (402} 471-2089 

CONTRACT NUMBER 
88772 04 

Unit 
Price 

717.7500 

580.2500 

1,039.5000 

902.0000 

1,468.5000 

1,331.0000 

478.5000 

478.5000 

764.5000 

764.5000 

Extended 
Price 

75,363.75 

5,802.50 

106,029.00 

9,020.00 

352,440.00 

13,310.00 

64,119.00 

4,785.00 

38,225.00 

7,645.00 

o[/dJu 
BUYER INITIALS 
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STATE OF NEBRASKA SERVICE CONTRACT AWARD State Purchasing Bureau 
1526 K Street, Suite 130 
Lincoln, Nebraska 68508 

PAGE 
4 of 7 

BUSINESS UNIT 
25400113 

VENDOR NUMBER: 1881165 

Line Description 

25 SOUTHEAST SVC AREA 
HOME STUDY 
OPT RENEWAL ONE YEAR THREE 
10/29/21 - 10/30/22 

26 OPT SESA REN LICENSE 
HOME STUDY 
OPT RENEWAL ONE YEAR THREE 
10/29/21 · 10/30/22 

27 CENTRAL SVC AREA HOME STUDY 
OPT RENEWAL ONE YEAR THREE 
10/29/21 - 10/30/22 

28 OPT CSA REN LICENSE 
HOME STUDY 
OPT RENEWAL ONE YEAR THREE 
10/29/21 - 10/30/22 

29 WESTERN SVC AREA HOME STUDY 
OPT RENEWAL ONE YEAR THREE 
10/29/21 · 10/30/22 

30 OPT WSA REN LICENSE 
HOME STUDY 
OPT RENEWAL ONE YEAR THREE 
10/29/21 - 10/30/22 

31 EASTERN SVC AREA 
HOME STUDIES 
OPT RENEWAL TWO YEAR FOUR 
10/29/22 - 10/30/23 

32 OPT ESA REN LICENSE 
HOME STUDY 
OPT RENEWAL TWO YEAR FOUR 
10/29/22 • 10/30/23 

33 NORTHERN SVC AREA 
HOME STUDY 
OPT RENEWAL TWO YEAR FOUR 
1 0/2 9/22 - 10/30/23 

34 OPT NSA REN LICENSE 
HOME STUDY 
OPT RENEWAL TWO YEAR FOUR 
10/29/22 · 10/30/23 

ORDER DATE 
10/30/19 
BUYER 

ANNETTE WAL TON AS 

Estimated 
Quantity 

105.0000 

10.0000 

102.0000 

10.0000 

240.0000 

10.0000 

134.0000 

10.0000 

50.0000 

10.0000 

Unit of 
Measure 

EA 

EA 

EA 

EA 

EA 

EA 

EA 

EA 

EA 

EA 

Telephone: (402) 471-6500 
Fax: (402) 471-2089 

CONTRACT NUMBER 
88772 04 

Unit 
Price 

580.2500 

580.2500 

902.0000 

902.0000 

1,331.0000 

1,331.0000 

478.5000 

478.5000 

764.5000 

764.5000 

Extended 
Price 

60,926.25 

5,802.50 

92,004.00 

9,020.00 

319,440.00 

13,310.00 

64,119.00 

4,785.00 

38,225.00 

7,645.00 
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STA TE OF NEBRASKA SERVICE CONTRACT AWARD State Purchasing Bureau 
1526 K Street, Suite 130 
Lincoln, Nebraska 68508 

PAGE 
5 of 7 

BUSINESS UNIT 
25400113 

VENDOR NUMBER: 1881165 

Line Description 

35 SOUTHEAST SVC AREA 
HOME STUDY 
OPT RENEWAL TWO YEAR FOUR 
10/29/22 - 10/30/23 

36 OPT SESA REN LICENSE 
HOME STUDY 
OPT RENEWAL TWO YEAR FOUR 
10/29/22 - 10/30/23 

37 CENTRAL SVC AREA HOME STUDY 
OPT RENEWAL TWO YEAR FOUR 
10/29/22 - 1 0/30/23 

38 OPT CSA REN LICENSE 
HOME STUDY 
OPT RENEWAL TWO YEAR FOUR 
1 0/29/22 - 10/30/2 3 

39 WESTERN SVC AREA HOME STUDY 
OPT RENEWAL TWO YEAR FOUR 
10/29/22 - 10/30/23 

40 OPT WSA REN LICENSE 
HOME STUDY 
OPT RENEWAL TWO YEAR FOUR 
10/29/2 2 - 1 0/30/23 

41 EASTERN SVC AREA 
HOME STUDIES 
OPT RENEWAL THREE YEAR FIVE 
10/29/23 - 10/30/24 

42 OPT ESA REN LICENSE 
HOME STUDY 
OPT RENEWAL THREE YEAR FIVE 
10/29/23 - 10/30/24 

43 NORTHERN SVC AREA 
HOME STUDY 
OPT RENEWAL THREE YEAR FIVE 
10/29/23 - 10/30/24 

44 OPT NSA REN LICENSE 
HOME STUDY 
OPT RENEWAL THREE YEAR FIVE 
10/29/23 - 10/30/24 

ORDER DATE 
10/30/19 

BUYER 
ANNETTE WAL TON AS 

Estimated Unit of 
Quantity Measure 

105.0000 EA 

10.0000 EA 

102.0000 EA 

10.0000 EA 

240.0000 EA 

10.0000 EA 

134.0000 EA 

10.0000 EA 

50.0000 EA 

10.0000 EA 

Telephone: (402) 471-6500 
Fax: (402) 471-2089 

CONTRACT NUMBER 
88772 04 

Unit 
Price 

580.2500 

580.2500 

902.0000 

902.0000 

1,331.0000 

1,331.0000 

478.5000 

478.5000 

764.5000 

764.5000 

Extended 
Price 

60,926.25 

5,802.50 

92,004.00 

9,020.00 

319,440.00 

13,310.00 

64,119.00 

4,785.00 

38,225.00 

7,645.00 

cUd 
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STATE OF NEBRASKAsERv1cecoNTRACTAWARD State Purchasing Bureau 
1526 K Street. Suite 130 
Lincoln, Nebraska 68508 

PAGE 
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BUSINESS UNIT 
25400113 

VENDOR NUMBER: 1881165 

Line Description 

45 SOUTHEAST SVC AREA 
HOME STUDY 
OPT RENEWAL THREE YEAR FIVE 
10/29/23 - 10/30/24 

46 OPT SESA REN LICENSE 
HOME STUDY 
OPT RENEWAL THREE YEAR FIVE 
10/29/23 - 10/30/24 

47 CENTRAL SVC AREA HOME STUDY 
OPT RENEWAL THREE YEAR FIVE 
10/29/23 - 10/30/24 

48 OPT CSA REN LICENSE 
HOME STUDY 
OPT RENEWAL THREE YEAR FIVE 
1 0/29/23 - 10/30/2 4 

49 WESTERN SVC AREA HOME STUDY 
OPT RENEWAL THREE YEAR FIVE 
10/29/23 - 10/30/24 

50 OPT WSA REN LICENSE 
HOME STUDY 
OPT RENEWAL THREE YEAR FIVE 
10/29/23 - 10/30/24 

51 EASTERN SVC AREA 
HOME STUDIES 
OPT RENEWAL FOUR YEAR SIX 
10/29/24 - 10/30/25 

52 OPT ESA REN LICENSE 
HOME STUDY 
OPT RENEWAL FOUR YEAR SIX 
10/29/24 - 10/30/25 

53 NORTHERN SVC AREA 
HOME STUDY 
OPT RENEWAL FOUR YEAR SIX 
10/29/24 - 10/30/25 

54 OPT NSA REN LICENSE 
HOME STUDY 
OPT RENEWAL FOUR YEAR SIX 
10/29/24 - 10/30/25 

ORDER DATE 
10/30/19 
BUYER 

ANNETTE WAL TON AS 

Estimated 
Quantity 

105.0000 

10.0000 

102.0000 

10.0000 

240.0000 

10.0000 

134.0000 

10.0000 

50.0000 

10.0000 

Unit of 
Measure 

EA 

EA 

EA 

EA 

EA 

EA 

EA 

EA 

EA 

EA 

Telephone: (402) 471-6500 
Fax: (402) 471-2089 

CONTRACT NUMBER 
88772 04 

Unit 
Price 

580.2500 

580.2500 

902.0000 

902.0000 

1,331.0000 

1,331.0000 

478.5000 

478.5000 

764.5000 

764.5000 

Extended 
Price 

60,926.25 

5,802.50 

92,004.00 

9,020.00 

319,440.00 

13,310.00 

64,119.00 

4,785.00 

38,225.00 

7,645.00 
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STATE OF NEBRASKA SERVICE CONTRACT AWARD State Purchasing Bureau 
1526 K Street, Suite 130 
Lincoln, Nebraska 68508 

PAGE 
7 of 7 

BUSINESS UNIT 
25400113 

VENDOR NUMBER: 1881165 

Line Description 

55 SOUTHEAST SVC AREA 
HOME STUDY 
OPT RENEWAL FOUR YEAR SIX 
10/29/24 - 10/30/25 

56 OPT SESA REN LICENSE 
HOME STUDY 
OPT RENEWAL FOUR YEAR SIX 
10/29/24 · 10/30/25 

57 CENTRAL SVC AREA HOME STUDY 
OPT RENEWAL FOUR YEAR SIX 
10/29/24 - 10/30/25 

58 OPT CSA REN LICENSE 
HOME STUDY 
OPT RENEWAL FOUR YEAR SIX 
10/29/24 · 10/30/25 

59 WESTERN SVC AREA HOME STUDY 
OPT RENEWAL FOUR YEAR SIX 
10/29/24 - 10/30/25 

60 OPT WSA REN LICENSE 
HOME STUDY 
OPT RENEWAL FOUR YEAR SIX 
10/29/24 - 10/30/25 

Total Order 

ORDER DATE 
10/30/19 
BUYER 

ANNETTE WAL TON AS 

Estimated 
Quantity 

105.0000 

10.0000 

102.0000 

10.0000 

240.0000 

10.0000 

Unit of 
Measure 

EA 

EA 

EA 

EA 

EA 

EA 

Telephone: (402) 471-6500 
Fax: (402) 471-2089 

CONTRACT NUMBER 
88772 04 

Unit 
Price 

580.2500 

580.2500 

902.0000 

902.0000 

1,331.0000 

1,331.0000 

Extended 
Price 

60,926.25 

5,802.50 

92,004.00 

9,020.00 

319,440.00 

13,310.00 

3,859,289.50 
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For public information purposes only; not part of contract. 

 

Request for Proposal Number 6126 Z1 

Contract Number 88772 O4 

Proposal Opening: September 18, 2019  
 
 
In accordance with Nebraska Revised Statutes §84.712.05(3), the following material(s) has not 
been included due to it being marked proprietary. 
 

 
NONE 



Form A 
Bidder Contact Sheet 

Request for Proposal Number 6126 Z1 

Form A should be completed and submitted with each response to this RFP. This is intended to provide the State with 
information on the bidder's name and address. and the specific person(s) who are responsible for preparation of the bidder's 
response. 

Preparation of Response Contact Information 

Bidder Name: KVC Behavioral Healthcare Nebraska 

Bidder Address: 11550 I Street. Suite 100 
Omaha, Nebraska 68137 

Contact Person & Title: Ashley Brown, President 

E-mail Address: adbrown@kvc.org 

Telephone Number (Office): 402-498-4714 

Telephone Number {Cellular): 402-312-0280 

Fax Number: 402-493-3340 

Each bidder should also designate a specific contact person who will be responsible for responding to the State if any 
clarifications of the bidder's response should become necessary. This will also be the person who the State contacts to set 
up a presentation/demonstration, if required. 

Communication with the State Contact Information 

Bidder Name: KVC Behavioral Healthcare Nebraska 

Bidder Address: 11550 I street, Suite 100 
Omaha, Nebraska 68137 

Contact Person & Title: Ashley Brown, President 

E-mail Address: adbrownl@kvc.org 

Telephone Number {Office): 402-498-4 714 

Telephone Number (Cellular): 402-312-0280 

Fax Number: 402-493-3340 

Page 33 
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REQUEST FOR PROPOSAL FOR CONTRACTUAL SERVICES FORM 

BIDDER MUST COMPLETE THE FOLLOWING 
By signing this Request for Proposal for Contractual Services form, the bidder guarantees compliance 
with the procedures stated in this Request for Proposal, and agrees to the terms and conditions 
unless otherwise indicated in writing and certifies that bidder maintains a drug free work place. 

Per Nebraska's Transparency in Government Procurement Act, Neb. Rev Stat § 73-603 DAS is required 
to collect statistical information regarding the number of contracts awarded to Nebraska Contractors. This 
information is for statistical purposes only and will not be considered for contract award purposes. 

NEBRASKA CONTRACTOR AFFIDAVIT: Bidder hereby attests that bidder is a Nebraska 
Contractor. "Nebraska Contractor" shall mean any bidder who has maintained a bona fide place of 
business and at least one employee within this state for at least the six {6) months immediately preceding 
the posting date of this RFP. 

I hereby certify that I am a Resident disabled veteran or business located in a designated 
enterprise zone in accordance with Neb. Rev. Stat. § 73-107 and wish to have preference, if applicable, 
considered in the award of this contract. 

I hereby certify that I am a blind person licensed by the Commission for the Blind & Visually 
Impaired in accordance with Neb. Rev. Stat. §71-8611 and wish to have preference considered in the 
award of this contract. 

FORM MUST BE SIGNED USING AN INDELIBLE METHOD {NOT ELECTRONICALLY) 

FIRM: KVC Behavioral Healthcare Nebraska 

COMPLETE ADDRESS: 11550 I Street, Suite 100 Omaha Nebraska 68137 

TELEPHONE NUMBER: 402-498-4714 

FAX NUMBER: 402-493-3340 

DATE: ~ ·/17 /t CJ ·-
SIGNATURE: ,I ~A{.,, .. , ~/[1rz;z.,_1/l ) 
TYPED NAME & TITLE OF SIGNER: Ashley er;af n, President 

\../ 
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ll. TERMS AND CONDITIONS 

Bidders should complete Sections II through VI as part of their proposal. Bidder should read the Terms and Conditions 
and should initial either accept, reject, or reject and provide alternative language for each clause. The bidder should also 
provide an explanation of why the bidder rejected the clause or rejected the clause and provided alternate language. By 
signing the RFP, bidder is agreeing to be legally bound by all the accepted terms and conditions, and any proposed 
alternative terms and conditions submitted with the proposal. The State reserves the right to negotiate rejected or proposed 
alternative language. If the State and bidder fail to agree on the final Terms and Conditions, the State reserves the right to 
reject the proposal. The State of Nebraska is soliciting proposals in response to this RFP. The State of Nebraska reserves 
the right to reject proposals that attempt to substitute the bidder's commercial contracts and/or documents for this RFP. 

Bidders should submit with their proposal any license, user agreement. service level agreement, or similar documents that 
the bidder wants incorporated in the contract. The State will not consider incorporation of any document not submitted with 
the bidder's proposal as the document will not have been included in the evaluation process. These documents shall be 
subject to negotiation and will be incorporated as addendums if agreed to by the Parties. 

If a conflict or ambiguity arises after the Addendum to Contract Award have been negotiated and agreed to, the Addendum 
to Contract Award shall be interpreted as follows: 

1. If only one Party has a particular clause then that clause shall control; 
2. If both Parties have a similar clause, but the clauses do not conflict. the clauses shall be read together; 
3. If both Parties have a similar clause, but the clauses conflict, the State's clause shall control. 

A. GENERAL 

Accept 
(Initial) 

~ 

Reject Reject & Provide NOTES/COMMENTS: 
(lnitlal) Alternative within 

RFP Response 
(Initial) 

The contract resulting from this RFP shall incorporate the following documents: 

1. Request for Proposal and Addenda; 
2. Amendments to the RFP; 
3. Questions and Answers; 
4. Contractor's proposal (RFP and properly submitted documents); 
5. The executed Contract and Addendum One to Contract, if applicable; and, 
6. Amendments/Addendums to the Contract. 

These documents constitute the entirety of the contract 

Unless otherwise specifically stated in a future contract amendment. in case of any conflict between the 
incorporated documents, the documents shall govern in the following order of preference with number one (1) 
receiving preference over all other documents and with each lower numbered document having preference over 
any higher numbered document: 1) Amendment to the executed contract with the most recent dated amendment 
having the highest priority, 2) executed contract and any attached Addenda, 3} Amendments to RFP and any 
Questions and Answers, 4) the original RFP document and any Addenda, and 5) the Contractor's submitted 
Proposal. 

Any ambiguity or conflict in the contract discovered after its execution, not otherwise addressed herein, shall be 
resolved in accordance with the rules of contract interpretation as established in the State of Nebraska. 

Page 8 
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B. NOTIFICATION 

Accept 
(Initial) 

fi6 

Reject Reject & Provide NOTES/COMMENTS: 
(lnltlal) Alternative within 

RFP Response 
flnltlall 

Contractor and State shall identify the contract managers who shall serve as the points of contact for the executed 
contract. 

Communications regarding the executed contract shall be in writing and shall be deemed to have been given if 
delivered personally or mailed, by U.S. Mail, postage prepaid, return receipt requested, to the parties at their 
respective addresses set forth below, or at such other addresses as may be specified in writing by either of the 
parties. All notices. requests, or communications shall be deemed effective upon personal delivery or three {3) 
calendar days following deposit in the mail. 

C. BUYER REPRESENTATIVE 

Accept 
(Initial) 

NJ 

Reject Reject & Provide NOTES/COMMENTS: 
(lnltfal) Alternative within 

RFP Response 
flnltlal) 

The State reserves the right to appoint a Buyer's Representative to manage [or assist the State Purchasing Buyer 
in managing) the contract on behalf of the State. The Buyer's Representative will be appointed in writing, and the 
appointment document will specify the extent of the Buyer's Representative authority and responsibilities. If a 
Buyer's Representative is appointed, the Contractor will be provided a copy of the appointment document. and is 
required to cooperate accordingly with the Buyer's Representative. The Buyer's Representative has no authority to 
bind the State to a contract, amendment, addendum, or other change or addition to the contract. 

D. GOVERNING LAW (Statutory) 

Notwithstanding any other provision of this contract, or any amendment or addendum(s) entered into 
contemporaneously or at a later time. the parties understand and agree that. (1) the State of Nebraska is a 
sovereign state and its authority to contract is therefore subject to limitation by the State's Constitution, statutes, 
common law, and regulation; (2) this contract will be interpreted and enforced under the laws of the State of 
Nebraska: (3) any action to enforce the provisions of this agreement must be brought in the State of Nebraska per 
state law: (4) the person signing this contract on behalf of the State of Nebraska does not have the authority to 
waive the State's sovereign immunity, statutes, common law. or regulations; (5) the indemnity, limitation of liability, 
remedy, and other similar provisions of the final contract, if any, are entered into subject to the State's Constitution. 
statutes, common law. regulations, and sovereign immunity; and. (6) all terms and conditions of the final contract, 
including but not limited to the clauses concerning third party use, licenses, warranties. limitations of liability, 
governing law and venue, usage verification, indemnity, liability, remedy or other similar provisions of the final 
contract are entered into specifically subject to the State's Constitution. statutes, common law, regulations, and 
sovereign immunity. 

The Parties must comply with all applicable local, state and federal laws, ordinances, rules, orders, and regulations. 

Page 9 
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E. BEGINNING OF WORK 

Accept 
(Initial) 

lAb 

Reject Reject & Provide NOTES/COMMENTS: 
(Initial) Alternative within 

RFP Response 
tlnitiall 

The bidder shall not commence any billable work until a valid contract has been fully executed by the State and the 
awarded bidder. The bidder will be notified in writing when work may begin. 

F. CHANGE ORDERS 

Accept 
(Initial) 

~ 

Reject Reject & Provide NOTES/COMMENTS: 
(lnltlal) Alternative within 

RFP Response 
llnitiall 

The State and the Contractor, upon the written agreement, may make changes to the contract within the general 
scope of the RFP. Changes may involve specifications, the quantity of work, or such other items as the State may 
find necessary or desirable. Corrections of any deliverable, service. or work required pursuant to the contract shall 
not be deemed a change. The Contractor may not claim forfeiture of the contract by reasons of such changes. 

The Contractor shall prepare a written description of the work required due to the change and an itemized cost 
sheet for the change. Changes in work and the amount of compensation to be paid to the Contractor shall be 
determined in accordance with applicable unit prices if any, a pro-rated value, or through negotiations. The State 
shall not incur a price increase for changes that should have been included in the Contractor's preposal, were 
foreseeable, or result from difficulties with or failure of the Contractor's proposal or performance. 

No change shall be implemented by the Contractor until approved by the State, and the contract is amended to 
reflect the change and associated costs. if any. If there is a dispute regarding the cost, but both parties agree that 
immediate implementation is necessary, the change may be implemented, and cost negotiations may continue with 
both Parties retaining all remedies under the contract and law. 

G. NOTICE OF POTENTIAL CONTRACTOR BREACH 

Accept 
(Initial) 

kb 

Reject Reject & Provide NOTES/COMMENTS: 
(lnltlal) Alternative within 

RFP Response 
llnltlal) 

If Contractor breaches the contract or anticipates breaching the contract, the Contractor shall immediately give 
written notice to the State. The notice shall explain the breach or potential breach, a proposed cure. and may 
include a request for a waiver of the breach if so desired. The State may. in its discretion, temporarily or 
permanently waive the breach. By granting a waiver, the State does not forfeit any rights or remedies to which the 
State is entitled by law or equity, or pursuant to the provisions of the contract. Failure to give immediate notice. 
however, may be grounds for denial of any request for a waiver of a breach. 

Page 10 
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H. BREACH 

Accept 
(Initial) 

~ 

ReJect Reject & Provide NOTES/COMMENTS: 
(lnltlal) Alternative within 

RFP Response 
flnltlal) 

Either Party may terminate the contract, in whole or in part, if the other Party breaches its duty to perform its 
obligations under the contract in a timely and proper manner. Termination requires written notice of default and a 
thirty (30) calendar day (or longer at the non-breaching Party's discretion considering the gravity and nature of the 
default) cure period. Said notice shall be delivered by Certified Mail, Return Receipt Requested, or in person with 
proof of delivery. Allowing time to cure a failure or breach of contract does not waive the right to immediately 
terminate the contract for the same or different contract breach which may occur at a different time. In case of 
default of the Contractor, the State may contract the service from other sources and hold the Contractor responsible 
for any excess cost occasioned thereby. OR In case of breach by the Contractor, the State may, without 
unreasonable delay, make a good faith effort to make a reasonable purchase or contract to purchase goods in 
substitution of those due from the Contractor. The State may recover from the Contractor as damages the 
difference between the costs of covering the breach. Notwithstanding any clause to the contrary, the State may 
also recover the contract price together with any incidental or consequential damages defined in UCC Section 2-
715, but less expenses saved in consequence of Contractor's breach. 

The State's failure to make payment shall not be a breach, and the Contractor shall retain all available statutory 
remedies and protections. 

I. NON-WAIVER OF BREACH 

Accept 
(lnltlal) 

lAf; 

Reject Reject & Provide NOTES/COMMENTS: 
(Initial) Alternative within 

RFP Response 
llnitlal) 

The acceptance of late performance with or without objection or reservation by a Party shall not waive any rights of 
the Party nor constitute a waiver of the requirement of timely performance of any obligations remaining to be 
performed. 

J. SEVERABILITY 

Accept 
(Initial) 

}1J 

Reject Reject & Provide NOTES/COMMENTS: 
(lnltlal) Alternatlve within 

RFP Response 
(Initial} 

If any term or condition of the contract is declared by a court of competent jurisdiction to be illegal or in connict with 
any law, the validity of the remaining terms and conditions shall not be affected, and the rights and obligations of 
the parties shall be construed and enforced as if the contract did not contain the provision held to be invalid or 
illegal. 
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K. INDEMNIFICATION 

Accept 
(Initial) 

Reject Reject & Provide NOTES/COMMENTS: 
(Initial) Alternative within 

RFP Response 
(Initial) 

1. GENERAL 
The Contractor agrees to defend, indemnify, and hold harmless the State and its employees, volunteers. 
agents, and its elected and appointed officials ("the indemnified parties") from and against any and all third 
party claims, liens, demands, damages, liability, actions, causes of action, losses, judgments, costs, and 
expenses of every nature, including investigation costs and expenses. settlement costs, and attorney fees 
and expenses ("the claims"), sustained or asserted against the State for personal injury, death, or property 
loss or damage, arising out of, resulting from, or attributable to the willful misconduct. negligence. error, or 
omission of the Contractor, its employees, subcontractors, consultants. representatives, and agents, 
resulting from this contract, except to the extent such Contractor liability is attenuated by any action of the 
State which directly and proximately contributed to the claims. 

2. PERSONNEL 
The Contractor shall, at its expense, indemnify and hold harmless the indemnified parties from and against 
any claim with respect to withholding taxes, worker's compensation, employee benefits, or any other claim, 
demand, liability. damage, or loss of any nature relating to any of the personnel, including subcontractor's 
and their employees, provided by the Contractor. 

3. SELF-INSURANCE 
The State of Nebraska is self-insured for any loss and purchases excess insurance coverage pursuant to 
Neb. Rev. Stat. § 81-8,239.01 (Reissue 2008}. If there is a presumed loss under the provisions of this 
agreement, Contractor may file a claim with the Office of Risk Management pursuant to Neb. Rev. Stat. §§ 
81-8,829 - 81-8,306 for review by the State Claims Board. The State retains all rights and immunities 
under the State Miscellaneous (§81-8,294), Tort (§81-8,209), and Contract Claim Acts (§81-8,302}, as 
outlined in Neb. Rev. Stat.§ 81-8.209 et seq. and under any other provisions of law and accepts liability 
under this agreement to the extent provided by law. 

4. The Parties acknowledge that Attorney General for the State of Nebraska is required by statute to 
represent the legal interests of the State, and that any provision of this indemnity clause is subject to the 
statutory authority of the Attorney General. 

L. ATTORNEY'S FEES 

Accept 
(Initial) 

fob 

Reject Reject & Provide NOTES/COMMENTS: 
(Initial) Alternative within 

RFP Response 
(Initial) 

In the event of any litigation. appeal, or other legal action to enforce any provision of the contract, the Parties agree 
to pay all expenses of such action, as permitted by law and if order by the court, including attorney's fees and costs, 
if the other Party prevails. 
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M. ASSIGNMENT, SALE, OR MERGER 

Accept 
(Initial) 

}sf/J 

Reject Reject & Provide NOTES/COMMENTS: 
(Initial) Alternative within 

RFP Response 
(Initial) 

Either Party may assign the contract upon mutual written agreement of the other Party. Such agreement shall not 
be unreasonably withheld. 

The Contractor retains the right to enter into a sale, merger, acQuisition, internal reorganization, or similar 
transaction involving Contractor's business. Contractor agrees to cooperate with the State in executing 
amendments to the contract to allow for the transaction. If a third party or entity is involved in the transaction. the 
Contractor will remain responsible for performance of the contract until such time as the person or entity involved in 
the transaction agrees in writing to be contractually bound by this contract and perform all obligations of the 
contract. 

N. CONTRACTING WITH OTHER NEBRASKA POLITICAL SUB-DIVISIONS 

Accept 
(Initial) 

Reject 
(Initial) 

Reject & Provide 
Alternative within 
RFP Response 
Initial 

NOTES/COMMENTS: 

The Contractor may, but shall not be required to, allow agencies. as defined in Neb. Rev. Stat. §81-145, to use this 
contract. The terms and conditions. including price, of the contract may not be amended. The State shall not be 
contractually obligated or liable for any contract entered into pursuant to this clause. A listing of Nebraska political 
subdivisions may be found at the website of the Nebraska Auditor of Public Accounts. 

The Contractor may, but shall not be required to. allow other states. agencies or divisions of other states. or political 
subdivisions of other states to use this contract. The tenns and conditions, including price. of this contract shall 
apply to any such contract, but may be amended upon mutual consent of the Parties. The State of Nebraska shall 
not be contractually or otherwise obligated or liable under any contract entered into pursuant to this clause. The 
State shall be notified if a contract is executed based upon this contract 

0. FORCE MAJEURE 

Accept 
(lnltlal) 

M 

Reject Reject & Provide NOTES/COMMENTS: 
(Initial) Alternative within 

RFP Response 
llnltian 

Neither Party shall be liable for any costs or damages, or for default resulting from its inability to perform any of its 
obligations under the contract due to a natural or manmade event outside the control and not the fault of the 
affected Party ("Force Majeure Event"). The Party so affected shall immediately make a written request for relief to 
the other Party, and shall have the burden of proof to justify the request. The other Party may grant the relief 
reQuested: relief may not be unreasonably withheld. Labor disputes with the impacted Party's own employees will 
not be considered a Force Majeure Event. 
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P. CONFIDENTIALITY 

Accept 
(Initial) 

IA0 

Reject Reject & Provide NOTES/COMMENTS: 
{lnltlal) Alternative within 

RFP Response 
llnitiall 

All materials and information provided by the Parties or acquired by a Party on behalf of the other Party shall be 
regarded as confidential information. All materials and information provided or acquired shall be handled in 
accordance with federal and state law, and ethical standards. Should said confidentiality be breached by a Party. 
the Party shall notify the other Party immediately of said breach and take immediate corrective action. 

It is incumbent upon the Parties to inform their officers and employees of the penalties tor improper disclosure 
imposed by the Privacy Act of 1974, 5 U.S.C. 552a. Specifically, 5 U.S.C. 552a (i){1). which is made applicable by 
5 U.S.C. 552a (m)(1}. provides that any officer or employee, who by virtue of his/her employment or official position 
has possession of or access to agency records which contain individually identifiable information, the disclosure of 
which is prohibited by the Privacy Act or regulations established thereunder, and who knowing that disclosure of the 
specific material is prohibited, willfully discloses the material in any manner to any person or agency not entitled to 
receive it. shall be guilty of a misdemeanor and fined not more than $5,000. 

Q. OFFICE OF PUBLIC COUNSEL (Statutory) 
If it provides. under the terms of this contract and on behalf of the State of Nebraska, health and human services to 
individuals: service delivery: service coordination; or case management, Contractor shall submit to the jurisdiction of 
the Office of Public Counsel, pursuant to Neb. Rev. Stat. §§ 81-8,240 et seq. This section shall survive the 
termination of this contract. 

R. LONG-TERM CARE OMBUDSMAN (Statutory) 
Contractor must comply with the Long-Term Care Ombudsman Act, Neb. Rev. Stat. §§ 81-2237 et seq. This 
section shall survive the tennination of this contract. 

$. SUSPENSION OF SERVICES 

Accept 
(lnltlal) 

JfJ 

Reject & Provide 
Reject Alternative within NOTES/COMMENTS: 
(Initial) Solicitation 

Resnonse (Initial) 

DHHS may, at any time and without advance notice, require Contractor to suspend any or all activities provided 
under this Contract. A suspension may be the result of a reduction in federal or state funds, budget freeze. 
emergency, contract compliance issues, investigation, or other reasons not stated here. 

In the event of such suspension, the DHHS Chief Operating Officer/Contract Administrator or designee will issue a 
written Stop Work Order to the Contractor. The Stop Work Order will specify which activities are to be immediately 
suspended, the reason{s) for the suspension. and, if possible. the known duration period of the suspension. 

Upon receipt of the Stop Work Order, the Contractor shall immediately comply with its terms and take all necessary 
steps to minimize the incurrence of costs allocable to the work affected by the order during the period of 
suspension. 

The DHHS Chief Operating Officer/Contract Administrator or designee may extend the duration of the suspension 
by issuing a modified Stop Work Order which states the new end date of the suspension and the reason for the 
extension. 

The suspended activity may resume when (i} the suspension period identified in the Stop Work Order has ended or 
(ii} when the DHHS Chief Operating Officer/Contract Administrator or designee has issued a formal written notice 
cancelling the Stop Work Order or directing Contractor to resume partial services. 
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T. EARLY TERMINATION 

Accept 
(Initial) 

MJ 

Reject Reject & Provide NOTES/COMMENTS: 
(Initial) Alternative within 

RFP Response 
(lnitian 

The contract may be terminated as follows: 
1. The State and the Contractor. by mutual written agreement, may terminate the contract at any time. 
2. The State, in its sole discretion, may terminate the contract for any reason upon thirty (30) calendar day's 

written notice to the Contractor. Such termination shall not relieve the Contractor of warranty or other 
service obligations incurred under the terms of the contract. In the event of termination the Contractor 
shall be entitled to payment, determined on a pro rata basis, for products or services satisfactorily 
pertormed or provided. 

3. The State may terminate the contract immediately for the following reasons: 
a. if directed to do so by statute; 
b. Contractor has made an assignment for the benefit of creditors. has admitted in writing its inability 

to pay debts as they mature, or has ceased operating in the normal course of business; 
c. a trustee or receiver of the Contractor or of any substantial part of the Contractor's assets has 

been appointed by a court; 
d. fraud, misappropriation, embezzlement. malfeasance, misfeasance, or illegal conduct pertaining 

to performance under the contract by its Contractor, its employees, officers, directors, or 
shareholders; 

e. an involuntary proceeding has been commenced by any Party against the Contractor under any 
one of the chapters of Title 11 of the United States Code and (i) the proceeding has been pending 
for at least sixty (60} calendar days; or (ii) the Contractor has consented, either expressly or by 
operation of law, to the entry of an order for relief: or (iii) the Contractor has been decreed or 
adjudged a debtor: 

f. a voluntary petition has been filed by the Contractor under any of the chapters of Title 11 of the 
United States Code; 

g. Contractor intentionally discloses confidential information: 
h. Contractor has or announces it will discontinue support of the deliverable; and, 
I. In the event funding is no longer available. 

U. CONTRACT CLOSEOUT 

Accept 
(Initial) 

tJ; 
. 

Reject Reject & Provide NOTES/COMMENTS: 
(lnltlat) Alternative within 

RFP RHponse 
(Initial) 

Upon contract closeout for any reason the Contractor shall within 30 days, unless stated otherwise herein: 

1. Transfer all completed or partially completed deliverables to the State; 
2. Transfer ownership and title to all completed or partially completed deliverables to the State: 
3. Return to the State all information and data. unless the Contractor is permitted lo keep the information or 

data by contract or rule of law. Contractor may retain one copy of any information or data as required to 
comply with applicable work product documentation standards or as are automatically retained in the 
course of Contractor's routine back up procedures; 

4. Cooperate with any successor Contactor, person or entity in the assumption of any or all of the obligations 
of this contract; 

5. Cooperate with any successor Conlactor, person or entity with the transfer of information or data related to 
this contract; 

6. Return or vacate any state owned real or personal property; and. 
7. Return all data in a mutually acceptable format and manner. 

Nothing in this Section should be construed to require the Contractor to surrender intellectual property, real or 
personal property, or information or data owned by the Contractor for which the State has no legal claim. 
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111. CONTRACTOR DUTIES 

A. INDEPENDENT CONTRACTOR/ OBLIGATIONS 

Accept 
(Initial) 

fiJ 

Reject Reject & Provide NOTES/COMMENTS: 
(Initial) Alternative within 

RFP Response 
(Initial) 

It is agreed that the Contractor is an independent contractor and that nothing contained herein is intended or should 
be construed as creating or establishing a relationship of employment. agency, or a partnership. 

The Contractor is solely responsible for fulfilling the contract. The Contractor or the Contractor's representative 
shall be the sole point of contact regarding all contractual matters. 

The Contrector shall secure, at its own expense, all personnel required to perform the services under the oontract. 
The personnel the Contractor uses to fulfill the contract shall have no contractual or other legal relationship with the 
State; they shall not be considered employees of the State and shall not be entitled to any compensation, rights or 
benefits from the State, including but not limited to, tenure rights. medical and hospital care, sick and vacation 
leave. severance pay, or retirement benefits. 

By-name parsonnel commitments made in the Contractor's proposal shall not be changed without the prior written 
approval of the State. Replacement of these personnel, if approved by the State, shall be with personnel of equal 
or greater ability and qualifications. 

All personnel assigned by the Contractor to the contract shall be employees of the Contractor or a subco.ntractor, 
and shall be fully qualified to perform the work required herein. Personnel employed by the Contractor or a 
subcontractor to fulfill the terms of the contract shall remain under the sole direction and control of the Contractor or 
the subcontractor respectively. 

With respect to its employees, the Contractor agrees to be solely responsible for the following: 

1. Any and all pay, benefits, and employment taxes and/or other payroll withholding; 
2. Any and all vehicles used by the Contractor's employees, including all insurance required by state law; 
3. Damages incurred by Contractor's employees within the scope of their duties under the contract; 
4. Maintaining Workers' Compensation and health insurance that complies with state and federal law and 

submitting any reports on such insurance to the extent required by governing law. 
5. Determining the hours to be worked and the duties to be performed by the Contractor's employees; and, 
6. All claims on behalf of any person arising out of employment or alleged employment (including without limit 

claims of discrimination alleged against the Contractor. its officers, agents, or subcontractors or 
subcontractor's employees). 

If the Contractor intends to utilize any subcontractor, the subcontractor's level of effort, tasks. and time allocation 
should be clearly defined in the bidder's proposal. The Contractor shall agree that it will not utilize any 
subcontractors not specifically included in its proposal in the performance of the contract without the prior written 
authorization of the State. 

The State reserves the right to require the Contractor to reassign or remove from the project any Contractor or 
subcontractor employee. 

Contractor shall insure that the terms and conditions contained in any contract with a subcontractor does not 
conflict with the terms and conditions of this contract. 

The Contractor shall include a similar provision. for the protection of the State. in the contract with any 
subcontractor engaged to perform work on this contract. 
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B. EMPLOYEE WORK ELIGIBILITY STATUS 

Accept 
(Initial) 

µ 
Reject Reject & Provide NOTES/COMMENTS: 
(lnltlal) Alternative within 

RFP Response 
nnltlan 

The Contractor is required and hereby agrees to use a federal immigration verification system to determine the 
work eligibility status of employees physically performing services within the State of Nebraska. A federal 
immigration verification system means the electronic verification of the work authorization program authorized by 
the Illegal Immigration Reform and Immigrant Responsibility Act of 1996, 8 U.S.C. 1324a, known as the E-Verify 
Program, or an equivalent federal program designated by the United States Department of Homeland Security or 
other federal agency authorized to verify the work eligibility status of an employee. 

If the Contractor is an individual or sole proprietorship, the following applies: 

1. The Contractor must complete the United States Citizenship Attestation Form, available on the 
Department of Administrative Services website at http://das.nebraska.gov/materie1/purchasing.html. 

2. The completed United States Attestation Form should be submitted with the RFP response. 

3. If the Contractor indicates on such attestation form that he or she is a qualified alien, the Contractor agrees 
to provide the US Citizenship and Immigration Services documentation required to verify the Contractor's 
lawful presence in the United States using the Systematic Alien Verification for Entitlements (SAVE) 
Program. 

4. The Contractor understands and agrees that lawful presence in the United States is required and the 
Contractor may be disqualified or the contract terminated if such lawful presence cannot be verified as 
required by Neb. Rev. Stat. §4-108. 

C. COMPLIANCE WITH CIVIL RIGHTS LAWS AND EQUAL OPPORTUNITY EMPLOYMENT/ 
NONDISCRIMINATION (Statutory) 

The Contractor shall comply with all applicable local, state. and federal statutes and regulations regarding civil 
rights laws and equal opportunity employment. The Nebraska Fair Employment Practice Act prohibits Contractors 
of the State of Nebraska, and their subcontractors, from discriminating against any employee or applicant for 
employment, with respect to hire, tenure. terms, conditions, compensation, or privileges of employment because of 
race, color, religion, sex, disability, marital status. or national origin {Neb. Rev. Stat. §48-1101 to 48-1125). The 
Contractor guarantees compliance with the Nebraska Fair Employment Practice Act, and breach of this provision 
shall be regarded as a material breach of contract. The Contractor shall insert a similar provision in all subcontracts 
for services to be covered by any contract resulting from this RFP. 

D. COOPERATION WITH OTHER CONTRACTORS 

Accept 
(lnltlal) 

1~) 

Reject Reject & Provide NOTES/COMMENTS: 
(Initial) Alternative within 

RFP Response 
llnitlall 

Contractor may be required to work with or in close proximity to other contractors or individuals that may be working 
on same or different projects. The Contractor shall agree lo cooperate with such other contractors or individuals, 
and shall not commit or permit any act which may interfere with the performance of work by any other contractor or 
individual. Contractor is not required to compromise Contractor's intellectual property or proprietary information 
unless expressly required to do so by this contract. 
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E. PERMITS, REGULATIONS, LAWS 

Accept 
(Initial) 

Reject 
(Initial) 

Reject & Provide 
Altematlve within 
RFP Response 
Initial 

NOTES/COMMENTS: 

The contract price shall include the cost of all royalties, licenses, permits, and approvals, whether arising from 
patents. trademarks, copyrights or otherwise, that are in any way involved in the contract. The Contractor shall 
obtain and pay for all royalties, licenses, and permits, and approvals necessary for the execution of the contract. 
The Contractor must guarantee that it has the full legal right to the materials, supplies, equipment, software. and 
other items used to execute this contract. 

F. OWNERSHIP OF INFORMATION AND DATA/ DELIVERABLES 

Accept 
(Initial) 

11 

Reject Reject & Provide NOTES/COMMENTS: 
{lnltlal) Alternative within 

RFP Response 
flnitiall 

The State shall have the unlimited right to publish. duplicate, use. and disclose all information and data developed 
or obtained by the Contractor on behalf of the State pursuant to this contract. 

The State shall own and hold exclusive title to any deliverable developed as a result of this contract. Contractor 
shell have no ownership interest or title. and shall not patent. license, or copyright, duplicate, transfer, sell, or 
exchange, the design, specifications. concept, or deliverable. 

G. INSURANCE REQUIREMENTS 

Accept 
(Initial) 

,MJ 

Reject Reject & Provide NOTES/COMMENTS: 
(Initial) Altematlve within 

RFP Response 
llnltiall 

The Contractor shall throughout the term of the contract maintain insurance as specified herein and provide the 
State a current Certificate of Insurance/Acord Form (COi) verifying the coverage. The Contractor shall not 
commence work on the contract until the insurance is in place. If Contractor subcontracts any portion of the 
contract the Contractor must, throughout the term of the contract. either: 

1. Provide equivalent insurance for each subcontractor and provide a COi verifying the coverage for the 
subcontractor; 

2. Require each subcontractor to have equivalent insurance and provide written notice to the State that the 
Contractor has verified that each subcontractor has the required coverage; or, 

3. Provide the State with copies of each subcontractor's Certificate of Insurance evidencing the required 
coverage. 

The Contractor shall not allow any subcontractor to commence work until the subcontractor has equivalent 
insurance. The failure of the State to require a COi, or the failure of the Contractor to provide a COi or require 
subcontractor insurance shall not limit, relieve, or decrease the liability of the Contractor hereunder. 

In the event that any policy written on a claims-made basis terminates or is canceled during the term of the contract 
or within one ( 1 ) year of termination or expiration of the contract. the Contractor shall obtain an extended discovery 
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or reporting period, or a new insurance policy, providing coverage required by this contract for the term of the 
contract and one (1) year following termination or expiration of the contract 

If by the terms of any insurance a mandatory deductible is required, or if the Contractor elects to increase the 
mandatory deductible amount, the Contractor shall be responsible for payment of the amount of the deductible in 
the event of a paid claim. 

Notwithstanding any other clause in this contract. the State may recover up to the liability limits of the insurence 
policies required herein. 

1. WORKERS' COMPENSATION INSURANCE 
The Contractor shall take out and maintain during the life of this contract the statutory Workers' 
Compensation and Employer's Liability Insurance for all of the contact.ors' employees to bEt engaged in 
work on the project under this contract and, in case any such work is sublet, the Contractor shall require 
the subcontractor similarly to provide Worker's Compensation and Employer's Liability Insurance for all of 
the subcontractor's employees to be engaged in such work. Thi& policy shall be written to meet the 
statutory requirements for the state in which the work is to be performed, including Occupational Disease. 
The policy shall include a waiver of subrogation in favor of the State. The COi shall contain the 
mandatory COi subrogation waiver language found hereinafter. The amounts of such insurance shall 
not be less than the limits stated hereinafter. For employees working in the State of Nebraska, the policy 
must be written by an entity authorized by the State of Nebraska Department of Insurance to write 
Workers' Compensation and Employer's Liability Insurance for Nebraska employees. 

2. COMMERCIAL GENERAL LIABILITY INSURANCE ANO COMMERCIAL AUTOMOBILE LIAB1Ll1Y 
INSURANCE 
The Contractor shall take out and maintain during the life of this contract such Commercial General 
Liability Insurance and Commercial Automobile Liability Insurance as shall protect Contractor and any 
subcontractor performing work covered by this contract from claims for damages for bodily injury, including 
death, as well as from claims for property damage, which may arise from operations under this contract. 
whether such operation be by the Contractor or by any subcontractor or by anyone directly or indirectly 
employed by either of them, and the amounts of such insurance shall not be less than limits stated 
hereinafter. 

The Commercial General Liability Insurance shall be written on an occurrence basis, and provide 
Premises/Operations. Products/Completed Operations, Independent Contractors. Personal Injury. and 
Contractual Liability coverage. The policy shall include tl')e State, and others as required by the 
contract documents, j as Additional lnsured(s). This policy shall be primary, and any insurance or 
self-insurance carried by the State shall be considered secondary and non-contributory, The COi 
shall contain the mandatory COi liability waiver language found hereinafter. The Commercial 
Automobile Liability Insurance shall be written to cover all Owned, Non-owned, and Hired vehicles. 
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REQUIRED INSURANCE COVERAGE 
COMMERCIAL GENERAL LIABILITY 

General Aaareoate $2,000,000 
Products/Completed Operations $2,000.000 
Acmreaate 
Personal/ Advertisina I niurv $1,000 000 oer occurrence 
Bodilv lniurv/Prooertv Damaae $1 ,000.000 oer occurrence 
Medical Pavments $10,000 anv one oerson 
Damaoe to Rented Premises (Fire) $50,000 each occurrence 
Contractual Included 
lndeoendent Contractors Included 
Abuse & Molestation Included 

If higher limits are required, the Umbrella/Excess Liability limits are allowed to satisfy the higher 
limit. 
WORKER'S COMPENSATION 

Emolovers Liabilitv Limits $500K/$500K/$500K 
Statutorv Limits-All States Statutorv - State of Nebraska 
Voluntarv Comnensation Statutorv 

COMMERCIAL AUTOMOBILE LIABILITY 
Bodilv lniurv/Prooertv Damaae $1,000,000 combined sinale limit 
Include All Owned, Hired & Non-Owned Included 
Automobile liabilitv 
Motor Carrier Act Endorsement Where Annlicable 

UMBRELLA/EXC.ESS LIABILITY 
Over Primarv Insurance $1 000 000 oer occurrence 

COMMERCIAL CRIME 
Crime/Employee Dishonesty Including 3rd $100,000 
Partv Fidelitv 

CYBER LIABILITY 
Breach of Privacy, Security Breach, Denial $2,000,000 
of Service, Remediation, Fines and 
Penalties 

MANDATORY COi SUBROGATION WAIVER LANGUAGE 
"Workers' Compensation policy shall include a waiver of subrogation in favor of the State of 
Nebraska.· 

MANDATORY COi LIABILITY WAIVER LANGUAGE 
"Commercial General Liability & Commercial Automobile Liability policies shall name the State of 
Nebraska as an Additional Insured and the policies shall be primary and any insurance or self-
insurance carried by the State shall be considered secondary and non-contributory as 
additionallv insured." 

If the mandatory COi subrogation waiver language or mandatory COi iiabiiity waiver language on the COi 
states that the waiver is subject to, condition upon, or otherwise limit by the insurance policy, a copy of the 
relevant sections of the policy must be submitted with the COi so the State can review the limitations 
imposed by the insurance policy. 

3. EVIDENCE OF COVERAGE 
The Contractor shall furnish the Contract Manager, with a certificate of insurance coverage complying with 
the above reQuirements prior to beginning work at: 

Department of Health and Human Services 
Attn: Permanency Administrator 
301 Centennial Mall S. 3,c1 floor 
Lincoln, NE 68509 

These certificates or the cover sheet shall reference the RFP number, and the cer1ificates shall include the 
name of the company, policy numbers, effective dates. dates of expiration, and amounts and types of 
coverage afforded. If the State is damaged by the failure of the Contractor to maintain such insurance. 
then the Contractor shall be responsible for all reasonable costs properly attributable thereto. 
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Reasonable notice of cancellation of any required insurance policy must be submitted to the contract 
manager as listed above when issued and a new coverage binder shall be submitted immediately to 
ensure no break in coverage. 

4. DEVIATIONS 
The insurance requirements are subject to limited negotiation. Negotiation typically includes, but is not 
necessarily limited to, the correct type of coverage, necessity for Workers' Compensation, and the type of 
automobile coverage carried by the Contractor. 

H. ANTITRUST 

Accept 
(Initial) 

~ 

Reject Reject & Provide NOTES/COMMENTS: 
(lnltlal) Alternative within 

RFP Response 
flnltlal) 

The Contractor hereby assigns to the State any and all claims for overcharges as to goods and/or services provided 
in connection with this contract resulting from antitrust violations which arise under antitrust laws of the United 
States and the antitrust laws of the State. 

I. CONFLICT OF INTEREST 

Accept 
(lnltlal) 

J1J 

Reject Reject & Provide NOTES/COMMENTS: 
(Initial) Alternative within 

RFP Response 
(Initial) 

By submitting a proposal. bidder certifies that no relationship exists between the bidder and any person or entity 
which either is, or gives the appearance of, a conflict of interest related to this Request for Proposal or project. 

Bidder further certifies that bidder will not employ any individual known by bidder to have a conflict of interest nor 
shall bidder take any action or acquire any interest, either directly or indirectly, which will conflict in any manner or 
degree with the performance of its contractual obligations hereunder or which creates an actual or appearance of 
conflict of interest. 

If there is an actual or perceived conflict of interest. bidder shall provide with its proposal a full disclosure of the 
facts describing such actual or perceived conflict of interest and a proposed mitigation plan for consideration. The 
State will then consider such disclosure and proposed mitigation plan and either approve or reject as part of the 
overall bid evaluation. 

J. ADVERTISING 

Accept 
(Initial) 

Reject 
(Initial) 

Reject & Provide 
Alternative within 
RFP Response 
Initial 

NOTES/COMMENTS: 

The Contractor agrees not to refer to the contract award in advertising in such a manner as to state or imply that the 
company or its services are endorsed or preferred by the State. Any publicity releases pertaining to the project 
shall not be issued without prior written approval from the State. 
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K. NEBRASKA TECHNOLOGY ACCESS STANDARDS (Statutory) 
Contractor shall review the Nebraska Technology Access Standards, found at http://nitc.nebraska.gov/standards/2-
201.html and ensure that products and/or services provided under the contract are in compliance or will comply with 
the applicable standards to the greatest degree possible. In the event such standards change during the 
Contractor's performance, the State may create an amendment to the contract to request the contract comply with 
the changed standard at a cost mutually acceptable to the parties. 

L. DISASTER RECOVERY/BACK UP PLAN 

Accept Reject Reject & Provide NOTES/COMMENTS: 
(Initial) (lnltlal) Alternative within 

RFP Response 
llnltial) 

~ J 
V 

The Contractor shall have a disaster recovery and back-up plan, of which a copy should be provided upon request 
to the State, which includes. but is not limited to equipment. personnel, facilities, and transportation. in order to 
continue services as specified under the specifications in the contract in the event of a disaster. 

M. DRUG POLICY 

Accept Reject Reject & Provide NOTES/COMMENTS: 
(Initial) (Initial) Alternative within 

RFP Response 
(Initial} 

.~ ~ 

I 

Contractor certifies it maintains a drug free work place environment to ensure worker safety and workplace integrity. 
Contractor agrees to provide a copy of its drug free workplace policy at any time upon request by the State. 

N. WARRANTY 

Accept 
(lnltlal) 

~ 

Reject & Provide 
Reject Alternative within NOTES/COMMENTS: 
(Initial) Soll citation 

Resoonse llnitiall 

Despite any clause to the contrary, the Contractor represents and warrants that its services hereunder shall be 
performed by competent personnel and shall be of professional quality consistent with generally accepted industry 
standards for the performance of such services and shall comply in all respects with the requirements of this 
Agreement. For any breach of this warranty, the Contractor shall. for a period of ninety (90) days from pertormance 
of the service, perform the services again. at no cost to the State or if Contractor is unable to perform the services 
as warranted, Contractor shall reimburse the State all fees paid to Contractor for the unsatisfactory services. The 
rights and remedies of the parties under this warranty are in addition to any other rights and remedies of the parties 
provided by law or equity, including, without limitation actual damages, and, as applicable and awarded under the 
law, to a prevailing party, reasonable attorneys' fees and costs. 
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IV. PAYMENT 

A. PROHIBITION AGAINST ADVANCE PAYMENT (Statutory) 
Neb. Rev. Stat. §§81-2403 states, "no goods or services shall be deemed to be received by an agency until all such 
goods or services are completely delivered and finally accepted by the agency.• 

B. TAXES (Statutory) 
The State is not required to pay taxes and assumes no such liability as a result of this solicitation. The Contractor 
may request a copy of the Nebraska Department of Revenue. Nebraska Resale or Exempt Sale Certificate for 
Sales Tax Exemption, Form 13 for their records. Any property tax payable on the Contractor's equipment which 
may be installed in a state-owned facility is the responsibility of the Contractor. 

C. INVOICES 

Accept 
(Initial) 

~ 
V 

Reject Reject & Provide NOTES/COMMENTS: 
(Initial) Alternatlve within 

RFP Response 
llnitian 

Invoices for payments must be submitted by the Contractor to the agency requesting the services with sufficient 
detail to support payment. Invoices shall include at a minimum family name, number of direct hours with family, 
number of indirect hours to complete the home study, home address where study was performed. date of initial 
referral, date of study completion, and number of visits to home. The terms and conditions included in the 
Contractor's invoice shall be deemed to be solely for the convenience of the parties. No terms or conditions of any 
such invoice shall be binding upon the State, and no action by the State, including without limitation the payment of 
any such invoice in whole or in part, shall be construed as binding or estopping the State with respect to any such 
term or condition, unless the invoice tenn or condition has been previously agreed to by the State as an 
amendment to the contract. 

D. INSPECTION AND APPROVAL 

Accept 
(Initial) 

~ 

Reject Reject & Provide NOTES/COMMENTS: 
(lnltlal) Alternative within 

RFP Response 
(Initial) 

Final inspection and approval of all work required under the contract shall be performed by the designated State 
officials. 

The State and/or its authorized representatives shall have the right to enter any premises where the Contractor or 
subcontractor duties under the contract are being performed, and to inspect, monitor or otherwise evaluate the work 
being performed. All inspections and evaluations shall be at reasonable times and in a manner that will not 
unreasonably delay work. 

E. PAYMENT 

Accept 
(Initial) 

~ 

Reject Reject & Provide NOTES/COMMENTS: 
(Initial) Alternative within 

RFP Response 
(Initial) 

State will render payment to Contractor when the terms and conditions of the contract and specifications have been 
satisfactorily completed on the part of the Contractor as solely determined by the State. (Neb. Rev. Stat. §73-
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506(1)) Payment will be made by the responsible agency in compliance with the State of Nebraska Prompt 
Payment Act (See Neb. Rev. Stat. §81-2401 through 81-2408). The State may require the Contractor to accept 
payment by electronic means such as ACH deposit. In no event shall the State be responsible or liable to pay for 
any services provided by the Contractor prior to the Effective Date of the contract, and the Contraclor hereby 
waives any claim or cause of action for any such services. 

F. LATE PAYMENT (Statutory) 
The Contractor may charge the responsible agency interest for late payment in compliance with the State of 
Nebraska Prompt Payment Act (See Neb. Rev. Stat. §81-2401 through 81-2408). 

G. SUBJECT TO FUNDING/ FUNDING OUT CLAUSE FOR LOSS OF APPROPRIATIONS 

Accept 
(Initial) 

b 
\~ 

Reject Reject & Provide NOTES/COMMENTS: 
(lnltlal) Alternative within 

RFP Response 
(Initial). 

The State's obligation to pay amounts due on the contract for a fiscal years following the current fiscal year is 
contingent upon legislative appropriation of funds. Should said funds not be appropriated. the State may terminate 
the contract with respect to those payments for the fiscal year(s) for which such funds are not appropriated. The 
State will give the Contractor written notice thirty (30) calendar days prior to the effective date of termination. All 
obligations of the State to make payments after the termination date will cease. The Contractor shall be entitled to 
receive just and equitable compensation for any authorized work which has been satisfactorily completed as of the 
termination date. In no event shall the Contractor be paid for a loss of anticipated profit. 

H. RIGHT TO AUDIT (First Paragraph is Statutory) 

Accept 
(lnltlal) 

~ 

The State shall have the right to audit the Contractor's pertormance of this contract upon a 30 days' written notice. 
Contractor shall utilize generally accepted accounting principles. and shall maintain the accounting records. and 
other records and information relevant to the contract (Information) to enable the State to audit the contract. The 
State may audit and the Contractor shall maintain, the Information during the term of the contract and for a period of 
five (5) years after the completion of this contract or until all issues or litigation are resolved, whichever is later. The 
Contractor shall make the Information available to the State at Contractor's place of business or a location 
acceptable to both Parties during normal business hours. If this is not practical or the Contractor so elects, the 
Contractor may provide electronic or paper copies of the Information. The State reserves the right to examine, 
make copies of, and take notes on any Information relevant to this contract, regardless of the form or the 
Information, how it is stored, or who possesses the Information. Under no circumstance will the Contractor be 
required to create or maintain documents not kept in the ordinary course of Contractor's business operations, nor 
will Contractor be required to disclose any information, including but not limited to product cost data, which is 
confidential or proprietary to Contractor. 

Reject Reject & Provide NOTES/COMMENTS: 
(Initial) Alternative within 

RFP Response 
(Initial\ 

The Parties shall pay their own costs of the audit unless the audit finds a previously undisclosed overpayment by 
the State. If a previously undisclosed overpayment exceeds one-half of one percent (.5% ) of the total contract 
billings. or if fraud, material misrepresentations, or non-pertormance is discovered on the part of the Contractor, the 
Contractor shall reimburse the State for the total costs of the audit. Overpayments and audit costs owed to the 
State shall be paid within ninety days of written notice of the claim. The Contractor agrees to correct any material 
weaknesses or condition found as a result of the audit. 
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RFP 6126 Zl Foster and Adoptive Parent Home Study Services 
KVC Behavioral Healthcare Nebraska, Inc. Response 

CORPORA TE OVERVIEW 
The Corporate Overview section of the Technical Proposal should 
consist of the following subdivisions: 
a. BIDDER IDENTIFICATION AND INFORMATION 

The bidder should provide the full company or corporate name, 
address of the company's headquarters, entity organization 
(corporation, partnership, proprietorship), state in which the bidder 
is incorporated or otherwise organized to do business, year in 
which the bidder first organized to do business and whether the 
name and form of organization has changed since first organized. 

KVC Health Systems is the parent organization of subsidiaries 
including business units in Kansas, Missouri, Nebraska, West 
Virginia and Kentucky. KVC Behavioral HealthCare Nebraska, Inc 
(also referred to as KVC Nebraska) is a behavioral healthcare 
organization that provides child welfare, juvenile justice, prevention 
and developmental disability services. 

These services include Foster Care, Intensive In-Home services, 
Prevention and Extended Family Home and Consultative Assessment 
services for individuals with Development and/or Intellectual 
Disabilities. KVC Nebraska has been a licensed Child Placing 
Agency since 2009 and has been accredited with The Joint 
Commission since 2013. Our mission is to enrich and enhance the 
lives of Nebraska families. At KVC Nebraska we are committed to 
our internal evolution and external growth and impact. 

KVC Behavioral Healthcare (Headquarters) 
21350 W. 153rd Street 
Olathe, KS 66061 

KVC Behavioral HealthCare Nebraska, Inc (also referred to as KVC 
Nebraska), became incorporated in Nebraska July l , 2009. KVC 
Nebraska locations are as follows: 
• 11550 I Street, Suite 100, Omaha Nebraska 68137 
• 5001 Central Park Drive, Suite l 00, Lincoln Nebraska 68504 

The name and form of KVC Nebraska has not changed since first 
organized. 



b. FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
The bidder should provide financial statements applicable to the firm. If publicly held, the bidder 
should provide a copy of the corporation's most recent audited financial reports and statements, and 
the name, address, and telephone number of the fiscally responsible representative of the bidder's 
financial or banking organization. 
If the bidder is not a publicly held corporation, either the reports and statements required of a publicly 
held corporation, or a description of the organization, including size, longevity, client base, areas of 
specialization and expertise, and any other pertinent information, should be submitted in such a 
manner that proposal evaluators may reasonably formulate a determination about the stability and 
financial strength of the organization. Additionally, a non-publicly held firm should provide a banking 
reference. 
The bidder must disclose any and all judgments, pending or expected litigation, or other real or 
potential financial reversals, which might materially affect the viability or stability of the 
organization, or state that no such condition is known to exist. 
The State may elect to use a third party to conduct credit checks as part of the corporate overview 
evaluation. 

The most recent financial audit is included in this submission. There are no judgments, pending or 
expected litigation nor potential financial reversals, which might materially affect the viability or 
stability of the organization, or state that no such condition is known to exist. 

c. CHANGE OF OWNERSHIP 
If any change in ownership or control of the company is anticipated during the twelve ( 12) months 
following the proposal due date, the bidder should describe the circumstances of such change and 
indicate when the change will likely occur. Any change of ownership to an awarded vendor(s) will 
requi re notification to the State. 

There is not anticipated change in ownership for KVC Nebraska. 

d. OFFICE LOCATION 
The bidder's office location responsible for performance pursuant to an award of a contract with the 
State of Nebraska should be identified. 

KVC Nebraska Omaha Office: 
11550 I Street, Suite 100 Omaha Nebraska 68137 

K VC Nebraska Lincoln Office: 
5001 Central Park Drive, Suite 100, Lincoln Nebraska 68504 

e. RELATIONSHIPS WITH THE STATE 
The bidder should describe any dealings with the State over the previous five (5) years. If the 
organization, its predecessor, or any Party named in the bidder's proposal response has contracted 
with the State, the bidder should identify the contract number(s) and/or any other information 
available to identify such contract( s ). If no such contracts exist, so declare. 

KVC Nebraska has been a contracted provider of Agency Based Foster Care and Respite, Intensive 
Family Preservation, Intensive Family Reunification Services and Family Support for the previous five 
years with DHHS Division of Child and Family Services. KVC Nebraska has been a Certified Extended 



Family Home provider for the previous three years with DHHS Division of Public Health. KVC 
Nebraska has been the recipient of dollars through the Nebraska Systems of Care grant for the previous 
two years as coordinated by DHHS Division of Behavioral Health. 

f. BIDDER'S EMPLOYEE RELATIONS TO STATE 
If any Party named in the bidder's proposal response is or was an employee of the State within the past 
twelve (12) months, identify the individual(s) by name, State agency with whom employed, job title 
or position held with the State, and separation date. If no such relationship exists or has existed, so 
declare. 
If any employee of any agency of the State of Nebraska is employed by the bidder or is a 
subcontractor to the bidder, as of the due date for proposal submission, identify all such persons by 
name, position held with the bidder, and position held with the State (including job title and agency). 
Describe the responsibilities of such persons within the proposing organization. If, after review of this 
information by the State, it is determined that a conflict of interest exists or may exist, the bidder may 
be disqualified from further consideration in this orooosal. If no such relationshio exists, so declare. 

K VC Nebraska has no employees who were employed by the State within the past twelve months. 

g. CONTRACT PERFORMANCE 
If the bidder or any proposed subcontractor has had a contract terminated for default during the past 
five (5) years, all such instances must be described as required below. Termination for default is 
defined as a notice to stop performance delivery due to the bidder's non-performance or poor 
performance, and the issue was either not litigated due to inaction on the part of the bidder or litigated 
and such litigation determined the bidder to be in default. 
It is mandatory that the bidder submit full details of all termination for default experienced during the 
past five (5) years, including the other Party's name, address, and telephone number. The response to 
this section must present the bidder's position on the matter. The State will evaluate the facts and will 
score the bidder's proposal accordingly. If no such termination for default has been experienced by 
the bidder in the past five (5) years, so declare. 
If at any time during the past five (5) years, the bidder has had a contract terminated for convenience, 
non-performance, non-allocation of funds, or any other reason, describe fully all circumstances 
surrounding such termination, including the name and address of the other contracting Partv. 

KVC Nebraska has not had a contract terminated for default or any other reason in the past five years. 

h. SUMMARY OF BIDDER'S CORPORA TE EXPERIENCE 
The bidder should provide a summary matrix listing the bidder's previous projects similar to this RFP 
in size, scope, and complexity. The State will use no more than three (3) narrative project descriptions 
submitted by the bidder during its evaluation of the proposal. 
The bidder should address the following: 
i. Provide narrative descriptions to highlight the similarities between the bidder's experience and this 
RFP. These descriptions should include: 
a) The time period of the project; 
b) The scheduled and actual completion dates; 
c) The Contractor's responsibilities; 
d) For reference pu(J)oses, a customer name (including the name of a contact person, a current 
telephone number, a facsimile number, and e-mail address); and, 
e) Each project description should identify whether the work was performed as the prime Contractor 
or as a subcontractor. If a bidder performed as the orime Contractor, the descriotion should provide 



the originally scheduled completion date and budget, as well as the actual ( or currently planned) 
completion date and actual ( or currently planned) budget. 

ii. Contractor and subcontractor(s) experience should be listed separately. Narrative descriptions 
submitted for subcontractors should be specifically identified as subcontractor projects. 
iii. If the work was performed as a subcontractor, the narrative description should identify the same 
information as requested for the Contractors above. In addition, subcontractors should identify what 
share of contract costs, proiect responsibilities, and time period were perfonned as a subcontractor. 

Through KVC Nebraska's work with referral sources such as Juvenile Probation, DHHS and 
PromiseShip over the course of the past ten (10) years of operation, KVC Nebraska team members have 
completed well over 2,000 home studies for relative, kinship and licensed foster care providers. 

Specific to contracted work for the assessment of safety and suitability of caregivers and living 
environments, KVC Nebraska responded to a need identified by Nebraska Juvenile Probation for rural 
districts to provide rapid home assessments for relative and kinship caregivers considering placement of 
a youth in their home. This specific agreement involved the collaborative creation of a reasonable, yet 
timely contract agreement to respond to the need for a home assessment for interested relative and 
kinship caregivers to ensure a safe and suitable home like placement setting for youth on probation, in 
need of out of home care. 

i. SUMMARY OF BIDDER'S PROPOSED PERSONNEL/MANAGEMENT APPROACH 
The bidder should present a detailed description of its proposed approach to the management of the 
project. 
The bidder should identify the specific professionals who will work on the State's project if their 
company is awarded the contract resulting from this RFP. The names and titles of the team proposed 
for assignment to the State project should be identified in full, with a description of the team 
leadership, interface and support functions, and reporting relationships. The primary work assigned to 
each person should also be identified. The bidder should provide resumes for all personnel proposed 
by the bidder to work on the project. The State will consider the resumes as a key indicator of the 
bidder's understanding of the skill mixes required to carry out the requirements of the RFP in addition 
to assessing the experience of specific individuals. 
Resumes should not be longer than three (3) pages. Resumes should include, at a minimum, academic 
background and degrees, professional certifications, understanding of the process, and at least three 
(3) references (name, address, and telephone number) who can attest to the competence and skill level 
of the individual. Any changes in proposed personnel shall only be implemented after written 
aooroval from the State. 

KVC Nebraska practices a non-hierarchical and collaborative leadership approach. The President and 
Vice President positions monitor system issues, changes and shifts, while overseeing larger agency 
relationships and functions with a focus on program development, evaluation, sustainability and 
compliance. Program Directors support and collaborate in the work of the President and Vice President 
while driving the programs work and assisting in Safe & Connected™ model integration. Supervisors 
help policy, practice and the Safe & Connected™ model become second nature for our teams and 
become embedded in the day to day work with children and families. 

KVC Nebraska program/leadership structure for this project is proposed as follows: 
• Ashley Brown, LCSW - KVC Nebraska President 
• Vacant- Vice President 



• Theresa Goley, LMHP - Director of Permanency 
• Lauren Parks, Page Welburn, Rebecca Crook, Jessica Schuler - Child Placing Agency Supervisors 
• Licensing Specialist - KVC Nebraska currently employees 4 full time Licensing Specialists, 

depending on contract award and volume KVC Nebraska may utilize existing team members or add 
an FTE(s) 

Key functions of the President and Vice President to this project are: 
The President and Vice President assures that the main goals and objectives of KVC Nebraska 
are being met through the vision, mission and values and through the skill to lead and direct a 
leadership team in partnership with the General Board and local leadership. Leadership is 
required within all essential job functions and is demonstrated through positive and appropriate 
communication, community collaborations, excellent customer service, business and 
professional integrity. 

The President and Vice President routinely assess service needs and develop and implement 
local programs at the macro level and communicate desired outcomes to appropriate program 
level Directors. These leadership positions will demonstrate the ideals of the organization to the 
public and to staff at all times. The position will ensure an exceptional quality of services 
delivered by the organization through continuous evaluation and performance improvement 
strategies that enhance outcomes to youth and families and the overaH public image of the 
organization. The Vice-President reports to the President. The President reports to the KVC 
Health Systems Chief Executive Officer. 

Key functions of the Director of Permanency related to this project are: 
The Director assures that the recruitment and licensing of foster homes is always progressing to 
meet the needs of KV C's desired outcomes and the referrals for youth in Nebraska. The Director 
will demonstrate leadership related to admission and placement coordination to also meet the 
needs of KV C's desired outcomes and the referrals for youth in Nebraska. Leadership is required 
within all essential job functions and is demonstrated through positive and appropriate 
communication, community collaborations, excellent customer service, business and 
professional integrity. 

The Director will routinely assess service needs and develop and implement local programs at 
the community level appropriate with the agency mission, vision, and values. This leadership 
position will demonstrate the ideals of the organization to the public and to staff at all times. The 
position will ensure an exceptional quality of services delivered by the organization through 
continuous evaluation and performance improvement strategics that enhance outcomes to 
children and families and the overall public image of the organization. 

Key functions of the Supervisor to the field staff are as follows: 
The Supervisor assures that Foster Care Staff are actively recruiting, licensing and providing 
initial and ongoing training to foster families. It is the primary goal of the Supervisor to ensure 
the success of our foster homes and placements. The Supervisor will guide and direct assigned 
staff and will support and create new strategies to continuously sustain our foster homes. 
Leadership is required within all essential job functions and is demonstrated through positive and 
appropriate communication, community collaborations, excellent customer service, business and 
professional integrity. 

Along with the Director, the Supervisor will routinely assess support services needed and will 
develop and implement local programs within the ~ommunity (ies) to appropriately align with 



the agency mission, vision, and values. This leadership position will always demonstrate the 
ideals of the organization to the public and to staff. The Supervisor will assist with developing 
strategies that enhance outcomes to youth and families and the overall public image of the 
organization. 

Key functions of the Licensing Specialist to the field staff are as follows: 
Licensing Specialists (LS) will complete assessments and licensing paperwork for potential 
foster parents as well as process licensing paper work to renew foster parent licensing. Primary 
responsibilities of the LS include preparation and assessment for family needs and skills related 
to providing foster care and services for individuals with developmental disabilities. The LS will 
ensure the family is in compliance with KVC and DHHS standards and regulations. The LS will 
help maintain records, track progress throughout the credentialing/licensing process and will 
assist with ongoing recruitment of foster families and EFHs. The LS must be adaptable and 
willing to be flexible in a fast paced/rapid growth environment. 

KVC Nebraska has access to many shared service functions housed at our corporate office in Olathe, KS 
such as Human Resources, Finance, Development, Governmental Affairs, Executive Leadership, 
Communication, Facility Management, Information Solutions, the KVC Health Systems Board and 
Legal. 

j. SUBCONTRACTORS 
If the bidder intends to subcontract any part of its performance hereunder, the bidder should provide: 
i. name, address, and telephone number of the subcontractor(s); 
ii. specific tasks for each subcontractor(s); 
iii. percentage of performance hours intended for each subcontract; and 
iv. total percentage of subcontractor(s) perfom1ance hours. 
If the contractor chooses to subcontract, all subcontractors must be submitted and approved by DHHS 
prior to completing a Home Studv. 

KVC Nebraska does not intend to utilize subcontractors are this time. 

BIDDER REQUIREMENTS 
1. Describe the plan to recruit, train, and supervise staff who are knowledgeable about the 
unique needs of foster and adoptive children and families. 

KVC Nebraska will recruit qualified employees to ensure the expectations of this contract are fulfilled. 
Specific to RFP 6126 Zl, KVC Nebraska team members recruited and trained to complete home studies 
will hold a bachelor's degree in human services or a related field or will be required to hold a bachelor's 
degree with professional experience delivering foster and/or adoption services to youth and families. 
Positions wiH be posted on career websites such as Indeed and social media will be utilized as a way to 
promote open positions as well. At this time, KVC Nebraska's Child Placing Agency program is fully 
staffed with qualified, trained, and knowledgeable staff who write home studies for both newly licensed 
homes and adoptive homes. as well as relative, kin and renewal home studies. Dependent upon contract 
award and volume of referred work, KVC Nebraska may seek to add a position(s) to fulfill the contract 
requirement. The Supervisors who oversee the staff who would fulfill the expectations of this contract 
are Supervisors with many years of child welfare experience, experience supporting foster homes and 
writing home studies for foster homes and adoptive homes. The Supervisors meet with staff on a 
consistent basis and read and provide feedback on all home studies written by the staff before they are 
sent to the Nebraska Department of Health and Human Services for review and approval. 



All staff are required to complete New Employee Orientation (NEO) before assuming their role. NEO is 
coordinated by the Training Coordinator and occurs over the first year of employment. The following 
trainings arc mandatory prior to case assignment. 

• HR Basics 
• Technology Set Up 
• Office Systems 
• KVC Overview 
• Employee Handbook 
• Defensive Driving 
• Child Passenger Safety 
• Trauma 101 
• Confidentiality/HIP AA 
• lntro to Verbal De-escalation 
• Intro to Cultural Competency ([CWA/MEPA) 
• Position Specific Training 

All Licensing Specialists are required to show competency in the following areas: 

• Is knowledgeable concerning client rights policy. 
• Is aware of incidents that qualify as critical incidents or sentinel events. 
• Demonstrates an understanding of the Child Welfare, Juvenile Justice, and/or Developmental 

Disabilities systems in Nebraska. 
• Is aware of community based (wrap around) resources. 
• ls aware of licensing and home study timelines. 
• Is aware of assessment timelines related to the role of the Licensing Specialist. 
• Is able to verbalize how to form collaborative relationships. 
• Accurately completes a release of information. 
• Demonstrates an ability to complete a relevant and harm-reducing risk management/ safety plan. 
• Demonstrates an understanding of documentation expectations and timelines. 
• Evidences an ability to provide and/or accept assistance from others. 
• Demonstrates problem solving and critical thinking skills. 
• Demonstrates reflective listening, empathy and respect towards others. 
• Evidences ability to be strength-based and solution focused. 
• Evidences an ability to prioritize multiple demands in order to facilitate safety, permanency, and 

well-being. 
• Makes appropriate decisions when dealing with clients in order to facilitate safety, permanency, 

and well-being. 
• Demonstrates ability of skill-based coaching/ teaching. 
• Demonstrates an ability to collect and use information from other sources to shape decisions. 
• Speaks confidently by using a self-assured tone of voice. 
• Responds professionally to changes in work environment. 
• Demonstrates the ability to receive and accept feedback and deliver feedback in a professional 

New employees must show competency by achieving 100% on all post session evaluations. Supervisors 
will use the New Employee Competency Evaluation process to evaluate the skills, abilities, and 
knowledge of the new employee. Results of the NEO post session evaluations and the New Employee 



Competency Evaluation will be presented to the Program Director to determine readiness to assume 
their role. 

Completion of New Employee Orientation expectations within the first year of employment is the 
responsibility of the new employee. Session requirements for New Employment Orientation are divided 
into quarters where sessions from earlier quarters are pre-requisites for sessions in later quarters. 

Quarter 1: 
• Crisis Response/Safety in the Workplace 
• Setting Boundaries 
• Strengthening Families Act 
• Documentation l O 1 
• Goal Writing 101 
• Child Welfare Risk Factors 
• Criminogenic Risk Factors 
• Safe & Connected: Assumptions Underlying Practice 

Quarter 2: 
• Contract Agents 
• Safety & Connection Through Effective Communication 
• Stages of Change 
• Cultural Competency ((Diversity, Equity, Inclusion) 
• Creating a Wellness Plan 
• Missing Youth Risk Assessment 
• Safe & Connected: Critical Thinking 

Quarter 3: 
• Crisis Response/Safety in the Workplace 201 
• Social Worker Code of Ethics 
• Documentation 201 
• Goal Writing 201 
• Strengthening Families Act 201 
• Stages of Child Development 
• Professional Wellness 
• Safe & Connected: Consultation and Information Sharing Framework 

Quarter 4: 
• The Joint Commission 
• Finalizing a Wellness Plan 
• Domestic Violence 
• Human Trafficking Prevention 
• Healthy Sexual Boundaries 
• Mental Health Diagnosis and Treatment 
• Safe & Connected: Putting it all Together 



2. Describe bidder's approach to maintaining confidentiality of families and demonstrate the 
ability to ensure adequate data collection, management and reporting. Describe how bidder will 
comply with confidentiality reauirements and collaboration with DHHS. 

KVC Nebraska uses a secure software system to ensure confidentiality of individual and family 
information. All electronic documents are secured through this software and information is not shared 
without proper releases being signed. KVC Nebraska follows all expectations related to HIPAA rules 
and regulations. All paper documents with individual and family information is kept in a double locked 
file room. The only individuals who have access to this room arc KVC Nebraska staff. 

KVC Nebraska will track data related to the number of home studies being completed and the time 
frames to complete the home studies. KVC Nebraska will report any needed data to the Nebraska 
Department of Health and Human Services at their request and as always will maintain a collaborative 
partnership. 

I 3. Describe how bidder will meet the timeframes specified in sections V.D. 

Upon receipt and acceptance of a referral for a home study, K VC Nebraska will require Licensing 
Specialists to submit a completed, comprehensive home study to DHHS within forty-five (45) business 
days (45 days is based on the assumption the proposed regulation change is approved). 

K VC Nebraska will complete a comprehensive home study on families with accepted referrals. The 
home study must be completed over a minimum of two (2) face to face visits in the family home with all 
family members present. KVC Nebraska will adhere to the guidelines set forth in section V.D. This will 
be done through communication between Licensing Specialists (LS) and Supervisors, and continued 
oversight and supervision by KVC Nebraska Supervisors. Supervisors provide both written and verbal 
feedback to the LS during the home study writing process and ensure all home studies are submitted 
timely in compliance with internal and contractual requirements. 

All home studies must be reviewed and signed off on by the CPA Supervisor/Director prior to 
submission to DHHS for approval. If there are suggested areas of clarification, KV C Nebraska shall 
perform the necessary recommendations and resubmit the home study within five (5) business days. 

To ensure the aforementioned timelines are attainable, it will be imperative there is a timely referral 
process for home studies that arc needed. It is also the preference ofKVC Nebraska that a referral for a 
renewal home study come to KVC Nebraska for a family whose initial or previous renewal was authored 
by a K VC team member. 

4. Identify and describe the questions that will be asked of the family or individual during the 
Home Stud rocess for foster care lacement. 

KVC Nebraska utilizes (and proposes the continued use of, until a collaborative review and update of 
the existing resource occurs) the existing DHHS Home Study Guidebook. The DHHS Home Study 
Guidebook clearly lays out required and supplemental questions to address during interviews. K VC 
Nebraska would require each caregiver to complete the DHHS Foster/ Adoptive Parent Self-Study in the 
assistance of information gathering for the home study. In the event a caregiver discloses information or 
topics not described in the Guidebook or Self Study, KVC Nebraska staff will utilize critical thinking 
and assess appropriate information to gather dependent on topic and relevance to the home study and 
caring for youth. 



KVC Nebraska utilizes the below questions to supplement the DHHS Home Study Guidebook and 
DHHS Self Study: 

• What is your definition of family? 
• What social changes have affected families'! 
• Do you believe your family will change with the addition of youth in foster care? In what 

specific ways? 
• Why would physical punishment not work or might be harmful for youth who have been abused 

neglected and/or experienced trauma? 
• What are some examples of discipline techniques from your own experience that would teach 

youth healthy behaviors who have been abused, neglected and/or experienced trauma? 
• How will you promote normalcy and adherence to reasonable and prudent parenting with any 

youth you provide care for? 

KVC Nebraska emphasizes the importance of shared parenting and uses the following questions to 
obtain additional perspective on shared parenting from caregivers during the home study process. 

• How will you build a positive alliance between foster/adoptive parents and birth parents on 
behalf of the youth? 

• Review and reflect on the following resources "Shared Parenting & Alliance Building-Benefits 
for Children, Foster/ Adoptive Parents & Parent of Children in Foster Care" and '"The lmportance 
of Birth Parents in Foster Care" during your TIPS-MAPP training. 

• What are some of the most important benefits of shared parenting? 
• For the youth in foster care? 
• For the foster/adoptive parents? 
• For the biological parents? 

• What do you view as the general purpose of visits in foster care? 
• Visits maintain important connections between children and their parents, how are visits tied to 

shared parenting? 
• Visits give foster parents information to help them with alliance building and shared parenting. 

Visits also provide a time for foster parents and parents to focus together on the needs of the 
child. What might be some potential barriers or challenges with visits? 

5. Identify and describe the questions that will be asked of the family or individual during the 
ado tion Home Stud , rocess. 

KVC Nebraska proposes the continued use of the DHHS Home Study Guidebook for the purpose of 
completing an adoptive home study. KVC Nebraska has created a supplemental guide for LS to utilize 
during the adoption home study process. KVC Nebraska will actively participate in the collaborative 
creation of an adoption home study guide and guidebook. KVC Nebraska's supplemental question guide 
speci fie to adoption home studies is as follows: 

Parenting Strategies: 
• Please talk about how your overall parenting strategy as it pertains to a youth, speaking about 

any unique needs they have, discipline strategies, effective consequences, etc. 
• Please talk about how you support a youth's social development and what social development 

needs they have. 
• Please talk about how you support a youth's emotional development and what emotional 

development needs they have. 
• Please talk about how you support a youth's educational development and what educational 

development needs they have. 



• What school does the youth attend, how are they doing in school? 

Commitment vs Attachment: 
• Please talk about the lifelong commitment you arc prepared to make to the youth. 
• Please talk about the resources you have currently to support the adoption of a youth and your 

new family unit. 
• How were you prepared for the adoption process? 
• Are you aware of Right Turn and the services they provide post adoption? 
• Which factors might you as foster or adoptive parents be most likely to positively influence or 

control personally? 

Disruption: 
• What would lead your family to dissolve an adoption? 
• Who would you reach out to for help and/or support if experiencing these thoughts or feelings? 
• How do you feel dissolving an adoption would impact a child? 
• What resources are you currently aware of for adoptive families'! 
• How would you work through concerns of your immediate and extended family's lack of 

acceptance of adopted youth? 

Loss: 
• What might be the foster parent's role in helping youth understand a significant loss? 
• What factors might contribute to intensity and duration of the grieving process? 
• Which two factors may be most critical? 
• What happens to children who become attached to parents and families, only to be separated 

from them? 
• Why is loss so powerful? 
• When something has been taken from us, what emotions do we feel? 
• How long do you think it will take for youth to get to acceptance/understanding? 
• Do you think youth could get stuck in the grieving process? 
• What might be the losses experienced by children who have been physically abused, sexually 

abused, emotionally maltreated or neglected? 
• What would cause the losses to be traumatic for the child? 
• What are some examples of possible behavioral indicators you may see in children experiencing 

emotional reactions to loss and or trauma? 

Seven Core Issues of Adoption (these would be reviewed and discussed during the adoption home 
study process): 

The seven core issues of adoption are loss, rejection, guilt & shame, grief, intimacy, and mastery 
&control. Please talk about what you have experienced with the youth in regard to these issues. 

Loss is an essential component of the adoption process, for a child to be adopted there must have first 
been a significant loss in their life. What have you seen in regard to the youth and loss? 

Rejection-Children can view their placement in foster care as a form of rejection from their biological 
parents, children can associate the feeling of being "chosen" for adoption with the feeling of being 
"'unchosen" by their birth parents. What have you seen in regard to the youth and rejection? 



Guilt & Shame-Adopted children may feel as though there is something wrong with them that caused 
them to become adopted and can internalize these feelings. What have you seen in regard to the youth 
and Guilt & Shame? 

Grief-Adopted children must be given the opportunity to grieve their losses, this can be difficult in a 
culture where adoption is commonly viewed as a process of joy. What have you noticed in regard to the 
youth and any grief? 

Identity-Adopted children may have feelings ofrelated to confused identity and identity crisis, have the 
youth experienced any of these feelings? 

Intimacy-The multiple losses associated with adoption may impeded the development of intimacy, has 
the youth demonstrated any issues with development of intimacy? 

Mastery and Control-Adoption can alter the course of one's life and can potentially hinder growth, self­
actualization, and self-control. Do you feel the youth has demonstrated any signs of struggling with 
mastery and control? 

Additional Questions: 

• Explain what lifelong dedication means to you and your family? 
• Described the level of integration the youth has experienced with your family. Does he/she fit 

in? What was the level of adjustment? 
• What impact do you see adoption having on your family and/or marriage? 
• What are signs of family stress? What coping mechanisms will you use to deal with family 

stress? 
• How do you intend to communicate effectively with the youth about difficult information about 

his/her adoption and his/her history? 
• What are your thoughts about maintaining birth parent connections? 
• What are your thoughts about maintaining connections with significant people such as: siblings, 

grandparents, aunt and uncles, and cousins? 
• Parents who model appropriate answers to questions posed about their child's culture, heredity, 

and family formation through adoption help their child understand and deal with insensitive and 
hurtful comments posed to them as they grow older. 

o List ways you could appropriately respond to the following questions or statements 
• Is he/she your real child? 
• Did you ever meet his/her real parents? 
• You are a real kind, good person for taking him/her in. 

• What has KVC, DHHS, etc. done to help prepare you for the upcoming adoption (subsidy, health 
insurance, respite)? 

• What resources will you have once the adoption is complete? 

6. Identify how bidder will discuss the 7 Core Issues of Adoption with the family or individual 
when writing an Adoption Home Study: Loss, Rejection, Guilt and Shame, Grief, Identity, 
Intimacy, and Mastery/control. 

KVC Nebraska's LS will assess the caregivers understanding of how adoption will impact the youth 
whom they are providing permanency for and the family through guided questions during an interview 
with the family. The LS will also review the 7 Core Issues of Adoption as noted in #5 to ensure the 



family is aware of the issues, and how they feel the youth they are caring for could be impacted in these 
specific areas. 

7. Describe how the home study will include information about the family or individual(s) 
criminal history including but not limited to all background checks as required per 395 NAC 
Chapter 3 http://www.sos.ne.gov/rules-and-
re2.s/re2.search/Ru les/Health and Human Services Systcm/Title-395/Chaotcr-03.odf. 

DHHS staff will be completing all required background checks for caregivers and household members 
and providing those results to KVC Nebraska. KVC Nebraska will review all background check results 
as required by the noted statute. During review, KVC Nebraska will address with caregiver and other 
individuals in the home that have a history of criminal involvement and/or charges, all noted charges 
that appear or arc disclosed. The questions will include circumstances that led to charges, outcome of 
charges, and impact on self and family. Additionally, KVC Nebraska will review with caregiver and/or 
household member how they can use these experiences to positively impact their work with youth and 
families. 

8. For each Service Area, bidder should provide the methodology used to establish the "per 
home study" cost in the table below which includes but is not limited to personnel costs, travel 
expenses, and administrative costs. Methodology used to determine base cost. 

Methodolo!!v used to determine base cost ESA NSA SESA CSA WSA 

Staff Time 65% 43% 49% 37% 26% 

Travel Time and Milea!!e 18% 46% 29% 53% 67% 

Proiect Oversfaht 13% 9% 10% 7% 5% 
Operations Expense 5% 3% 3% 3% 2% 
Administrative Expense 10% 10% 10% 10% 10% 

KVC Nebraska's cost proposal and methodology for the established rate for home study includes staff 
time for the interviewing and writing of the home study, travel time and mileage, review by a Supervisor 
and operations and administrative cost. Currently KVC Nebraska staff would be traveling from our 
Omaha or Lincoln offices which accounts for the difference in cost and allocation based on service area. 



Ashley D. Brown, tCSW 
1328 North 60th Street, Omaha NE 68132 

402-871-8010 

Education 
University of Nebraska at Omaha 
University of South Dakota 

Professional Licensure 
Master Social Worker 
Licensed Mental Health Practitioner 

Work Experience 
September 2009- present 
President 

Social Work/ MSW - May 2005 
Social Work/BSW - August 2001 

License # 1268; expires 9/1/2020 
License #3339; expires 9/1/2020 

KVC Behavioral HealthCare 

• Previous positions include Child Placing Agency Supervisor (9/2009-9/2010), Program Director 

(9/2010-5/2016), Vice President (5/2016-7/2018) 
• Operational oversight and leadership to intervention and service delivery programs such as 

foster care, intensive in-home (IFP, Family Support, etc), developmental disabilities, prevention 

and peer support 
• Create, manage and monitor agency operating budget and staffing plan to ensure viability 

• Monitor and manage program implementation and strategic growth 
• Monitor and manage quality improvement, to include maintaining accreditation and licensure 

• Coordinates organization culture and standards 
• Provides leadership, guidance, and direction for program, to ensure compliance with 

• outcomes. 
• Translates agency vision into actionable plans. 
• Collaborates with local agencies to determine community needs and develop a full 

continuum of services for youths and families. Coordinates relationships with staff, 

providers and consumers. 

February 2003 - September 2009 NOVA Therapeutic Community 
Foster Care Specialist/Foster Care Supervisor/Out Patient Therapist 

• Supervise all foster care staff and programs 
• Manage day to day operations 
• Implement programing ideas and create new programs 

• Provide individual and family therapy 

September 2001- February 2003 Visinet, Inc 

Family Support Worker 
• Supervise court ordered interactions between children and families 

• Taught parenting skills to diverse families in crisis 
• Allocated resources for families and individuals in need 
• Provided one on one support and guidance to individual clients 



May 2001-August 2001 
Summer Intern 

Southeastern Behavioral HealthCare 

• Assisted in case management services for a diverse population 

• Completed assessments for services and funding 

• Completed social histories on clients 

May 2000 -August 2001 
Residential Instructor 

• Maintained and evaluated residents' programs 

Southeastern Behavior HealthCare 

• Provided stable, structured environment with constant support for residents 

• Organized activities 

Summers 1995-1999 
Waitress 

• Assisted in training of new employees 

Miners Restaurant 

• Assisted in created positive/productive work environment 

• Originated staff schedules 

• Facilitated staff meetings 

References 

Jodie Austin 
Omaha, NE 
402-312-1392 

Michelle Noah 
Omaha, NE 
402-659-0284 

Jason Hooper 
Olathe, KS 
816-260-3477 



Theresa L. Goley 

794 7 S. 15 7th Ave. • Omaha, NE 68136 • ( 402) 680-8099 • tlmcgee200 l@yahoo.com 

Education/Licenses 

Education: MA, Marriage and Family Therapy, 1996, North American Baptist Seminary, Sioux Falls, SD 
BS, Psychology, 1994, University of South Dakota, Vennillion, SD 

License: Nebraska Licensed Mental Health Practitioner, No. 3331 

Employment Experience 

May 2014-Present KVC Nebraska 
Permanency Director 

• Direct, lead, and supervise the activities of assigned staff and their direct reports 
• Set an environment of practice that is family-centered and solution-focused as well as implement and 

maintain evidenced based practices to empower and support families to remain intact 
• Establish accountability expectations for teams to assure appropriate responsiveness to clients, families, 

and all stakeholders 
• Ensure client files are complete, accurate, and organized accreditation standards 
• Monitoring the quality and effectiveness of the assigned service area's programs and services outcomes 

through effective doto management and evaluation 
• Work with the KVC President to develop or effectively use technology as an efficient means to gathering 

data for program monitoring 
• Will ensure that high quality day-to-day direct supervision of all program services supervisors and assigned 

staff within the service area of responsibility is provided 
• Will obtain and maintain successful internal and external relationships with professionals and individuals 

vested in the agency mission and vision 
• Recruit and hire a high quality and diverse workforce to deliver programs and services and represent the 

agency's desired image 
• Lead and coordinate activities involved in internal and external program and agency audits or reviews, 

including federal and state audits 
• Establish and monitor clear goals and expectations for staff in achieving program outcomes 
• Manage programs and services within allotted budget 
• Provide opportunities for staff development and training in leadership and program expertise 

March 2014 - Present 
Adjunct Professor 

Bellevue University 

• Provide on line instruction for graduate students in Clinical Counseling Program 
• Provide on line support and guidance for graduate students in assigned courses 



August 2013 - May 201 4 NE Office of Probation Administration 
Juvenile Intake and Detention Alternative Specialist 

• Oversee Juvenile Intake for the 12 Juvenile Probation Districts in Nebraska 
• Serve as the state Juvenile Detention Alternative Initiative (JDAT) Coordinator 
• Assist in the expansion of JDAI to the 12 Juvenile Probation Districts in Nebraska 
• Assist in the expansion of the Crossover Youth Practice Model (CYPM) with the Technical Assistance from 

Georgetown University 
• Support the 12 Juvenile Chief Probation Officers in Nebraska wjth the creation of detention alternatives in 

their districts · 
• Write curriculum and train the intake processes and procedures to all existing and new Probation Officers 

and Management 
• Create and maintain policies and procedures related to Juvenile Intake and Detention Alternatives 
• Create Request for Qualifications and/or Request for Proposals when needed 
• Maintain communication with Legislators, State and County Agencies, Community Providers and 

Stakeholders as needed to continue the improvement of Nebraska's Juvenile Justice System 

March 2012 - August 2013 Nebraska Families Collaborative 
O.JS Family Pamanency Director 

• Oversee and direct 7 OJS Family Permanency Supervisors and 50+ OJS Family Permanency 
Specialists to meet all programmatic, contract and budgetary objectives and goals 

• Serve as a member of the Juvenile Detention Alternative fnitiative in Douglas and Sarpy 
County 

• Serve as a core member of the work group creating the initial Crossover Practice Model Site 
in the state of Nebraska 

• Maintain communication with state, regional and local government agencies, private 
agencies, and business and community groups 

• Serve as a member of an 1184 multi-disciplinary team for both delinquency and non-court 
involved youth and families 

• Oversee data collection and analyzes data from a variety of sources to ensure that appropriate 
outcomes and goals for programs are being met 

• Ensure staff compliance with day-to-day policies and procedu res 
• Cooperate and collaborate with agency staff and subcontractors 
• Mentor and coach staff to improve organizational and individual performance; along with 

maintaining a structured management system so as to clearly communicate goals and 
expectations. Teach and train new staff. 

• Provide staff with clear directions and prioritit!s with equal emphasis on program quality, 
morale building, and teamwork 

August 2009- February 2012 KVC Nebraska 
Family Permanency Supervisor/OJS Family Permanency Director 

• Directed, lead, and supervised the activities of a team of 7 Family Petmanency Specialist Supervisors and 
50+ Family Permanency Specialists responsible for the case management of over 1800 children in the 
Omaha and Lincoln metropolitan areas 

• Successfully achieved the highest permanency rate for OJS youth 
• Designed, implemented and oversaw successful EM/fracking services 
• In times of crisis and instability, established an attitude of quality care and support to all team members 



• Built and maintained professional relationships with community stakeholders 

January 2007 - August 2009 Council Bluffs Community School District 
Behavior Management Specialist 

• Crisis Intervention/ De-escalating behaviors as needed 
• Assisted in program design to address transition needs of students and staff 
• Provided social skills training and assist students in implementing skills 

in mainstream and special education classrooms 
• Served as part of Individual Education Plan (IEP) teams 
• Served as liaison between the school and outside resources 
• Provided consultative support to teachers 
• Provided information and support to parents 

January 2004 - January 2007 Alcgent Health/Mercy Hospital 
Program Therapist/School Liaison 

• Facilitated group therapy sessions 
• Wrote and implemented treatment plans 
• Facilitated individual and family therapy sessions 
• Acted as liaison between the hospital and the Council Bluffs Commun ity School District. 
• Participated on a multi-disciplinary treatment team 
• Trained Boys Town's Psycho-Educational Model to all existing and new employees 

November 2002 - January 2004 MapleWood Behavioral Health 
Coordinator/Mental Health Therapist 

• Supervised Community Treatment Aids and Family Support Workers 
• Completed weekly authorizations with Magellan and served as part of a multidisciplinary team 
• Facilitated individual and couple 's therapy 

References 

Megan Miller 
Omaha, NE 
402-660-615 7 

Monica Miles-Steffens 
Lincoln, NE 
402-440-0372 

Gail Ortegren 
Omaha, NE 
402-968-1235 

' 



EXPERIENCE 

Jessica Schuler 
15825 E St. 

Roca, NE 68430 
402-730-4743 

iessicaschuler44(&gmail.com 

KVC Nebraska, Lincoln, NE - Foster Care Supervisor 

July 2013 - PRESENT 

• Lead, supervise and drive activities of the Foster Care Department and 

those directly recruiting, training, licensing and supporting foster 

homes. 

• Develop a network of functions and support designed to recruit foster 

homes, train those families and license them with the Department of 

Health and Human Services (DHHS). 

• Help to establish accountability expectations for teams to assure 

appropriate responsiveness to clients, families, 

DHHS/PromiseShip/Probation, courts, and other stakeholders. 

• Work with direct reports to ensure client and foster homes files are 

complete, accurate, and organized per KVC. DHHS. and accreditation 

standards. 

• Monitor the quality and effectiveness of the assigned service area's 

programs and services outcomes through effective data management 

and evaluation. 

• Establish and monitor clear goals and expectations for staff in 

achieving program outcomes. 

• Manage and provide opportunities for staff development and training 

in leadership and program expertise. 

KVC Nebraska, Lincoln, NE - Licensing Spcciolist 

June 2013 - July 2013 

• With input from the recruiters and TIPS-MAPP/DT leaders, met with 

potential foster families to assess the family's skills and need regarding 

providing foster care. 

• Provided written assessments and recommendations for sponsorship 

and fostering. 

• Responsible for handling all transfer inquiries and assessing families 

regarding the appropriateness for transfer of sponsorship 

• Assured that the families were in full compliance with DHHS standards 

and regulations. 

• Completed DHHS and KVC credentialing/licensing paperwork with 

both initial credential/licensure and renewal. 



• Maintained records and prepared progress reports as needed. 

• Provided documentation of the family's progress and areas of 

concerns. 

• Met established agency outcomes related to retention and recruitment. 

KVC Nebraska, Lincoln, NE- Foster Care Specialist 

July 2010 - March 2012 

• Provided direct support and ongoing services to the foster families that 

were sponsored by KVC. 

• Worked to ensure that support and community resources were 

available for each foster family and for any clients placed within their 

care. 

• Recruitment of potential foster families. 

• Assisted foster parents in crisis management. 

• Assured licensed foster parents were in full compliance with DHHS 

regulations. 

• Maintained records and prepared progress reports as needed. 

CEDARS, Lincoln, NE- Assistant Program Manager for Safety and 
ln-l-lome Services 

April 2008 · June 2010 

• Directly supervised the day to day activities of Family Support Workers. 

• Provided the knowledge, tools and skills to team members to enable 

them to be successful. 

• Developed service plans for existing services in place for families. 

• Scheduled visits and transports to ensure that all visits were possible. 

• Assisted Family Support Workers in developing case specific strategies 

to ensure the success of families. 

• Ensured staff were up to date on required trainings. 

• Performed field observations of Family Support Workers. 

EDUCATION 

Doane University, Lincoln, Nebraska - Masters of Arts in Management 

Emphasis In Hurmm Resources 

Expected graduation December 2019 

University of Nebraska-Lincoln - B.A. Psychology 

Minor in Criminal Justice 

Au~1ust 1996-May 2002 



REFERENCES 

Julie Geise, CLSSYB 

Nebraska Victim Advocacy Coordinator 

Nebraska Commission on Law Enforcement 

and Criminal Justice 

Cell: 402-480-2393 

iul ie.qeise(@nebraska.gov 

Lisa Schmutte 

Biology Teacher 

North Star High School 

Cell: 402-580-7779 

IJ)enneWo)lps.org 

Denise Barrow, PLMHP, PLDAC 

Outpatient Therapist 

Jenda Family Services 

Cell: 402~580-9202 

dibarrow74<&qmail.com 



EDUCATION 

Lauren .R. Parks, MSW 
11550 I Street, Omaha, Nebraska 68137 

402-320-5944 
lparks@kvc.org 

University a/Nebraska at Omaha 
Master of Social Work 

University <lSouth Dakota 
Bachelor of Science, Social Work and Psychology 

PROFESSION AL EXPERIENCE 

KVC BEHAVIORAL HEALTHCARE 

Omaha, Nebraska 
May2009 

Vermillion, South Dakota 
May 2007 

AUGUST 2010-PRESENT 
Omaha, Nebraska 

CPA Supervisor October 2015- Current 
• Lead, supervise and drive the activities of the Foster Care Department and those directly 

recruiting, training, licensing and supporting foster homes. 
• Develop a network of functions and support designed to recruit foster homes, train those families 

and license them with the DHHS. 
• Help to establish accountability expectations for teams to assure appropriate responsiveness to 

clients, families. DHHS/Promiseship/Probation, courts, and other stakeholders. 
• Assist with the development of successful collaborative partnerships and business relationships 

both with internal communities and external communities. 
• Assess and identify needed services and create opportw-lities for new business development at the 

community level; participate in work groups, community conunittees, and task forces to represent 
the agency's interests and support community needs. 

licensing Specialist August 2010-0ctober 2015 

• Assess families for safety and licensure appropriateness through interviews, best-practice 
assessments, completion of comprehensive home studies. and collection of documentation. 

• Liaison between agency, foster parents, the State of Nebraska and other service providers. 
• Facilitate an eight week course to potential foster families. 
• Train new and existing co-workers on State of Nebraska Ii censure regulations, compliance needs, 

and documentation procedures. 
• Implement recruitment tools to expand base of foster homes. 
• Collaborate with members of like agencies on a pem1anency subcommittee to streamline adoption 

processes through the state of Nebraska. 
• Facilitate thorough home visits, completion of compliance reviews, complete extensive 

background checks along with making collateral contacts and compiling documentation per state 
of Nebraska guidelines. 

• Member of Resource Family Conference, Fund.raising Committee, Wellness Committee, Training 
Committee., PS-MAPP and Social planning committees. 



LUTHERAN SERVICES IN IOWA 
Retention, Support, and Licensing Specialist 

Parks, L. Resume 2 

SEPTEMBER 2009-AUGUST 2010 
Sioux City, Iowa 

• Independently manage 100+ foster, adoptive, and relative families in 14 counties. 
• Supported and provided resources to help maintain families and foster care placements. 
• Administered crisis support to families in emergencies situations. 
• Responsible for meeting state of Iowa contract contact requirements. 
• Assessed foster and adoptive homes for safety through completion of home visits, weekly and 

monthly documentation, and comprehensive home studies. 

CHILD SA YING INSTITUTE 
Foster Care Specialist 

• Advocated daily on behalf of foster children and parents. 

OCTOBER 2008-SEPTEMBER 2009 
Omaha, Nebraska 

• Supported foster children and foster parents through problem solving, skill building, and continued 
educations. 

• Conducted assessments, developed treatment plans, collected weekly and monthly documentation, 
and completed initial home studies and updates. 

• Maintained continual contact with support teams for children. 
• Member of retreat planning, fos/adopt picnic, and employee committees. 

BENEFICIAL BEHAVIORAL HEALTH 
Community Treatment Aide 

• Provided in-home support work for individuals and families. 

OCTOBER 2007-0CTOBER 2008 
Omaha, Nebraska 

• Implemented treatment p]ans with clients, while working in cohesion with a therapist and case 
manager. 

• Assisted clients in building coping and social skills. 
• Responsible for maintaining a schedule and compiling weekly visit documentation. 

INTERNSHIP EXPERIENCE 

Foster Care lntem 
Child Saving Institute 

Case Manager Intern 
St. Luke's Regional Health Center 

SELECTED TRAININGS 

MAY 2008- OCTOBER 2008 
Omaha, Nebraska 

MAY 2007-AUGUST 2007 
Sioux City, Iowa 

Parenting for Permanence and Safety -Model Approach to Partnerships in Parenting (PS-MAPP) 
Signs of Safety/Information Sharing Framework (SOS) 
Structured Decision Making (SDM) 
MANDT 
Trauma Systems Therapy (TST) 



CPR and First Aid 
CAFAS 
Parent Management Training (PMT) 

REFERENCES 

Andray Knutson 701-388-0894 
Lanette Kinne 402-515-6761 
Nicole Deprez 402-213-9090 

Additional work history and training information upon request. 

Parks, L. Resume 3 



Page Welburn 
2713 Beale Circle 

Bellevue, NE 68123 
402-369-6664 

pwelburn@kvc.org 

Education: Bachelor of Science: Psychology 
Minor: Sociology 
Wayne State College- Graduated May 2013 

Experience: August I, 201 8-Present KVC Nebraska Omaha, NE 
Foster Care Supervisor/CPA Supervisor 

• Supporting and advocating for KVC team members, foster parents, and youth 
• Oversight of cases and management of 4-5 staff members at a time 
• Participating in leadership meetings and other KVC leadership projects 
• Teaching pre-licensure trainings to prospective foster parents 

April 8, 2014-August I, 2018 K VC Nebraska Omaha, NE 
Foster Care Specialist 

• Supporting and advocating for foster parents and youth in foster care 
• Writing monthly reports 
• Participating in Red Team meetings, family team meetings, and other 

trainings 
• Teaching pre-licensure trainings to prospective foster parents 

June 10, 2013-April l, 2014 Boys Town National Research Hospital Boys Town, NE 
Behaviornl Health Technician 

• Working with adolescents and children with mental illness and behavioral 
issues 

• Teaching to youths' positive and negative behaviors 
• Documentation on the youths' progress 

January 28, 2013- June 8, 2013 Liberty Centre~ Park Place Norfolk, NE 
Group Home Technician 

• Working with residents with mental illness on their way to independence 
• Efficiently administer medications to residents 
• Socialize through conversation and activities to promote learning 

opportunities 
for residents. 

December 26, 2012-January 8, 2013 Camp Friendship Ventures Annandale, MN 
Camp Counselor 

• Worked for the two week winter camp as a camp counselor for people with 
mental and physical disabilities. 

• Facilitated activities to help promote campers personal growth 

July 2012-June 7, 2013 
Cashier 

Hy Vee Gas Station 

• Assisting customers in a friendly manner 

Norfolk, NE 



November 20 l 0-May 2012 LDS Church- New Hampshire Manchester Mission 
Full-Time Volunteer Missionary 

Lauren Parks-work 
402-320-5944 
lparks@kvc.org 

Theresa Goley-work 
402-415-97 l 0 
tgolev(a)kvc.org 

• Taught people about the doctrine of our church in Maine and New 
Hampshire. 

• Other service work included teaching people to read, worked at soup 
kitchens, nursing homes, etc. 

Rachel Garcia-personal 
402-981-6395 
rcgareia42I(@.yahoo.com 

Additional Work and Personal References Available Upon Request 



REBECCA CROOK 
1530 South 771h Street • Lincoln, Ne. 68506 • (402)580-2944 • beccacrook@hotmail.com 

Education 
University of Nebraska at Lincoln, 2002-2006 

Bachelors of Science in Education and Human Sciences - Family Science 

Experience 
KVC Behavioral Healthcare - Lincoln, Nebraska [November 2014-Present] 
CPA Supervisor 

• Lead, supervise and provide guidance of the Foster Care Specialist who directly 
train, and support foster homes and youth and Recruitment Coordinator who 
recruits foster homes 

• Establish accountability expectations for teams to assure appropriate 
responsiveness, collaboration, and compliance to clients, families, referring 
agents, courts, and accrediting agency. 

• Monitor quality and effectiveness of CPA programs and service outcomes 
through effective data management and evaluation 

• Establish and monitor clear goals and expectations for staff in achieving program 
outcomes 

• Manage and provide opportunities for staff development and training in 
leadership and program expertise 

• TIPS-MAPP Trainer for potential foster parents 
KVC Behavioral Healthcare - Lincoln, Nebraska [July 2010 - November 2014] 
Foster Care Specialist 

• Provide direct support and advocacy for foster families 
• Collaborate with team members to ensure best interest of youth 
• Establish personalized goals and complete monthly progress reports 
• Conduct assessments and establish safety plans 
• Maintain timely and thorough documentation 
• Ensure compliance with KVC and DHHS regulations 
• PS-MAPP Trainer for potential foster parents 
• Committee Leader for Annual Resource Conference 

Owens and Associates Lincoln, Nebraska [July 2006 - July 2010] 
Family Partner 

• Assisted families in reaching self sufficiency through support, guidance and 
education 

• Developed and implemented service plans 
• Ensured the safety of children 
• Provided detailed documentation for all contact 
• Completed monthly progress reports 

Knowledge Learning Corporation Lincoln, Nebraska [June 2004 - July 2006] 
Daycare Teacher 

• Planned and implement bi-weekly lesson plans 
• Created stimulating and safe learning environments 
• Complied with KLC regulations 



ERIN BURNLEY 

SUMMARY 

EXPERIENCE 

11/2015-present 

4/2014-11/2015 

8/2008-4/2014 

EDUCATION 

2008 

2510 North 42"d Street, Omaha, NE, 68111 J (402)707-3614 I erin.burnley@gmail.com 

I have Si)( years experience in the social work field. I have helped children find 
independence and appropriate social norms. I have supported foster families in 
navigating the foster care system in order to help a child find permanency. I help build 
families that would never have been able to have children. There is a lot of deadlines 
and legal jargon that a Foster Care Licensing Specialist has to remember and navigate in 
order for a family to become licensed. I adapt well to changes that constantly occur in 

foster care. 

Foster Care Licensing Specialist, KVC Behavioral Healthcare 

• Write home studies for family applic.ition to become licensed. 

• Provide support and advice to potential foster family 

· Train and Evaluate family for the TIPS-MAPP process 

Foster Care Licensing Specialist, Child Saving Institute 

· coordinate licensu res for foster parents by specific deadlines with the Stat~ of 
Nebraska. 

· I provide support and advice to our foster families. 

· Respond to foster care inquiries within 24 hours. 

· Update agency paperwork for foster families transferring to Child Saving Institute. 

· Attend all meetings that help foster families support foster children in their home. 

· Write home studies for family application to become licensed. 

Assistant Family Teacher, Boys Town 

• I organized and maintain service plans for children in the residential homes. 

· I supervis.ed up to 8 children in a home and taught them social norms and behaviors. 

· I developed and monitored assistant family teacher schedule5. 

• Monitor CQI for families to evaluate their teachings. 

· Monitor and administer medications in residential homes. 

Bachelor of Arts in Psychology, University of Nebraska-Lincoln 



Education: 

Cynthia K. Griess-Johnston 
10227 Madison Street 

Omaha, Nebraska 68127 
402-740-0656 

cynkjoh4@gmail.com 

Bachelor's degree in Social Work (BSW), University of Nebraska-Lincoln. 
Graduate level classed in Social Work, University of Nebraska-Omaha. 
Intensive Spanish Language classes, College of Saint Mary, Omaha, Nebraska. 

Employment: 
August 2014 to present: Foster Care and Adoption Licensing Specialist; KVC Nebraska. 
Complete home study assessments for initial and renewing foster parents, prospective adoptive 
parents, and kinship foster families. Complete KVC foster parent license renewal packets and 
initial licensing packets for DHHS. Work with DHHS and PromiseShip to complete adoption and 
kinship packets. Teach the TIPS-MAPP curriculum to prospective foster parents. Teach Healthy 
Sexual Boundaries and Cultural Competency classes to foster parents. Respond to inquiries and 
provide support and guidance to foster and adoptive families. Conduct fingerprinting of foster 
parents for FBI and State Patrol background checks. Gather background information from the 
Nebraska Central Registry, local law enforcement and the Nebraska Sex Offender Registry. 
Participate in Red Team meetings as requested to help guide staff in placing children in safe and 
suitable foster homes. Occasionally help KVC foster care specialists with duties such as on-call 
shifts and transporting youth to appointments. Work collaboratively with other foster care 
agencies and providers and communicate regularly with DHHS Resource Development. Will 
earn a minimum of 30 CEU's each year by attending trainings at KVC and other child welfare 

agencies. 

Work in conjunction with KVC's Extended Family Home (EFH) program. Conduct EFH 
assessments for individuals seeking to provide in-home care for persons with intellectual or 
developmental disabilities. Currently certified as a Level One Investigator for serious incidents 
which are reported to Adult Protective Services, by KVC EFH clients or KVC EFH providers. Will 
complete internal investigations for KVC as requested. 

November 2013 to September 2016: CHI, Mercy Hospital, Council Bluffs, Iowa. {PRN position; 
worked one Saturday per month.) 
Provided discharge planning and services for hospitalized patients. Collaborated with health 
care providers to determine the discharge plan for each patient. Met with patients and their 
families to determine needs, provide emotional support, and give referrals. Ensured patients 
returning home had the resources to be successful. Arranged admissions and transports for 
patients to skilled nursing/assisted living centers, treatment facilities, and shelters. 



March 2012- August 2014: Family Permanency Specialist II; Nebraska Families Collaborative 
(NFC). 
Performed a variety of case management duties to help children in foster care achieve 
reunification and permanency. Assessed and analyzed critical information. Developed case 
plans for each child and family. Facilitated family team meetings and collaborated with 
community agencies, therapists and legal parties. Wrote court reports, conducted risk and 
safety assessments, strengths and needs assessments, and documented all client contacts. 
Attended court hearings; worked with legal counsel and CASA volunteers to help children 
achieve permanency through reunification or adoption. Met with Native American tribal 
leaders to assure ICWA guidelines were followed for each Native American child and family. 
Attended Foster Care Review Board meetings and participated in educational meetings to 
discuss each child's academic progress. Participated in therapy, medical appointments, and 
psychological evaluations with children as requested. On-call duties included helping children 
transition from Project Harmony to foster home placement. Provided transportation for youth 
and families as needed. 

November 2011-February 2012: Family Permanency Specialist; KVC Nebraska. KVC ended case 

management in Nebraska on February 28, 2012. Transferred to NFC after four months as a 

Family Permanency Specialist with KVC. Please refer to the NFC job description above. 

December 2005-November 2011: Hotline Crisis Counselor and Lead Email Counselor; Boys 
Town National Hotline, National Suicide Prevention lifeline and Nebraska Family Helpline. 
Provided crisis counseling and support to youth, parents, and individuals who were 
experiencing stress, conflict and suicidal ideation. Performed suicide risk assessments and 
determined if emergency assistance was needed. All calls required active listening skills, critical 
thinking and empathy. Provided callers with information and referrals for assistance in their 
local area. Responded to questions and submitted postings to parenting and educational 
websites. Submitted articles on child development and parenting issues to www.parenting.org 
and www.education.com. Lead Email Counselor duties included assuring all emails were 
responded to in a timely manner, and guided crisis counselors as they responded to urgent 
emails. Collaborated with outside agencies and professionals when necessary and documented 
all contacts. 

December 2000-December 2008: Childbirth and Maternal Services Educator; Alegent Health, 
Midlands Hospital, Omaha, Nebraska. 
Certified Breastfeeding Educator: 
Taught the benefits and techniques of breastfeeding to expectant mothers and their partners. 
Provided follow up counseling with parents as needed. Facilitated a support group for 
breastfeeding mothers. Developed and updated curriculum, maintained supplies and attended 
workshops for continuing education and certification. 
Sibling Preparation Instructor: 
Helped to prepare children for the birth of their sibling. Read to the children, role played with 
lifelike dolls, showed an age appropriate video to children and helped children create a gift for 
their new brother or sister. Included parents by taking tour of the childbirth and postpartum 



hospital rooms with their child. Encouraged healthy sibling relationships and provided parents 
with parenting resources. Developed and updated class curriculum and maintained supplies. 

September 1998-May 2008: Self-Employed Child Care Provider; Cynthia's Kids Childcare. 
Cared for a small number of children in my home. Care was provided for infants through 
elementary school aged children. Provided for children's physical and emotional needs. 

August 1989-August 1997: Adoption Caseworker; Nebraska Children's Home Society, Lincoln 

and Omaha, Nebraska. 
Provided pregnancy and adoption counseling for birthmothers, birthfathers and their extended 

families. Facilitated support groups for expectant mothers who were considering adoption or 

had placed their child for adoption. Organized a support group for adopted persons who were 

in process of searching for their birthparents. Provided relinquishment counseling for the 

Department of Health and Human Services and assisted with the legal relinquishment process. 

Completed adoption home studies. Assisted with foster care placements. Supervised the 

adoption placement with the infant/child, the birth parents and the adoptive parents. Provided 

post adoptive supervision of the child until adoption finalization. Completed court reports, 

attended court hearings and team meetings. Presented information on adoption and parenting 

to schools, community service agencies and health care providers. Attended meetings for 

prospective families interested in adoption. Maintained Social Work Certification with the 

State of Nebraska while employed with the agency. 

Volunteer experiences: 
Project Hope food pantry volunteer, Omaha, Nebraska - current. 
Church and school volunteer, Omaha, Nebraska - current. 
Junior Achievement teacher, Omaha, Nebraska - previous. 
Girl Scout leader, Omaha, Nebraska - previous. 
Child and Parent Education (CAPE ) Lincoln, Nebraska - previous board member. 
Welcome Baby program, Family Services of Lincoln, Nebraska - previous. 
Food Bank of Lincoln, Lincoln, Nebraska - previous. 

Certifications: 
Level One Investigator for Conducting Serious Incidents. 

Awards: 
Awarded first place (tie) for best "Thank You Letter" out of over one hundred submitted, at the 
first annual Omaha Gratitude Gathering in 2005. Ceremony was held at the Rose Theater. 

Received letter of commendation from the Governor of Nebraska for working with a mother 
who was HIV/AIDS positive, and her young daughter who had an intellectually disability. This 
occurred when employed as a Youth Care Worker with the state of Nebraska in 1987. 



Jason C. Bequette 
(402) 440-3115 I 1800 Glynn Circle, Lincoln, NE I jbequette26@gmail.com • 
OBJECTIVE 

To partner with an employer that encourages independence and development of competence. 

EXPERIENCE 
Licensing Specialist, June 2018-Present 

• Complete home study document and licensing packet for the purpose of licensure, renewal, 
adoption, and kinship approval. 

• Complete amendments to foster care license as needed. 
• Assist foster parents in monitoring, maintaining, and completing required training hours. 
• Train prospective foster parents as a Certified TIPPS MAPP Trainer. 
• Partner with DHHS in resolving other licensing issues as needed. 

Foster Care Specialist, March 2012 - June 2018 
KVC Behavioral Healthcare, Lincoln, NE 

• Provide direct in home support to foster parents and youth involved in the child welfare system. 
• Complete detailed home study evaluations of prospective relative and child specific foster 

parents. 
• Responsible for conducting detailed interviews of prospective relative and child specific foster 

parents. 
• Responsible for detailed and timely documentation of progress on behalf of each client including 

but not limited to monthly progress reports, child specific support plans, monthly foster home 
compliance, and medication logs. 

• Maintaining stability of placements utilizing crisis intervention techniques such as Parent 
Management Training. 

• Regular participation in KVC 24/7 on call support. 
• Recipient of the 2014 Employee of the Year Award for KVC of Lincoln, NE. 
• Certified PS-MAPP trainer. 
• Certified trainer of Parent Management Training. 

Program Support Worker, August 2010-March 2012 
KVC Behavioral Healthcare, Lincoln, NE 

• Provide direct services such as supervised visitation, family support, and drug testing to clients 
involved in the child welfare system. 

• Ensure safety and well being of clients by intervening as needed during any direct service session. 

EDUCATION & TRAINING 

University of Nebraska-Lincoln 
Bachelor of Science in Criminal Justice, 2007 
With minor in History 



Elizabeth I. Bonney-Beermann 
3202 Y Street+ Lincoln, NE 68503 +( 402)570-0688 +geckonek l 978@gmail.com 

OBJECTIVE 

To take on the challenge of the position of Licensing Specialist which will research> review, and maintain 
potential and licensed foster homes. 

WORK EXPERIENCE 

04/10-Prescnt KVC Beltavioral Healtlzcare-Nebraska, 5001 Central Park Drive, Ste. 100, Lincoln, NE 
68504 
Licensing Specialist 

The Licensing Specialist identifies, secures, and processes all current and new family 
resources, providing consultation and initial licensing, renewal licensing, updates and 
monitoring files to ensure all are in accordance with the requirements set by KVC 
Behavioral Healthcare-Nebraska. This includes kinship and adoptive home studies. The 
Licensing Specialist also works daily with the Department of Health and Human Services 
to ensure compliance with foster care regulations. The Licensing Specialist is also a 
certified TIPS-MAPP Trainer and instructs potential foster parents regarding foster 
children and the child welfare system. 

08/09-4/10 Visinet, Inc., Lincoln, NE 68504 
Resource Specialist 

The Resource Specialist identified, secured and processed current and new family 
resources, providing family consultation and initial licensing> renewal licensing, updates 
and monitoring files to ensure all were in accordance with the requirements set by Visinet, 
Inc. This included relative and adoptive home studies. The Resource Specialist worked 
daily with the Department of Health and Human Services to ensure compliance with foster 
care regulations. 

As an employee of Visinet, Inc., I had the opportunity to match specific children with 
placement homes as needed. I certified as a PRIDE Trainer and taught potential foster 
families about foster care. I received training on the State of Nebraska's NFOCUS system 
for inputting information regarding foster families, home studies and allegations. 

02/08-07/09 Lincoln Community Foundation, 215 Centennial Malls, Ste. 100, Lincoln, NE 68508 
Administrative Assistant 

The Administrative Assistant researched non-profit organizations' 501c3 status and 
processed check requests accordingly. The Administrative Assistant also created and 
distributes documents, organized multiple committees' functions and meetings, served as 
back-up for the phones and filed documents. 

As an Administrative Assistant, I also assisted the Vice President of Community Outreach 
with miscellaneous duties including processing scholarships and grant applications. 



Elizabeth I. Bonney-Beermann 

9/02-2/08 

3202 Y Street+Lincoln, NE 68503+(402)570-0688+geckonekl978@gmail.com 

Child Guidance Center, 2444 0 Street, Lincoln, NE 68508 
Receptionist & Transportation Scheduler 

First and foremost, the Receptionist was responsible for maintaining a friendly and 
organized work environment through client and staff relations. The Receptionist greeted 
incoming clients and family members, handled all internal and external calls from staff 
and clients, filed client paperwork, created and maintained daily schedules and handled 
miscellaneous computer tasks including entering billing information, scheduling client 
transportation and maintaining an accurate petty cash log. The Receptionist adhered to all 
privacy codes as required by HIP AA. 

As the Receptionist, I was fortm1ately able to assist in the interviewing process of potential 
staff members and trained several new members of the Billing and Support departments. 

1/00-8/16/02 CEDARS Youth Services (Foundation), 620 N 48'11 St., Lincoln, NE 68504 
Office Assistat1t 2/0Z-8/0Z /Youth Specialist I-FT Overnights 9101-2/02/ Relief Youth 
Specialist 1/00-9/01 

The Office Assistant to the CEDARS Home for Children Foundation maintained and 
updated the Donor Database and monetary/in-kind donations. The Office Assistant 
oversaw mailing services, composing quarterly Guardian Angel Thank You cards, 
maintaining the Golden Book of Memorials and Honors as well as other administrative 
duties. Attention to detail and accuracy was key. 



Elizabeth I. Bonney-Beermann 
3202 Y Street+Lincoln, NE 68503 +(402)570-0688+geckonek1978@gmail.com 

ACHIEVEMENTS 

• Experience in public speaking and relations, including Trauma Informed PS-MAPP (TIPS-MAPP) 
training and PRIDE training (pre-service foster parent training). 

• Certification in CPR and First Aid, Multi-Ethnic Placement Act (MEPA) and the Indian Child 
Welfare Act (ICWA). 

• Served as a Trustee on the Unitarian Church Board from 2013-2015. 
• Participated in the Unitarian Church Interim Ministerial Search Committee in 2014. 
• Member of the RGL Committee from 2010 through October 2016; rejoined August 2017. 
• Unitarian Universalist high school and middle school volunteer teacher from 2012-2015. 
• Certified Teacher of Our Whole Lives Curriculwn 

EDUCATION 

2004 University of South Dakota, Vermillion, SD 
Completed one semester of a Master's Degree Program 

2001 University of Nebraska, Lincoln, NE 
Completed the Bachelor of Arts Degree -
Double Major: English and History 

1997 University of South Dakota, Vermillion, SD 
Completed one year of a Bachelor of Arts Program 

1996 Mercy High School, Omaha, NE 
Completed 9111- l 21h grades/General Studies. 



ACORD® CERTIFICATE OF LIABILITY INSURANCE I 
DA TE IMMIOOf'fYYY) 

~ 6/26/2019 

THIS CERTIFICATE IS ISSUED AS A MATIER OF INFORMATION ONLY ANO CONFERS NO RIGHTS UPON THE CERTIFICATE HOLDER. THIS 
CERTIFICATE DOES NOT AFFIRMATIVELY OR NEGATIVELY AMEND, EXTEND OR ALTER THE COVERAGE AFFORDED BY THE POLICIES 
BELOW. THIS CERTIFICATE OF INSURANCE DOES NOT CONSTITUTE A CONTRACT BETWEEN THE ISSUING INSURER($), AUTHORIZED 
REPRESENTATIVE OR PRODUCER, AND THE CERTIFICATE HOLDER. 

IMPORTANT: If the certificate holder is an ADDITIONAL INSURED, the policy(ies} must be endorsed. If SUBROGATION IS WAIVED, subject to 
the terms and conditions of the policy, certain policies may require an endorsement. A statement on this certificate does not confer rights to the 
certificate holder in lieu of such endorsement(s). 

PRODUCER ~2~i~CT Linda Robb 

Haye Companies Inc. ~..1ti.~g11· (816) 474-3535 I FAX 
, !AIC, No]: 

1200 Main Street, Suite 112310 f•MAII. 
ADDRESS: 

INSURERjSJ AFFORDING COVERAGE IIAICI 

Xanaas City MO 64105 INSURER A ,Philadelnhia Indemni tv Insurance . 
INSUREU lNSUIUaR 8 :Phi ladelchi a Insurance Comnani es 92535 

J<VC Health Systems INSURER C :Ace ident Fund General Insurance Co l .. 
21350 West 153rd Street INSURER O: 

Olathe J<S 66061 
I INSURER E, 

INSURER F: 

COVERAGES CERTIFICATE NUMBER·*GL/AL/WC/ULS/Prof 19/20 REVISION NUMBER· 
THIS IS TO CERTIFY THAT THE POLICIES OF INSURANCE LISTED BELOW HAVE BEEN ISSUED TO THE INSURED NAMED ABOVE FOR THE POLICY PERIOD 
INDICATED NOTV\IITHSTANOING ANY REQUIREMENT, TERM OR CONDITION OF ANY CONTRACT OR OTHER DOCUMENT WITH RESPECT TO WHICH THIS 
CERTIFICATE MAY BE ISSUED OR MAY PERTAIN, THE INSURANCE AFFORDED BY THE POLICIES DESCRIBED HEREIN 1$ SUBJECT TO ALL THE TERMS, 
EXCLUSIONS ANO CONDITIONS OF SUCH POLICIES LIMITS SHO\NN MAY HAVE BEEN REDUCED BY PAID CLAIMS. 

INSR ~· POLICY EFF POLICY EXP I 
LTR TYPE OF INSURANCE ···~- ,, .... - POUCV NUMBEFt IMMIOO/VYYYl IMMIOOIYYYYI . LIMITS 

COMMERCIAL GENERAL LIABILITY cACl-t occunRENCE $ 1,000,000 - ~ ClAIMS-MADE CJ OCCUR 
DAMAGE TCl Rl::Nlt:U 

A PREM1Se5 •Ea occucr~l\CJ!I s 100,000 
i,- I$ PHPKle 552'19 7/1/2019 7/1/2020 MEO EXP (Any one O•t~oro) S,000 
-

PERSONAL & ADV INJURY s 1,000,000 
·--

GEN'l AGGREGA l E LIMIT APPLIES PER: GENERAL AGGREGATE s 3,000,000 

~ POLICY o r;m D LOC PRODUCTS • COMPtOP AGG $ 3,000,000 

01HER Employee BeneM$ $ l,000,000 

AUTOMOBILE LIABILITY ~~~:~!_.l'!,~~,r'NGL£ UMIT Is l. 000,000 
-

X ANY AUTO BODILY INJURY (Per P8f$01'l) $ 
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~JeiiPAMAGl: NON-OWNED $ 

1--
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s 
UMBRELi.ALiAS H OCCUR EACH OCCURRENCE l: 1-

B 
EXCESS LIAS i CLAIMS,MAOE AGGREGATE 

DEO I I RETENTION s PHUB64003S 111no19 6/l/2020 $ 

WORl<ERS COMPENSATION l ~ffrurc I I OTH· 
ANO EMPLOYERS' LIABILITY 

ER 
YIN 

ANY PflOPRIJ:TORIPARTNER1E:XECUOVE D NIA 
E L. EACH ACCIDENT $ 1.000.000 

OF FICERJMEMSER EXClUDEO? 
C {Mar,(1010,y In NH) 200002Sl76 8/l/2019 8/1/2020 E l OISEASE . EA EMPLOYEI $ 1,000.000 

~ii1c~ft~:b~ -miPERATtCNS l>O!OW EL DISEASE . POLICY LIMIT s l.,000,000 

A Professional Liability PHPK1855289 1/1/2019 7/1/2020 Each Occurrence $1,000,000 

Aggregate $3,000,000 

OESCRIPTION OF OPERATIONS f LOCATIONS I vemcus IACORO 101, Additional Remarks Sel\ed1Jl8, may be .n .. hed If more $paee I$ required) 

General Liability & Professional Liability Retro Dates: 

7/1/05 - State of Kansas Contract for Foster Care & Adoption Services 

9/30/09 - XVC Behavioral HealthCare Nebraska and J<VC Behavioral HealthCare Kentucky 

1/1/17 - Niles HoU1e for Children 

8/29/89 - All Other 

CERTIFICATE HOLDER CANCELLATION 

SHOULD ANY OF THE ABOVE DESCRIBED POLICIES BE CANCELLED BEFORE 
THE EXPIRATION DATE THEREOF, NOTICE WILL BE OELIVERED IN 
ACCORDANCE WITH THE POLICY PROVISIONS. 

AUTliORIZEO REPRESENTATIVE 

I 
James Hays/DMOSIE 

© 1988-2014 ACORD CORPORATION. All rights reserved. 

ACORD 25 {2014/01} The ACORD name and logo are registered marks of A CORO 



Additional Named Insureds 

Olher Named Insureds 

Kanawha Valley Center, Inc Doing Business As 

KVC Behavioral HealthCare Additional Named Insured 

KVC Behavioral HealthCare Kentucky, Inc. Additional Named Insured 

KVC Behavioral HealthCare West Virginia, Inc. Additional Named Insured 

KVC Behavior-al HealthCare, Inc. Additional Named lnsur-ed 

KVC Behavioral Nebraska, lnc. Additional Named Insured 

KVC Foundation, Inc. Additional Named Iniiured 

KVC lloepitals, Inc . Additional Named Insured 

rl!iles Home for Children Additional Named Insured 

OFAPPINF (02/2007) COPYRIGHT 2007, AMS SERVICES INC 



ACORD® CERTIFICATE OF LIABILITY INSURANCE I DA TE (MMtOOIVYYYI 

~ 7/25/2018 

THIS CERTIFICATE IS ISSUED AS A MATIER OF INFORMATION ONLY ANO CONFERS NO RIGHTS UPON THE CERTIFICATE HOLDER. THIS 
CERTIFICATE DOES NOT AFFIRMATIVELY OR NEGATIVELY AMEND, EXTEND OR ALTER THE COVERAGE AFFORDED BY n-tE POLICIES 
BELOW. THIS CERTIFICATE OF INSURANCE DOES NOT CONSTITUTE A CONTRACT BETWEEN THE ISSUING INSURER(S), AUTHORIZED 
REPRESENTATIVE OR PRODUCER, AND THE CERTIFICATE HOLDER. 

IMPORTANT: If the certificate holder is an ADDITIONAL INSURED, the pollcy(ies) must be endorsed. If SUBROGATION IS WAIVED, subject to 
the terms and conditions of the policy, certain policies may require an endorsement. A statement on this certificate does not confer rights to the 
certificate holder In lleu of such endorsement(s). 

PRODUCER CONTACT 
NIIME: 

ri:w.i~ . ., .. 1. 
l FAX 

,._ 

Hays Companies (816) 474-3535 iAJC Nol: C 816 l s•2 .,n5 

1200 Main Street, Suite lt2310 fi-MIIIL 
AOORESS: 

INSURER1Sl AfFOROING COVERAGE NAIC § 

Kansas City MO 64105 1NSURERA:Philadelt)hia Insurance COD\Eanies 92S35 

INSUREO lNSUR.ER a :United Wisconsin Insurance Comnanv 29157 

KVC Health systems tNSURER C : 

21350 West 153rd Street. INSURER D: 

INSURER E. : 

Olathe KS 66061 INSURE.RF : 

COVERAGES CERTIFICATE NUMBER·GL/AL/WC/ ULS/Prof 18/19 REVISION NUMBER· 

THIS IS TO CERTIFY THAT THE POLICIES OF INSURANCE LISTED BELOW HAVE BEEN ISSUED TO THE INSURED NAMED ABOVE FOR THE POLICY PERIOD 
INDICATED NOTWITHSTANDING ANY REQUIREMENT, TERM OR CONDITION OF ANY CONTRACT OR OTHER DOCUMENT \MTH RESPECT TO WHICH THIS 
CERTIFICATE MAY BE ISSUED OR MAY PERTAIN, THE INSURANCE AFFORDED BY THE POLICIES DESCRIBED HEREIN rs SUBJECT TO All THE TERMS. 
EXCLUSIONS AND CONDITIONS OF SUCH POLICIES LIMITS SHOWN MAY HAVE BEEN REDUCED BY PAID CLAIMS. 

INSR ·~· 1,:S£%~~~ • • • ~~r6i'K,~~. LTR TYPE OF INSURANCE l iNSO l,AA,A POLICY NUMBER LIMITS 

X COMMERCIAL GENERAL LIABILITY EACH OCCURRENCE s 1,000,000 --D CLAIM:l-MI\OE Q OCCUR 
OAMAl.>t J9i m:m''E'D 

A PREMISES e.i O<:C"NCncel $ 100.000 ,_ 
X PHPY.1855289 8/1/2018 7/1/200 MEO EXP (Any one Q&fSOO) s 5,000 

,__ 
PERSONAL & ADV INJURY s 1,000,000 

.._ 
GEN'L AGGREGATE L,MIT APPLIES PER· GENERAL AGGREGATE $ 3,000,000 

~ O PRO- OLOC PRODUCTS • COMP/OP AGG ' 
3,000,000 

POLICY JECT 

OTHER s 
AUTOMOBILE LIABILITY Pi,~~1\':i~~;ilNGlE LiMIT $ 1,000,000 -X ANY AUTO 

8001L Y INJURY (Per person) $ 

A - ALL OWNEO - SCHEOULEO PIIPKl855289 8/1/2018 7 /l/2019 8001L Y INJURY (Per accidenl) $ 
,- AUTOS .._ AUTOS 

X X 
NON,O~ED r ROPERTY DAMAGE $ 

HIRED AIJTOS AUTOS Per accld•n11 - comntColl Ded $ 1.000 

X UMBRELL.A LIA8 ~Fl OCCUR EACH OCCURRENCE $ s.000.000 
,-

A 
EXCESS LIAS CL.AIMS,MADE AGGREGATE s 5,000,000 

OED I I RETENTION$ Plf'TJB64 0 03 S 8/l/2018 7/1/2019 s 
WORKER$ COMPENSATION I PER l I 0TH, 
ANO EMPLOYERS' LIABILITY 

X STATIITJ' ER 
YIN 

ANY PROPRIETORIPARTNER1EXECUTIVE D NIA 
E.L EI\CH ACCIDENT $ 1,000.000 

OFFICERtMEMBER EXCLUDEO? 
B (Mand•tory In NH) 0400H9046 8/1/2018 7 /1/lO 19 EL OtSEASE , EA E.MPLOYE§ $ 1,000.000 

gi;t~~t~~~ tf'gPERATIONS below 

. 
E L DISEASE. POLICY LIMIT I s 1,000,000 

A Professional Liability PHPltlaS S28 9 6/l/2018 7/1/2019 Each 0CCU«MC8 $1,000,000 

Aggregate $3,000,000 

DESCRIPTION OF OPERATl0N$1 l0CATIOt1S / VEHIC~ES (ACORO 101, Add1tlonal Remarks Schedule, mey be attache<l II mote $pace Is requlredl 
Region 6, OHHS and State of Nebraska are included as additional insured when required by written 

contract. Coverage is primary. 

CERTIFICATE HOLDER CANCELLATION 

SHOULD ANY OF THE ABOVE DESCRIBED POLICIES BE CANCELLED BEFORE 

Region 6 and DHHS THE EXPIRATION DATE THEREOF, NOTICE WILL BE DELIVERED IN 

Julie Matthews 
ACCORDANCE WITH THE POLICY PROVISIONS. 

4715 s 132nd St 
Omaha, NE 68137 AUTHORIZED REPRESENTATIVE 

James Hays/LROBB ~-----
© 1988·2014 ACORD CORPORATION. All rights reserved. 

ACORD 25 (2014101) The ACORD name and logo are registered marks of ACORD 



~ 
~ The Joint Commission 

December 19, 2016 

Jason Hooper 
CEO 
KVC Behavioral HealthCare Nebraska, Inc. 
11550 I Street, Suite 100 
Omaha, NE 68137 

Dear Mr. Hooper: 

Joint Commission ID#: 495262 
Program: Behavioral Health Care Accreditation 

Accreditation Activity: 60-day Evidence of 
Standards Compliance 
Accreditation Activity Completed: 12/19/2016 

The Joint Commission is pleased to grant your organization an accreditation decision of Accredited for all 
services surveyed under the applicable manual(s) noted below: 

~_prehensive Accreditation Manual for Behavioral Health Care 

This accreditation cycle is effective beginning October 27, 2016 and is customarily valid for up to 36 months. 
Please note, The Joint Commission reserves the tight to shorten or lengthen the duration of the cycle. 

Should you wish to promote your accreditation decision, please view the information listed under the 
'Publicity Kit' link located on your secure extranet site, The Joint Com.mission Connect. 

The Joint Commission will update your accreditation decision on Quality Check®. 

Congratulations on your achievement. 

Sincerely, 

Mark G.Pelleticr, RN, MS 

Chief Operating Officer 

Division of Accreditotion and Certification Operations 
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Independent Auditor's Report 

Board of Directors 
KVC Health Systems, Inc. 
Olathe, Kansas 

Report on the Financial Statements 

We have audited the accompanying consolidated financial statements of KVC Health Systems, Inc., which 
comprise the consolidated statements of fmancial position as of June 30, 2018 and 2017, and the related 
consolidated statements of activities and cash flows for the years then ended, and the related notes to the 
consolidated financial statements. 

Management·~ Responsibility for the Financial Statements 

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these consolidated financial statements 
in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America; this includes the 
design, implementation and maintenance of internal control relevant to the preparation and fair presentation of 
consolidated financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 

Auditor's Re.vponsibility 

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial statements based on our audits. We 
conducted our audits in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America 
and the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing Standards, issued by the 
Comptroller General of the United States. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain 
reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements are free from material misstatement. 

An audit involves perf onning procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the 
consolidated financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor's judgment, including the 
assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud 
or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity's 
preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated financial statements in order to design audit procedures 
that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness 
of the entity's internal control. Accordingly, we express no such opinion. An audit also includes evaluating 
the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of significant accounting estimates 
made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the consolidated fmancial statements. 

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our 
audit opinion. 

Praxiti: 
\~, .,,,.,., ·~ ~ .,. 

' .. , ,,, 



Board of Directors 
KVC Health Systems, Inc. 
Page2 

Opinion 

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, 
the financial position ofKVC Health Systems, Inc. as of June 30, 2018 and 2017, and the changes in its net 
assets and its cash flows for the years then ended in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted 
in the United States of America. 

Supplementary Information 

Our audits were conducted for the purpose of forming an opinion on the consolidated financial statements as a 
whole. The accompanying supplementary information, including the schedule of expenditures of federal 
awards required by Title 2 U.S. Code qf Federal Regulations (CFR) Part 200, Uniform Administrative 
Requir11ments, Cost Principles and Audit Requirements.for Federal Awards, as listed in the table of contents, is 
presented for purposes of additional analysis and is not a required part of the consolidated financial statements. 
Such information is the responsibility of management and was derived from and relates directly to the 
underlying accounting and other records used to prepare the consolidated financial statements. The 
information has been subjected to the auditing procedures applied in the audits of the consolidated financial 
statements and certain additional procedW'es, including comparing and reconciling such infom1ation directly to 
the underlying accounting and other records used to prepare the consolidated financial statements or to the 
consolidated financial statements themselves, and other additional procedures in accordance with auditing 
standards generally accepted in the United States of America. In om opinion, the information is fairly stated in 
all material respects in relation to the consolidated financial statements as a whole. 

Other Reporting Required by Government Auditing Standards 

In accordance with Government Auditing Standards, we have also issued our report dated December 13, 2018, 
on our consideration ofKVC Health Systems, Inc.'s internal control over financial reporting and our tests of 
its compliance with certain provisions of laws, regulations, contracts and grant agreements and other matters. 
The purpose of that report is to describe the scope of our testing of internal control over financial reporting and 
compliance and the results of that testing, and not to provide an opinion on the internal control over financial 
reporting or on compliance. That report is an integral part of an audit performed in accordance with 
Government Auditing Standards in considering KVC Health Systems, Inc.'s internal control over financial 
reporting and compliance. 

Kansas City, Missouri 
December 13, 2018 



KVC Health Systems, Inc. 
Consolidated Statements of Financial Position 

June 30, 2018 and 2017 

2018 

Assets 
Current Assets 

Cash and c~h equivalents $ 4,212.047 
Accounts receivable, net of allowance; 

2018 • $1,152,000, 2017 • $874,000 16,944,259 
Contributions receivable 1,670,000 
Grants receivable 1,977,697 
Prepaid expenses and other 719.919 

Total current assets 25,523,922 

Property and Equipment, Net 25,383,610 

Contributions Receivable 585,667 

Other Asset& 
Goodwill 545,000 
Deposits and other assets 803,652 

1,348,652 

Total assets $ 52,841,851 

Liabilities and Net Assets 
Current Liabilities 

Current maturities oflong-tenn debt $ 266,302 
Line of credit 1,500,000 
Accounts payable 2,896,261 
Accrued salaries 3,976,880 
Accrued compensated absences 2,191,596 
Other accrued expenses 5,027,489 
Deferred revenue 1,738,441 

Total current liabilities 17,596,969 

Long-term Debt 9,552.412 

Net Pension Liability 276,360 

Total liabilities 27,425,741 

Net Assets 
Unrestricted 23,916.110 
·r emporarily restricted 1,500,000 

Total net assets 25,416,1 IO 

Total liabilities and net assets $ 52,841,851 

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements 

2017 

$ 7,633.883 

14,633,404 
303,742 

1,674,724 
122182770 

25,464,523 

20,171,907 

854,925 

545,000 
654,333 

1,199,333 

$ 47,690,688 

$ 240.126 

2,511,590 
3,617,200 
2,030,220 
5,418,132 
I, 171,970 

14,989,238 

6,188,936 

368,574 

21,546,748 

25,768,940 
375,000 

26,143,940 

$ 47,690,688 
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KVC Health Systems, Inc. 
Consolidated Statements of Activities 
Years Ended June 30, 2018 and 2017 

Unrestricted Revenues, Gains and Other Support 
Contract reintegration and adoption services $ 

Child placing services 
Inpatient services 
Family preservation/in-home services 
Contributions and grants 
Interest income 
Miscellaneous 

Total unrestricted revenues, gains and other support 

Operating Expenses 
Client care 
Administrative and general 
Fundraising 

Total operating expenses 

Operating Income (Loss) 

Other Income 
Contribution in affiliation 

Excess (Deficiency) of Revenues Over Expenses 

Contributions received for property acquisitions 
Net assets released from restrictions for property acquisitions 

Change in Unrestricted Net Assets 

Temporarily Restricted Net Assets 

Contribution in affiliation 
Contributions received for property acquisitions 
Net assets released from restrictions for property acquisitions 

Change in Net Assets 

Net Asset!, Beginning of Year 

Net Assets, End of Year $ 

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements 

2018 2017 

91,560,023 $ 83,757,058 
19,067,076 16,423,975 
20,345,681 21,703,959 
22,105,877 18,110,196 

4,355,732 3,579,839 
4,521 5,950 

1,766,056 1,470,308 

159,204,966 145,051,285 

147,694,237 128,123,892 
13,938,706 13,437,212 

340,748 289,395 

161,973,691 141,850,499 

(2,768,725) 3,200,786 

1,519,277 

(2,768,725) 4,720,063 

540,895 
375,000 228,856 

(1,852,830) 4,948,919 

228,856 
1,500,000 375,000 
(375,000) (228,856) 

(727,830) 5,323,919 

26,143,940 20,820,021 

25,4l6,110 $ 26,143,940 
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KVC Health Systems, Inc. 
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows 

Years Ended June 30, 2018 and 2017 

2018 
Operating Activities 

Change in net assets $ (727,830) 

Items not requiring (providing) operating activities cash flows 
Depreciation and amortization 1,494,621 

Loss on disposition of assets S91 
Contributions received in affiliation 
Contributions received for property acquisitions (2,040,895) 
Provision and discollllts on contributions receivable (34,301) 
Provision for lUlcollectible accounts 234,397 

Changes in 

Accounts receivable (2,545,252) 
Grants receivable (302,973) 
Prepaid expenses 498,851 
Other assets (149,319) 
Accounts payable 238,533 
Accrued salaries 359,680 
Accrued compensated absences 161,376 
Other accrued expenses (390,643) 
Net pension liability (92,214) 
Deterred revenue 566,471 

Net cash provided by {used in) operating activities (2,728,901) 

Investing Activities 
Purchase of property and equipment {6,560,783) 
Cash acquired in affiliation 

Net ca.sh used in investing activities (6,560,783) 

Financing Activities 
Proce~ds from conttibutions restricted for 

acquisition oflong-lived assets 978,196 
Proceeds from issuance oflong-term debt 3,652,000 
Principal payments on long-tenn debt (262,348) 
Net proceeds llllder line-of-credit agreements 1,500,000 

Net cash provided by financing activities 5,867,848 

Increase (Decrease) in Cash and Cash Equivalents (3,421,836) 

Cash and Cash Equivalents, Beginning of Year 7,633,883 

Cash and Cash Equivalents, End of Year $ 4,212,047 

Supplemental Cash Flows Information 
Property and equipment in accounts payable $ 146,138 
Interest paid 418,226 
Loan receivable forgiven in affiliation 
Affiliation with The Niles Home for Children, Inc. 

Assets acquired, including cash of $388,133 
Liabilities assumed 

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements 

2017 

$ 5,323,919 

1,391,903 

(1,748,133) 
{375,000) 

(57,623) 
199,994 

(2,367,276) 
{544,431) 
(874,201) 
(88,533) 

(264,346) 
773,751 
370,419 

1,507,625 

(60,935) 

3,187.133 

(1,332.956) 
388,133 

(944,823) 

543,488 

(417,455) 

126,033 

2,368,343 

5,265,540 

$ 7,633,883 

$ 
335,569 
535,556 

3,184,823 
1,436,690 
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KVC Health Systems, Inc. 
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements 

June 30, 2018 and 2017 

Note 1 : Nature of Operations and Summary of Significant Accounting Policies 

Nature of Operations and Principles of Consolidation 

KVC Health Systems, Inc. is the sole corporate member of the following affiliates, collectively 
referred to as the Organization: 

KVC Behavioral HealthCare, Inc. 

KVC Behavioral HealthCare, Inc. is a Kansas not-for-profit organization headquartered in 
Olathe, Kansas. It provides an integrated array of programs for emotionally and behaviorally 
impaired, abused, neglected, runaway and homeless youth, ages birth to twenty-one and their 
families. 

KVC Behavioral Healthcare West Virginia, Inc. 

KVC Behavioral Healthcare West Virginia, Inc. is a West Virginia not-for-profit organization 
headquartered in Charleston, West Virginia, whose mission and principal activities are to 
provide an integrated array of programs for emotionally and behaviorally impaired, abused, 
neglected, runaway and homeless youth, ages birth to twenty-one and their families. 

KVC Behavioral Healthcare Kentucky, Inc. 

KVC Behavioral Healthcare Kentucky, Inc. is a Kentucky not-for-profit organization 
headquartered in Lexington, Kentucky, whose mission and principal activities are to provide 
mental health, educational and case management services to children with mental health needs 
who are either placed in out-of-home care, hospitalized or who are facing imminent removal 
from their biological home in the state of Kentucky. 

KVC Behavioral Healthcare Nebraska, Inc. 

KVC Behavioral Healthcare Nebraska, Inc. is a Nebraska not-for-profit organization 
headquartered in Omaha, Nebraska, whose mission and principal activities are to provide 
service coordination, foster care, family preservation and supportive mental health services to 
the children and families of Nebraska. 

KVC Hospitals. Inc. 

KVC Hospitals, Inc. is a Kansas not-for-profit organization headquartered in Olathe, Kansas, 
whose mission and principal activities are to provide psychiatric care to children and 
adolescents out of facilities in Kansas City, Kansas and Hays, Kansas. 

6 



KVC Health Systems, Inc. 
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements 

June 30, 2018 and 2017 

KVC Foundation, Inc. 

KVC Foundation, Inc. is a Kansas not-for-profit organization in Olathe, Kansas. The 
Foundation was created to establish an endowment and provide fundraising activities to support 
the programs of KVC Health Systems, Inc. and its affiliates. 

The Niles Home for Children, Inc. 

The Niles Home for Children, Inc. is a Missouri not-for-profit organization headquartered in 
Kansas City, Missouri, whose mission and principle activities are to provide mental health and 
education services to high-risk children and families, empowering them to become confident 
and contributing citizens. 

The accompanying consolidated financial statements include the accounts of KVC Health Systems, 
Inc. and its affiliates. All significant intercompany accounts and transactions have been eliminated 
in consolidation. 

Use of Estimates 

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally 
accepted in the United States of America requires management to make estimates and assumptions 
that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and 
liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the reported amounts of revenues, expenses, 
gains, losses and other changes in net assets during the reporting period. Actual results could differ 
from those estimates. 

Cash and Cash Equivalents 

The Organization considers all liquid investments with original maturities of three months or less 
to be cash equivalents. At June 30, 2018 and 2017, cash equivalents consisted primarily of money 
market accounts with banks. 

At June 30, 2018, the Organization's cash acc01mts exceeded federally insured limits by 
approximately $874,000. 

Accounts Receivable 

Accounts receivable are stated at the net realizable value, which is the amount management expects 
to collect from outstanding balances. The Organization provides an allowance for doubtful 
accounts, which is based upon a review of outstanding receivables, historical collection 
information and existing economic conditions. Accounts receivable are ordinarily due 30 days 
after the issuance of the invoice. Accounts past due more than 90 days are considered delinquent. 
Delinquent receivables are written off based on individual credit evaluation and specific 
circumstances of the customer. 
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KVC Health Systems, Inc. 
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements 

June 30, 2018 and 2017 

Property and Equipment 

Property and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation. Depreciation is charged 
to expense using the straight-line method over the estimated useful life of each asset. Assets under 
capital lease obligations and leasehold improvements are depreciated over the shorter of the lease 
term or their respective estimated useful lives. 

The estimated useful lives for each major depreciable classification of property and equipment are 
as follows: 

Buildings and leasehold improvements 
Furniture and equipment 
Computer equipment and vehicles 

Long-lived Asset Impairment 

5.40 years 
5-10 years 

5 years 

The Organization evaluates the recoverability of the carrying value of long-lived assets whenever 
events or circumstances indicate the carrying amount may not be recoverable. If a long•lived asset 
is tested for recoverability and the undiscounted estimated future cash flows expected to result 
from the use and eventual disposition of the asset is less than the carrying amount of the asset, the 
asset cost is adjusted to fair value and an impairment loss is recognized as the amount by which the 
carrying amount of a long·lived asset exceeds its fair value. No asset impainnent was recognized 
during the years ended June 30, 2018 and 2017. 

Net Assets 

Net assets, revenues, gains and losses are classified based on the existence or absence of donor or 
grantor.imposed restrictions. Net assets without donor restrictions are available for use in general 
operations and not subject to donor restrictions. Net assets with donor restrictions are subject to 
donor-imposed restrictions. Temporarily restricted net assets are those whose use by the 
Organization has been limited by donors to a specific time period or purpose. 

Contributions 

Gifts of cash and other assets received without donor stipulations are reported as unrestricted 
revenue and net assets. Gifts received with a donor stipulation that limits their use are reported as 
temporarily or permanently restricted revenue and net assets. When a donor stipulated time 
restriction ends or purpose restriction is accomplished, temporarily restricted net assets are 
reclassified to unrestricted net assets and reported in the consolidated statements of activities as net 
assets released from restrictions. Gifts having donor stipulations that are satisfied in the period the 
gift is received are reported as unrestricted revenue and net assets. 

Unconditional gifts expected to be collected within one year are reported at their net realizable 
value. Unconditional gifts expected to be collected in future years are initially reported at fair 
value determined using the discounted present value of estimated future cash flows technique. The 
resulting discount is amortized using the level•yield method and is reported as contribution 
revenue. 
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KVC Health Systems, Inc. 
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements 

June 30, 201'8 and 2017 

Conditional gifts depend on the occurrence of a specified future and uncertain event to bind the 
potential donor and are recognized as assets and revenue when the conditions are substantially met 
and the gift becomes unconditional. 

Goodw1/I 

Goodwill is tested annually for impairment. If the implied fair value of goodwill is lower than its 
carrying amount, a goodwill impainnent is indicated and goodwill is written down to its implied 
fair value. Subsequent increases in goodwill value are not recognized in the consolidated financial 
statements. 

In-Kind Contributions 

In addition to receiving cash contributions, the Organization receives in-kind contributions of 
goods and services from various donors. It is the policy of the Organization to record the estimated 
fair value of certain in-kind donations as an expense in its consolidated financial statements. and 
similarly increase contribution revenue by a like amount. For the years ended June 30, 2018 and 
2017, there were no in-kind contributions received. 

Deferred Revenue 

Revenue from contracts. grants and other miscellaneous fees is deferred and recognized over the 
periods in which the services are performed. 

Professional Liability Coverage and Claims 

The Organization purchases professional liability insurance under a claims-made policy on a fixed 
premium basis. Accowtting principles generally accepted in the United States of America require 
an organization to accrue the expense of its share of professional liability claim costs, if any, for 
any reported and unreported incidents of potential improper professional service occurring during 
the year by estimating the probable ultimate costs of the incidents. 

Based upon the Organization's claims experience. an accrual had been made for the Organization's 
estimated professional liability costs, including costs associated with litigating or settling claims, 
under its professional liability policy, amowtting to $399,985 and $488,681 as of June 30, 2018 and 
2017, respectively. It is reasonably possible that this estimate could change materially in the near 
tenn. 

The Organization recorded in accowtts receivables on the consolidated statements of financial 
position $399,985 and $488,681 as of June 30. 2018 and 2017, respectively, of professional 
liability reserve insurance coverage receivables. 

g 



KVC Heal.th Systems, Inc. 
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements 

June 30, 2018 and 2017 

Government Grants 

Support funded by grants is recognized as the Organization perfonns the contracted service or 
incurs outlays eligible for reimbursement under the grant agreements. Grant activities and outlays 
are subject to audit and acceptance by the granting agency and, as a result of such audit, 
adjustments could be required. 

Income Taxes 

The Organization is exempt from income taxes under Section 501 of the Internal Revenue Code 
and a similar provision of state law. However, the Organization is subject to federal income tax on 
any unrelated business taxable income. The Organization files tax returns in the U.S. federal 
jurisdiction. 

Functional Allocation of Expenses 

The costs of supporting the various programs and other activities have been summarized on a 
functional basis in the consolidated statements of activities. Certain costs have been allocated 
among the program, management and general and fundraising categories based on time expended, 
usage and other methods. 

Excess (Deficiency) of Revenues Over Expenses 

The consolidated statements of activities include excess (deficiency) of revenues over expenses. 
Changes in unrestricted net assets which are excluded from excess (deficiency) of revenues over 
expenses, consistent with industry practice, include contributions oflong-lived assets (including 
assets acquired using contributions which by donor restriction were to be used for the purpose of 
acquiring such assets). 

Reclassifications 

Certain reclassifications have been made to the 201 7 financial statements to conform to the 2018 
financial statement presentation. These reclassifications had no effect on net earnings. 

Note 2: Revenue Concentrations - KVC Behavioral HealthCare, Inc. 

On July 1, 2013, the Organization was awarded Foster Care Reintegration Services and Family 
Preservation Services contracts from a state agency to provide foster care and family preservation 
services to the Kansas City and East Regions of the State of Kansas. The contracts are for a tenn 
of four years, with two additional two-year renewal options. 

Revenues for the contracts amounted to $97,040,281 and $88,595,814, which represents 61 percent 
of the Organization's unrestricted revenues, gains and support for both years ended June 30, 2018 
and 2017. Accounts receivable related to the foster care reintegration contra.ct amounted to 
$9,357,003 and $8,097,683 at June 30, 2018 and 2017, respectively. 
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KVC Health Systems, Inc. 
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements 

June 30, 2018 ·and 2017 

The KVC Kansas current Reintegration and Family Preservation contracts expire June 30, 2019. 
KVC will be working with the KS DCF Administration on new contracts or grants for 
Reintegration and Family Preservation effective July l, 2019, which could have an effect on the 
financial statements. 

Note 3: Affiliation 

Effective December 31, 2016, The Niles Home for Children, Inc. ("Niles"), a Missouri not-for­
profit organization, became a consolidated subsidiary of the Organization. The results of Niles 
operations have been included in the consolidated financial statements since that date. Niles 
provides mental health and education services to at-risk children in the urban core who are either 
placed in out-of-home residential care with Niles or who participate in Niles' day treatments 
program. The affiliation was accomplished by the Organization becoming the sole member of 
Niles. No consideration was transferred for the net assets of Niles, thus the fair value of 
unrestricted and temporarily restricted net assets received by the Organization is shown as a 
contribution received in affiliation in the consolidated statements of activities for the year ended 
June 30, 2017. 

The Organization incurred costs in connection with the affiliation, which are included in purchased 
services expenses in the consolidated statements of activities. Prior to the affiliation, Niles had an 
outstanding loan of$535,556 due to the Organization which was forgiven as part of the affiliation. 

11 



KVC Health Systems, Inc. 
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements 

June 30, 2018 and 2017 

The following table summarizes the fair value of the assets acquired and liabilities assumed 
recognized at the affiliation date: 

Recognized Fair Value ofldentifiable Assets Acquired and Lhtbilities ASllumed 

Current assets 
Property and equipment 

Total assets 

Current liabilities 
Non-current liabilities 

Total liabilities 

Total contribution received 

Summary of Contribution Received by Net Asset Classification 

Unrestricted contribution received 
Temporarily restricted contribution received 

Total contribution received 

2017 

$ 502,612 
2,682,211 

3,184,823 

1,068,116 
368,574 

1.436,690 

$ 1,748,133 

2017 

$ 1,519,277 
228,856 

$ 1,748,133 

The Niles affiliation resulted in an inherent contribution received of $1,748,133, which represents 
the net recognized amount of the identifiable assets acquired over the liabilities assumed. 

12 



KVC Health Systems, Inc. 
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements 

June 30, 2018 and 2017 

Note 4: Contributions Receivable 

Contributions receivable consisted of the following at a discount rate of 5 .00 percent: 

Due within one year 
Due in one to five years 

Less 
Allowance for uncollectible contributions 
Unamortized discount 

Note 5: Property and Equipment 

Property and equipment at June 30 consists of: 

Land and land improvements 
Buildings and leasehold improvements 
Furniture and equipment 
Works of art 
Computer equipment 
Vehicles 
Construction in progress 

Less accumulated depreciation and amortization 

2018 

$ 1,670,000 
787,500 

2,457,500 

(46,382) 
(155,451) 

$ 2,255,667 

2018 

$ 1,437,201 
29,531,815 

5,632,568 
95,142 

5,554,693 
250,444 
542,575 

43,044,438 
17,660,828 

$ 25,383,610 

2017 

$ 303,742 
1,091,059 
1,394,801 

(35.826) 
(200,308) 

$ 1,158,667 

2017 

$ 1,437,201 
22,728,976 

5,426,964 
95,142 

5,533,822 
223,971 
892,644 

36,338,720 
16,166,813 

$ 20,171,907 
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KVC Health Systems, Inc. 
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements 

June 30, 2018 and 2017 

Note 6: Line of Credit 

The Organization has a $9,000,000 revolving bank line of credit expiring in May 2019. At 
June 30, 2018 and 2017, there was $1,500,000 and $0, respectively, borrowed against this line. The 
line is collateralized by property and equipment. Interest payable monthly at prime subject to a 
floor rate of 4.125 percent which was 5.00 percent and 4.25 percent on June 30, 2018 and 2017, 
respectively. 

Note 7: Long~term Debt 

Notes payable, bank (A) 
Notes payable, bank (B) 
Notes payable, bank (C) 
Notes payable, bank (D) 
Capital lease obligations (E) 

Less cWTent maturities 

2018 

$ 668,468 
5,520,473 

869,773 
2,760,000 

9,818,714 
266,302 

$ 9,552,412 

2017 

$ 694,876 
5,709,145 

25,041 
6,429,062 

240,126 

$ 6,188,936 

(A) Due August 25, 2019; payable $5,014 monthly and one irregular last payment, including 
interest at 4.88 percent; collateralized by real estate. 

(B) Due February 25, 2021; payable $39,482 monthly and one irregular last payment, including 
interest at 5.00 percent; collateralized by real estate. 

(C) Due August 15, 2022; payable $5,873 monthly and one irregular last payment, including 
interest at 4.90 percent; collateralized by real estate. 

(D) Due April 3, 2025; payable in monthly amounts ranging from $13,202 to $19,508 and one 
irregular last payment, including interest at 5.74 percent; collateralized by real estate. 

(E) Capital leases with varying imputed interest rates from 4.05 percent to 4.12 percent, due 
through 2018, collateralized by equipment. 

KVC Hospitals, Inc. unconditionally guarantees the indebtedness ofKVC Foundation, Inc. for all four 
outstanding notes payable. 
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KVC Health Systems, Inc. 
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements 

June 30, 2018 and 2017 

Aggregate annual maturities of long-term debt and payments at June 30, 2018 are: 

2019 $ 

2020 
2021 

2022 
2023 

Thereafter 

$ 

Property and equipment include the following property under capital leases: 

2018 

266,302 
953,955 

5,225,410 

117,884 
840,189 

2,414,974 

9,818,714 

2017 

Equipment $ $ 328,631 

Less accumulated depreciation 258,193 

$ $ 70,438 

Note 8: Defined Contribution Plan 

The Organization has a defined contribution plan (the Plan) covering all full-time employees who 
have at least one year of service and who are at least 21 years of age. Participants receive 
20 percent vesting for each eligible year of service. Each year, the Board of Directors determines 
the amount of the contribution to the Plan. Total expenses for the years ended June 30, 2018 and 
2017 were approximately $456,000 and $472,000, respectively. 

Note 9: Defined Benefit Plan 

As part of the affiliation with The Niles Home for Children, Inc. on December 31, 2016, the 
Organization acquired a noncontributory defined benefit pension plan (the Plan) covering all full 
time employees of Niles with one year or more of continuous service prior to the Plan being frozen 
effective February 28, 2005. The Organization's funding policy is to make the minimum annual 
contribution that is required by applicable regulations, plus such amounts as the Organization may 
detennine to be appropriate from time to time. The Plan has a plan year which ends on 
December 31. The Organization expects to contribute $20,000 to the Plan in the plan year ending 
December 31, 2018. 
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KVC Health Systems, Inc. 
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements 

June 30, 2018 and 2017 

The Organization uses a December 31 measurement date for the Plan. Information about the 
Plan's funded status follows: 

Benefit obligation 
Fair value of plan assets 

Funded status 

December 31, 
2017 

$ 

$ 

(1,696,400) 
1,425,173 

(271,227) 

December 31, 
2016 

$ 

$ 

(1,631,061) 
1,262,487 

(368,574) 

The benefit obligation is calculated based on a discount rate of 3.50 percent and 4.0 percent for the 
periods ended December 31, 2017 and 2016, respectively. The expected return on plan assets of 
8.0 percent for both periods ended December 31, 2017 and 2016 was calculated using the "building 
block'' approach described by the Actuarial Standards Board in Actuarial Standards of Practice No. 
27 - Selection Economic Assumptions for Measuring Pension Obligations. Plan assets consist of 
equity and fixed income investments. 

Net benefit liability of$271,227 and $368,574 is recorded in the consolidated statements of 
financial position within noncWTent liabilities at June 30, 2018 and 2017, respectively, based on 
management's opinion that there has not been a material change to the net benefit liability for the 
period December 31, 2017 to June 30, 2018 or December 31, 2016 to June 30, 2017. 

Note 10: Temporarily Restricted Net Assets 

Temporarily restricted net assets at June 30, 2018 and 2017 are available for the following 
purposes: 

2018 2017 

Purchase of property and equipment $ 1,soo.000 $ 375,000 

During 2018 and 2017, net assets were released from donor restrictions by purchasing property and 
equipment in the amounts of $375,000 and $228,856, respectively. 

Note 11: Operating Leases 

Noncancellable operating leases for office space expire in various years through 2023. These 
leases generally contain renewal options for periods ranging from one to five years and require the 
Organization to pay all executory costs (property taxes~ maintenance and insurance). Total rental 
expense for property leases for the years ended June 30, 2018 and 2017 was $2,609,457 and 
$2,260,325, respectively. 
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KVC Health Systems, Inc. 
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements 

June 30, 2018 and 2017 

Noncancellable operating leases for equipment expire in various years through 2022. Total rental 
expense for equipment leases for the years ended June 30, 2018 and 2017 was $2,080,565 and 
$2,146,475, respectively. 

Future minimum lease payments at June 30, 2018 were: 

Equipment Property Total 

2019 $ 1,604,227 $ 1,362,688 $ 2,966,915 

2020 1,119,064 339,727 1,458,791 

2021 755,154 269,294 1,024,448 

2022 87,526 181,430 268,956 

2023 44,055 44~055 

$ 3,565,971 $ 2,197,194 $ 5,763,165 

Note 12: Significant Estimates and Concentrations 

Accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America require disclosure of 
certain significant estimates and current vulnerabilities due to certain concentrations. Those 
matters include the following: 

Allowance for Doubtful Accounts 

Estimates of allowances for doubtful accounts are described in Note 1. 

Litigation 

The Organization is subject to claims and lawsuits that arose primarily in the ordinary course of its 
activities. It is the opinion of management that the disposition or ultimate resolution of such claims 
and lawsuits will not have a material adverse effect on the financial position, change in net assets 
and cash flows of the Organization. Events could occur that would change this estimate materially 
in the near term. 

Note 13: Future Change in Accounting Principle 

Not-for-Profit Accounting Standard for Financial Reporting 

The Financial Accounting Standards Board recently issued Accounting Standards Update (ASU) 
No. 2016-14, which changes requirements for financial statements and notes of all not-for-profit 
(NFP) entities. The Organization expects to first apply the ASU during its fiscal year ending 
June 30, 2019, through retrospective application to previous years' statements for comparative 
purposes. The impact of applying the ASU has not yet been determined. 
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KVC Health Systems, Inc. 
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements 

June 30, 2018 and 2017 

Revenue Recognition 

The Financial Accounting Standards Board amended its standards related to revenue recognition. 
This amendment replaces all existing revenue recognition guidance and provides a single, 
comprehensive revenue recognition model for all contracts with customers. The guidance provides 
a five-step analysis of transactions to determine when and how revenue is recognized. Other major 
provisions include capitalization of certain contract costs, consideration of the time value of money 
in the transaction price and allowing estimates of variable consideration to be recognized before 
contingencies are resolved in certain circumstances. The amendment also requires additional 
disclosure about the nature, amount, timing and uncertainty of revenue and cash flows arising from 
customer contracts, including significant judgments and changes in those judgments and assets 
recognized from costs incurred to fulfill a contract. The standard allows either full or modified 
retrospective adoption effective for annual periods beginning after December 15, 2018, for 
nonpublic entities (December 15, 2017, for not-for-profits that are conduit debt obligors), and any 
interim periods within annual reporting periods that begin after December 15, 2019, for nonpublic 
entities (December 15, 2018, for not-for-profits that are conduit debt obligors). The Organization 
is in the process of evaluating the impact the amendment will have on the consolidated financial 
statements. 

Accounting for Leases 

The Financial Accounting Standards Board amended its standard related to the accounting for 
leases. Under the new standard, lessees will now be required to recognize substantially all leases 
on the balance sheet as both a right-of-use asset and a liability. The standard has two types of 
leases for income statement recognition purposes: operating leases and finance leases. Operating 
leases will result in the recognition of a single lease expense on a straight-line basis over the lease 
term similar to the treatment for operating leases under existing standards. Finance leases will 
result in an accelerated expense similar to the accounting for capital leases under existing 
standards. The determination of lease classification as operating or finance will be done in a 
manner similar to existing standards. The new standard also contains amended guidance regarding 
the identification of embedded leases in service contracts and the identification of lease and 
nonlease components in an arrangement. The new standard is effective for annual periods 
beginning after December 15, 2019 (2018 for not-for-profits that are conduit debt obligors), and 
any interim periods within annual reporting periods that begin after December 15, 2020 (2018 for 
not-for-profits that are conduit debt obligors). The Organization is evaluating the impact the 
standard will have on the consolidated fmancial statements; however, the standard is expected to 
have a material impact on the consolidated financial statements due to the recognition of additional 
assets and liabilities for operating leases. 

Note 14: Subsequent Events 

Subsequent events have been evaluated through December 13, 2018, which is the date the 
consolidated financial statements were available to be issued. 
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KVC Health Systems, Inc. 
Consolidating Schedule of Financial Position 

June 30, 2018 
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KVC Health Systems, Inc. 
Consolidating Schedule of Financial Position (Continued) 

June 30, 2018 
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Consolidating Schedule of Financial Position (Continued) 
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lm11(Jl,ttidaiey) of lkwllu.o&Onr 
z,,p,,o ... (442,466) 

Not asoets Rl..,,..d from restrictions fm 
property ""'!uicition, 

c""-;., Uorestri•r.d Not A.Dots (441,466) 

Te-llrily Ratrii:ad Net-
Ccatriblltion in affiliatioc, 
Ccatriblltio,,. received for PIOJl""Y 

acqt!Wtloa.s 
""""'rel.used Crom res:trictioa 

°"""" U1 Nd A.IMO (441,466) 

Net.A&Mb, lleJ!huw,J afYear J 024S12 

NttA.11<11,Eodo!Ycu $ 1,582,406 s 

N 
~ 

KVC 

KVC Health Systems, Inc. 
Consolidating Schedule of Activities 

Year Ended June 30, 2017 

K\IC 
8'th1vionil KVC INC 
Heafthcare Behmonil a.ttialllonil 

Behmonil Wed. HeallhRne Hulltu:are KVC 
Heallhcare, Inc. Vl!llinla, Inc. Kenwc~. Inc. Nebraab, lnc. HO!fltlla, Inc. 

83,605,199 s s s s 
835,992 7,889,622 4S9,l40 7,239,121 

21,703,959 
S,973,SS2 S12,9JO 10,293,142 l,330.272 

795,800 1,030,139 337,452. 14,JSS Si.OJI 
3,J&3 162 S48 S80 78} 

111.021 10,199 78,174 12,532 582,296 
,,ooo 11,559 

(1,946.095) 1,957,230 

89JU,IS2 HS46JI II 168 SS6 8 6S6,66J 2AJ95,l99 

82,317,366 7,873.lll IO.S60.l-45 7,S7S,d00 19.7•0,114 
t.6Sl,l92 6S9.214 92S.34l 610,949 1,767,909 

83 l 122 

90.968 7SS 8 SJ2 428 11_4SS.SS7 1.190,371 21..S0&.223 

(I ,SSS,606) 922,183 (317,031) <166,292 2,787,076 

2.S78 953 !)06,6Ul 8SO 771 44,90S (2,'ll0,&23} 

993,347 615,500 533,747 511,197 (143,747) 

993,347 61S,SOO 513,747 511,197 (143,747) 

99),347 61S,SOO SJJ,747 Slt,197 (143,747) 

2413 066 SSI S14 I l<i9,036 780.9S7 H4990S 

3.411,413 s l,167,0I• $ 1.901.783 $ l.291.IS4 $ 3,306.158 

TlleNllu 
IICVC Home for 

F oundalion, Inc:. Children, Inc. Ellminatlona Consolidated" 

s s IS1,SS9 $ s &l,157,0SB 
16,423,975 
2l,1ll3,9S9 
18,110,196 

605,076 503,281 3,579,839 
)71 S,9SO 

Ul,719 1,470,308 
(10,840,254) 

1.76S.100 (1,76S,200l, 

2.370,276 moio (l;!,60514S4} US.051.285 

607,036 (549,800) 128,123,892 
,.on.~ 1()1.0lS (ll.OSU40) 13,417,212 

149.736 (1,414} 2.119 J9S 

1.237700 711 061 {l2,60S,4S4l 14.US0.499 

l,Ul,S76 85,!169 3.200,716 

l,S19,277 1,519,277 
,t,3.97.02:!l Ull.$0 

(164,451) 2,916,936 4,720,063 

22.! 856 ll!,lS6 

(264,451) l,14S,792 4,94&,919 

l2S,SS6 ll8,8S6 

)7S,OOO 375,000 
,:z:.is,ss6) j228,SS6J 

(264,451) 3,520.192 S,JlJ,919 

9,ES.671 20 U0021 

$ 8,961,220 s l,S20.792 s l 26,143,940 



KVC Health Systems, Inc. 
Consolidated Functional Expenses 

Year Ended June 30, 2018 
(with Comparative Totals for 2017) 

Client Admlnl1trative Fund Tot.el 2017 Total 
Caro andGenen1I Raising ~enses Exeenses 

Salaries and wag.es $ 56,477,297 .$ 5,998,907 s 118,435 $ 62,594,639 $ 54,8S9,S76 

Pll)T()ll taxes 4,431,461 437,855 8,6&3 4,877,999 4,181,294 

Employee benefits 7.S49 951 619676 11464 8 181 091 6,931,SIS 

Tora! salaries, wages and n:latcd expenses 68,458,709 7,056,438 138,582 75,653,729 65,972,685 

Office supplies and printing 332,604 100,816 433,420 341,SSO 

Copier Md fa.,c expe113e 218,054 39,S48 2S7,602 181,833 

Postage 109,412 32,126 141,538 168,338 

Employee recmitmcnt and advertising ll2,S02 171,510 180 284,192 267,941 

Licenses and dues 514,979 433,488 40 948,507 797,908 

lruturance 258,097 1,060,128 1,318,225 922,SOS 
Travel 2,183,927 277,743 2.461,670 2,203,247 

Telephone 1,088,SOJ 138,370 1,226,873 948,252 

Professional fees 123,405 685,120 808,525 843,121 

Contract labor 1,131,209 29,958 1,161,167 1,000,851 
Contract physicillJla 3,050,458 3,050,458 2,462,302 

Conlre.ct 1111allowablc expenses 173,193 28,247 201,440 100,474 

Consulting 1111d olher contractual cxpc111es 1,988,995 1,297,679 2,847 3,289,521 2,519,519 
Sta.ff development 352,591 464,111 816,702 682,460 

Promotion 96.766 20,291 117,0S7 69,728 

Office rent 3,815,429 733,538 4,548,967 4,025,S2S 

Equipment expenses 551,173 l74,819 925,992 571,423 

Network services 311,615 325,476 637,091 903,868 

Maintenance and repairs 567,536 134,892 702,428 407,110 

Safety services and mal.crials 240,195 29,220 269,415 202,760 

Food 832,731 7,899 840,630 659,676 

Food - outings 174,896 86,433 261,329 159,672 

Housekeeping supplies 68,041 B,138 81,179 69,495 

Miscellaneous housekeeping 648,023 103,911 751,934 640,596 

Utilities 1.049,393 156,292 l,20S,68S 6S8,890 

Payments to fusti:r parents 26,105,526 26,105,526 23,137,529 

Subcontra.clor - foster home payments 21,301,679 21.301,679 19,436,523 

Foster l\lmily training 270,392 129 270,521 Sll,36S 

Child care payments 4,645,611 4,645,61 l 4,296,400 

Incidenlals 608 608 533 

Medicn.l supplies 877,319 877,319 728,825 
Vehicle expens~s and repairs 801,861 20,494 822,355 634,749 

Vehicle rental 1,894,856 38.680 1,933,536 2,215,573 
Geo,:ral program supplies 387,121 28,329 415,450 270,310 

Clol.bing 956,741 956,741 977,779 

Miscellaneous 49,338 113,714 183,804 346,856 353,260 

Interest 277 417,949 418,226 335,569 

Baddebt'!I 324,962 324,962 199,994 

Property tax expense 33,395 6,892 15,295 55,582 4S,577 

Cost of in-kind donated goods 3,763 3,763 2,681 

Medicaid assessments 14,643 14,643 7,322 

Flex fund 1,409,426 32S l,409,7SJ 1,145,919 

Loss on dclposition of assets 597 597 

Kids activity fund 120.778 120.778 142.159 
Expenses before depm:iation, am.ortiutioo 

and intercompany fees 147,326,367 14,752,665 340,748 162,419,780 142,.223,796 

Depreciation 11nd amortiutioo 568,S80 926,041 1,494,621 1,391,903 

lntet\lompBlly l'Nlll&gcmC11t and residenli.al fees lS,373,705 15,373,705 10,840,254 

Eliminations (2001710} (171113.705} (171314.415l p2160S.454l 

Totals, Year Ended June 30, 2018 $ 147,694,237 $ 13,938,706 $ 340,748 $ 161,973,691 $ 141,850,499 

Totals, Year Ended June 30, 2017 $ 128,123,892 $ 13,437,212 $ 289,395 $ 141,850,499 
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KVC Health Systems, Inc. 
Functional Expenses - KVC Health Systems, Inc. 

Year Ended June 30, 2018 

CUent Administrative Fund Totel 
Care and G, nanal Ralsln51 Es2en1e11 

Sal4ries and wages s $ 5,569,082 $ 118,435 $ 5,687,517 
Payroll lJlxej 408,321 8,683 417,004 
Employee benefit.a 539 060 11 .464 550,524 

Tobi salariea, wages and rclall:d expenses 6,516,463 138,582 6,655,045 

Office supplies and printing 75,460 75,460 
Copier and fax expense 37,.364 37,364 
Po1tagc 28,914 28,914 
f.mployee recruilmcnt and ad"ffli1ing 170,330 170,330 
Licenses and dues 363,929 363,929 
Inaurancc 78,351 78,351 
Travel 261,814 261,814 
Telephone 114,693 114,693 
Proftssional fees 679.610 679,610 
Conlracl labor 29,958 29,958 
Contract physician5 
Contract llllaliowablc expemes 
Consulting and olhcr cootracbJel expeoaes 1.273,116 1,273,116 
Staff drvo lopment 458,188 458, 188 
Promotion 17,718 17,718 
Office rent 590,560 590,560 
Equipment ,:io:pcoses 363,01& 363,018 
Network •el"Yices 321,640 321,64-0 
Maintenance l!Dd repairs 95,889 95,889 
Safety •er.ices and materials 26,264 26,264 
Food 7,860 7,860 
Food - outings 76,056 16,056 
Housekeeping ~upplics 11,.SIO 11,510 
MisccUencous ho11Jokeeping 93,161 93,161 
Utilities 145,984 145,984 
Payments ID loatct parenu 
Subcootractar- roller home paymeotB 
Foster family traini.og 
Child oere pa)Dlcots 
lncidcotals 
Medical supplies 
Vehicle expense• aod n:paiD 17,308 17,308 
Vehicle renlal .35,37S 3s;m 
General program supplies 26,724 26,724 
Clothing 
Miscellaneous 100,490 100,490 
lnlete5t 22,195 22,195 
Bad debts 
Property tax CXpi:W!C 

Cost of in-kind donalcd goods 
Mcdu:aid assessment.a 
Flex fund 
Loss an disposilion c,f assets 
Kids e.ctivity fund 

Expeoacs bd'orc depreciation, l!l1lOltization 
and inlerwmpany fee• 12,039,942 13&,582. 12,178,524 

Depreciation e.od amortization 339,610 339,610 
Int.ercomp311y maoag=t and residential fcea l,888,108 1,888,108 
Elirnin.a11ons 

Tota.ls, Year Ended June 30, 2018 $ $ 14,267,660 s 138,582 $ 14,406,242 
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KVC Health Systems, Inc. 
Functional Expenses - KVC Behavioral HealthCare, Inc. 

Year Ended June 30, 2018 

Client Admlnlatra11Ye Fund Total 
Ca1"8 and General Ral1ln9 Exeenaea 

Salaries and wages $ 27,955,481 $ $ $ 27,955,481 
Pa)'toll nw:s 2,203,318 2,203,318 
Emplo:y1:e benelil.8 3,867,182 3,867,182 

Tot.al salaries, wag,:s and related cxpensC!l 34,02S,981 34,025,981 

Office supplies and printing ISl,6S7 151,658 
Copier and fax expense 142,067 142,067 
Postage 76,858 76,859 
Employee recruitment and advertising S,288 S,288 
Licenses and dues 197,279 so 197,329 
lnswll.llce 78,109 458,449 536,558 
Travel 1,190,719 1,190,719 
Telephone 641,859 641.8S9 
Professional fees 67,600 1.651 69,251 
Contract labor 50,409 50,409 
Contract physicians 331,689 331,689 
Contract unallowable expenses 38,268 23,739 62,007 
Consulting 8Jld other contra.ctwtl expenses 791,758 20,295 812,053 
Swf development 14,674 868 IS.542 
Promotion 11,818 11,818 
Office real 1,863,728 1,863,728 
Equipment expenJCs 42,965 42,965 
Network sen~cei. 16S,842 165,842 
Maintenance 8Jld repaits 144,721 144,721 
Safety services and materials 108,161 160 108,321 
Food 8S,12S 39 85,764 

Food - outings 34,602 34,602 
Ho11&ckceping supplies 2&,074 2&,074 
Miicellaneous bouu:ltceping 171,755 238 171,993 
Utilities 347,895 1.375 349,270 
Paymenta to fo,tu parents 17,830,023 17,830,023 
Subcontrac!Or - COiter hom.e payments 21,301,679 21,301,679 
Foster fiunily training 241,961 241,961 
Child care paymenl.i 4,64S,611 4,64S,61 I 
Incidentals 608 608 
Medical supplies 112,695 112,695 
Vehicle expenses and repairs 635,647 635,647 
Vch1cle =tal 1,569,479 l,569,479 
Gener~I program supplies 92,356 185 92,S41 
CJO!hing 929,022 929,022 
Miscellaneous 15,90.3 371 16,274 
Interest 103 103 
Bad debts 54,S6.S 54,565 
Property tex expmse 32,441 53 32,494 
Cost of in,kind donall:d goods 
Medicaid auessmcnts 
Flex liind 982,440 982,440 
Loss on di;posilion of assets 
Kids activity fund 112,623 112,623 

Expe.ni;,es before dC'pl'cciatioa. amarli:ulion 
and intcrconipany fees 89,312,092 562.040 89,S74,132 

Depreciation and am<lrtization 239,582 239,582 
lntcrcompany managetnent and residential fees 9,723,101 9,723,101 
Eliminations 

Totals, Yeac Ended June 30, 2018 89,5.51,674 $ !0,28S,141 $ $ 99,&36,815 
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KVC Health Systems, Inc. 
Functional Expenses - KVC Behavioral Healthcare West Virginia, Inc. 

Year Ended June 30, 2018 

Client Administrative Fund Total 
Care ind Gene.rel Ral•lng Exeenses 

Salaries a.od wagi:s $ 5,2114,184 $ 78,012 $ $ S,362,196 
Payroll !Mes 379,696 4,78S 384,481 
Employtse benefits 701,498 7.472 708 970 

T o1.al salaries.. wages and related expenses 6,365,378 90,269 6,455,647 

Office supplies and printing 66,883 282 67,165 
Copier aru:I fax apense 25,010 1,253 26,263 
Posl:l!ge 8,277 231 8,.508 
Employee ~ruitmcnt and advertising 86,356 95 86,4SJ 
Liccnaes and d11es 28,753 4,417 33,170 
Insurance 173,136 77,160 2.50,296 
Travel 365,609 2,3S6 367,965 
Telephone 133,309 2,S71 135,880 
Professional fees 1,977 1,977 
Contract labor 
Contract phyiicians 4,26S 4.26S 
Contra.ct unalloweblc expenses 36,478 699 37,177 
Consulting and o'llle1: contractual el!penaes 499,570 (86) 499,484 
Staff de~Lopment 85,869 33 8S,902 
Promotion 4S,72S 45,725 
Office rent 416,396 11,037 427,433 
Equipment expenses 214,082 404 214,486 
Network services 37,884 792 38,676 
Maintenance and repairs 31,651 31,65] 
Safety services and materials 40,378 310 40,688 
Food 16,220 16.220 
Food - outings 66,447 519 66,966 
Housekeeping supplies 1,840 22 1,862 
M1sccllancous hoUBelccepiog 18,819 18,819 
Utilities 456,577 4S6,S77 
1'8yments to rosier plll'Clll8 2,710,692 2,710,692 
Subcontractor - foi!lcr home payme1m1 
Foster family training 8,121 8,121 
Child care paymellls 
lncidc1rtals 
Medical supplies 
V ch.icle expenses and re pain 102,837 133 102,970 
V chicle l"CJ!tal 2S3,772 30 253,802 
Gen.era! program supplies 56,825 56,82S 
Clothing 27,SS8 27,558 
Miscellaneous 175 2,034 2,209 
Interest 
Bad debts 9,000 9,000 
Property tax expense 106 106 
Cost of in-kind dooated goods 
Medicaid asse84fflents 
Flex lilnd 
Loss on dispoaition of we!& 
Kids activity fund 

Expenses before deprcx:iation, amorti1;2tion 
and illtetcompao.y fees 12,386,97S 203,561 12,590,536 

Depreciation and amortization 3,694 3,694 
lnlJ:rcompany managi:mcut and residential fees 732,00S 732,00S 
Eliminations 

Totals, Year Ended June 30, 2018 $ 12,390,669 $ 935,566 s $ 13,326,235 
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KVC Health Systems, Inc. 
Functional Expenses - KVC Behavioral Healthcare Kentucky, Inc. 

Year Ended June 30, 2018 

Client Administrative Fund Total 
Care and General Raising Exean11111 

Salaries and wages $ 7,752,360 $ 259,828 $ $ 8,012,188 
Payroll iaxe s 598,979 19~82 618,261 
Employee benefits 1,092,369 46,568 1,138,937 

Total salaries, wages and related expenses 9,443,708 325,678 9,769,386 

Office supplies and printing 29,291 25,003 54.294 
Copier and fax expense 896 780 1,676 
Poslage 2,068 2,963 5,031 
Emplo)'l:e recruibnent and advertising 5,010 1,085 6,095 
Llccnses and due, 10,821 54,580 65,401 
Insurance 130,164 130,164 
Travel 430,489 13,377 443,866 
Telephone 161,452 17,907 179,359 

Professional recs 2,945 2,945 
Conlrllct labor 
Conlrllct physician, 71,791 71,791 
Contract unallowable expenses 60,635 3,729 64,364 
Consulting and olher cODtractuaJ expeosCll 25,649 1,404 27,053 
Staff development 17l,061 5,022 176,083 
Promotion 20,429 2,573 23,002 
Office rent 298,979 19,988 318,967 
Equipment expenses 7,089 6,896 13,98S 
Network services (8,279) 1,269 (7,010) 
Mai.cltcnancc and n:pair, 11,545 38,925 50,470 
Safety service, and materials 2,097 2,419 4,S16 

Food 
Food - outinga 13,612 9,858 23,470 

Housekeeping supplies 265 1,606 1,871 
Miscellaneous housekeeping 17,132 10,397 27,529 
Utilities l&,660 S,73S 27,39S 
Payments to fustu parent.s 3S7,389 3S7,389 
Subcontractor- foster home paymenllS 
Foster family training 2,760 129 2,8S9 
Child care payments 
Incidentals 
Medical supplies 
Vehicle expenses aod repairs 9,732 642 10,374 
Vehicle rental 15,971 210 16,181 
General program suppli.es 20,966 1,282 22,248 
Clothing 
Millcellaneous S,279 1,102 6,381 
Interest 
Bad dcbls (53,000) (53,000) 

Property tllX expeose 
Cost of in, kind donated goods 
Medicaid assesmients 
Flex fund 424,989 325 425,314 

Lou on disposition of assets 
Kids activity fund 

Expenses before dep~iation, amotti.z:al!on 
and intJ:rcompany fees I 1,634,431 635,048 12,269,479 

Deprccii!lion and amartiz:atioo 
Tnter.company managcm~I and rc!idcntial fees 34S,S44 34S,S44 

Eliminations 

To\ab, Year En.dcd June 30, 2018 s 11 63~ 431 s 980 592 s 12 615 '023 
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KVC Health Systems, Inc. 
Functional Expenses - KVC Behavioral Healthcare Nebraska, Inc. 

Year Ended June 30, 2018 

Client Admlnl1tre.tln Fund To1al 
care and General Raisin& Exe!nses 

Salnries and wages $ 2,391,031 s 91,985 $ $ 2,483,016 

Payroll mes 170,823 S,513 176,396 

Employee bcncfila 328.53& 26,576 3SS 114 

Totlll salaries, wages 8lld related expcrues 2,890,392 124,134 \014,S26 

Office supplies and printing 27,375 70 27,445 

Copier aru! fax expense 13,IS7 151 13,30S 

Postagi: 13.429 17 13,446 

Employee rccruilmf:nt and advertising 348 348 

Licenses and dues 13,509 2,432 15,941 

lnSI/J'III\CC 68,148 68,148 

Travel 138,244 196 138,440 

Telephone 76,040 3, 199 79,239 

Profenional fees 7,907 674 S,SSI 

Cootra.ct labor 250 2SO 

Contract physicians 
Contract unallowable expellles 16,286 80 16,366 

Consulting and olher contractual expenses 38,468 38,468 

Staff dcvelopmeot 47,377 47,377 

Promotio,:a 16,490 16,490 

Office re11t 338,035 ll,9S3 349,988 

Equipment npcnscs 21 ,192 .S60 21 ,752 

Network IICMUS 10,043 1,775 11,818 

Maintenance a.ad repairs 4,541 7& 4,619 

Safety services and mal.erials 2,001 67 2,068 

Food 896 896 
Food - outing:s 15,070 15,070 

Housekeeping supplies 
Miscell811cou1 housekeeping 3,987 IIS 4,102 

Utiht1cs 8,213 198 8,411 

Payments to fosler pareats 5,207,422 S.207,422 

Subcomrac\or - fo:tler home payments 
Foster family traiDing 17,SSO 17,SSO 

Child care paymt:1111 
Incidentals 
Medical supplies 
V chicle expenses and repairs 9,978 2,4ll 12,389 

V chicle rental IS,213 3,065 18,278 

General program supplies 16,284 138 16,422 

Clothing 161 161 

Miscellaneous 7,843 (269) 7,574 

Interest 12 12 

Bad debts 4,000 4,000 

Property tax expense 409 11 420 
Cost of in-kind donated good& 283 2&3 
Medicaid usessmeots 
FlC'lt fund 1,997 1,997 

Loss on disposition af assets 
Kids activity fund 

Expenses before depreciation, ;imottt7.at1011 

and intercompaay fees 8,980,402 223,203 9,203,60S 

Depreciali(lll aod &111orti:zation 16,216 189 16,40S 

lnll:rcompan:y management and residential fees 581,127 m,121 

Eliminations 

Totals, Year Ended June 30., 2018 s 8 996.618 s 80,U\9 $ s 9 801 l37 
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KVC Health Systems, Inc. 
Functional Expenses - KVC Hospitals, Inc. 

Year Ended June 30, 2018 

Cllent Adminla1nti1111 Fund Tot.II 
Care and Genel"III Ral1ln9 Exl!enses 

Salaries and wages $ 11,654,410 $ $ $ ll,6S4,410 

Pay,-oll 18:us 959,010 959,010 

Employee ben.efic.& 1,410,900 1,410,900 
Tollll salaries, wages and related expenses 14,024,320 14,024,320 

Office supplies and printing 49,409 49,409 

Copier aru! fax expense 32,040 32,040 

Po;tage 7,474 7,474 

EmploYCC n:cruitmcnl and advertising 14,407 14,407 

Licenses 111d dues 2S4,524 2S4,S24 

lmurance 6,852 221,674 22S,S26 
Ttavel 55,329 SS,329 
Tclephooc 49,613 49,613 

Profession.al fees 32,012 2,080 34,092 

Contr~lsbor 94S,474 948,474 

Contract physicillllS 2,600,868 2,600,868 
Con1tact 1111allowable expenses 21,4SO 21,450 
Con,ulting and other wntra.ctual expenses 569,059 S69,059 
Staff development 21,506 27,506 

Promotion 2,304 2,304 

Office rent 898.291 898,291 

Equipment expenses 251,975 251,975 

Network services 96,412 96,412 

Maintenance and repairs 300,667 300,667 

Safety services awl materials 73,172 73,172 

Food 683,147 683,147 

Food - outings 42,690 42,690 
Houselcccping supplies 33,S77 33,577 
Miscellaneo11s housekeeping 429,793 429,793 

Utilities 164,452 164,452 

Paym.cnc.& to foster pareol3 
Subcontractor - fuaa:r home payrncnt.9 
Fosti:r fam.ily training 
Child care payments 
Incidcnl.als 
Medical supplies 752,944 752,944 

V chicle expenses and repairs 39,473 39,473 
V e.h.icle n:ntal 40,421 40,421 
Genere.l program ,upplies 185,764 185,764 

Clothing 
Miscellaneous 2,033 9,710 11,743 

Inti:rcst 30 30 
Bad debts 287,397 287,397 

Property tax expense 
Cost of in,kind dona!cd goods 
Medicaid 86SCSsm.c:nl8 14,64.3 14,643 

Flex fun.d 
Losg on dispollitio!l of asecl3 
Kids actiYlty fund 6 794 6794 

Ellpcnscs before depreciation, amorti7..alron 
and illtetcompany fees 22,711,919 S20,861 23,2)2,780 

Depreciation and amortization 169,545 169,545 

Intercompsny !T181188l=ment and .residential ree.s 1,789,671 1,789,671 

Eliminations 

Totals, Yt>ar Elided June 30, 2018 s 22 881464 s 2.310 S32 s 25 191 996 
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KVC Health Systems, Inc. 
Functional Expenses- KVC Foundation, Inc. 

Year Ended June 30, 2018 

Client Administrative Fund Total 
Care and General Raising Exeenses 

Salaries and wages s $ s s 
Payroll lllXes 
Employee benefiia 

Total salaries, wage.a ao.d related c,r.pcnsos 

Office supplies and printing 
Copier aru! fax e,cpenae 
Postagi: 
Employee recruitment and advertising 180 180 
Liccnsei and du.es 6,730 40 6,770 
Insurance 2,045 2,045 
Travel 
Tclephooe 
Professional fees 
Contract labor 
Contract physicians 
Contract W11Ulowable expenses 
Consulting Md olbc:r wnttactual expenses 2,9SO 2,847 5,797 
Staff dovclopmcn1 
Promotion 
Office rent 100,000 !00,000 
Equipment expenses 3,941 3,941 

Network services 
Maintenance and repairs 
Safety services and materials 
Food 
Food - auli.ags 
Housekeeping supplies 
Miscellaneous housekeeping 
Utilitic; 
Payment& to fosler pan:nt.s 
Subcontractor - foster bom.e pa~ts 
foater family 'Cl'8ining 
Child care paymenu 
Incidentals 
MedjcaJ iupplic, 
Vehicle expenses and repairs 
Vehicle rental 
Gencl'8l program supplies 
Clollting 
MisceUaneous 183,804 183,804 
Interest 395,754 395,754 
Bad debts 
Property tsx expense 6,828 IS,29S 22,123 
Cost of in-kind donated good& 
Mt:dics.id asscHmcnt.s 
Fl(:)( fund 
Loss on. dispositiOft of 9$Sets 

Kids activity fund 
Expenses before dcprcciatioo, amortization 

and intcrc:ompany fees 518,248 202,166 720,414 

Depreciation and 3111onizalion 586,242 S86,242 
lnti:rcompany maoas,:ment and residential fees 107,000 107,000 
Eliminations 

Totals, YeacEod.ed June 30, 2018 s 1211 490 s 202 166 s 1413 656 
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KVC Health Systems, Inc. 
Functional Expenses - The Niles Home for Children, Inc. 

Year Ended June 30, 2018 

CUent Admlnll1r&tlve Fund Total 
Care ~ind General Raising E:al!enses 

Salaries and wages $ 1,439,831 $ s $ l,439,S31 

Pa)Tol! Laxes 119,635 (106) 119,529 

Employet benefi~ 149.464 149.464 
To1.11l 1nJllrics, wages and related npcnaes 1,708,930 (106) 1,708,824 

Office supplies and printing 7,989 7,989 

Copier SJid fax e,q1cnse 4,884 4,884 

Posiage 1,306 1,306 
lllnployee recrwanent aod adllCrtisi.ng 1,093 1,093 
Licenses and dues 10,093 1,350 11,443 

lnmrance 24,137 24,137 

Travel 3,S37 3,537 

Telephone 26,230 26,230 

Professional li:es 10,964 l,IOS 12,069 

Conlnlct labor 132,076 132,076 
Contnlct physician,, 41,845 41,845 
Conlillct ID!allowab!e cxpensc.s 76 76 
Consulli.ng md other cootnctual apeoses 64,491. 64,491 

Siaft' development 6,104 6,104 

Promotion 
Office rent 
E!q\llpmCllt expcasca 13,870 13,870 
Network services 9,713 9,713 
Mainrcnan.ce and repairs 74,411 74,411 
Saftty services a.ad ma!crials 14,386 14,386 

Food 46,743 46,743 

Food - OUWlgl. 2,475 2,475 

Hou1ekeeping supplies 4,285 4,285 

Miscellaneous howempiog 6,537 6,537 

Utilities 53,596 53,596 

Paynu:nts to roster parents 
Subcanlractor - foster home paymeo1.t 
Foster family trainills 
Child care pll)'fflCllls 
Incidentals 
Medical supplies 11,680 11,680 

Vehicle expenses and repairs 4,194 4,194 

Vehicle rentAl 
General prognun 1upplie1 14,926 14,926 

Clolhing 
Miscell1U1Coll$ IS,105 276 18.381 
lntCfest 132 132 
Bad debts 23,000 23,000 
Property laX npcnse 439 439 
Cost of in-kirul doo.attd gpods 3,480 3,480 
Medicaid atSCISDtenls 

Flex fund 
Lost on d1!pos1tion of asu:t.!I S97 591 
Kids activity fund 1,361 1,361 

Expenses before dcpNCiation, amorti'lltion 
lllld intercompany fees 2,300,S4S 49,762 2,3S0,3to 

Depreciation aod amortization 139,543 139,543 
lntercompany ffllll18gtmt:!lt tnd residential fees 207,149 207,149 

Eliminations 

Totals, Year Eodt:d June 30, 2018 s 2 440091 l 256,91 l $ s 2,691,002 
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KVC Health Systems, Inc. 
Schedule of Revenue and Expenses for 

Kansas Department for Children and Families 
Reintegration/Foster Care/Adoption Services 

Year Ended June 30, 2018 

Region 1 
Revenue 

DCF contract $ 38,663,800 $ 
Contributions 63,353 

Total revenue 38,727,153 

Expenses 
Salaries and wages (including taxes and benefits) 

Administration 1,025,298 
Case management 8,474,585 

Total salaries and wages 9,499,883 

Placement costs 
Related party Child Placing Agency 9,960,752 
Nonrelated party Child Placing Agency (maintenance) 2,875,310 
Nonrelated party Child Placing Agency (administration) 1,486,034 
Residential and other 7,158,188 

Total placement costs 21,480,284 

Other costs 
Operating expenses 5,827,787 
Mental health 563,944 
Independent living 11,304 
Child care 2,474,472 
Clothing 401,415 
Transportation 1,558,785 
Other - flex funds and miscellaneous 354,058 
Other - school and recreational 29,271 
Other - Wlallowable 24,311 

Total other costs 11,245,347 

Total expenses 42,225,514 

Revenues Wider expenses $ (3,498,361) $ 

Region 2 Total 

52,493,049 $ 91,156,849 
77,403 140,756 

52,570,452 91,297,605 

1,500,467 2,525,765 
10,567,945 19,042,530 
12,068,412 21,568,295 

12,506,863 22,467,615 
5,720,978 8,596,288 
3, 137,357 4,623,391 
6,327,209 13,485,397 

27,692,407 49,172,691 

7,749,131 13,576,918 
164,409 728,353 
49,570 60,874 

2,171,139 4,645,611 
526,031 927,446 

2,621,772 4,180,557 
434,544 788,602 
72,285 101,556 
19,160 43,471 

13,808,041 25,053,388 

53,568,860 95,794,374 

(998,408) $ {4,496,769) 
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KVC Health Systems, Inc. 
Schedule of Revenue and Expenses for 

Kansas Department for Children and Families 
Family Preservation Services 

Year Ended June 30, 2018 

Region 1 
Revenue 

DCF contract $ 2,935,575 $ 
Miscellaneous 8,893 

Total revenue 2,944,468 

E1:penses 
Salaries and wages (including taxes and benefits) 

Administration 169.563 
Case management 1,988!601 

Total salaries and wages 2,158,164 

Other costs 
Operating expenses 731,977 
Mental health 530 
Clothing 
Other - flex funds and miscellaneous S7,203 
Other - wtallowable l,S9S 

T otaJ other costs 791,305 

Total expenses 2,949,469 

Revenues wider expenses $ (5,001) $ 

Region 2 Total 

2,947,857 $ 5,883,432 
956 9,849 

2,948,813 5,893,281 

294,S92 464, lSS 
2,093,238 4,081,839 
2,387,830 4,545,994 

8l4,64S 1,546,622 
4,450 4,980 

696 696 
136,153 193,3S6 

1,511 3,106 
957,455 1,748,760 

3,34S,28S 6,294,754 

(396,472) $ (401,473) 
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Revenue 

KVC Health Systems, Inc. 
Schedule of Revenue and Expenses for 

Kansas Department for Children and Families 
Kansas Child Placing Services 

Year Ended June 30, 2018· 

Child placing revenue - intracompany 
Child placing revenue - other 
Contributions 
Miscellaneous 

Total revenue 

Expenses 
Salaries and wages (including taxes and benefits) 

Administration 
Case management 

Total salaries and wages 

Placement costs 
Kansas City region 
East region 
Noncontract 

Total placement costs 

Other Costs 
Operating expenses 
Independent living 
Clothing 
Other - school and recreational 
Other - flex fwtds and miscellaneous 
Other - indirect 
Other - wtallowable 

Total other costs 

Total expenses 

Revenues over expenses 

$ 22,467,615 
1,094,728 

159,350 
127,259 

23,848,952 

661,815 
3,071,947 
3.733, 762 

5,701,450 
8,863.831 

785,754 
15,351,035 

883,510 
99 

880 
9,549 
5,101 

1.783,729 
44 551 

2,727,419 

21,812,216 

$ 2,036,736 
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Revenue 
Grant revenue 

Expenses 

KVC Health Systems, Inc. 
Schedule of System of Care Grant 

Agreement Number - G180084 
Year Ended June 30, 2018 

Salaries and wages 

Taxes and benefits 

Supplies 
Travel 
Rent 

Telephone 
Staff development 
Unallowable 

Departnlentexpense 
Indirect administrative expenses 

Total expenses 

Revenues under expenses 

$ 71,295 

54,000 

13.407 
283 

1,020 

1,300 
1,251 

25 
78 

1,572 

5,749 
78,685 

$ (7,390) 
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Revenue 
Grant revenue 

Other 

KVC Health Systems, Inc. 
Schedule of Safe at Home Grant 
Agreement Number - G17075J· 

Year Ended June 30, 2018 

Total revenue 

Expenses 
Salaries and wages 

Taxes and benefits 
Supplies 

Travel 
Rent 
Telephone 

Staff development 
Contracted expenses 
Unallowable expenses 

Department expense 
Indirect administrative expenses 

Total expenses 

Revenues over expenses 

$ 574,933 

5,230,788 
5,805,721 

1,623,783 
334,355 
181,295 
267,639 

142,705 

43,159 
5,733 
7,134 

11,265 

608,161 
253,81 l 

3,479,040 

$ 2,326,681 
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Revenue 

KVC Health Systems, Inc. 
Schedule of Recr'-'itment -and Training for 

Multi-Tiered Foster Family Care Grant 
Agreement Number - G170664 

Year Ended June 30, 2018 

Grant revenue 
Total revenue 

Expenses 
Salaries and wages 
Taxes and benefits 

Supplies 
Travel 
Indirect administrative expenses 

Total expenses 

Revenues under expenses 

$ 16,398 
16,398 

15,469 

3,299 

399 
1,279 

1,689 
22,135 

$ (5,737) 
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Program or Cluater Tltle 

Child Nutrition Clutt.t 
Scltool Brukfasc Program 

National School Lunch Program 

After School Snack Prosre,m 

Total Child Nutrition Cll1$tt:r 

Kanaa., Serves Subaian.ce Affected 
Familie, 

Kansa., Serves Netive American 
Familiet 

Total CFDA # 93.087 

NehmJka Syst.ttn of Care F.xpa11.1ion 
a.nd Sustainability Oralle· PACT 
Team 

Ncbraalca Syslem of Care Expansion 
and Sustainability Grallt • PACT 
Team 

Ncb!'ll&lca Syst.tm ofCazc E.'(!'ansion 
and Sus!.ainabilicy Grant· PACT 
Team 

Nebratka Sy,11:m of Care El<J)lll»ion 
and Suswnability Grant· PACT 
Team 

Toi&! CFDA # 93. l 04 

Rccnubn.cnc and Training fut Multi­
T,crcd Fostt:r Flll1llly Care lniliative 

Kao1aa Adoption Permanency Project 

PromoLill8 Safe &nd Stable Familie, 

TANF Clust•r 
Temporary AssistBD.ce for Needy 

Familie, Block C'rrant 

Title IV-E Fostor Care 

Title IV ·E F o&ter Care 

Title IV·E Foator Ca.re 

Title IV -E F oater Care 

KVC Health Systems, Inc. 
Schedule of Expenditures of Federal Awards 

Year Ended June 30, 2018 

Federal GnntorlPaH-lllrough Grant.or 

U.S. Department of A(!ricultw"e puaed through 11,c 
K.anaas SIIIU: Dcpan:t,,ent of Education 

U.S. Deparuncnt of A@riculture pa.sacd through the 
Kllllsas Sl8te Dcpllrtmmlt ofEducatioo 

U.S. Departmcn\ of AgricuJtun, p~tcd through lhc 
K.anwi Sw.e Department of Education 

US. DepartmeDi of Health and Human SeJVicea 
paned Olrough the Univcr,ity of lC.in,ss Center 
fur Reseim:h, Inc. 

U S Dcparunent ofHtlLlth and Human Service.s 
passed lhrough the Univcraity of Kansas Center 
fur ltcscatclt, ~-

US Depa,u,,ent ofHeallh ;md Hwn.n Scn,ice, 
passed lhro1J81, ftcgioo VI Bchaviaral Health 
Admi.n.i9!rlltion 

U.S. Departlllcnt of Health ao.d Human Scmces 
passed through ftcgion VI Behavioral Health 
Administration 

U.S. Department of Health ao.d Human Services 
pamd through Rt:gioo VI Behavioral Heallh 
Admini,tnr.tion 

US Department of Health ao.d Human Scrvicea 
pa&!ed through Regioo VI Behavioral Heal!l, 
Admini,tnr.tion 

U.S. Dopartm.cnl ofHca.lth and Human Services 
pas,cd throUf!b the Wc,t Vuginia Departm.ent of 
Heallh and Hwnan Service, 

U S. Depllrtmc:nt of Healtlt and H11J11an Services 

pa.ased th.rough the University of Kuns Cenicr 
for Rosel!l"ch, Inc. 

U.S Depanmenl ofHesJLh and HumlLll Services 
pa,.scd through !he Kentllcky Cabinet fur Hcaltlt 
awl Family Service, 

U.S. Department of 1-feallh and Human Sorviccs 
pa.saed l.brough !ho Kuaa, Department for Cbildten 
and Families 

U S. Department of Heallh and Human Service& 
pa.1Sed through the l<anau Deputment fur Children 
and Families 

U S. Oep811me!rt of Health and Hwnw Semces 
pa.ued th.rough !he Kentucky Ocpartm.cnl for 

Community Baaed SC\'Vlces 
U.S. DepanmtntofHcalth 1111d Hurnon Semcc, 

paaaed through I.be Nebraal<li Department of 
Health and Human Service, 

U.S Depa,u,,ent of He&llh 11Dd Hwna.n Servicu 
puacd throu~ the West Virginia Oepanmcot of 
Healcb aod Humm Seivices 

Federal 
CFOA 

Number 

10 553 

10.5S5 

10 555 

93.087 

93 087 

93.104 

93 104 

93.104 

93 104 

93 603 

93.6S2 

Paa•· Through Entity 
Identifying Number 

X092S 

X092S 

X0925 

90CU0077-04-00 

90CU0079 

SM063392 

SM063393 

SM06339'4 

SM06339S 

G170664 

90CO 1120--05-02 

93.SS6 PON2 736 t600002S615 

93 SS8 EVTUOl 55&/EVT0001559 

93.6S8 EVTOOI S58/EVT000l5S9 

936S8 PON2 736 1700001431 

93658 0l701NEF0ST 

93658 Gl70753 

Passed Through 
to 8ubracipienta 

$ 

Amount 

74,385 

132,334 

16,399 

223,118 

149,657 

15,144 

164,801 

4S,086 

7,645 

196,934 

33,4S7 

283,122 

8,199 

59,787 

1,043,688 

11,402,339 

9,417,051 

515,670 

166,856 

418,259 
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KVC Health Systems, Inc. 
Schedule of Expenditures of Federal Awards (Continued) 

Year Ended June 30, 2018 

Federal 
CFDA Pan-Through Entity PaaHd Through 

Program or Clu1ter Title F•d•rw.l GrantorlPHs•Through Granto, Number Identifying Numbtr to Subreclpl•nta Amount 

lu:cruitmenl and Training fo:t Multi- U.S. Dcpanmcnt ofHeallh and HumBD Services 
Tiered fo,ter Fllllily Care Initiative pllllsed Lhrougl, lho West Virginia Department of 

I Iealth and I lum84 Services 

Tousl CFDA Ii 93 658 

Social Services Block Granl 

93.658 0170664 $ - $ 5,919 

US Department ofHeallh and Human Services 
pOiic,J lb.rough the Kani,as Depa.rtmenl for 
Children and Families 93 667 EVTOOISS8/EVT0001559 -------'-6."'-76;.;;;1.;..;;02~8 

$ - $ 30,469,837 

Notes to Schedule 

1. The accompanying schedule of expenditw-es of federal awards (the "Schedule'") includes the federal 
award activity ofKVC Health Systems, Inc., KVC Behavioral HealthCare, Inc., KVC Behavioral 
Healthcare West Virginia, Inc., KVC Behavioral Healthcare Kentucky, Inc. and KVC Behavioral 
Healthcare Nebraska, Inc. under programs of the federal government for the year ended June 30, 
2018. The information in this Schedule is presented in accordance with the requirements of Title 2 
U.S. Code of Federal Regulations Part 200, Uniform Administrative Requirements, Cost Principles 
and Audit Requirements.for Federal Awards (Uniform Guidance). Because the Schedule presents only 
a selected portion of the operations of the Organization, it is not intended to and does not present the 
financial position, changes in net assets, or cash flows of the Organization. 

2. Expenditures reported on the Schedule are reported on the accrual basis of accounting. Such 
expenditures are recognized following the cost principles contained in the Uniform Guidance, wherein 
certain types of expenditw-es are not allowable or are limited as to reimbursement. Negative amounts 
shown on the Schedule represent adjustments or credits made in the normal course of business to 
amounts reported as expenditures in prior years. The Organization has elected not to use the l 0-
percent de minimis indirect cost rate allowed wider the Uniform Guidance. 
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816.221.630() 1 FaJC 816.221.6:lSJO I bkd.r.om 

Report on Internal Control Over Financial 
Reporting and on Compliance and Other Matters Based on an Audit 

of the Financial Statemen1s Perfonned in Accordance with 
Government Auditing Standards 

Board of Directors 
KVC Health Systems, Inc. 
Olathe, Kansas 

Independent Auditor's Report 

We have audited, in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America 
and the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing Standards, issued by the 
Comptroller General of the United States, the consolidated financial statements of KVC Health Systems, 
Inc. (the Organization), which comprise the consolidated statement of financial position as of June 30, 2018, 
and the related consolidated statements of activities and cash flows for the year then ended, and the related 
notes to the consolidated financial statements, and have issued our report thereon dated December 13, 2018. 

Internal Control Over Financial Reporting 

In planning and performing our audit of the consolidated financial statements, we considered the 
Organization's internal control over financial reporting (internal control) to determine the audit 
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances for the purpose of expressing our opinion on the 
consolidated financial statements, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of 
the Organization's internal control. Accordingly, we do not express an opinion on the effectiveness of the 
Organization's internal control. 

A deficiency in internal control exists when the design or operation of a control does not allow 
management or employees, in the normal course of perfonning their assigned functions, to prevent, or 
detect and correct, misstatements on a timely basis. A material weakness is a deficiency, or a 
combination of deficiencies, in internal control such that there is a reasonable possibility that a material 
misstatement of the Organization's consolidated financial statements will not be prevented, or detected 
and corrected, on a timely basis. A significant deficiency is a deficiency, or a combination of 
deficiencies, in internal control that is less severe than a material weakness, yet important enough to merit 
attention by those charged with governance. 

Our consideration of internal control was for the limited purpose described in the first paragraph of this 
section and was not designed to identify all deficiencies in internal control that might be material 
weaknesses or significant deficiencies. Given these limitations, during our audit we did not identify any 
deficiencies in internal control that we consider to be material weaknesses. However, material 
weaknesses may exist that have not been identified. 
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Board of Directors 
KVC Health Systems, Inc. 
Page2 

Compliance and Other Matters 

As part of obtaining reason.able assurance about whether the Organization's consolidated financial 
statements are free from material misstatement, we perfonned tests of its compliance with certain 
provisions of laws, regulations, contracts and grant agreements, noncompliance with which could have a 
direct and material effect on the determination of consolidated financial statement amounts. However, 
providing an opinion on compliance with those provisions was not an objective of our audit and, 
accordingly, we do not express such an opinion. The results of our tests disclosed no instances of 
noncompliance or other matters that are required to be reported under Government Auditing Standard<;. 

Purpose of this Report 

The purpose of this report is solely to describe the scope of our testing of internal control and compliance 
and the results of that testing, and not to provide an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity's internal 
control or on compliance. This report is an integral part of an audit perfonned in accordance with 
Government Auditing Standards in considering the Organization's internal control and compliance. 
Accordingly, this communication is not suitable for any other purpose. 

Kansas City, Missouri 
December 13, 2018 

43 



BKD 
CPAs & Advisors 

I ~01 Walnut Slr(>et. Suite 1700 I KansJ~ City, MO 64106·2246 
816.2:21.6300 I Fax 816 221.6380 I bkd.com 

Report on Compliance for Each Major Federal Program and 
Report on Internal Control Over Compliance 

Board of Directors 
KVC Health Systems, Inc. 
Olathe, Kansas 

Independent Auditor's Report 

Report on Compliance for l:ach Major Federal Program 

We have audited KVC Health Systems, Inc.'s (the Organization) compliance with the types of 
compliance requirements described in the 0MB Compliance Supplement that could have a direct and 
material effect on each of the Organization's major federal programs for the year ended June 30, 2018. 
The Organization's major federal programs are identified in the swnmary of auditor's results section of 
the accompanying schedule of findings and questioned costs. 

Management's Responsibility 

Management is responsible for compliance with federal statutes, regulations and the tenns and conditions 
of its federal awards applicable to its federal programs. 

Auditor's Responsibility 

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on compliance for ea.ch of KVC Health Systems, Inc. 's major 
federal programs based on our audit of the types of compliance requirements referred to above. We 
conducted our audit of compliance in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United 
States of America; the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing 
Standards, issued by the Comptrolter General of the United States; and the audit requirements of Title 2 
U.S. Code of Federal Regulations Part 200, Uniform Administrative Requirements, Cost Principles and 
Audit Requirements for Federal Awards (Uniform Guidance). Those standards and the Unifonn 
Guidance require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether 
noncompliance with the types of compliance requirements referred to above that could have a direct and 
material effect on a major federal program occurred. An audit includes examining, on a test basis, 
evidence about the Organization's compliance with those requirements and perfonning such other 
procedures as we considered necessary in the circumstances. 

We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion on compliance for each major 
federal program. However, our audit does not provide a legal determination of the Organization's 
compliance. 



Board of Directors 
KVC Health Systems, Inc. 
Page2 

Opinion on Each Major Federal Program 

In our opinion, KVC Health Systems, Inc. complied, in all material respects, with the types of compliance 
requirements referred to above that could have a direct and material effect on each of its major federal 
programs for the year ended June 30, 2018. 

Report on Internal Control Over Compliance 

Management of KVC Health Systems, Inc. is responsible for establishing and maintaining effective 
internal control over compliance with the types of compliance requirements referred to above. In 
planning and performing our audit of compliance, we considered the Organization's internal control over 
compliance with the types ofrequirements that could have a direct and material effect on each major 
federal program to determine the auditing procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances for the 
purpose of expressing an opinion on compliance for each major federal program and to test and report on 
internal control over compliance in accordance with the Uniform Guidance, but not for the purpose of 
expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of internal control over compliance. Accordingly, we do not 
express an opinion on the effectiveness of the Organization's internal control over compliance. 

A deficiency in internal control over compliance exists when the design or operation of a control over 
compliance does not allow management or employees, in the normal course of performing their assigned 
functions, to prevent, or detect and correct, noncompliance with a type of compliance requirement of a 
federal program on a timely basis. A material weakness in internal control over compliance is a 
deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in internal control over compliance, such that there is a 
reasonable possibility that material noncompliance with a type of compliance requirement of a federal 
program will not be prevented, or detected and corrected, on a timely basis. A significant deficiency in 
internal control over compliance is a deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in internal control over 
compliance with a type of compliance requirement of a federal program that is less severe than a material 
weakness in internal control over compliance, yet important enough to merit attention by those charged 
with governance. 

Our consideration of internal control over compliance was for the limited purpose described in the first 
paragraph of this section and was not designed to identify all deficiencies in internal control over 
compliance that might be material weaknesses or significant deficiencies. We did not identify any 
deficiencies in internal control over compliance that we consider to be material weaknesses. However, 
material weaknesses may exist that have not been identified. 

The purpose of this report on internal control over compliance is solely to describe the scope of our 
testing of internal control over compliance and the results of that testing based on the requirements of the 
Uniform Guidance. Accordingly, this report is not suitable for any other purpose. 

Kansas City. Missouri 
December 13, 2018 
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KVC Health Systems, Inc. 
Schedule of Findings and Questioned Costs 

Year Ended June 30, 2018 

Summary of Auditor's Results 

Financial Statements 

1. The type of report the auditor issued on whether the consolidated financial statements audited were 
prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America 
(GAAP)was: 

1:81 Unmodified D Qualified D Adverse D Disclaimer 

2. The independent auditor's report on intemal control over financial reporting disclosed: 

Significant deficiency(ies)? 

Material weakness(es)? 

0Yes 

0Yes 

~ None reported 

~No 

3. Noncompliance considered material to the consolidated financial 
statements was disclosed by the audit? 

Federal Awards 

0Yes ~No 

4. The independent auditor's report on internal control over compliance for major federal awards 
programs disclosed: 

Significant deficiency(ies )? 

Material weakness( es)? 

0Yes 

0Yes 

~ None reported 

IZ!No 

5. The opinions expressed in the independent auditor's report on compliance for major federal awards 
were: 

~ Unmodified D Qualified D Adverse D Disclaimer 

6. The audit disclosed findings required to be reported by 2 CFR 
200.516(a)? 

7. The Organization's major programs were: 

0Yes fgjNo 

Program CFDANumber 

T ANF Cluster: 
Temporary Assistance for Needy Families Block Grant 

Title IV-E Foster Care 
Social Services Block Grant 

93.558 
93.658 
93.667 

8. The threshold used to distinguish between Type A and Type B programs was $914,095. 

9. The Organization qualified as a low-risk auditee? ~Yes 0No 
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KVC Health Systems, Inc. 
Schedule of Findings and Questioned Costs (Continued) 

Year Ended June 30, 2018 

Findings Required to be Reported by Government Auditing Standards 

Reference 
Number 

No matters are reportable. 

Finding 

Findings Required to be Reported by Uniform Guidance 

Reference 
Number 

No matters are reportable. 

Finding 

Questioned 
Costs 

Questioned 
Costs 
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KVC Health Systems, Inc. 
Summary Schedule of Prior Audit Findings 

Year Ended June 30, ·2018 

Findings Required to be Reported by Uniform Guidance 

Reference 
Number Summary of Finding 

No matters are reportable. 

Status 

48 



6126 Zl Cost Proposal 
Foster and Adoptive Parent Home Study Services 

Firm Name: KVC Behaviorial Healthcare Nebraska 

In the tables below bidder must provide a rate per home study for each Service Area and each term. 
Rates provided must be inclusive of all expenses, including but not limited to: travel, personnel and 
administrative costs. Bidder can submit pricing for any or all Service Areas, but must be able to provide 
services for all counties within a Service Area. Refer to attachment "A" for location of counties. 

Home Studies 

Nebraska Service Areas: Initial Term Initial Term 
Year One YearTwo 

Eastern Service Area $ 594.00 $ 594.00 

Northern Service Area $ 902.00 $ 902.00 

Southeast Service Area $ 717.75 $ 717.75 

Central Service Area $ 1039.50 $1039.50 

Western Service Area $ 1468.50 $1468.50 

For the purposes of scoring, DHHS will estimate the number of studies provided in Section V.B. of the 
RFP. 

0 f IH 10 ,ona ome St d. R u ,es enewa IP . d erio s 
Nebraska Service Areas: Renewal One Renewal Two Renewal Renewal Four 

Year Three Year Four Three Year Six 
Year Five 

Eastern Service Area $ 478.50 $ 478.50 $ 478.50 $ 478.50 

Northern Service Area $ 764.50 $ 764.50 $ 764.50 $ 764.50 

Southeast Service Area $ 580.25 $ 580.25 $ 580.25 $ 580.25 

Central Service Area $ 902.00 $ 902.00 $ 902.00 $ 902.00 

Western Service Area $ 1331.00 $ 1331.00 $ 1331.00 $1331.00 



Optional Foster Care Home Study to Renew License 

In the tables below bidder must provide a rate per optional Renewal Foster Care home study for each 
Service Area and each term. Rates provided must be inclusive of all expenses, including but not limited 
to: travel, personnel and administrative costs. Bidder can submit pricing for any or all Service Areas, but 
must be able to provide services for all counties within a Service Area. Refer to attachment "A" for 
location of counties. 

Nebraska Service Areas: Initial Term Initial Term 
Year One YearTwo 

Eastern Service Area $ 478.50 $ 478.50 

Northern Service Area $ 764.50 $ 764.50 

Southeast Service Area $ 580.25 $ 580.25 

Central Service Area 
$ 902.00 $ 902.00 

Western Service Area $ 1331.00 $ 1331.00 

Optional Renewal Periods for Foster Care Home Study to Renew license 

Nebraska Service Areas: Renewal One Renewal Two Renewal Renewal Four 
Year Three Year Four Three Year Six 

Year Five 

Eastern Service Area $ 478.50 $ 478.50 $ 478.50 $ 478.50 

Northern Service Area $ 764.50 $ 764.50 $ 764.50 $ 764.50 

Southeast Service Area $ 580.25 $ 580.25 $ 580.25 $ 580.25 

Central Service Area $ 902.00 $ 902.00 $ 902.00 $ 902.00 

Western Service Area $ 1331.00 $ 1331.00 $1331.00 $1331.00 
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ADDENDUM ONE Revision One, QUESTIONS and ANSWERS 

 
 
Date:  September 9, 2019 
 
To:  All Bidders  
 
From:  Annette Walton/Julie Schiltz, Buyers 

AS Materiel State Purchasing Bureau 
 
RE:  Addendum for Request for Proposal Number RFP 6126 Z1 to be opened September 

18, 2019, at 2:00 P.M. Central Time 
 

 
 

Questions and Answers 
 
Following are the questions submitted and answers provided for the above mentioned Request for Proposal.  The 
questions and answers are to be considered as part of the Request for Proposal.  It is the Bidder’s responsibility to 

check the State Purchasing Bureau website for all addenda or amendments.  
 

Question 
Number 

RFP 
Section 

Reference 

RFP 
Page 

Numbe
r 

Question State Response 

1. C. Project 
Requirements 

25 
The RFP states that the 
bidder must be an 
accredited agency and 
provide proof of 
accreditation with the 
proposal. 

QUESTION:  Will it meet 
the RFP requirements if the 
bidder is in the process of 
getting accredited and 
shows proof from the 
accrediting agency? 

No, the bidder must be 
accredited at the time of 
submitting the proposal.  

2. V. Project 
Description & 
Scope of Work 

   B. Project 
Environment 

Page 
25 

Is there any way to receive 
more information regarding 
what counties in the 
various service areas had 
the highest numbers of 
home study referrals?  
Having more information 
would assist in looking at 
staffing needs. 

Data has not been kept to 
indicate the specific counties 
the Home Study was 
completed in. Data provided is 
per service area.  

3. V. Project 
Description & 
Scope of Work 

   D. Scope of 
Work  

#10 
….Fost
er Care 
Home 
Study 
guidebo
ok & 

Page 
27 

Are providers required to 
use the current DHHS 
approved Foster Care 
Home Study Guidebook 
and Template, or is DHHS 
allowing providers to create 
their own Guidebook and 
Template? 

 

DHHS is requesting that the 
providers who bid, submit a 
Foster Care Home Study 
Template and Guidebook they 
have drafted. DHHS reserves 
the right to make revisions to 
the final guidebooks and Home 
Study Templates which will be 
utilized statewide. There will be 
one template/guidebook 
utilized statewide for a Foster 
Care Home Study.  
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Foster 
Care 
Home 
Study 
templat
e….  

4. V. Project 
Description & 
Scope of Work 

   D. Scope of 
Work 

#11 
…Adopt
ion 
Home 
Study 
Guideb
ook & 
Adoptio
n Home 
Study 
templat
e….. 

Page 
27 

Since there is not a DHHS 
Adoption Home Study 
Guidebook and template 
and there is currently a 
work group developing a 
Guidebook and template, is 
the expectation for 
providers responding to 
this RFP to create their 
own guidebook and 
template? 

 

Will the Providers work 
group continue to meet to 
create a DHHS guidebook 
for Adoption Home Studies, 
if each provider responding 
to this RFP creates and 
submits their own 
Guidebook? 

 

DHHS is requesting that the 
providers who bid submit an 
Adoption Home Study 
Guidebook and an Adoption 
Home Study Template. DHHS 
reserves the right to make 
revisions to the final 
guidebooks and Home Study 
Templates which will be 
utilized statewide. The intent is 
that there will be one Adoption 
Home Study Guidebook, and 
one Adoption Home Study 
Template which will be 
consistently utilized statewide 
by all Child Placing Agencies 
who contract with the Division 
of Children and Family 
Services.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
The Provider Work Group will 
determine if they would like to 
continue to meet.  

5. V. Project 
Description & 
Scope of Work 

   D. Scope of 
Work 

#13 
…indivi
dual 
complet
ing the 
Home 
Study 
for the 
Contrac
tor must 
have at 
a 
minimu
m a 
bachelo
r’s 
degree
……... 

 In the current Agency 
Supported Foster Care 
contracts with DHHS, staff 
who conduct home studies 
are required to have 3 
references, who can speak 
to the person’s ability to 
conduct and write home 
studies.  Will this 
requirement continue with 
this new contract? 

 

 
The individual completing the 
Home Study for the Contractor 
must comply with 395 NAC 3-
001.03D and any future 
revisions to the regulation.   

6. V. Project 
Description & 
Scope of Work 

   A. Project 

Page 
25 

Is there an expectation that 
the TIPS-MAPP training be 
provided to the prospective 
resource/foster family, prior 

 
No. 



Page 3 

Overview 

 

to being referred for a 
home study? 

 

7. V. Project 
Description & 
Scope of Work 

   D.  Scope of 
Work 4.c 

Page 
26 

Does DHHS have a vision 
of who would be supporting 
the family once the home 
study is complete/family is 
licensed?  If so, please 
explain. 

 

The Home Studies that will be 
provided through this RFP are 
for homes that will be 
supported by DHHS.  

8. 
I (J) 4 Is there a separate cost 

proposal template? 

 

Yes. The cost proposal template 
is located on the SPB website.  
http://das.nebraska.gov/materiel
/purchasing/6126/6126.html 

9. 
V (D) (5) 

 

V (F) (1) 

 

26 

 

27 

What is an acceptable 
reason to deny a referral? 

 

DHHS shall make the initial 
referral to the contractor 
with the lowest cost. If a 
referral is declined, DHHS 
will make a referral to the 
next contractor…What is 
an acceptable reason to 
decline a referral? 

An acceptable reason to deny 
a referral is if the Contractor 
lacks the staff available to 
complete the Home Study in 
the required timeframes.   

10. 
V (G) (8) 27 Is this the cost proposal 

template?   

If so, on page 31 2.c. this 
section is a part of the 
technical proposal, but 
according to Section I (J) 
page 4, the cost proposal 
is to be in a separate 
section. Please clarify. 

No. 
 
 
 
V.G.8 is asking for the 
methodology used to determine 
cost. The Cost Proposal is a 
separate document posted on 
the SPB website which requests 
the actual dollar amount. 

11. 
I (J)  4 What are the formatting 

requirements? Font, font 
size, margin, and page 
limit. 

Section I.J. addresses how 
proposals should be submitted. 
There are no requirements for 
formatting, font, font size, 
margin, or page limits. 

12. 
A. Project 
Overview 

25 Please clarify the 
“estimated number of 
optional foster care home 
studies to renew license”.  

 

Assuming these are for 
renewals of licensed 
homes, how would DHHS 
decide to refer one or not, 
and could an agency get 
an optional home study 
referral for a home that 
another agency had 
completed the initial or 
previous renewal? 

DHHS will look at factors prior 
to referring such as if there is a 
provider in that area that is 
able to complete the home 
study for the renewal and the 
cost. If available, DHHS may 
prefer to contact the provider 
that completed the original 
home study to complete the 
renewal. 

13. 
A. Project 
Overview 

25 Please confirm the change 
of deadline from 30 to 45 
days. 

Yes, the deadline to complete 
a Home Study will be 45 days. 

14. 
A. Project 
Overview 

25 It states “DHHS reserves 
the right to complete a 

DHHS will look at factors such 
as if there is a provider that is 

http://das.nebraska.gov/materiel/purchasing/6126/6126.html
http://das.nebraska.gov/materiel/purchasing/6126/6126.html
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home study internally.  

What is the decision 
making process or criteria 
to refer out vs. do 
internally? 

able to complete the Home 
Study, cost, and if the family is 
requesting DHHS to complete 
the Home Study. 

15. 
D. Scope of 
Work #3 

26 Who would the renewal 
home studies be for?  

Licensed kin supported by 
DHHS? 

Renewal Home Studies are for 
licensed relative or kinship 
homes who are supported by 
DHHS. 

16. 
D. Scope of 
Work #5 

26 What format will DHHS use 
to refer. 

DHHS plans to utilize the 
green phone referral process 
through NFOCUS. 

17. 
D. Scope of 
Work #5 

26 What information will a 
family receive from DHHS 
related to the contractor 
that will be contacting them 
to complete the home 
study and the timelines 
associated with the project 
requirements? 

DHHS will communicate to the 
family which providers are 
available in the area to 
complete a home study and 
expected timeframe for 
completion. 

18. 
D. Scope of 
Work #7 

26 States two home visits are 
required, the new proposed 
licensed regulations state 
one home visit is required, 
seeking clarification. 

For this RFP, two home visits 
are required. 

19. 
D. Scope of 
Work #10 and 
#11 

26 Please clarify what a 
“Foster Care Home Study 
Guidebook” and a 
“Adoption Home Study 
Guidebook” is and what it’s 
purpose is intended to be?  

A home study guide 
already exists, is the idea 
to continue use of this? 

See responses to questions 3 
and 4. 

20. 
D. Scope of 
Work #10 and 
#11 

26 Regarding the template, is 
it being suggested that a 
provider can utilize a 
different template format 
then is already being 
utilized and approved by 
DHHS?  

Wouldn’t it be important to 
ensure consistency of 
document format if multiple 
providers will potential 
receive awards? 

See responses to questions 3 
and 4. 

21. 
D. Scope of 
Work #10 & #11 

26 What is the timeframe for 
RD to submit proposed 
revisions back to contractor 
upon initial submission of 
completed home study? 

Per section V.F.3,  
DHHS will define the time 
period that the Contractor will 
have to correct any defects 
identified by DHHS. The exact 
timeframe will be dependent 
upon the scope and severity of 
the revisions to be made.  
 

22. 
D. Scope of 
Work #11 

26 Is the adoption home study 
guidebook and template 
done and available to 
providers? 

Providers who bid on this RFP 
are to propose an Adoption 
Home Study Guidebook and 
Template. 
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23. 
F. Department of 
Health and 
Human Services 
Deliverable 
Requirements #3 

27 The notation of “if rejected 
deliverable requires more 
than 2 corrections” – is this 
referring to corrections to 
the actual home study, 
potentially posed by RD? It 
is not uncommon for 
several questions to go 
back and forth before a 
home study is approved. 
Please clarify this section. 

Yes, this section refers to 
revisions to the completed 
Home Study. DHHS may reject 
the Home Study if defects are 
not corrected. 

 
This addendum will become part of the proposal and should be acknowledged with the Request for Proposal response.  
  



 

State of Nebraska State Purchasing Bureau or your agency  
REQUEST FOR PROPOSAL FOR CONTRACTUAL SERVICES 

RETURN TO:  
Name: State Purchasing Bureau 
Address:1526 K St. Ste. 130 
City/State/Zip: Lincoln, NE 68508 
Phone:402-471-6500

SOLICITATION NUMBER RELEASE DATE 
RFP 6126 Z1 August 6, 2019 

OPENING DATE AND TIME PROCUREMENT CONTACT 

September 18, 2019  2:00 p.m. Central Time Annette Walton / Julie Schiltz 
 

PLEASE READ CAREFULLY! 
SCOPE OF SERVICE 

 
The State of Nebraska (State), Department of Administrative Services (DAS), Materiel Division, State Purchasing Bureau (SPB), is 
issuing this Request for Proposal (RFP) Number 6126 Z1 for the purpose of selecting a qualified bidder to provide Foster and Adoptive 
Parent Home Study Services.  A more detailed description can be found in Section V. The resulting contract may not be an exclusive 
contract as the State reserves the right to contract for the same or similar services from other sources now or in the future.  
 
The term of the contract will be two (2) years commencing upon execution of the contract by the State and the bidder (Parties). The 
contract includes the option to renew for four (4) additional one (1) year periods upon mutual agreement of the Parties. The State 
reserves the right to extend the period of this contract beyond the termination date when mutually agreeable to the Parties.  
 
ALL INFORMATION PERTINENT TO THIS REQUEST FOR PROPOSAL CAN BE FOUND ON THE INTERNET AT:  
http://das.nebraska.gov/materiel/purchasing.html. 

 
IMPORTANT NOTICE: Pursuant to Neb. Rev. Stat. § 84-602.04, State contracts in effect as of January 1, 2014, and contracts 
entered into thereafter, must be posted to a public website.  The resulting contract, the RFP, and the awarded Contractor’s 
proposal or response will be posted to a public website managed by DAS, which can be found at 
http://statecontracts.nebraska.gov.  

 
In addition and in furtherance of the State’s public records Statute (Neb. Rev. Stat. § 84-712 et seq.), all proposals or responses 
received regarding this RFP will be posted to the State Purchasing Bureau public website.  
 
These postings will include the entire proposal or response. Bidders must request that proprietary information be excluded 
from the posting.  The bidder must identify the proprietary information, mark the proprietary information according to state 
law, and submit the proprietary information in a separate container or envelope marked conspicuously in black ink with the 
words "PROPRIETARY INFORMATION".  The bidder must submit a detailed written document showing that the release of the 
proprietary information would give a business advantage to named business competitor(s) and explain how the named 
business competitor(s) will gain an actual business advantage by disclosure of information.  The mere assertion that 
information is proprietary or that a speculative business advantage might be gained is not sufficient.  (See Attorney General 
Opinion No. 92068, April 27, 1992)  THE BIDDER MAY NOT ASSERT THAT THE ENTIRE PROPOSAL IS PROPRIETARY.  COST 
PROPOSALS WILL NOT BE CONSIDERED PROPRIETARY AND ARE A PUBLIC RECORD IN THE STATE OF NEBRASKA. The 
State will then determine, in its discretion, if the interests served by nondisclosure outweighs any public purpose served by 
disclosure.  (See Neb. Rev. Stat. § 84-712.05(3))  The bidder will be notified of the agency's decision.  Absent a State 
determination that information is proprietary, the State will consider all information a public record subject to release 
regardless of any assertion that the information is proprietary. 

 
If the agency determines it is required to release proprietary information, the bidder will be informed.  It will be the bidder's responsibility 
to defend the bidder's asserted interest in non-disclosure.   
 
To facilitate such public postings, with the exception of proprietary information, the State of Nebraska reserves a royalty-free, 
nonexclusive, and irrevocable right to copy, reproduce, publish, post to a website, or otherwise use any contract, proposal, or 
response to this RFP for any purpose, and to authorize others to use the documents.  Any individual or entity awarded a 
contract, or who submits a proposal or response to this RFP, specifically waives any copyright or other protection the 
contract, proposal, or response to the RFP may have; and, acknowledges that they have the ability and authority to enter into 
such waiver.  This reservation and waiver is a prerequisite for submitting a proposal or response to this RFP, and award of a 
contract.  Failure to agree to the reservation and waiver will result in the proposal or response to the RFP being found non-
responsive and rejected.   
 
Any entity awarded a contract or submitting a proposal or response to the RFP agrees not to sue, file a claim, or make a 
demand of any kind, and will indemnify and hold harmless the State and its employees, volunteers, agents, and its elected 
and appointed officials from and against any and all claims, liens, demands, damages, liability, actions, causes of action, 
losses, judgments, costs, and expenses of every nature, including investigation costs and expenses, settlement costs, and 
attorney fees and expenses, sustained or asserted against the State, arising out of, resulting from, or attributable to the 
posting of the contract or the proposals and responses to the RFP, awards, and other documents. 

http://das.nebraska.gov/materiel/purchasing.html
http://statecontracts.nebraska.gov/


RFP Boilerplate | 11/16/2018 ii 

TABLE OF CONTENTS 

REQUEST FOR PROPOSAL FOR CONTRACTUAL SERVICES ............................................................................................................. i 

TABLE OF CONTENTS ............................................................................................................................................................................. ii 

GLOSSARY OF TERMS ........................................................................................................................................................................... iv 

ACRONYM LIST ....................................................................................................................................................................................... ix 

I. PROCUREMENT PROCEDURE ................................................................................................................................................. 1 

A. GENERAL INFORMATION ............................................................................................................................................ 1 
B. PROCURING OFFICE AND COMMUNICATION WITH STATE STAFF AND EVALUATORS ...................................... 1 
C. SCHEDULE OF EVENTS .............................................................................................................................................. 2 
D. WRITTEN QUESTIONS AND ANSWERS ..................................................................................................................... 3 
E. PRICES ......................................................................................................................................................................... 3 
F. COST CLARIFICATION ................................................................................................................................................. 3 
G. SECRETARY OF STATE/TAX COMMISSIONER REGISTRATION REQUIREMENTS (Statutory) .............................. 3 
H. ETHICS IN PUBLIC CONTRACTING ............................................................................................................................ 3 
I. DEVIATIONS FROM THE REQUEST FOR PROPOSAL .............................................................................................. 4 
J. SUBMISSION OF PROPOSALS ................................................................................................................................... 4 
K. PROPOSAL PREPARATION COSTS ........................................................................................................................... 4 
L. FAILURE TO COMPLY WITH REQUEST FOR PROPOSAL ........................................................................................ 4 
M. PROPOSAL CORRECTIONS ........................................................................................................................................ 5 
N. LATE PROPOSALS ....................................................................................................................................................... 5 
O. PROPOSAL OPENING .................................................................................................................................................. 5 
P. REQUEST FOR PROPOSAL/PROPOSAL REQUIREMENTS ...................................................................................... 5 
Q. EVALUATION COMMITTEE .......................................................................................................................................... 5 
R. EVALUATION OF PROPOSALS ................................................................................................................................... 5 
S. ORAL INTERVIEWS/PRESENTATIONS AND/OR DEMONSTRATIONS ..................................................................... 6 
T. BEST AND FINAL OFFER ............................................................................................................................................. 6 
U. REFERENCE AND CREDIT CHECKS .......................................................................................................................... 7 
V. AWARD ......................................................................................................................................................................... 7 
W. REJECTION OF PROPOSALS ..................................................................................................................................... 7 
X. RESIDENT BIDDER ...................................................................................................................................................... 7 

II. TERMS AND CONDITIONS ........................................................................................................................................................ 8 

A. GENERAL ...................................................................................................................................................................... 8 
B. NOTIFICATION ............................................................................................................................................................. 9 
C. BUYER REPRESENTATIVE ......................................................................................................................................... 9 
D. GOVERNING LAW (Statutory) ...................................................................................................................................... 9 
E. BEGINNING OF WORK ............................................................................................................................................... 10 
F. CHANGE ORDERS ..................................................................................................................................................... 10 
G. NOTICE OF POTENTIAL CONTRACTOR BREACH .................................................................................................. 10 
H. BREACH ...................................................................................................................................................................... 11 
I. NON-WAIVER OF BREACH ........................................................................................................................................ 11 
J. SEVERABILITY ........................................................................................................................................................... 11 
K. INDEMNIFICATION ..................................................................................................................................................... 12 
L. ATTORNEY'S FEES .................................................................................................................................................... 12 
M. ASSIGNMENT, SALE, OR MERGER .......................................................................................................................... 13 
N. CONTRACTING WITH OTHER NEBRASKA POLITICAL SUB-DIVISIONS ................................................................ 13 
O. FORCE MAJEURE ...................................................................................................................................................... 13 
P. CONFIDENTIALITY ..................................................................................................................................................... 14 
Q. OFFICE OF PUBLIC COUNSEL (Statutory) ................................................................................................................ 14 
R. LONG-TERM CARE OMBUDSMAN (Statutory) .......................................................................................................... 14 
S. SUSPENSION OF SERVICES .................................................................................................................................... 14 
T. EARLY TERMINATION ............................................................................................................................................... 15 
U. CONTRACT CLOSEOUT ............................................................................................................................................ 15 



RFP Boilerplate | 11/16/2018 iii 

III. CONTRACTOR DUTIES ........................................................................................................................................................... 16 

A. INDEPENDENT CONTRACTOR / OBLIGATIONS ...................................................................................................... 16 
B. EMPLOYEE WORK ELIGIBILITY STATUS ................................................................................................................. 17 
C. COMPLIANCE WITH CIVIL RIGHTS LAWS AND EQUAL OPPORTUNITY EMPLOYMENT / NONDISCRIMINATION 

(Statutory) .................................................................................................................................................................... 17 
D. COOPERATION WITH OTHER CONTRACTORS ...................................................................................................... 17 
E. PERMITS, REGULATIONS, LAWS ............................................................................................................................. 18 
F. OWNERSHIP OF INFORMATION AND DATA / DELIVERABLES .............................................................................. 18 
G. INSURANCE REQUIREMENTS .................................................................................................................................. 18 
H. ANTITRUST ................................................................................................................................................................. 21 
I. CONFLICT OF INTEREST .......................................................................................................................................... 21 
J. ADVERTISING ............................................................................................................................................................ 21 
K. NEBRASKA TECHNOLOGY ACCESS STANDARDS (Statutory) ............................................................................... 22 
L. DISASTER RECOVERY/BACK UP PLAN ................................................................................................................... 22 
M. DRUG POLICY ............................................................................................................................................................ 22 
N. WARRANTY ................................................................................................................................................................ 22 

IV. PAYMENT ................................................................................................................................................................................. 23 

A. PROHIBITION AGAINST ADVANCE PAYMENT (Statutory) ....................................................................................... 23 
B. TAXES (Statutory) ....................................................................................................................................................... 23 
C. INVOICES .................................................................................................................................................................... 23 
D. INSPECTION AND APPROVAL .................................................................................................................................. 23 
E. PAYMENT ................................................................................................................................................................... 23 
F. LATE PAYMENT (Statutory) ........................................................................................................................................ 24 
G. SUBJECT TO FUNDING / FUNDING OUT CLAUSE FOR LOSS OF APPROPRIATIONS ........................................ 24 
H. RIGHT TO AUDIT (First Paragraph is Statutory) ......................................................................................................... 24 

V. PROJECT DESCRIPTION AND SCOPE OF WORK ................................................................................................................ 25 

A. PROJECT OVERVIEW ................................................................................................................................................ 25 
B. PROJECT ENVIRONMENT ......................................................................................................................................... 25 
C. PROJECT REQUIREMENTS ...................................................................................................................................... 25 
D. SCOPE OF WORK ...................................................................................................................................................... 25 
E. PERFORMANCE MEASURES AND REMEDIES ........................................................................................................ 26 
F. DEPARTMENT OF HEALTH AND HUMAN SERVICES DELIVERABLE REQUIREMENTS ...................................... 27 

VI. PROPOSAL INSTRUCTIONS ................................................................................................................................................... 29 

A. PROPOSAL SUBMISSION .......................................................................................................................................... 29 

Form A Bidder Contact Sheet ............................................................................................................................................................... 32 

REQUEST FOR PROPOSAL FOR CONTRACTUAL SERVICES FORM ............................................................................................... 33 

 



RFP Boilerplate | 7/1/2019 iv 

GLOSSARY OF TERMS 
 
Acceptance Test Procedure: Benchmarks and other performance criteria, developed by the State of Nebraska or other 

sources of testing standards, for measuring the effectiveness of products or services and the means used for testing such 
performance. 
 
Addendum:  Something to be added or deleted to an existing document; a supplement. 

 
Adoption Home Study:  Is a screening of the home and life of prospective adoptive parents prior to allowing an adoption to 

take place. An adoption Home Study is required to be completed for every adoption.  
 
After Receipt of Order (ARO): After Receipt of Order. 

 
Agency:  Any state agency, board, or commission other than the University of Nebraska, the Nebraska State colleges, the 

courts, the Legislature, or any other office or agency established by the Constitution of Nebraska.  
 
Agent/Representative:  A person authorized to act on behalf of another. 

 
Amend:  To alter or change by adding, subtracting, or substituting.   

 
Amendment:  A written correction or alteration to a document. 

 
Appropriation:  Legislative authorization to expend public funds for a specific purpose.  Money set apart for a specific use. 

 
Award:  All purchases, leases, or contracts which are based on competitive proposals will be awarded according to the 

provisions in the RFP.  The State reserves the right to reject any or all proposals, wholly or in part, or to award to multiple 
bidders in whole or in part.  The State reserves the right to waive any deviations or errors that are not material, do not 
invalidate the legitimacy of the proposal, and do not improve the bidder’s competitive position.  All awards will be made in a 
manner deemed in the best interest of the State. 
 
Best and Final Offer (BAFO):  In a competitive bid, the final offer submitted which contains the bidder’s (vendor’s) most 

favorable terms for price.  
 
Bid Bond:  An insurance agreement, accompanied by a monetary commitment, by which a third party (the surety) accepts 

liability and guarantees that the vendor will not withdraw the bid. 
 
Bidder:  A vendor who submits an offer bid in response to a written solicitation. 

 
Breach:  Violation of a contractual obligation by failing to perform or repudiation of one’s own promise. 

 
Business:  Any corporation, partnership, individual, sole proprietorship, joint-stock company, joint venture, or any other 

private legal entity. 
 
Business Day:  Any weekday, except State-recognized holidays. 

 
Calendar Day:  Every day shown on the calendar including Saturdays, Sundays, and State/Federal holidays.   

 
Cancellation: To call off or revoke a purchase order without expectation of conducting or performing it at a later time. 

 
Change Order: Document that provides amendments to an executed purchase order or contract. 

 
Collusion:  An agreement or cooperation between two or more persons or entities to accomplish a fraudulent, deceitful, or 

unlawful purpose. 
 
Commodities: Any equipment, material, supply or goods; anything movable or tangible that is provided or sold. 

 
Commodities Description: Detailed descriptions of the items to be purchased; may include information necessary to obtain 

the desired quality, type, color, size, shape, or special characteristics necessary to perform the work intended to produce the 
desired results.  
 
Competition:  The effort or action of two or more commercial interests to obtain the same business from third parties. 

 
Confidential Information: Unless otherwise defined below, “Confidential Information” shall also mean proprietary trade 

secrets, academic and scientific research work which is in progress and unpublished, and other information which if released 
would give advantage to business competitors and serve no public purpose (see Neb. Rev. Stat. §84-712.05(3)).  In 
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accordance with Nebraska Attorney General Opinions 92068 and 97033, proof that information is proprietary requires 
identification of specific, named competitor(s) who would be advantaged by release of the information and the specific 
advantage the competitor(s) would receive. 
 
Contract:  An agreement between two or more parties creating obligations that are enforceable or otherwise recognizable at 

law; the writing that sets forth such an agreement.  
 
Contract Administration:  The administration of the contract which includes and is not limited to; contract signing, contract 

amendments and any necessary legal actions. 
 
Contract Award: Occurs upon execution of the State document titled “Service Contract Award” by the proper authority. 

 
Contract Management: The management of day to day activities at the agency which includes and is not limited to ensuring 

deliverables are received, specifications are met, handling meetings and making payments to the Contractor.  
 
Contract Period: The duration of the contract. 

 
Contractor:  Any individual or entity having a contract to furnish commodities or services. 

 
Contractor Performance Report:  A report that documents good and bad performance.  (See Contractor and Procurement 

Manual) 
 
Cooperative Purchasing: The combining of requirements of two or more political entities to obtain advantages of volume 

purchases, reduction in administrative expenses or other public benefits.  
 
Copyright:  A property right in an original work of authorship fixed in any tangible medium of expression, giving the holder 

the exclusive right to reproduce, adapt and distribute the work.   
 
Customer Service: The process of ensuring customer satisfaction by providing assistance and advice on those products or 

services provided by the Contractor. 
 
Default:  The omission or failure to perform a contractual duty.  

 
Deviation: Any proposed change(s) or alteration(s) to either the terms and conditions or deliverables within the scope of the 

written solicitation or contract.   
 
Evaluation: The process of examining an offer after opening to determine the vendor’s responsibility, responsiveness to 

requirements, and to ascertain other characteristics of the offer that relate to determination of the successful award. 
 
Evaluation Committee:  Committee(s) appointed by the requesting agency that advises and assists the procuring office in 

the evaluation of bids/proposals (offers made in response to written solicitations). 
 
Extension:  Continuance of a contract for a specified duration upon the agreement of the parties beyond the original 

Contract Period.  Not to be confused with “Renewal Period”. 
 
Free on Board (F.O.B.) Destination:  The delivery charges are included in the quoted price and prepaid by the vendor.  

Vendor is responsible for all claims associated with damages during delivery of product. 
 
Free on Board (F.O.B.) Point of Origin:  The delivery charges are not included in the quoted price and are the 

responsibility of the agency.  Agency is responsible for all claims associated with damages during delivery of product. 
 
Foreign Corporation:  A foreign corporation that was organized and chartered under the laws of another state, government, 

or country. 
 
Foster Care Home Study: This is a screening of the home and life of prospective foster parents. Primary purpose is to 

ensure that each child is placed in a suitable home. 
 
Installation Date:  The date when the procedures described in “Installation by Contractor“, and “Installation by State”, as 

found in the RFP, or contract, are completed. 
 
Interested Party: A person, acting in their personal capacity, or an entity entering into a contract or other agreement 

creating a legal interest therein. 
 
Invalid Proposal:  A proposal that does not meet the requirements of the solicitation or cannot be evaluated against the 

other proposals. 
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Late Proposal: An offer received after the Opening Date and Time. 

 
Licensed Software Documentation:  The user manuals and any other materials in any form or medium customarily 

provided by the Contractor to the users of the Licensed Software which will provide the State with sufficient information to 
operate, diagnose, and maintain the Licensed Software properly, safely, and efficiently. 
 
Mandatory/Must:  Required, compulsory, or obligatory.  

 
May:  Discretionary, permitted; used to express possibility. 

 
Module (see System):  A collection of routines and data structures that perform a specific function of software. 

 
Must:  See Mandatory/ Must and Shall/Will/Must.  

 
National Institute for Governmental Purchasing (NIGP): Source used for assignment of universal commodity codes to 

goods and services. 
 
Open Market Purchase: Authorization may be given to an agency to purchase items above direct purchase authority due to 

the unique nature, price, quantity, location of the using agency, or time limitations by the AS Materiel Division, State 
Purchasing Bureau. 
 
Opening Date and Time:  Specified date and time for the public opening of received, labeled, and sealed formal proposals.   

 
Operating System:  The control program in a computer that provides the interface to the computer hardware and peripheral 

devices, and the usage and allocation of memory resources, processor resources, input/output resources, and security 
resources. 
 
Outsourcing:  The contracting out of a business process which an organization may have previously performed internally or 

has a new need for, to an independent organization from which the process is purchased back. 
 
Payroll & Financial Center (PFC): The State of Nebraska’s electronic procurement system of record.  

 
Performance Bond:  An insurance agreement, accompanied by a monetary commitment, by which a third party (the surety) 

accepts liability and guarantees that the Contractor fulfills any and all obligations under the contract.  
 
Platform:  A specific hardware and Operating System combination that is different from other hardware and Operating 

System combinations to the extent that a different version of the Licensed Software product is required to execute properly in 
the environment established by such hardware and Operating System combination.  
 
Point of Contact (POC): The person designated to receive communications and to communicate. 
 
Pre-Proposal Conference:  A meeting scheduled for the purpose of clarifying a written solicitation and related expectations. 

 
Product:  Something that is distributed commercially for use or consumption and that is usually (1) tangible personal 

property, (2) the result of fabrication or processing, and (3) an item that has passed through a chain of commercial 
distribution before ultimate use or consumption.  
 
Program Error:  Code in Licensed Software which produces unintended results or actions, or which produces results or 

actions other than those described in the specifications.  A program error includes, without limitation, any Critical Program 
Error. 
 
Program Set:  The group of programs and products, including the Licensed Software specified in the RFP, plus any 

additional programs and products licensed by the State under the contract for use by the State. 
 
Project:  The total scheme, program, or method worked out for the accomplishment of an objective, including all 

documentation, commodities, and services to be provided under the contract. 
 
Proposal:  The offer submitted by a bidder in a response to a written solicitation. 

 
Proprietary Information:  Proprietary information is defined as trade secrets, academic and scientific research work which 

is in progress and unpublished, and other information which if released would give advantage to business competitors and 
serves no public purpose (see Neb. Rev. Stat. § 84-712.05(3)). In accordance with Attorney General Opinions 92068 and 
97033, proof that information is proprietary requires identification of specific named competitor(s) advantaged by release of 
the information and the demonstrated advantage the named competitor(s) would gain by the release of information. 
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Protest/Grievance:  A complaint about a governmental action or decision related to a RFP or resultant contract, brought by 

a vendor who has timely submitted a bid response in connection with the award in question, to AS Materiel Division or 
another designated agency with the intention of achieving a remedial result. 
 
Public Proposal Opening:  The process of opening correctly submitted offers at the time and place specified in the written 

solicitation and in the presence of anyone who wished to attend.  
 
Recommended Hardware Configuration:  The data processing hardware (including all terminals, auxiliary storage, 

communication, and other peripheral devices) to the extent utilized by the State as recommended by the Contractor. 
 
Release Date:  The date of public release of the written solicitation to seek offers. 

 
Renewal Period:  Optional contract periods subsequent to the original Contract Period for a specified duration with 

previously agreed to terms and conditions.  Not to be confused with Extension.  
 
Request for Information (RFI):  A general invitation to vendors requesting information for a potential future solicitation.  The 

RFI is typically used as a research and information gathering tool for preparation of a solicitation.  
 
Request for Proposal (RFP):  A written solicitation utilized for obtaining competitive offers.  

 
Responsible Bidder:  A bidder who has the capability in all respects to perform fully and lawfully all requirements with 

integrity and reliability to assure good faith performance. 
 
Responsive Bidder:  A bidder who has submitted a bid which conforms to all requirements of the solicitation document. 

 
Shall/Will/Must:  An order/command; mandatory. 

 
Should:  Expected; suggested, but not necessarily mandatory.  

 
Software License:  Legal instrument with or without printed material that governs the use or redistribution of licensed 

software. 
 
Sole Source – Commodity:  When an item is available from only one source due to the unique nature of the requirement, 

its supplier, or market conditions. 
 
Sole Source – Services:  A service of such a unique nature that the vendor selected is clearly and justifiably the only 

practical source to provide the service.  Determination that the vendor selected is justifiably the sole source is based on 
either the uniqueness of the service or sole availability at the location required.  
 
Specifications:  The detailed statement, especially of the measurements, quality, materials, and functional characteristics, 

or other items to be provided under a contract.  
 
Statutory: These clauses are controlled by state law and are not subject to negotiation.  

 
Subcontractor: Individual or entity with whom the Contractor enters a contract to perform a portion of the work awarded to 

the Contractor.  
 
System (see Module):  Any collection or aggregation of two (2) or more Modules that is designed to function, or is 

represented by the Contractor as functioning or being capable of functioning, as an entity. 
 
Termination:  Occurs when either Party, pursuant to a power created by agreement or law, puts an end to the contract prior 

to the stated expiration date.  All obligations which are still executory on both sides are discharged but any right based on 
prior breach or performance survives. 
 
Third Party: Any person or entity, including but not limited to fiduciaries, shareholders, owners, officers, managers, 

employees, legally disinterested persons, and subcontractors or agents, and their employees.  It shall not include any entity 
or person who is an interested Party to the contract or agreement.  
 
Trade Secret:  Information, including, but not limited to, a drawing, formula, pattern, compilation, program, device, method, 

technique, code, or process that (a) derives independent economic value, actual or potential, from not being known to, and 
not being ascertainable by proper means by, other persons who can obtain economic value from its disclosure or use; and 
(b) is the subject of efforts that are reasonable under the circumstances to maintain its secrecy (see Neb. Rev. Stat. §87-
502(4)). 
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Trademark:  A word, phrase, logo, or other graphic symbol used by a manufacturer or vendor to distinguish its product from 

those of others, registered with the U.S. Patent and Trademark Office.  
 
Upgrade:  Any change that improves or alters the basic function of a product or service. 

 
Vendor:  An individual or entity lawfully conducting business in the State of Nebraska, or licensed to do so, who seeks to 

provide goods or services under the terms of a written solicitation. 
 
Vendor Performance Report:   A report issued to the Contractor by State Purchasing Bureau when products or services 

delivered or performed fail to meet the terms of the purchase order, contract, and/or specifications, as reported to State 
Purchasing Bureau by the agency. The State Purchasing Bureau shall contact the Contractor regarding any such report. The 
vendor performance report will become a part of the permanent record for the Contractor. The State may require vendor to 
cure. Two such reports may be cause for immediate termination. 
 
Will: See Shall/Will/Must. 

 
Work Day:  See Business Day. 
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ACRONYM LIST 
 
ARO – After Receipt of Order 

 
ACH – Automated Clearing House 

 
BAFO – Best and Final Offer 

 
CFS –Children and Family Services (Division of) 

 
COI – Certificate of Insurance 

 
DAS – Department of Administrative Services 
 
DHHS – Department of Health and Human Services 

 
F.O.B. – Free on Board 

 
NIGP – National Institute for Governmental Purchasing 

 
RFP – Request for Proposal 

 
SPB – State Purchasing Bureau 
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I. PROCUREMENT PROCEDURE 
 
A. GENERAL INFORMATION  

The solicitation is designed to solicit proposals from qualified bidders who will be responsible for providing Foster 
and Adoptive Parent Home Study Services at a competitive and reasonable cost.  Terms and Conditions, Project 
Description and Scope of Work, and Proposal instructions may be found in Sections II through VI. 
 
Proposals shall conform to all instructions, conditions, and requirements included in the RFP.  Prospective bidders 
should carefully examine all documents, schedules, and requirements in this RFP, and respond to each 
requirement in the format prescribed.  Proposals may be found non-responsive if they do not conform to the RFP. 
 

B. PROCURING OFFICE AND COMMUNICATION WITH STATE STAFF AND EVALUATORS  

Procurement responsibilities related to this RFP reside with the State Purchasing Bureau.  The point of contact 
(POC) for the procurement is as follows: 
 
Name:   Buyer(s) Annette Walton / Julie Schiltz   
Agency:   State Purchasing Bureau  
Address:  1526 K Street, Suite 130 
  Lincoln, NE  68508 
Telephone: 402-471-6500 
 
E-Mail:  as.materielpurchasing@nebraska.gov 
 
From the date the RFP is issued until the Intent to Award is issued, communication from the bidder is limited to the 
POC listed above.  After the Intent to Award is issued, the bidder may communicate with individuals the State has 
designated as responsible for negotiating the contract on behalf of the State.  No member of the State Government, 
employee of the State, or member of the Evaluation Committee is empowered to make binding statements 
regarding this RFP.  The POC will issue any clarifications or opinions regarding this RFP in writing.  Only the buyer 
can modify the RFP, answer questions, render opinions, and only the SPB or awarding agency can award a 
contract.  Bidders shall not have any communication with, or attempt to communicate or influence any evaluator 
involved in this RFP.   
 
The following exceptions to these restrictions are permitted: 
 
1. Contact made pursuant to pre-existing contracts or obligations; 
2. Contact required by the schedule of events or an event scheduled later by the RFP POC; and 
3. Contact required for negotiation and execution of the final contract. 
 

The State reserves the right to reject a bidder’s proposal, withdraw an Intent to Award, or terminate a contract if the State 
determines there has been a violation of these procurement procedures.  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

mailto:as.materielpurchasing@nebraska.gov
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C. SCHEDULE OF EVENTS  

The State expects to adhere to the procurement schedule shown below, but all dates are approximate and subject 
to change.  
 

ACTIVITY DATE/TIME 

1.  Release RFP August 6, 2019 

2.  Last day to submit written questions August 20, 2019 

3.  State responds to written questions through RFP “Addendum” and/or 
“Amendment” to be posted to the Internet at:  
http://das.nebraska.gov/materiel/purchasing.html  

September 4, 2019 

4.  Proposal opening 
Location: State Purchasing Bureau 
  1526 K Street, Suite 130 
  Lincoln, NE 68508 

 
September 18, 2019 

2:00 PM 
Central Time 

5.  Review for conformance to RFP requirements  September 19, 2019 

6.  Evaluation period September 19, 2019 
Through 

October 3, 2019 

7.  “Oral Interviews/Presentations and/or Demonstrations” (if required) 
 

TBD 

8.  Post “Intent to Award” to Internet at: 
http://das.nebraska.gov/materiel/purchasing.html   

October 11, 2019 

9.  Contract finalization period  October 11, 2019 
Through 

November 12, 2019 

10.  Contract award November 13, 2019 

11.  Contractor start date November 15, 2019 

http://das.nebraska.gov/materiel/purchasing.html
http://das.nebraska.gov/materiel/purchasing.html
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D. WRITTEN QUESTIONS AND ANSWERS  

Questions regarding the meaning or interpretation of any RFP provision must be submitted in writing to the State 
Purchasing Bureau and clearly marked “RFP Number 6126 Z1; Foster and Adoptive Parent Home Study 
Questions”.  The POC is not obligated to respond to questions that are received late per the Schedule of Events.   
 
Bidders should present, as questions, any assumptions upon which the bidder's proposal is or might be developed.  
Proposals will be evaluated without consideration of any known or unknown assumptions of a bidder.  The contract 
will not incorporate any known or unknown assumptions of a bidder. 
 
It is preferred that questions be sent via e-mail to as.materielpurchasing@nebraska.gov, but may be delivered by 
hand or by U.S. Mail.  It is recommended that bidders submit questions using the following format. 
 

RFP Section 
Reference 

RFP Page 
Number 

Question 

   
 
Written answers will be posted at http://das.nebraska.gov/materiel/purchasing.html per the Schedule of Events. 
 

E. PRICES 

Prices quoted shall be net, including transportation and delivery charges fully prepaid by the contractor, F.O.B. 
destination named in the solicitation.  No additional charges will be allowed for packing, packages, or partial 
delivery costs.  When an arithmetic error has been made in the extended total, the unit price will govern. 
 
Prices submitted on the cost proposal form, once accepted by the State, shall remain fixed for the initial term of the 
contract.  Any request for a price increase subsequent to the initial term of the contract shall not exceed three 
percent (3%) of the price proposed for the period.  The request for a price increase must be submitted in writing to 
the State Purchasing Bureau a minimum of 120 days prior to the end of the current contract period.  Documentation 
may be required by the State to support the price increase.   
 
The State reserves the right to deny any requested price increase. No price increases are to be billed to any 
State Agencies prior to written amendment of the contract by the parties. 
 
The State will be given full proportionate benefit of any decreases for the term of the contract. 
 

F. COST CLARIFICATION 

The State reserves the right to review all aspects of cost for reasonableness and to request clarification of any 
proposal where the cost component shows significant and unsupported deviation from industry standards or in 
areas where detailed pricing is required. 
 

G. SECRETARY OF STATE/TAX COMMISSIONER REGISTRATION REQUIREMENTS (Statutory) 

All Contractors must be authorized to transact business in the State of Nebraska and comply with all Nebraska 
Secretary of State Registration requirements.  The Contractor who is the recipient of an Intent to Award may be 
required to certify that it has complied and produce a true and exact copy of its current (within ninety (90) calendar 
days of the intent to award) Certificate or Letter of Good Standing, or in the case of a sole proprietorship, provide 
written documentation of sole proprietorship and complete the United States Citizenship Attestation Form, available 
on the Department of Administrative Services website at http://das.nebraska.gov/materiel/purchasing.html.  This 
must be accomplished prior to execution of the contract. 

 
H. ETHICS IN PUBLIC CONTRACTING  

The State reserves the right to reject bids, withdraw an intent to award or award, or terminate a contract if a bidder 
commits or has committed ethical violations, which include, but are not limited to: 
 
1. Offering or giving, directly or indirectly, a bribe, fee, commission, compensation, gift, gratuity, or anything 

of value to any person or entity in an attempt to influence the bidding process; 
2. Utilize the services of lobbyists, attorneys, political activists, or consultants to influence or subvert the 

bidding process; 
3. Being considered for, presently being, or becoming debarred, suspended, ineligible, or excluded from 

contracting with any state or federal entity: 
4. Submitting a proposal on behalf of another Party or entity; and 
5. Collude with any person or entity to influence the bidding process, submit sham proposals, preclude 

bidding, fix pricing or costs, create an unfair advantage, subvert the bid, or prejudice the State. 
 
The Contractor shall include this clause in any subcontract entered into for the exclusive purpose of performing this 
contract. 

mailto:as.materielpurchasing@nebraska.gov
http://das.nebraska.gov/materiel/purchasing.html
http://das.nebraska.gov/materiel/purchasing.html
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Contractor shall have an affirmative duty to report any violations of this clause by the Contractor throughout the 
bidding process, and throughout the term of this contract for the awarded Contractor and their subcontractors. 
 

I. DEVIATIONS FROM THE REQUEST FOR PROPOSAL 

The requirements contained in the RFP become a part of the terms and conditions of the contract resulting from this 
RFP.  Any deviations from the RFP in Sections II through VI must be clearly defined by the bidder in its proposal 
and, if accepted by the State, will become part of the contract.  Any specifically defined deviations must not be in 
conflict with the basic nature of the RFP, requirements, or applicable state or federal laws or statutes.  “Deviation”, 
for the purposes of this RFP, means any proposed changes or alterations to either the contractual language or 
deliverables within the scope of this RFP.  The State discourages deviations and reserves the right to reject 
proposed deviations. 
 

J. SUBMISSION OF PROPOSALS  

Bidders should submit one proposal marked on the first page: “ORIGINAL”.  If multiple proposals are submitted, the 
State will retain one copy marked “ORIGINAL” and destroy the other copies.  The bidder is solely responsible for 
any variance between the copies submitted. Proposal responses should include the completed Form A, “Bidder 
Contact Sheet”.  Proposals must reference the RFP number and be sent to the specified address.  Please note that 
the address label should appear as specified in Section I B.  on the face of each container or bidder’s bid response 
packet.  If a recipient phone number is required for delivery purposes, 402-471-6500 should be used.  The RFP 
number should be included in all correspondence. 
 
The State will not furnish packaging or sealing materials.  It is the bidder’s responsibility to ensure the solicitation is 
received in a sealed envelope or container and submitted by the date and time indicated in the Schedule of Events.  
Sealed proposals must be received in the State Purchasing Bureau by the date and time of the proposal opening 
per the Schedule of Events.  No late proposals will be accepted. 
 
The Request for Proposal form must be manually signed in an indelible manner and returned by the proposal 
opening date and time along with the bidder’s Request for Proposal and any other requirements as stated in the 
Request for Proposal document in order for the bidder’s Request for Proposal response to be evaluated. 
 
It is the responsibility of the bidder to check the website for all information relevant to this Request for Proposal to 
include addenda and/or amendments issued prior to the opening date.  Website address is as follows:  
http://das.nebraska.gov/materiel/purchasing.html.  
 
Emphasis should be concentrated on conformance to the solicitation instructions, responsiveness to requirements, 
completeness, and clarity of content. If the bidder’s proposal is presented in such a fashion that makes evaluation 
difficult or overly time consuming the State reserves the right to reject the proposal as non-conforming. 
 
By signing the “Request for Proposal for Contractual Services” form, the bidder guarantees compliance with the 
provisions stated in this solicitation. 
 
The State shall not incur any liability for any costs incurred by bidders in replying to this solicitation, in the 
demonstrations and/or oral presentations, or in any other activity related to bidding on this solicitation. 
 
The Technical and Cost Proposals Template should be presented in separate sections (loose-leaf binders are 
preferred) on standard 8 ½” x 11” paper, except that charts, diagrams and the like may be on fold-outs which, when 
folded, fit into the 8 ½” by 11” format.  Pages may be consecutively numbered for the entire proposal, or may be 
numbered consecutively within sections.  Figures and tables should be numbered consecutively within sections.  
Figures and tables should be numbered and referenced in the text by that number.  They should be placed as close 
as possible to the referencing text. 
 

K. PROPOSAL PREPARATION COSTS  

The State shall not incur any liability for any costs incurred by bidders in replying to this RFP, including any activity 
related to bidding on this RFP. 
 

L. FAILURE TO COMPLY WITH REQUEST FOR PROPOSAL 

Violation of the terms and conditions contained in this RFP or any resultant contract, at any time before or after the 
award, shall be grounds for action by the State which may include, but is not limited to, the following: 
 
1. Rejection of a bidder’s proposal; 
2. Withdrawal of the Intent to Award; 
3. Withdrawal of the Award; 
4. Termination of the resulting contract; 

http://das.nebraska.gov/materiel/purchasing.html
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5. Legal action; and 
6. Suspension of the bidder from further bidding with the State for the period of time relative to the 

seriousness of the violation, such period to be within the sole discretion of the State. 
 

M. PROPOSAL CORRECTIONS 

A bidder may correct a mistake in a bid prior to the time of opening by giving written notice to the State of intent to 
withdraw the bid for modification or to withdraw the bid completely.  Changes in a bid after opening are acceptable 
only if the change is made to correct a minor error that does not affect price, quantity, quality, delivery, or 
contractual conditions.  In case of a mathematical error in extension of price, unit price shall govern. 
 

N. LATE PROPOSALS 

Proposals received after the time and date of the proposal opening will be considered late proposals.  Late 
proposals will be returned unopened, if requested by the bidder and at bidder's expense.  The State is not 
responsible for proposals that are late or lost regardless of cause or fault. 
 

O. PROPOSAL OPENING  
The opening of proposals will be public and the bidders will be announced.  Proposals WILL NOT be available for 

viewing by those present at the proposal opening. Proposals will be posted to the State Purchasing Bureau website 
once an Intent to Award has been posted to the website.  Information identified as proprietary by the submitting 
bidder, in accordance with the solicitation and state statute, will not be posted. If the state determines submitted 
information should not be withheld, in accordance with the Public Records Act, or if ordered to release any withheld 
information, said information may then be released. The submitting bidder will be notified of the release and it shall 
be the obligation of the submitting bidder to take further action, if it believes the information should not be released.  
(See RFP signature page for further details)  Bidders may contact the State to schedule an appointment for viewing 
proposals after the Intent to Award has been posted to the website.  Once proposals are opened, they become the 
property of the State of Nebraska and will not be returned. 
 

P. REQUEST FOR PROPOSAL/PROPOSAL REQUIREMENTS 

The proposals will first be examined to determine if all requirements listed below have been addressed and whether 
further evaluation is warranted. Proposals not meeting the requirements may be rejected as non-responsive.  The 
requirements are: 
 
1. Original Request for Proposal for Contractual Services form signed using an indelible method;  
2. Clarity and responsiveness of the proposal; 
3. Completed Corporate Overview;  
4. Completed Sections II through VI; 
5. Adoptive and Foster Care Home Study Guidebooks and templates; 
6. Copy of Nebraska Child Placing Agency License; 
7. Copy of Accreditation;  
8. Completed, Bidder Requirements; and  
9. Completed State Cost Proposal Template. 
 

Q. EVALUATION COMMITTEE  

Proposals are evaluated by members of an Evaluation Committee(s).  The Evaluation Committee(s) will consist of 
individuals selected at the discretion of the State.  Names of the members of the Evaluation Committee(s) will not 
be published prior to the intent to award. 
 
Any contact, attempted contact, or attempt to influence an evaluator that is involved with this RFP may result in the 
rejection of this proposal and further administrative actions. 
 

R. EVALUATION OF PROPOSALS 

All proposals that are responsive to the RFP will be evaluated.  Each evaluation category will have a maximum 
point potential.  The State will conduct a fair, impartial, and comprehensive evaluation of all proposals in 
accordance with the criteria set forth below.  Areas that will be addressed and scored during the evaluation include: 
 
1. Corporate Overview should include but is not limited to: 

a. the ability, capacity, and skill of the bidder to deliver and implement the system or project that 
meets the requirements of the RFP; 

b. the character, integrity, reputation, judgment, experience, and efficiency of the bidder; 
c. whether the bidder can perform the contract within the specified time frame; 
d. the quality of bidder performance on prior contracts; 
e. such other information that may be secured and that has a bearing on the decision to award the 

contract; 
 

https://ago.nebraska.gov/public_records/statutes
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2. Bidder Requirements; 
3. Adoptive and Foster Care Home Study Guidebooks and templates; and,  
4. Cost Proposal.  
 
Neb. Rev. Stat. §73-107 allows for a preference for a resident disabled veteran or business located in a 
designated enterprise zone.  When a state contract is to be awarded to the lowest responsible bidder, a resident 

disabled veteran or a business located in a designated enterprise zone under the Enterprise Zone Act shall be 
allowed a preference over any other resident or nonresident bidder, if all other factors are equal. 
 
Resident disabled veterans means any person (a) who resides in the State of Nebraska, who served in the 
United States Armed Forces, including any reserve component or the National Guard, who was discharged 
or otherwise separated with a characterization of honorable or general (under honorable conditions), and 
who possesses a disability rating letter issued by the United States Department of Veterans Affairs 
establishing a service-connected disability or a disability determination from the United States Department 
of Defense and (b)(i) who owns and controls a business or, in the case of a publicly owned business, more 
than fifty percent of the stock is owned by one or more persons described in subdivision (a) of this 
subsection and (ii) the management and daily business operations of the business are controlled by one or 
more persons described in subdivision(a) of this subsection. Any contract entered into without compliance 
with this section shall be null and void. 

 
Therefore, if a resident disabled veteran or business located in a designated enterprise zone submits a proposal in 
accordance with Neb. Rev. Stat. §73-107 and has so indicated on the RFP cover page under “Bidder must 
complete the following” requesting priority/preference to be considered in the award of this contract, the following 
will need to be submitted by the vendor within ten (10) business days of request: 
 
1. Documentation from the United States Armed Forces confirming service;  
2. Documentation of discharge or otherwise separated characterization of honorable or general (under 

honorable conditions); 
3. Disability rating letter issued by the United States Department of Veterans Affairs establishing a service-

connected disability or a disability determination from the United States Department of Defense; and 
4. Documentation which shows ownership and control of a business or, in the case of a publicly owned 

business, more than fifty percent of the stock is owned by one or more persons described in subdivision 
(a) of this subsection; and the management and daily business operations of the business are controlled 
by one or more persons described in subdivision (a) of this subsection. 

 
Failure to submit the requested documentation within ten (10) business days of notice will disqualify the bidder from 
consideration of the preference. 
 
Evaluation criteria will be released with the RFP.   
 

S. ORAL INTERVIEWS/PRESENTATIONS AND/OR DEMONSTRATIONS 

The State may determine after the completion of the Technical and Cost Proposal evaluation that oral 
interviews/presentations and/or demonstrations are required. Every bidder may not be given an opportunity to 
interview/present and/or give demonstrations; the State reserves the right, in its discretion, to select only the top 
scoring bidders to present/give oral interviews. The scores from the oral interviews/presentations and/or 
demonstrations will be added to the scores from the Technical and Cost Proposals.  The presentation process will 
allow the bidders to demonstrate their proposal offering, explaining and/or clarifying any unusual or significant 
elements related to their proposals. Bidders’ key personnel, identified in their proposal, may be requested to 
participate in a structured interview to determine their understanding of the requirements of this proposal, their 
authority and reporting relationships within their firm, and their management style and philosophy.  Only 
representatives of the State and the presenting bidder will be permitted to attend the oral interviews/presentations 
and/or demonstrations.  A written copy or summary of the presentation, and demonstrative information (such as 
briefing charts, et cetera) may be offered by the bidder, but the State reserves the right to refuse or not consider the 
offered materials.  Bidders shall not be allowed to alter or amend their proposals.   
   
Once the oral interviews/presentations and/or demonstrations have been completed, the State reserves the right to 
make an award without any further discussion with the bidders regarding the proposals received. 
 
Any cost incidental to the oral interviews/presentations and/or demonstrations shall be borne entirely by the bidder 
and will not be compensated by the State. 
 

T. BEST AND FINAL OFFER 

If best and final offers (BAFO) are requested by the State and submitted by the bidder, they will be evaluated (using 
the stated BAFO criteria), scored, and ranked by the Evaluation Committee.  The State reserves the right to 
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conduct more than one Best and Final Offer.  The award will then be granted to the highest scoring bidder.  
However, a bidder should provide its best offer in its original proposal.  Bidders should not expect that the State will 
request a best and final offer. 
 

U. REFERENCE AND CREDIT CHECKS 

The State reserves the right to conduct and consider reference and credit checks.  The State reserves the right to 
use third parties to conduct reference and credit checks.  By submitting a proposal in response to this RFP, the 
bidder grants to the State the right to contact or arrange a visit in person with any or all of the bidder’s clients.    
Reference and credit checks may be grounds to reject a proposal, withdraw an intent to award, or rescind the 
award of a contract.   
 

V. AWARD      

The State reserves the right to evaluate proposals and award contracts in a manner utilizing criteria selected at the 
State's discretion and in the State’s best interest. After evaluation of the proposals, or at any point in the RFP 
process, the State of Nebraska may take one or more of the following actions: 
 
1. Amend the RFP; 
2. Extend the time of or establish a new proposal opening time; 
3. Waive deviations or errors in the State’s RFP process and in bidder proposals that are not material, do not 

compromise the RFP process or a bidder’s proposal, and do not improve a bidder’s competitive position; 
4. Accept or reject a portion of or all of a proposal; 
5. Accept or reject all proposals; 
6. Withdraw the RFP; 
7. Elect to rebid the RFP; 
8. Award single lines or multiple lines to one or more bidders; or, 
9. Award one or more all-inclusive contracts. 
 
The RFP does not commit the State to award a contract.  Once an intent to award decision has been determined, it 
will be posted to the Internet at: 
http://das.nebraska.gov/materiel/purchasing.html 
 
Grievance and protest procedures are available on the Internet at: 
http://das.nebraska.gov/materiel/purchasing.html 
 
Any protests must be filed by a bidder within ten (10) business days after the intent to award decision is posted to 
the Internet. 
 

W. REJECTION OF PROPOSALS 

The State reserves the right to reject any or all proposals, wholly or in part, in the best interest of the State. 
 

X. RESIDENT BIDDER 

Pursuant to Neb. Rev. Stat. §§ 73-101.01 through 73-101.02, a Resident Bidder shall be allowed a preference 
against a Non-resident Bidder from a state which gives or requires a preference to bidders from that state.  The 
preference shall be equal to the preference given or required by the state of the Nonresident Bidders The provision 
of this preference shall not apply to any contract for any project upon which federal funds would be withheld 
because of the provisions of this preference. 

http://das.nebraska.gov/materiel/purchasing.html
http://das.nebraska.gov/materiel/purchasing.html
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II. TERMS AND CONDITIONS 
 
Bidders should complete Sections II through VI as part of their proposal.  Bidder should read the Terms and Conditions 

and should initial either accept, reject, or reject and provide alternative language for each clause.  The bidder should also 
provide an explanation of why the bidder rejected the clause or rejected the clause and provided alternate language.  By 
signing the RFP, bidder is agreeing to be legally bound by all the accepted terms and conditions, and any proposed 
alternative terms and conditions submitted with the proposal.  The State reserves the right to negotiate rejected or proposed 
alternative language.  If the State and bidder fail to agree on the final Terms and Conditions, the State reserves the right to 
reject the proposal.  The State of Nebraska is soliciting proposals in response to this RFP.  The State of Nebraska reserves 
the right to reject proposals that attempt to substitute the bidder’s commercial contracts and/or documents for this RFP. 
 
Bidders should submit with their proposal any license, user agreement, service level agreement, or similar documents that 
the bidder wants incorporated in the contract.  The State will not consider incorporation of any document not submitted with 
the bidder’s proposal as the document will not have been included in the evaluation process.  These documents shall be 
subject to negotiation and will be incorporated as addendums if agreed to by the Parties. 
 
If a conflict or ambiguity arises after the Addendum to Contract Award have been negotiated and agreed to, the Addendum 
to Contract Award shall be interpreted as follows: 

1. If only one Party has a particular clause then that clause shall control; 
2. If both Parties have a similar clause, but the clauses do not conflict, the clauses shall be read together; 
3. If both Parties have a similar clause, but the clauses conflict, the State’s clause shall control. 
 

A. GENERAL 
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NOTES/COMMENTS: 

 
 
 

   

 
The contract resulting from this RFP shall incorporate the following documents: 
 
1. Request for Proposal and Addenda; 
2. Amendments to the RFP; 
3. Questions and Answers;  
4. Contractor’s proposal (RFP and properly submitted documents); 
5. The executed Contract and Addendum One to Contract, if applicable; and, 
6. Amendments/Addendums to the Contract. 
  
These documents constitute the entirety of the contract.  
 
Unless otherwise specifically stated in a future contract amendment, in case of any conflict between the 
incorporated documents, the documents shall govern in the following order of preference with number one (1) 
receiving preference over all other documents and with each lower numbered document having preference over 
any higher numbered document: 1) Amendment to the executed contract with the most recent dated amendment 
having the highest priority, 2) executed contract and any attached Addenda, 3) Amendments to RFP and any 
Questions and Answers, 4) the original RFP document and any Addenda, and 5) the Contractor’s submitted 
Proposal. 
 
Any ambiguity or conflict in the contract discovered after its execution, not otherwise addressed herein, shall be 
resolved in accordance with the rules of contract interpretation as established in the State of Nebraska. 
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B. NOTIFICATION  
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Contractor and State shall identify the contract managers who shall serve as the points of contact for the executed 
contract.  
 
Communications regarding the executed contract shall be in writing and shall be deemed to have been given if 
delivered personally or mailed, by U.S. Mail, postage prepaid, return receipt requested, to the parties at their 
respective addresses set forth below, or at such other addresses as may be specified in writing by either of the 
parties.  All notices, requests, or communications shall be deemed effective upon personal delivery or three (3) 
calendar days following deposit in the mail. 
 

C. BUYER REPRESENTATIVE 
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The State reserves the right to appoint a Buyer's Representative to manage [or assist the State Purchasing Buyer 
in managing] the contract on behalf of the State.  The Buyer's Representative will be appointed in writing, and the 
appointment document will specify the extent of the Buyer's Representative authority and responsibilities.  If a 
Buyer's Representative is appointed, the Contractor will be provided a copy of the appointment document, and is 
required to cooperate accordingly with the Buyer's Representative.  The Buyer's Representative has no authority to 
bind the State to a contract, amendment, addendum, or other change or addition to the contract. 
 

D. GOVERNING LAW (Statutory) 
 

Notwithstanding any other provision of this contract, or any amendment or addendum(s) entered into 
contemporaneously or at a later time, the parties understand and agree that, (1) the State of Nebraska is a 
sovereign state and its authority to contract is therefore subject to limitation by the State’s Constitution, statutes, 
common law, and regulation; (2) this contract will be interpreted and enforced under the laws of the State of 
Nebraska; (3) any action to enforce the provisions of this agreement must be brought in the State of Nebraska per 
state law; (4) the person signing this contract on behalf of the State of Nebraska does not have the authority to 
waive the State's sovereign immunity, statutes, common law, or regulations; (5) the indemnity, limitation of liability, 
remedy, and other similar provisions of the final contract, if any, are entered into subject to the State's Constitution, 
statutes, common law, regulations, and sovereign immunity; and, (6) all terms and conditions of the final contract, 
including but not limited to the clauses concerning third party use, licenses, warranties, limitations of liability, 
governing law and venue, usage verification, indemnity, liability, remedy or other similar provisions of the final 
contract are entered into specifically subject to the State's Constitution, statutes, common law, regulations, and 
sovereign immunity. 
 
The Parties must comply with all applicable local, state and federal laws, ordinances, rules, orders, and regulations.  
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E. BEGINNING OF WORK  
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The bidder shall not commence any billable work until a valid contract has been fully executed by the State and the 
awarded bidder.  The bidder will be notified in writing when work may begin. 
 

F. CHANGE ORDERS  
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The State and the Contractor, upon the written agreement, may make changes to the contract within the general 
scope of the RFP.   Changes may involve specifications, the quantity of work, or such other items as the State may 
find necessary or desirable.  Corrections of any deliverable, service, or work required pursuant to the contract shall 
not be deemed a change.  The Contractor may not claim forfeiture of the contract by reasons of such changes.   
 
The Contractor shall prepare a written description of the work required due to the change and an itemized cost 
sheet for the change. Changes in work and the amount of compensation to be paid to the Contractor shall be 
determined in accordance with applicable unit prices if any, a pro-rated value, or through negotiations.  The State 
shall not incur a price increase for changes that should have been included in the Contractor’s proposal, were 
foreseeable, or result from difficulties with or failure of the Contractor’s proposal or performance. 
 
No change shall be implemented by the Contractor until approved by the State, and the contract is amended to 
reflect the change and associated costs, if any.  If there is a dispute regarding the cost, but both parties agree that 
immediate implementation is necessary, the change may be implemented, and cost negotiations may continue with 
both Parties retaining all remedies under the contract and law. 
 

G. NOTICE OF POTENTIAL CONTRACTOR BREACH 
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If Contractor breaches the contract or anticipates breaching the contract, the Contractor shall immediately give 
written notice to the State.  The notice shall explain the breach or potential breach, a proposed cure, and may 
include a request for a waiver of the breach if so desired.  The State may, in its discretion, temporarily or 
permanently waive the breach.  By granting a waiver, the State does not forfeit any rights or remedies to which the 
State is entitled by law or equity, or pursuant to the provisions of the contract.  Failure to give immediate notice, 
however, may be grounds for denial of any request for a waiver of a breach. 
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H. BREACH 
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Either Party may terminate the contract, in whole or in part, if the other Party breaches its duty to perform its 
obligations under the contract in a timely and proper manner.  Termination requires written notice of default and a 
thirty (30) calendar day (or longer at the non-breaching Party’s discretion considering the gravity and nature of the 
default) cure period.  Said notice shall be delivered by Certified Mail, Return Receipt Requested, or in person with 
proof of delivery.  Allowing time to cure a failure or breach of contract does not waive the right to immediately 
terminate the contract for the same or different contract breach which may occur at a different time.  In case of 
default of the Contractor, the State may contract the service from other sources and hold the Contractor responsible 
for any excess cost occasioned thereby. OR In case of breach by the Contractor, the State may, without 
unreasonable delay, make a good faith effort to make a reasonable purchase or contract to purchase goods in 
substitution of those due from the Contractor.  The State may recover from the Contractor as damages the 
difference between the costs of covering the breach.  Notwithstanding any clause to the contrary, the State may 
also recover the contract price together with any incidental or consequential damages defined in UCC Section 2-
715, but less expenses saved in consequence of Contractor’s breach. 
 
The State’s failure to make payment shall not be a breach, and the Contractor shall retain all available statutory 
remedies and protections. 
 

I. NON-WAIVER OF BREACH 
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The acceptance of late performance with or without objection or reservation by a Party shall not waive any rights of 
the Party nor constitute a waiver of the requirement of timely performance of any obligations remaining to be 
performed. 
 

J. SEVERABILITY  
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If any term or condition of the contract is declared by a court of competent jurisdiction to be illegal or in conflict with 
any law, the validity of the remaining terms and conditions shall not be affected, and the rights and obligations of 
the parties shall be construed and enforced as if the contract did not contain the provision held to be invalid or 
illegal. 
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K. INDEMNIFICATION  
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1. GENERAL 

The Contractor agrees to defend, indemnify, and hold harmless the State and its employees, volunteers, 
agents, and its elected and appointed officials (“the indemnified parties”) from and against any and all third 
party claims, liens, demands, damages, liability, actions, causes of action, losses, judgments, costs, and 
expenses of every nature, including investigation costs and expenses, settlement costs, and attorney fees 
and expenses (“the claims”), sustained or asserted against the State for personal injury, death, or property 
loss or damage, arising out of, resulting from, or attributable to the willful misconduct, negligence, error, or 
omission of the Contractor, its employees, subcontractors, consultants, representatives, and agents, 
resulting from this contract, except to the extent such Contractor liability is attenuated by any action of the 
State which directly and proximately contributed to the claims. 
 

2. PERSONNEL 

The Contractor shall, at its expense, indemnify and hold harmless the indemnified parties from and against 
any claim with respect to withholding taxes, worker’s compensation, employee benefits, or any other claim, 
demand, liability, damage, or loss of any nature relating to any of the personnel, including subcontractor’s 
and their employees, provided by the Contractor. 
 

3. SELF-INSURANCE 

The State of Nebraska is self-insured for any loss and purchases excess insurance coverage pursuant to 
Neb. Rev. Stat. § 81-8,239.01 (Reissue 2008). If there is a presumed loss under the provisions of this 
agreement, Contractor may file a claim with the Office of Risk Management pursuant to Neb. Rev. Stat. §§ 
81-8,829 – 81-8,306 for review by the State Claims Board. The State retains all rights and immunities 
under the State Miscellaneous (§81-8,294), Tort (§81-8,209), and Contract Claim Acts (§81-8,302), as 
outlined in Neb. Rev. Stat. § 81-8,209 et seq. and under any other provisions of law and accepts liability 
under this agreement to the extent provided by law. 
 

4. The Parties acknowledge that Attorney General for the State of Nebraska is required by statute to 
represent the legal interests of the State, and that any provision of this indemnity clause is subject to the 
statutory authority of the Attorney General. 
 

L. ATTORNEY'S FEES  
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In the event of any litigation, appeal, or other legal action to enforce any provision of the contract, the Parties agree 
to pay all expenses of such action, as permitted by law and if order by the court, including attorney's fees and costs, 
if the other Party prevails. 
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M. ASSIGNMENT, SALE, OR MERGER  
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Either Party may assign the contract upon mutual written agreement of the other Party.  Such agreement shall not 
be unreasonably withheld. 
 
The Contractor retains the right to enter into a sale, merger, acquisition, internal reorganization, or similar 
transaction involving Contractor’s business.  Contractor agrees to cooperate with the State in executing 
amendments to the contract to allow for the transaction.  If a third party or entity is involved in the transaction, the 
Contractor will remain responsible for performance of the contract until such time as the person or entity involved in 
the transaction agrees in writing to be contractually bound by this contract and perform all obligations of the 
contract. 
 

N. CONTRACTING WITH OTHER NEBRASKA POLITICAL SUB-DIVISIONS 
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The Contractor may, but shall not be required to, allow agencies, as defined in Neb. Rev. Stat. §81-145, to use this 
contract.  The terms and conditions, including price, of the contract may not be amended.  The State shall not be 
contractually obligated or liable for any contract entered into pursuant to this clause.  A listing of Nebraska political 
subdivisions may be found at the website of the Nebraska Auditor of Public Accounts. 
 
The Contractor may, but shall not be required to, allow other states, agencies or divisions of other states, or political 
subdivisions of other states to use this contract.  The terms and conditions, including price, of this contract shall 
apply to any such contract, but may be amended upon mutual consent of the Parties.  The State of Nebraska shall 
not be contractually or otherwise obligated or liable under any contract entered into pursuant to this clause.  The 
State shall be notified if a contract is executed based upon this contract 
 

O. FORCE MAJEURE  
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Neither Party shall be liable for any costs or damages, or for default resulting from its inability to perform any of its 
obligations under the contract due to a natural or manmade event outside the control and not the fault of the 
affected Party (“Force Majeure Event”).  The Party so affected shall immediately make a written request for relief to 
the other Party, and shall have the burden of proof to justify the request.  The other Party may grant the relief 
requested; relief may not be unreasonably withheld.  Labor disputes with the impacted Party’s own employees will 
not be considered a Force Majeure Event. 
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P. CONFIDENTIALITY  
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All materials and information provided by the Parties or acquired by a Party on behalf of the other Party shall be 
regarded as confidential information.  All materials and information provided or acquired shall be handled in 
accordance with federal and state law, and ethical standards.  Should said confidentiality be breached by a Party, 
the Party shall notify the other Party immediately of said breach and take immediate corrective action. 
 
It is incumbent upon the Parties to inform their officers and employees of the penalties for improper disclosure 
imposed by the Privacy Act of 1974, 5 U.S.C. 552a.  Specifically, 5 U.S.C. 552a (i)(1), which is made applicable by 
5 U.S.C. 552a (m)(1), provides that any officer or employee, who by virtue of his/her employment or official position 
has possession of or access to agency records which contain individually identifiable information, the disclosure of 
which is prohibited by the Privacy Act or regulations established thereunder, and who knowing that disclosure of the 
specific material is prohibited, willfully discloses the material in any manner to any person or agency not entitled to 
receive it, shall be guilty of a misdemeanor and fined not more than $5,000. 
 

Q. OFFICE OF PUBLIC COUNSEL (Statutory)  

If it provides, under the terms of this contract and on behalf of the State of Nebraska, health and human services to 
individuals; service delivery; service coordination; or case management, Contractor shall submit to the jurisdiction of 
the Office of Public Counsel, pursuant to Neb. Rev. Stat.  §§ 81-8,240 et seq.  This section shall survive the 
termination of this contract. 
 

R. LONG-TERM CARE OMBUDSMAN (Statutory)  

Contractor must comply with the Long-Term Care Ombudsman Act, Neb. Rev. Stat.  §§ 81-2237 et seq.  This 
section shall survive the termination of this contract. 
 

S. SUSPENSION OF SERVICES 
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DHHS may, at any time and without advance notice, require Contractor to suspend any or all activities provided 
under this Contract.  A suspension may be the result of a reduction in federal or state funds, budget freeze, 
emergency, contract compliance issues, investigation, or other reasons not stated here. 
 
In the event of such suspension, the DHHS Chief Operating Officer/Contract Administrator or designee will issue a 
written Stop Work Order to the Contractor.  The Stop Work Order will specify which activities are to be immediately 
suspended, the reason(s) for the suspension, and, if possible, the known duration period of the suspension. 
 
Upon receipt of the Stop Work Order, the Contractor shall immediately comply with its terms and take all necessary 
steps to minimize the incurrence of costs allocable to the work affected by the order during the period of 
suspension. 
 
The DHHS Chief Operating Officer/Contract Administrator or designee may extend the duration of the suspension 
by issuing a modified Stop Work Order which states the new end date of the suspension and the reason for the 
extension. 
 
The suspended activity may resume when (i) the suspension period identified in the Stop Work Order has ended or 
(ii) when the DHHS Chief Operating Officer/Contract Administrator or designee has issued a formal written notice 
cancelling the Stop Work Order or directing Contractor to resume partial services. 
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T. EARLY TERMINATION  
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The contract may be terminated as follows: 
1. The State and the Contractor, by mutual written agreement, may terminate the contract at any time. 
2. The State, in its sole discretion, may terminate the contract for any reason upon thirty (30) calendar day’s 

written notice to the Contractor.   Such termination shall not relieve the Contractor of warranty or other 
service obligations incurred under the terms of the contract.  In the event of termination the Contractor 
shall be entitled to payment, determined on a pro rata basis, for products or services satisfactorily 
performed or provided. 

3. The State may terminate the contract immediately for the following reasons: 
a. if directed to do so by statute; 
b. Contractor has made an assignment for the benefit of creditors, has admitted in writing its inability 

to pay debts as they mature, or has ceased operating in the normal course of business; 
c. a trustee or receiver of the Contractor or of any substantial part of the Contractor’s assets has 

been appointed by a court; 
d. fraud, misappropriation, embezzlement, malfeasance, misfeasance, or illegal conduct pertaining 

to performance under the contract by its Contractor, its employees, officers, directors, or 
shareholders; 

e. an involuntary proceeding has been commenced by any Party against the Contractor under any 
one of the chapters of Title 11 of the United States Code and (i) the proceeding has been pending 
for at least sixty (60) calendar days; or (ii) the Contractor has consented, either expressly or by 
operation of law, to the entry of an order for relief; or (iii) the Contractor has been decreed or 
adjudged a debtor; 

f. a voluntary petition has been filed by the Contractor under any of the chapters of Title 11 of the 
United States Code; 

g. Contractor intentionally discloses confidential information; 
h. Contractor has or announces it will discontinue support of the deliverable; and, 
i. In the event funding is no longer available. 

 

U. CONTRACT CLOSEOUT 
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Upon contract closeout for any reason the Contractor shall within 30 days, unless stated otherwise herein: 
 

1. Transfer all completed or partially completed deliverables to the State; 
2. Transfer ownership and title to all completed or partially completed deliverables to the State; 
3. Return to the State all information and data, unless the Contractor is permitted to keep the information or 

data by contract or rule of law.  Contractor may retain one copy of any information or data as required to 
comply with applicable work product documentation standards or as are automatically retained in the 
course of Contractor’s routine back up procedures; 

4. Cooperate with any successor Contactor, person or entity in the assumption of any or all of the obligations 
of this contract; 

5. Cooperate with any successor Contactor, person or entity with the transfer of information or data related to 
this contract; 

6. Return or vacate any state owned real or personal property; and, 
7. Return all data in a mutually acceptable format and manner. 

 
Nothing in this Section should be construed to require the Contractor to surrender intellectual property, real or 
personal property, or information or data owned by the Contractor for which the State has no legal claim.  
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III. CONTRACTOR DUTIES 
 
A. INDEPENDENT CONTRACTOR / OBLIGATIONS 
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It is agreed that the Contractor is an independent contractor and that nothing contained herein is intended or should 
be construed as creating or establishing a relationship of employment, agency, or a partnership.    
 
The Contractor is solely responsible for fulfilling the contract.  The Contractor or the Contractor’s representative 
shall be the sole point of contact regarding all contractual matters. 
 
The Contractor shall secure, at its own expense, all personnel required to perform the services under the contract.  
The personnel the Contractor uses to fulfill the contract shall have no contractual or other legal relationship with the 
State; they shall not be considered employees of the State and shall not be entitled to any compensation, rights or 
benefits from the State, including but not limited to, tenure rights, medical and hospital care, sick and vacation 
leave, severance pay, or retirement benefits. 
 
By-name personnel commitments made in the Contractor's proposal shall not be changed without the prior written 
approval of the State.  Replacement of these personnel, if approved by the State, shall be with personnel of equal 
or greater ability and qualifications. 
 
All personnel assigned by the Contractor to the contract shall be employees of the Contractor or a subcontractor, 
and shall be fully qualified to perform the work required herein.  Personnel employed by the Contractor or a 
subcontractor to fulfill the terms of the contract shall remain under the sole direction and control of the Contractor or 
the subcontractor respectively. 
 
With respect to its employees, the Contractor agrees to be solely responsible for the following: 
 
1. Any and all pay, benefits, and  employment taxes and/or other payroll withholding; 
2. Any and all vehicles used by the Contractor’s employees, including all insurance required by state law; 
3. Damages incurred by Contractor’s employees within the scope of their duties under the contract; 
4. Maintaining Workers’ Compensation and health insurance that complies with state and federal law and 

submitting any reports on such insurance to the extent required by governing law.  
5. Determining the hours to be worked and the duties to be performed by the Contractor’s employees; and, 
6. All claims on behalf of any person arising out of employment or alleged employment (including without limit 

claims of discrimination alleged against the Contractor, its officers, agents, or subcontractors or 
subcontractor’s employees). 

 
If the Contractor intends to utilize any subcontractor, the subcontractor's level of effort, tasks, and time allocation 
should be clearly defined in the bidder’s proposal.  The Contractor shall agree that it will not utilize any 
subcontractors not specifically included in its proposal in the performance of the contract without the prior written 
authorization of the State. 
 
The State reserves the right to require the Contractor to reassign or remove from the project any Contractor or 
subcontractor employee. 
 
Contractor shall insure that the terms and conditions contained in any contract with a subcontractor does not 
conflict with the terms and conditions of this contract.  
 
The Contractor shall include a similar provision, for the protection of the State, in the contract with any 
subcontractor engaged to perform work on this contract. 
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B. EMPLOYEE WORK ELIGIBILITY STATUS 
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The Contractor is required and hereby agrees to use a federal immigration verification system to determine the 
work eligibility status of employees physically performing services within the State of Nebraska. A federal 
immigration verification system means the electronic verification of the work authorization program authorized by 
the Illegal Immigration Reform and Immigrant Responsibility Act of 1996, 8 U.S.C. 1324a, known as the E-Verify 
Program, or an equivalent federal program designated by the United States Department of Homeland Security or 
other federal agency authorized to verify the work eligibility status of an employee. 
 
If the Contractor is an individual or sole proprietorship, the following applies: 
 
1. The Contractor must complete the United States Citizenship Attestation Form, available on the 

Department of Administrative Services website at http://das.nebraska.gov/materiel/purchasing.html.  
 

2. The completed United States Attestation Form should be submitted with the RFP response. 
 

3. If the Contractor indicates on such attestation form that he or she is a qualified alien, the Contractor agrees 
to provide the US Citizenship and Immigration Services documentation required to verify the Contractor’s 
lawful presence in the United States using the Systematic Alien Verification for Entitlements (SAVE) 
Program.  
  

4. The Contractor understands and agrees that lawful presence in the United States is required and the 
Contractor may be disqualified or the contract terminated if such lawful presence cannot be verified as 
required by Neb. Rev. Stat. §4-108. 

 
C. COMPLIANCE WITH CIVIL RIGHTS LAWS AND EQUAL OPPORTUNITY EMPLOYMENT / 

NONDISCRIMINATION (Statutory) 

 
The Contractor shall comply with all applicable local, state, and federal statutes and regulations regarding civil 
rights laws and equal opportunity employment. The Nebraska Fair Employment Practice Act prohibits Contractors 
of the State of Nebraska, and their subcontractors, from discriminating against any employee or applicant for 
employment, with respect to hire, tenure, terms, conditions, compensation, or privileges of employment because of 
race, color, religion, sex, disability, marital status, or national origin (Neb. Rev. Stat. §48-1101 to 48-1125).   The 
Contractor guarantees compliance with the Nebraska Fair Employment Practice Act, and breach of this provision 
shall be regarded as a material breach of contract.  The Contractor shall insert a similar provision in all subcontracts 
for services to be covered by any contract resulting from this RFP. 
 

D. COOPERATION WITH OTHER CONTRACTORS  
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Contractor may be required to work with or in close proximity to other contractors or individuals that may be working 
on same or different projects.  The Contractor shall agree to cooperate with such other contractors or individuals, 
and shall not commit or permit any act which may interfere with the performance of work by any other contractor or 
individual.  Contractor is not required to compromise Contractor’s intellectual property or proprietary information 
unless expressly required to do so by this contract. 
 
 

http://das.nebraska.gov/materiel/purchasing.html
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E. PERMITS, REGULATIONS, LAWS 
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The contract price shall include the cost of all royalties, licenses, permits, and approvals, whether arising from 
patents, trademarks, copyrights or otherwise, that are in any way involved in the contract.  The Contractor shall 
obtain and pay for all royalties, licenses, and permits, and approvals necessary for the execution of the contract.  
The Contractor must guarantee that it has the full legal right to the materials, supplies, equipment, software, and 
other items used to execute this contract. 
 

F. OWNERSHIP OF INFORMATION AND DATA / DELIVERABLES   
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The State shall have the unlimited right to publish, duplicate, use, and disclose all information and data developed 
or obtained by the Contractor on behalf of the State pursuant to this contract. 
 
The State shall own and hold exclusive title to any deliverable developed as a result of this contract.  Contractor 
shall have no ownership interest or title, and shall not patent, license, or copyright, duplicate, transfer, sell, or 
exchange, the design, specifications, concept, or deliverable. 
 

G. INSURANCE REQUIREMENTS 
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The Contractor shall throughout the term of the contract maintain insurance as specified herein and provide the 
State a current Certificate of Insurance/Acord Form (COI) verifying the coverage.  The Contractor shall not 
commence work on the contract until the insurance is in place.  If Contractor subcontracts any portion of the 
contract the Contractor must, throughout the term of the contract, either: 
 
1. Provide equivalent insurance for each subcontractor and provide a COI verifying the coverage for the 

subcontractor; 
2. Require each subcontractor to have equivalent insurance and provide written notice to the State that the 

Contractor has verified that each subcontractor has the required coverage; or, 
3. Provide the State with copies of each subcontractor’s Certificate of Insurance evidencing the required 

coverage. 
 
The Contractor shall not allow any subcontractor to commence work until the subcontractor has equivalent 
insurance.  The failure of the State to require a COI, or the failure of the Contractor to provide a COI or require 
subcontractor insurance shall not limit, relieve, or decrease the liability of the Contractor hereunder. 
 
In the event that any policy written on a claims-made basis terminates or is canceled during the term of the contract 
or within one (1) year of termination or expiration of the contract, the Contractor shall obtain an extended discovery 
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or reporting period, or a new insurance policy, providing coverage required by this contract for the term of the 
contract and one (1) year following termination or expiration of the contract. 
  
If by the terms of any insurance a mandatory deductible is required, or if the Contractor elects to increase the 
mandatory deductible amount, the Contractor shall be responsible for payment of the amount of the deductible in 
the event of a paid claim. 
 
Notwithstanding any other clause in this contract, the State may recover up to the liability limits of the insurance 
policies required herein. 
 
1. WORKERS’ COMPENSATION INSURANCE 

The Contractor shall take out and maintain during the life of this contract the statutory Workers’ 
Compensation and Employer's Liability Insurance for all of the contactors’ employees to be engaged in 
work on the project under this contract and, in case any such work is sublet, the Contractor shall require 
the subcontractor similarly to provide Worker's Compensation and Employer's Liability Insurance for all of 
the subcontractor’s employees to be engaged in such work.  This policy shall be written to meet the 
statutory requirements for the state in which the work is to be performed, including Occupational Disease.  
The policy shall include a waiver of subrogation in favor of the State.  The COI shall contain the 
mandatory COI subrogation waiver language found hereinafter.  The amounts of such insurance shall 

not be less than the limits stated hereinafter.  For employees working in the State of Nebraska, the policy 
must be written by an entity authorized by the State of Nebraska Department of Insurance to write 
Workers’ Compensation and Employer’s Liability Insurance for Nebraska employees. 
 

2. COMMERCIAL GENERAL LIABILITY INSURANCE AND COMMERCIAL AUTOMOBILE LIABILITY 
INSURANCE 

The Contractor shall take out and maintain during the life of this contract such Commercial General 
Liability Insurance and Commercial Automobile Liability Insurance as shall protect Contractor and any 
subcontractor performing work covered by this contract from claims for damages for bodily injury, including 
death, as well as from claims for property damage, which may arise from operations under this contract, 
whether such operation be by the Contractor or by any subcontractor or by anyone directly or indirectly 
employed by either of them, and the amounts of such insurance shall not be less than limits stated 
hereinafter. 
 
The Commercial General Liability Insurance shall be written on an occurrence basis, and provide 

Premises/Operations, Products/Completed Operations, Independent Contractors, Personal Injury, and 
Contractual Liability coverage.  The policy shall include the State, and others as required by the 
contract documents, ) as Additional Insured(s).  This policy shall be primary, and any insurance or 
self-insurance carried by the State shall be considered secondary and non-contributory.  The COI 
shall contain the mandatory COI liability waiver language found hereinafter. The Commercial 

Automobile Liability Insurance shall be written to cover all Owned, Non-owned, and Hired vehicles. 
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REQUIRED INSURANCE COVERAGE  
COMMERCIAL GENERAL LIABILITY  

General Aggregate  $2,000,000 

Products/Completed Operations 
Aggregate 

$2,000,000 

Personal/Advertising Injury  $1,000,000 per occurrence 

Bodily Injury/Property Damage  $1,000,000 per occurrence 

Medical Payments $10,000 any one person 

Damage to Rented Premises (Fire) $50,000 each occurrence 

Contractual Included 

Independent Contractors Included 

Abuse & Molestation Included 

If higher limits are required, the Umbrella/Excess Liability limits are allowed to satisfy the higher 
limit. 

WORKER’S COMPENSATION 

Employers Liability Limits $500K/$500K/$500K 

Statutory Limits- All States Statutory - State of Nebraska 

Voluntary Compensation Statutory 

COMMERCIAL AUTOMOBILE LIABILITY  

Bodily Injury/Property Damage  $1,000,000 combined single limit 

Include All Owned, Hired & Non-Owned 
Automobile liability 

Included 

Motor Carrier Act Endorsement Where Applicable 

UMBRELLA/EXCESS LIABILITY 

Over Primary Insurance  $1,000,000 per occurrence 

COMMERCIAL CRIME 

Crime/Employee Dishonesty Including 3rd 
Party Fidelity 

$100,000 

CYBER LIABILITY 

Breach of Privacy, Security Breach, Denial 
of Service, Remediation, Fines and 
Penalties 

$2,000,000 

MANDATORY COI SUBROGATION WAIVER LANGUAGE   

“Workers’ Compensation policy shall include a waiver of subrogation in favor of the State of 
Nebraska.” 

MANDATORY COI LIABILITY WAIVER LANGUAGE 

“Commercial General Liability & Commercial Automobile Liability policies shall name the State of 
Nebraska as an Additional Insured and the policies shall be primary and any insurance or self-
insurance carried by the State shall be considered secondary and non-contributory as 
additionally insured.” 

 
If the mandatory COI subrogation waiver language or mandatory COI liability waiver language on the COI 
states that the waiver is subject to, condition upon, or otherwise limit by the insurance policy, a copy of the 
relevant sections of the policy must be submitted with the COI so the State can review the limitations 
imposed by the insurance policy.  
 

3. EVIDENCE OF COVERAGE 

The Contractor shall furnish the Contract Manager, with a certificate of insurance coverage complying with 
the above requirements prior to beginning work at:  
 
Department of Health and Human Services 
Attn: Permanency Administrator 
301 Centennial Mall S. 3rd floor 
Lincoln, NE 68509 
 
These certificates or the cover sheet shall reference the RFP number, and the certificates shall include the 
name of the company, policy numbers, effective dates, dates of expiration, and amounts and types of 
coverage afforded.  If the State is damaged by the failure of the Contractor to maintain such insurance, 
then the Contractor shall be responsible for all reasonable costs properly attributable thereto. 
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Reasonable notice of cancellation of any required insurance policy must be submitted to the contract 
manager as listed above when issued and a new coverage binder shall be submitted immediately to 
ensure no break in coverage. 
 

4. DEVIATIONS 

The insurance requirements are subject to limited negotiation.  Negotiation typically includes, but is not 
necessarily limited to, the correct type of coverage, necessity for Workers’ Compensation, and the type of 
automobile coverage carried by the Contractor. 
 

H. ANTITRUST 
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The Contractor hereby assigns to the State any and all claims for overcharges as to goods and/or services provided 
in connection with this contract resulting from antitrust violations which arise under antitrust laws of the United 
States and the antitrust laws of the State. 
 

I. CONFLICT OF INTEREST  
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By submitting a proposal, bidder certifies that no relationship exists between the bidder and any person or entity 
which either is, or gives the appearance of, a conflict of interest related to this Request for Proposal or project. 
 
Bidder further certifies that bidder will not employ any individual known by bidder to have a conflict of interest nor 
shall bidder take any action or acquire any interest, either directly or indirectly, which will conflict in any manner or 
degree with the performance of its contractual obligations hereunder or which creates an actual or appearance of 
conflict of interest.   
 
If there is an actual or perceived conflict of interest, bidder shall provide with its proposal a full disclosure of the 
facts describing such actual or perceived conflict of interest and a proposed mitigation plan for consideration.  The 
State will then consider such disclosure and proposed mitigation plan and either approve or reject as part of the 
overall bid evaluation.   
 

J. ADVERTISING  
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The Contractor agrees not to refer to the contract award in advertising in such a manner as to state or imply that the 
company or its services are endorsed or preferred by the State.  Any publicity releases pertaining to the project 
shall not be issued without prior written approval from the State. 
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K. NEBRASKA TECHNOLOGY ACCESS STANDARDS (Statutory)  

Contractor shall review the Nebraska Technology Access Standards, found at http://nitc.nebraska.gov/standards/2-
201.html and ensure that products and/or services provided under the contract are in compliance or will comply with 
the applicable standards to the greatest degree possible.  In the event such standards change during the 
Contractor’s performance, the State may create an amendment to the contract to request the contract comply with 
the changed standard at a cost mutually acceptable to the parties. 
 

L. DISASTER RECOVERY/BACK UP PLAN 
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The Contractor shall have a disaster recovery and back-up plan, of which a copy should be provided upon request 
to the State, which includes, but is not limited to equipment, personnel, facilities, and transportation, in order to 
continue services as specified under the specifications in the contract in the event of a disaster.   
 

M. DRUG POLICY 

 

Accept 
(Initial) 

Reject 
(Initial) 

Reject & Provide 
Alternative within 
RFP Response 
(Initial) 

NOTES/COMMENTS: 

 
 
 

   

 
Contractor certifies it maintains a drug free work place environment to ensure worker safety and workplace integrity.  
Contractor agrees to provide a copy of its drug free workplace policy at any time upon request by the State. 
 

N. WARRANTY 
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Despite any clause to the contrary, the Contractor represents and warrants that its services hereunder shall be 
performed by competent personnel and shall be of professional quality consistent with generally accepted industry 
standards for the performance of such services and shall comply in all respects with the requirements of this 
Agreement.  For any breach of this warranty, the Contractor shall, for a period of ninety (90) days from performance 
of the service, perform the services again, at no cost to the State or if Contractor is unable to perform the services 
as warranted, Contractor shall reimburse the State all fees paid to Contractor for the unsatisfactory services.  The 
rights and remedies of the parties under this warranty are in addition to any other rights and remedies of the parties 
provided by law or equity, including, without limitation actual damages, and, as applicable and awarded under the 
law, to a prevailing party, reasonable attorneys’ fees and costs. 

http://nitc.nebraska.gov/standards/2-201.html
http://nitc.nebraska.gov/standards/2-201.html
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IV. PAYMENT 
 
A. PROHIBITION AGAINST ADVANCE PAYMENT (Statutory) 

Neb. Rev. Stat. §§81-2403 states, “no goods or services shall be deemed to be received by an agency until all such 
goods or services are completely delivered and finally accepted by the agency.” 
 

B. TAXES (Statutory) 

The State is not required to pay taxes and assumes no such liability as a result of this solicitation.  The Contractor 
may request a copy of the Nebraska Department of Revenue, Nebraska Resale or Exempt Sale Certificate for 
Sales Tax Exemption, Form 13 for their records. Any property tax payable on the Contractor's equipment which 
may be installed in a state-owned facility is the responsibility of the Contractor. 
 

C. INVOICES  

 

Accept 
(Initial) 

Reject 
(Initial) 

Reject & Provide 
Alternative within 
RFP Response 
(Initial) 

NOTES/COMMENTS: 

 
 
 

   

 
Invoices for payments must be submitted by the Contractor to the agency requesting the services with sufficient 
detail to support payment.  Invoices shall include at a minimum family name, number of direct hours with family, 
number of indirect hours to complete the home study, home address where study was performed, date of initial 
referral, date of study completion, and number of visits to home. The terms and conditions included in the 
Contractor’s invoice shall be deemed to be solely for the convenience of the parties.  No terms or conditions of any 
such invoice shall be binding upon the State, and no action by the State, including without limitation the payment of 
any such invoice in whole or in part, shall be construed as binding or estopping the State with respect to any such 
term or condition, unless the invoice term or condition has been previously agreed to by the State as an 
amendment to the contract.   
 

D. INSPECTION AND APPROVAL  
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Final inspection and approval of all work required under the contract shall be performed by the designated State 
officials.   
 
The State and/or its authorized representatives shall have the right to enter any premises where the Contractor or 
subcontractor duties under the contract are being performed, and to inspect, monitor or otherwise evaluate the work 
being performed.  All inspections and evaluations shall be at reasonable times and in a manner that will not 
unreasonably delay work. 
 

E. PAYMENT  

 

Accept 
(Initial) 

Reject 
(Initial) 

Reject & Provide 
Alternative within 
RFP Response 
(Initial) 

NOTES/COMMENTS: 

 
 
 

   

 
State will render payment to Contractor when the terms and conditions of the contract and specifications have been 
satisfactorily completed on the part of the Contractor as solely determined by the State.  (Neb. Rev. Stat. §73-
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506(1))  Payment will be made by the responsible agency in compliance with the State of Nebraska Prompt 
Payment Act (See Neb. Rev. Stat. §81-2401 through 81-2408).  The State may require the Contractor to accept 
payment by electronic means such as ACH deposit. In no event shall the State be responsible or liable to pay for 
any services provided by the Contractor prior to the Effective Date of the contract, and the Contractor hereby 
waives any claim or cause of action for any such services. 
 

F. LATE PAYMENT (Statutory) 

The Contractor may charge the responsible agency interest for late payment in compliance with the State of 
Nebraska Prompt Payment Act (See Neb. Rev. Stat. §81-2401 through 81-2408). 
 

G. SUBJECT TO FUNDING / FUNDING OUT CLAUSE FOR LOSS OF APPROPRIATIONS  
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The State’s obligation to pay amounts due on the contract for a fiscal years following the current fiscal year is 
contingent upon legislative appropriation of funds.  Should said funds not be appropriated, the State may terminate 
the contract with respect to those payments for the fiscal year(s) for which such funds are not appropriated.  The 
State will give the Contractor written notice thirty (30) calendar days prior to the effective date of termination.  All 
obligations of the State to make payments after the termination date will cease.  The Contractor shall be entitled to 
receive just and equitable compensation for any authorized work which has been satisfactorily completed as of the 
termination date.  In no event shall the Contractor be paid for a loss of anticipated profit. 
 

H. RIGHT TO AUDIT (First Paragraph is Statutory) 

The State shall have the right to audit the Contractor’s performance of this contract upon a 30 days’ written notice.  
Contractor shall utilize generally accepted accounting principles, and shall maintain the accounting records, and 
other records and information relevant to the contract (Information) to enable the State to audit the contract.  The 
State may audit and the Contractor shall maintain, the Information during the term of the contract and for a period of 
five (5) years after the completion of this contract or until all issues or litigation are resolved, whichever is later.  The 
Contractor shall make the Information available to the State at Contractor’s place of business or a location 
acceptable to both Parties during normal business hours.  If this is not practical or the Contractor so elects, the 
Contractor may provide electronic or paper copies of the Information.  The State reserves the right to examine, 
make copies of, and take notes on any Information relevant to this contract, regardless of the form or the 
Information, how it is stored, or who possesses the Information.  Under no circumstance will the Contractor be 
required to create or maintain documents not kept in the ordinary course of Contractor’s business operations, nor 
will Contractor be required to disclose any information, including but not limited to product cost data, which is 
confidential or proprietary to Contractor. 
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The Parties shall pay their own costs of the audit unless the audit finds a previously undisclosed overpayment by 
the State.  If a previously undisclosed overpayment exceeds one-half of one percent  (.5% ) of the total contract 
billings, or if fraud, material misrepresentations, or non-performance is discovered on the part of the Contractor, the 
Contractor shall reimburse the State for the total costs of the audit.  Overpayments and audit costs owed to the 
State shall be paid within ninety days of written notice of the claim.  The Contractor agrees to correct any material 
weaknesses or condition found as a result of the audit. 
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V. PROJECT DESCRIPTION AND SCOPE OF WORK 
 
The contractor should provide the following information in response to this solicitation.   
 

A. PROJECT OVERVIEW 

 
The Home Study is a screening of the home and life of the prospective resource/foster family or adoptive parent. 
The Home Study writer gathers information from the individual(s) on whom they are writing the Home Study. This 
information may include but not be limited to family background, current family composition, self-awareness, family 
health, motivation to provide foster care, ability to meet the needs of the child(ren), informal supports, and 
employment. In Nebraska, a Home Study will be completed prior to a home becoming a licensed resource/foster 
family and an adoptive Home Study must be completed prior to an adoption being finalized. All background checks 
of household members must be completed, prior to licensing. There are times that the Department of Health and 
Human Services (DHHS), Division of Children and Family Services (CFS), may place a child with a relative, or a 
kinship placement prior to the home becoming licensed. Kinship placement is defined as someone who has a 
significant relationship with the child prior to the child being removed and becoming a state ward.  
 
In an emergency situation, DHHS is able to place a child in a kinship or relative home after conducting background 
checks on the individuals in the household. A Home Study must be completed on the relative/kinship home within 
forty-five (45) days of placement of the child to ensure the home is safe and suitable for the child(ren) to remain 
there. The primary purpose of a Home Study is to ensure that each child is placed in a suitable, safe home 
environment, and the individuals are able to meet all of the needs of the child(ren). After placement occurs, the 
individuals must have FBI/State patrol checks completed, and a Home Study must be completed within forty-five 
(45) days of placement to verify if the home and the individuals are safe and suitable for the child(ren) to remain in 
that placement. 
 

B. PROJECT ENVIRONMENT  

 
Below are the estimated numbers of home studies completed in each of the five Service Areas in the past year by 
DHHS staff. Refer to Attachment A for a map of the Service Areas. 
 
1. 240 in Western Service Area;  
2. 102 in Central Service Area;  
3. 105 in Southeastern Service Area;  
4. 50 in Northern Service Area; and  
5. 134 in the Eastern Service Area.  
 
Estimated number of Optional Foster Care Home Studies to Renew License: 
1.     30 in the Western Service Area; 
2.     10 in Central Service Area; 
3.     10 in Southeaster Service Area; 
4.      5 in Northern Service Area; and, 
5.      5 in Eastern Service area. 

 
The number of home studies that will be contracted out may vary year to year. DHHS reserves the right to complete 
a Home Study internally.  
  

C. PROJECT REQUIREMENTS  

 
Non-compliance of the following will disqualify bidder: 
1. The bidder must be a licensed child placing agency in the State of Nebraska and provide a copy with the 

proposal. 
2. The bidder must be an accredited agency and provide proof of accreditation with the proposal.  
3. The bidder must be able to provide service to all counties in each Service Area bid. 
 

D. SCOPE OF WORK 

 
1. A Home Study must be completed on every home that is providing foster care to a child. The Home Study 

must be completed prior to a home becoming licensed as a resource/foster family or within forty-five (45) 
days of a child being placed in that home if they are a relative or kinship placement.  

2. An Adoptive Home Study must be completed prior to an individual(s) being approved to move forward with 
finalization of an adoption. 
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3. DHHS conducts a Renewal Foster Care Home Study on licensed Foster Care parents every two (2) years. 
DHHS may refer Renewal Foster Care Home Studies to the Contractor. Renewal Foster Care Home 
Studies is included as an optional service on the Cost Proposal. 

4. The Contractor must provide a written Home Study on the family or individual(s) which are referred by the 
DHHS Resource Development Administrator, Supervisor or designee. A Home Study may be referred to 
the Contractor for the following situations: 
a. A family or individual(s) is being considered for placement of Nebraska State Wards; 
b. A family or individual(s) is being considered for placement of State Wards of another state 

through the Interstate Compact on the Placement of Children (ICPC);  
c. The individual(s) are becoming a licensed resource/foster parent who will be supported by DHHS; 

and 
d. The DHHS Foster Home is preparing to adopt a child from foster care and an adoption Home 

Study is needed.   
5. The Contractor will respond to DHHS within one (1) business day of receiving the referral to confirm 

receipt and acceptance or denial of referral.  
6. The Contractor will complete the Home Study within forty-five (45) calendar days of receiving the referral 

and submit to DHHS staff who made the referral. This timeframe applies for a Foster Care Home Study 
and an Adoption Home Study. 

7. A minimum of two (2) in-home visits will be made and documented in the Home Study.  
8. The final Home Study must include a clear recommendation to license or not license the individual(s) as 

foster parents. 
9. The final Home Study cannot recommend the licensing of one person and not the other if they are married. 

Final Adoption Home Study must make a clear recommendation if the individual(s) are able to meet all of 
the needs of the child(ren) and make a lifelong commitment. 

10. The Contractor will utilize a Foster Care Home Study guidebook and a Foster Care Home Study template 
which is approved by DHHS to utilize statewide. DHHS may request the Contractor to submit proposed 
revisions to the Foster Care Home Study guidebook and Foster Care Home Study template, which may be 
incorporated into said documents. DHHS reserves the right to make revisions to the final guidebook(s) and 
template(s) that will be utilized statewide for all Home Studies. 

11. The Contractor will utilize an Adoption Home Study guidebook and an Adoption Home Study template 
which is approved by DHHS to utilize statewide. DHHS may request the Contractor to submit proposed 
revisions to the Adoption Home Study guidebook and Adoption Home Study template, which may be 
incorporated into said documents. DHHS reserves the right to make revisions to the final guidebook(s) and 
template(s) that will be utilized statewide for all Home Studies. 

12. The Contractor must conduct background checks on any employees, interns, volunteers, or 
subcontractors, including any previous names used. The background checks must include, at a minimum: 
National Sex Offender Registry maintained by the Department of Justice, Nebraska Child Abuse and 
Neglect Central Register, Nebraska Adult Abuse and Neglect Central Registry, Nebraska State Patrol 
Criminal Background Check, Nebraska Department of Motor Vehicles Check for License Point Status. The 
Contractor agrees to perform out of state background checks on all newly hired employees, interns, 
volunteers and subcontractors who do not reside in Nebraska or have resided in Nebraska for less than 
two (2) years. The Contractor agrees to require employees, interns, volunteers, or subcontractors to 
immediately notify Contractor if the individual has been arrested or convicted of a crime during his or her 
time of employment. If a criminal history background check results in a record with convictions being 
identified, other than convictions of minor traffic violations, e.g. speed limit violations, or traffic signal laws, 
the bidder will notify the DHHS Contract Manager of the employee’s name, job function and description of 
the record of conviction. A record is be defined as a Record of Arrest and Prosecution (RAP) sheet for 
individuals.  

13. The individual completing the Home Study for the Contractor must have at a minimum a bachelor’s degree 
in a human services related field; or a Bachelor’s Degree in a related field with experience delivering foster 
care or adoption related services.  

 
E. PERFORMANCE MEASURES AND REMEDIES 

 

The following measure will be applied in this contract to ensure the Contractor provides effective outcomes:  
 
1. The Contractor must be compliant with the timeframes defined in section V.D. at a rate of at least ninety 

percent (90%).  
2. DHHS will measure these timeframes no more than quarterly.  
3. If the Contractor fails to meet the measure defined in section V.E.1, DHHS may enforce the following 

remedies: 
a. First instance: The Contractor must submit a Corrective Action Plan for review and approval to 

DHHS within thirty (30) business days of the request. If DHHS requires revisions to the Corrective 
Action Plan, it will so notify the contractor within ten (10) business days.   
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b. Second instance: No new referrals will be made to the Contractor for a period of one (1) month. 
The Contractor must submit a revised Corrective Action Plan for review and approval to DHHS 
within thirty (30) business days of the request. DHHS will notify the contractor within ten (10) 
business days if the State requires revisions to the Corrective Action Plan. 

 
F. DEPARTMENT OF HEALTH AND HUMAN SERVICES DELIVERABLE REQUIREMENTS 

 
1. DHHS will pay Contractor upon approval of a Home Study based on the rates provided on the Cost 

Proposal. If there are multiple Contractors in a region where a Home Study is to be conducted, DHHS shall 
make the initial referral to the Contractor with the lowest cost. If a referral is declined, DHHS will make a 
referral to the Contractor with the next lowest cost, until all available Contractors in said region have been 
contacted. 

2. DHHS must review all deliverables submitted by Contractor. DHHS must approve a deliverable submitted 
by Contractor to determine if it is of sufficient quality and meets the requirements in section V.D. DHHS will 
not disburse payment for a deliverable until the deliverable is approved. 

3. DHHS will define the time period that the Contractor will have to correct the defects identified by DHHS 
and re-submit the rejected deliverable. Any corrections or improvements requested by DHHS are not 
changes in scope of this Agreement. If a rejected deliverable requires more than two (2) corrections, 
DHHS may permanently reject the deliverable and deny payment for the deliverable. Nothing in this 
section limits any other remedies available to DHHS under this Agreement or at law. 

 
G. BIDDER REQUIREMENTS 

 

1. Describe the plan to recruit, train, and supervise staff who are knowledgeable about the unique needs of foster 
and adoptive children and families.  

Bidder Response: 
 

2. Describe bidder’s approach to maintaining confidentiality of families and demonstrate the ability to ensure 
adequate data collection, management and reporting. Describe how bidder will comply with confidentiality 
requirements and collaboration with DHHS.  

Bidder Response: 
 

3. Describe how bidder will meet the timeframes specified in sections V.D.  

Bidder Response: 
 

4. Identify and describe the questions that will be asked of the family or individual during the Home Study process 
for foster care placement.  

Bidder Response: 
 

5. Identify and describe the questions that will be asked of the family or individual during the adoption Home 
Study process. 

Bidder Response:  
 

6. Identify how bidder will discuss the 7 Core Issues of Adoption with the family or individual when writing an 
Adoption Home Study: Loss, Rejection, Guilt and Shame, Grief, Identity, Intimacy, and Mastery/control. 

Bidder Response: 
 

7. Describe how the home study will include information about the family or individual(s) criminal history including 

but not limited to all background checks as required per 395 NAC Chapter 3  http://www.sos.ne.gov/rules-
and-regs/regsearch/Rules/Health_and_Human_Services_System/Title-395/Chapter-03.pdf . 
Bidder Response: 
 

 
8 

For each Service Area, bidder should provide the methodology used to establish the “per home 

study” cost in the table below which includes but is not limited to personnel costs, travel expenses, 

and administrative costs.                                                                           

Methodology used to determine base 

cost. 

ESA NSA SESA CSA WSA 

Itemized expense description % % % % % 

http://www.sos.ne.gov/rules-and-regs/regsearch/Rules/Health_and_Human_Services_System/Title-395/Chapter-03.pdf
http://www.sos.ne.gov/rules-and-regs/regsearch/Rules/Health_and_Human_Services_System/Title-395/Chapter-03.pdf
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Add lines as needed. % % % % % 

Add lines as needed. % % % % % 

Total 100 % 100 % 100 % 100 % 100 % 
 

 Bidder Response: 

 

 
H. DELIVERABLES   

 
Please see Cost Proposal.  



Page 29   
RFP Boilerplate | 07/01/2019 

VI. PROPOSAL INSTRUCTIONS  
This section documents the requirements that should be met by bidders in preparing the Technical and Cost Proposal.  
Failure to respond to a specific requirement may be the basis for elimination from consideration during the State’s 
comparative evaluation. 
 
Proposals are due by the date and time shown in the Schedule of Events.  Content requirements for the Technical and Cost 
Proposal are presented separately in the following subdivisions; format and order: 
 
A. PROPOSAL SUBMISSION 

 
1. CORPORATE OVERVIEW  

The Corporate Overview section of the Technical Proposal should consist of the following subdivisions:  
 
a. BIDDER IDENTIFICATION AND INFORMATION 

The bidder should provide the full company or corporate name, address of the company's 
headquarters, entity organization (corporation, partnership, proprietorship), state in which the 
bidder is incorporated or otherwise organized to do business, year in which the bidder first 
organized to do business and  whether the name and form of organization has changed since first 
organized. 
 

b. FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

The bidder should provide financial statements applicable to the firm.  If publicly held, the bidder 
should provide a copy of the corporation's most recent audited financial reports and statements, 
and the name, address, and telephone number of the fiscally responsible representative of the 
bidder’s financial or banking organization. 
 
If the bidder is not a publicly held corporation, either the reports and statements required of a 
publicly held corporation, or a description of the organization, including size, longevity, client 
base, areas of specialization and expertise, and any other pertinent information, should be 
submitted in such a manner that proposal evaluators may reasonably formulate a determination 
about the stability and financial strength of the organization.  Additionally, a non-publicly held firm 
should provide a banking reference. 
 
The bidder must disclose any and all judgments, pending or expected litigation, or other real or 
potential financial reversals, which might materially affect the viability or stability of the 
organization, or state that no such condition is known to exist.  
 
The State may elect to use a third party to conduct credit checks as part of the corporate 
overview evaluation. 
 

c. CHANGE OF OWNERSHIP 

If any change in ownership or control of the company is anticipated during the twelve (12) months 
following the proposal due date, the bidder should describe the circumstances of such change 
and indicate when the change will likely occur.  Any change of ownership to an awarded 
vendor(s) will require notification to the State. 
 

d. OFFICE LOCATION 

The bidder’s office location responsible for performance pursuant to an award of a contract with 
the State of Nebraska should be identified. 
 

e. RELATIONSHIPS WITH THE STATE 

The bidder should describe any dealings with the State over the previous five (5) years.  If the 
organization, its predecessor, or any Party named in the bidder’s proposal response has 
contracted with the State, the bidder should identify the contract number(s) and/or any other 
information available to identify such contract(s).  If no such contracts exist, so declare. 
 

f. BIDDER'S EMPLOYEE RELATIONS TO STATE 

If any Party named in the bidder's proposal response is or was an employee of the State within 
the past twelve (12) months, identify the individual(s) by name, State agency with whom 
employed, job title or position held with the State, and separation date.  If no such relationship 
exists or has existed, so declare. 
 
If any employee of any agency of the State of Nebraska is employed by the bidder or is a 
subcontractor to the bidder, as of the due date for proposal submission, identify all such persons 
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by name, position held with the bidder, and position held with the State (including job title and 
agency).  Describe the responsibilities of such persons within the proposing organization.  If, after 
review of this information by the State, it is determined that a conflict of interest exists or may 
exist, the bidder may be disqualified from further consideration in this proposal.  If no such 
relationship exists, so declare. 
 

g. CONTRACT PERFORMANCE 

If the bidder or any proposed subcontractor has had a contract terminated for default during the 
past five (5) years, all such instances must be described as required below.  Termination for 
default is defined as a notice to stop performance delivery due to the bidder's non-performance or 
poor performance, and the issue was either not litigated due to inaction on the part of the bidder 
or litigated and such litigation determined the bidder to be in default. 
 
It is mandatory that the bidder submit full details of all termination for default experienced during 
the past five (5) years, including the other Party's name, address, and telephone number.  The 
response to this section must present the bidder’s position on the matter.  The State will evaluate 
the facts and will score the bidder’s proposal accordingly.  If no such termination for default has 
been experienced by the bidder in the past five (5) years, so declare. 
 
If at any time during the past five (5) years, the bidder has had a contract terminated for 
convenience, non-performance, non-allocation of funds, or any other reason, describe fully all 
circumstances surrounding such termination, including the name and address of the other 
contracting Party.   
 

h. SUMMARY OF BIDDER’S CORPORATE EXPERIENCE 

The bidder should provide a summary matrix listing the bidder’s previous projects similar to this 
RFP in size, scope, and complexity.  The State will use no more than three (3) narrative project 
descriptions submitted by the bidder during its evaluation of the proposal. 
 
The bidder should address the following: 
 
i. Provide narrative descriptions to highlight the similarities between the bidder’s 

experience and this RFP.  These descriptions should include: 
 

a) The time period of the project; 
b) The scheduled and actual completion dates; 
c) The Contractor’s responsibilities;  
d) For reference purposes, a customer name (including the name of a contact 

person, a current telephone number, a facsimile number, and e-mail address); 
and, 

e) Each project description should identify whether the work was performed as the 
prime Contractor or as a subcontractor.  If a bidder performed as the prime 
Contractor, the description should provide the originally scheduled completion 
date and budget, as well as the actual (or currently planned) completion date 
and actual (or currently planned) budget.   

 
ii. Contractor and subcontractor(s) experience should be listed separately.  Narrative 

descriptions submitted for subcontractors should be specifically identified as 
subcontractor projects. 

 
iii. If the work was performed as a subcontractor, the narrative description should identify 

the same information as requested for the Contractors above.  In addition, 
subcontractors should identify what share of contract costs, project responsibilities, and 
time period were performed as a subcontractor.   

 
i. SUMMARY OF BIDDER’S PROPOSED PERSONNEL/MANAGEMENT APPROACH 

The bidder should present a detailed description of its proposed approach to the management of 
the project. 
 
The bidder should identify the specific professionals who will work on the State’s project if their 
company is awarded the contract resulting from this RFP.  The names and titles of the team 
proposed for assignment to the State project should be identified in full, with a description of the 
team leadership, interface and support functions, and reporting relationships.  The primary work 
assigned to each person should also be identified.   
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The bidder should provide resumes for all personnel proposed by the bidder to work on the 
project.  The State will consider the resumes as a key indicator of the bidder’s understanding of 
the skill mixes required to carry out the requirements of the RFP in addition to assessing the 
experience of specific individuals. 
 
Resumes should not be longer than three (3) pages.  Resumes should include, at a minimum, 
academic background and degrees, professional certifications, understanding of the process, and 
at least three (3) references (name, address, and telephone number) who can attest to the 
competence and skill level of the individual.  Any changes in proposed personnel shall only be 
implemented after written approval from the State. 
 

j. SUBCONTRACTORS 

If the bidder intends to subcontract any part of its performance hereunder, the bidder should 
provide: 
 
i. name, address, and telephone number of the subcontractor(s); 
ii. specific tasks for each subcontractor(s); 
iii. percentage of performance hours intended for each subcontract; and 
iv. total percentage of subcontractor(s) performance hours. 
 
If the contractor chooses to subcontract, all subcontractors must be submitted and approved by 
DHHS prior to completing a Home Study.   
 

2. TECHNICAL APPROACH  

The technical approach section of the Technical Proposal should consist of the following subsections:   
 
a. Copy of license  
b. Copy of accreditation  
c. Bidder Requirements – section V.G; 
d. Draft Foster Care Home Study guidebook;  
e. Draft Adoption Home Study guidebook;  
f. Draft Foster Care Home Study template; and  
g. Draft Adoption Home Study template. 
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Form A 
Bidder Contact Sheet 

Request for Proposal Number 6126 Z1 
 

Form A should be completed and submitted with each response to this RFP.  This is intended to provide the State with 
information on the bidder’s name and address, and the specific person(s) who are responsible for preparation of the bidder’s 
response.   
 

Preparation of Response Contact Information 

Bidder Name:  

Bidder Address:  
 
 

Contact Person & Title:  

E-mail Address:  

Telephone Number (Office):  

Telephone Number (Cellular):  

Fax Number:  

 
Each bidder should also designate a specific contact person who will be responsible for responding to the State if any 
clarifications of the bidder’s response should become necessary.  This will also be the person who the State contacts to set 
up a presentation/demonstration, if required. 
 

Communication with the State Contact Information 

Bidder Name:  

Bidder Address:  
 
 

Contact Person & Title:  

E-mail Address:  

Telephone Number (Office):  

Telephone Number (Cellular):  

Fax Number:  
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Per Nebraska’s Transparency in Government Procurement Act, Neb. Rev Stat § 73-603 DAS is required 
to collect statistical information regarding the number of contracts awarded to Nebraska Contractors.  This 
information is for statistical purposes only and will not be considered for contract award purposes. 
 
_____ NEBRASKA CONTRACTOR AFFIDAVIT: Bidder hereby attests that bidder is a Nebraska 
Contractor.  “Nebraska Contractor” shall mean any bidder who has maintained a bona fide place of 
business and at least one employee within this state for at least the six (6) months immediately preceding 
the posting date of this RFP. 
 

______I hereby certify that I am a Resident disabled veteran or business located in a designated 
enterprise zone in accordance with Neb. Rev. Stat. § 73-107 and wish to have preference, if applicable, 
considered in the award of this contract. 

  REQUEST FOR PROPOSAL FOR CONTRACTUAL SERVICES FORM 

By signing this Request for Proposal for Contractual Services form, the bidder guarantees compliance 
with the procedures stated in this Request for Proposal, and agrees to the terms and conditions 
unless otherwise indicated in writing and certifies that bidder maintains a drug free work place. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
FORM MUST BE SIGNED USING AN INDELIBLE METHOD (NOT ELECTRONICALLY) 
 

FIRM:  

COMPLETE ADDRESS:  

TELEPHONE NUMBER:  

FAX NUMBER:  

DATE:  

SIGNATURE:  

TYPED NAME & TITLE OF SIGNER:  

 

BIDDER MUST COMPLETE THE FOLLOWING 

_____  I hereby certify that I am a blind person licensed by the Commission for the Blind & Visually 
Impaired in accordance with Neb. Rev. Stat. §71-8611 and wish to have preference considered in the 
award of this contract. 
 



6126 Z1 Cost Proposal 
Foster and Adoptive Parent Home Study Services 

 

Firm Name: __________________________________________ 
 

In the tables below bidder must provide a rate per home study for each Service Area and each term. 
Rates provided must be inclusive of all expenses, including but not limited to: travel, personnel and 
administrative costs. Bidder can submit pricing for any or all Service Areas, but must be able to provide 
services for all counties within a Service Area. Refer to attachment “A” for location of counties.  
 
Home Studies 
 

Nebraska Service Areas: Initial Term  
Year One 

Initial Term 
Year Two 

Eastern Service Area 
$ $ 

Northern Service Area 
$ $ 

Southeast Service Area 
$ $ 

Central Service Area 
 
$ $ 

Western Service Area 
$ $ 

 
 
 
 
For the purposes of scoring, DHHS will estimate the number of studies provided in Section V.B. of the 

RFP. 

 
 
 
 
Optional Home Studies Renewal Periods 

Nebraska Service Areas: Renewal One  
Year Three 

Renewal Two  
Year Four 

Renewal 
Three  

Year Five 

Renewal Four 
Year Six 

Eastern Service Area $ $ $ $ 

Northern Service Area $ $ $ $ 

Southeast Service Area $ $ $ $ 

Central Service Area $ $ $ $ 

Western Service Area $ $ $ $ 

 
  



Optional Foster Care Home Study to Renew License 
 
In the tables below bidder must provide a rate per optional Renewal Foster Care home study for each 
Service Area and each term. Rates provided must be inclusive of all expenses, including but not limited 
to: travel, personnel and administrative costs. Bidder can submit pricing for any or all Service Areas, but 
must be able to provide services for all counties within a Service Area. Refer to attachment “A” for 
location of counties.  
 
 

Nebraska Service Areas: Initial Term  
Year One 

Initial Term 
Year Two 

Eastern Service Area 
$ $ 

Northern Service Area 
$ $ 

Southeast Service Area 
$ $ 

Central Service Area 
 
$ $ 

Western Service Area 
$ $ 

 
Optional Renewal Periods for Foster Care Home Study to Renew License 
 

Nebraska Service Areas: Renewal One  
Year Three 

Renewal Two  
Year Four 

Renewal 
Three  

Year Five 

Renewal Four 
Year Six 

Eastern Service Area $ $ $ $ 

Northern Service Area $ $ $ $ 

Southeast Service Area $ $ $ $ 

Central Service Area $ $ $ $ 

Western Service Area $ $ $ $ 
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